
 

Page 1 of 4 

    
    
      

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Be Courteous - TURN OFF your cell phones and pagers while the meeting is in session. 
 

5:30 P.M. – SPECIAL MEETING - CLOSED SESSION 
 

1.  CALL TO ORDER 
 The Mayor will open the meeting and take public testimony on closed session items only.  The 

Council will then recess into closed session. 
 
2. CLOSED SESSION 
 
CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR– PURSUANT TO GOVERNMENT CODE 
SECTION 54956.8 
 
 PROPERTY:  Sebastiani Theater 
 AGENCY NEGOTIATION: City Manager, City Attorney 
 NEGOTIATING PARTIES:     City of Sonoma and Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc. 
 UNDER NEGOTIATION:  Price and Terms of Payment 
 

 

6:00 P.M. – REGULAR MEETING 

 
RECONVENE, CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
ROLL CALL (Agrimonti, Edwards, Hundley, Cook, Gallian) 
REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION 
 

1. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

At this time, members of the public may comment on any item not appearing on the agenda.  It is recommended 
that you keep your comments to three minutes or less.  Under State Law, matters presented under this item 
cannot be discussed or acted upon by the City Council at this time.  For items appearing on the agenda, the 
public will be invited to make comments at the time the item comes up for Council consideration.  Upon being 
acknowledged by the Mayor, please step to the podium and speak into the microphone.  Begin by stating and 
spelling your name. 

 

2. MEETING DEDICATIONS 

 

3. PRESENTATIONS  

 
 

 
 

SPECIAL AND REGULAR MEETING OF THE SONOMA CITY COUNCIL 
& 

CONCURRENT REGULAR MEETING OF SONOMA CITY COUNCIL AS THE 
SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE DISSOLVED SONOMA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 

Community Meeting Room, 177 First Street West, Sonoma CA 
 

Monday, November 21, 2016 
5:30 p.m. Special Closed Session Meeting 

6:00 p.m. Regular Meeting 
**** 

AMENDED AGENDA 

City Council 
Laurie Gallian, Mayor 

Madolyn Agrimonti, MPT 
David Cook, 

Gary Edwards 
Rachel Hundley 

 

 



 

Page 2 of 4 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL 

All items listed on the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine and will be acted upon by a single motion.  
There will be no separate discussion of these items unless members of the Council, staff, or public request 
specific items to be removed for separate action.  At this time Council may decide to change the order of the 
agenda. 

 
Item 4A: Waive further reading and Authorize Introduction and/or Adoption of Ordinances 

by Title Only.  (Standard procedural action - no backup information provided) 
 
Item 4B: Consideration and Possible Action to Approve Updates to City’s Personnel 

Classification Plan for all Positions in City Service (City Manager) 
 Staff Recommendation: Approve updated Personnel Classification Plan 
 
Item 4C: Approve the Notice of Completion for the 2016 Street Rehabilitation Project No. 

1502 Constructed by Argonaut Constructors and Direct the City Clerk to File the 
Document (Public Works Director/City Engineer) 

  Staff Recommendation: Approve the Notice of Completion for the 2016 Street 
Rehabilitation Project No. 1502 constructed by Argonaut Constructors and direct the City 
Clerk to file the document. 

 
Item 4D: Approve the Notice of Completion for the 2016 Citywide Slurry Seal Project No. 

1601 Constructed by VSS International, Inc. and Direct the City Clerk to File the 
Document (Public Works Director/City Engineer) 

  Staff Recommendation: Approve the Notice of Completion for the 2016 Citywide Slurry 
Seal Project No. 1601 constructed by VSS International, Inc. and direct the City Clerk to 
file the document. 

 
Item 4E: Adopt Resolution Approving Program Supplement Agreement No. 0P07 to 

Administering Agency-State Master Agreement No. 00504S between the City of 
Sonoma and the State of California related to the Reimbursement of $72,000 in 
State funding for the Systemic Safety Analysis Report Program (Public Works 
Director/City Engineer) 

  Staff Recommendation: Adopt Resolution 
 
Item 4F: Approval of the Minutes of the Regular City Council Meeting of November 7, 2016 

(City Clerk) 
  Staff Recommendation: Approve the Minutes 
 
Item 4G: Approval of a Waiver of Commission Attendance Rules for Planning 

Commissioner Michael Coleman (Planning Director) 
  Staff Recommendation: Approve waiver. 
 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

All items listed on the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine and will be acted upon by a single motion.  
There will be no separate discussion of these items unless members of the Council, staff, or public request 
specific items to be removed for separate action.  At this time Council may decide to change the order of the 
agenda. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 3 of 4 

6. PUBLIC HEARING 

 
Item 6A:     Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action to:  (1) Adopt Ordinance 

Extending Interim Moratorium Ordinance on the Approval of Applications for 
Vacation Rentals; (2) Make Findings that Said Extension is Exempt Under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15060(a)(2), Among Others; and (3) Approve Report Specifying 
Measures Taken to Alleviate the Conditions which led to the Adoption of the 
Moratorium (Planning Director)  

 Staff Recommendation: Adopt the attached extension of the interim moratorium 
ordinance on new applications for vacation rentals. 

 

7. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL 

(Matters requiring discussion and/or action by the City Council) 
 
Item 7A: Consideration, Discussion, and Possible Action to Adopt a Resolution Approving 

an Application by Destination Races for temporary use of City streets for the Napa 
to Sonoma Wine Country Half Marathon on Sunday, July 16, 2017 (Special Events 
Manager) 

  Staff Recommendation: Adopt the resolution approving the use of city streets, which 
includes the conditions recommended by the Special Events Committee members, 
including Police, Fire, Public Works and Planning Departments. 

 
Item 7B:    Discussion, consideration and possible action on establishing a Safe Parking 

program on the Police Station property, including consideration of a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU) with Sonoma Overnight Support for program 
management. (Planning Director) 

  Staff Recommendation: Authorize the City Manager to execute the MOU. 
 
Item 7C: Consideration, Discussion, and Possible Action on the Approval of a 25-Year 

Lease for the Sebastiani Theater and Related Documents (City Attorney) 
  Staff Recommendation: Adopt the attached Resolution Approving (1) the Standard 

Industrial Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease-Net; (2) the Addendum thereto; (3) the Right 
of First Refusal Agreement Between the City, the Sebastiani Theater Foundation and 
the Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc.; (4) the Indemnification and Reimbursement 
Agreement Between the City and the Sebastiani Theater Foundation; and (5) the 
Sublease Between the City and the Sebastiani Theater Foundation and Make Findings 
that said actions are exempt from CEQA under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301. 

 
Item 7D: Consideration, Discussion, and Possible Action to Approve a Resolution Adopting 

Local Climate Action Measures as Referenced in the Climate Action 2020 Plan and 
Make Findings that they are Categorically Exempt from Environmental Review 
Pursuant to Section 15308 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations (City 
Manager) 

  Staff Recommendation: By resolution, adopt all 22 Climate Action Measures as detailed 
in the Climate Action 2020 Plan and authorize staff to move forward with implementation 
of measures including options for enlisting outside support staff. 

 
Item 7E: Discussion, Consideration, and Possible Action on Changes to the Regulation of 

Vacation Rentals (Planning Director) 
  Staff Recommendation:  Provide direction to staff as to any changes the City Council 

wishes to make in the regulation of vacation rentals. 
 



 

Page 4 of 4 

Item 7F: Discussion, Consideration, and Possible Action to Approve an Employment 
Agreement between the City of Sonoma and Cathy Capriola as City Manager (City 
Manager) 

  Staff Recommendation: By motion, confirm the recommendation of the Council sub-
committee and authorize the Mayor to sign the employment agreement with Cathy 
Capriola. 

 
Item 7G: Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action to Approve Change in Council 

Meeting Dates for the Months of December 2016 and January 2017 
  Staff Recommendation: Council discretion 
 

8. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL AS THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

(Matters requiring discussion and/or action by the Council as the Successor Agency) 
 

9. COUNCILMEMBERS’ REPORTS AND COMMENTS 

 

10. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS INCLUDING ANNOUNCEMENTS 
FROM SUCCESSOR AGENCY STAFF 

 

11. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  

At this time, members of the public may comment on any item not appearing on the agenda 

 

12. ADJOURNMENT 

 
I do hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing agenda was posted on the City Hall bulletin board on                                           
November 17, 2016.   Rebekah Barr, MMC, City Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 

Copies of all staff reports and documents subject to disclosure that relate to any item of business referred 
to on the agenda are normally available for public inspection the Wednesday before each regularly 
scheduled meeting at City Hall, located at No. 1 The Plaza, Sonoma CA.  Any documents subject to 
disclosure that are provided to all, or a majority of all, of the members of the City Council regarding any 
item on this agenda after the agenda has been distributed will be made available for inspection at the City 
Clerk’s office, No. 1 The Plaza, Sonoma CA during regular business hours. 
 
If you challenge the action of the City Council in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues 
you or someone else raised at the public hearing described on the agenda, or in written correspondence 
delivered to the City Clerk, at or prior to the public hearing. 
 
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in 
this meeting, please contact the City Clerk (707) 933-2216. Notification 48-hours before the meeting will 
enable the City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting.  



City of Sonoma 
City Council

Agenda Item Summary 

City Council Agenda Item: 

Meeting Date:

4B 

11/21/2016 

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact 

Carol E. Giovanatto, City Manager 

Agenda Item Title 

Consideration and Possible Action to Approve Updates to City’s Personnel Classification Plan For all 
Positions in City Service 

Summary 

In 2014, the City finalized labor negotiations with the Sonoma Employee’s Association represented by 
SEIU, and the Management Employee Unit which resulted in labor agreements for both groups for the 
period January 1, 2015 through June 30, 2017.  As a component of these agreements, the City agreed 
to do a comprehensive review of all City job descriptions. This process had not been done since the 
early 1990’s and City job descriptions were potentially out of compliance with current personnel laws 
and regulations.   

Through a Request for Qualification process, the City engaged personnel consultant Jean Sullivan of 
Bryce Consulting to assist staff with the review and to make recommendations to better align the job 
classifications with the work performed.   

Recommended Council Action 

Approve updated Personnel Classification Plan 

Alternative Actions 

Request additional information.  If changes are requested, employee bargaining groups must be 
consulted before approval. 

Financial Impact 

No fiscal impact due to classification changes. 

Environmental Review Status 

  Environmental Impact Report   Approved/Certified 
  Negative Declaration   No Action Required 
  Exempt   Action Requested 
  Not Applicable 

1



Agenda Item Error! Reference source not found. 

Attachments: 

City Job Descriptions. 
Salary Schedule with Updated Titles  
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Alignment with Council Goals:   

Although not directly aligned, the update of the job descriptions creates a more efficient organization 
for personnel management. 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Compliance with Climate 2020 Action Plan Target Goals: 

cc: 

2



Supplemental Report 

Consideration and Possible Action to Approve Updates to City’s Personnel 
Classification Plan For all Positions in City Service 

For the Council Meeting of November 21, 2016 

In 2014, the City finalized labor negotiations with the Sonoma Employee’s Association, 
represented by SEIU, and the Management Employee Unit which resulted in labor agreements 
for both groups for the period January 1, 2015 through June 30, 2017.  As a component of these 
agreements, the City agreed to do a comprehensive review of all City job descriptions.   This 
process had not been done since the early 1990’s and City job descriptions were potentially out 
of compliance with current personnel laws and regulations.   

Through a Request for Qualification process, the City engaged personnel consultant Jean 
Sullivan of Bryce Consulting to assist staff with the review and to make recommendations to 
better align the job classifications with the work performed. The study also resulted in creating a 
more structured classification ladder for future organizational management. Employees within 
the specific job classifications were utilized throughout the process, submitting input and 
feedback on recommended updates.  Each employee was interviewed prior to initiating the 
project. The final job classifications have been submitted to SEIU as required under employee 
bargaining laws (Meyers Milias Brown Act) and have received concurrence.   

No major changes have been made to the substance of the positions.  Updates primarily include 
general workplace conditions, licenses and certifications requirements or supervisory 
assignments.  Title changes are recommended to 6 positions as follows: 

Existing Classification Title Proposed Classification Title 

Maintenance Worker III Senior Maintenance Worker 

Maintenance Worker III-Foreman Public Work Supervisor 

Stormwater Compliance Specialist Environmental Compliance Analyst 

Assistant City Manager Deputy City Manager 

City Clerk/Assistant to the City Manager City Clerk/Executive Assistant 

Public Works Administrative Manager Public Works Project Manager 

The updated classification plan is based on the current and future needs of the City.  Any former 
references to duties of incumbent employees have been removed.  Changes to the 
Classification Plan do not affect salaries or benefits for any position.  This comprehensive 
review of all job classification should serve the City well into the future.  Staff will maintain a 
schedule from this point forward for internal review of job classifications on a 5-year cycle. 

3



CITY OF SONOMA 

ACCOUNTANT 

DEFINITION 

To perform professional accounting work in the development and maintenance of the financial 
systems and records of the City; to prepare and analyze financial statements; and to provide 
professional level support to an assigned supervisor. 

DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 

This is the journey level in the single level professional Accountant class. Incumbents initially 
perform the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series and work under close 
supervision.  However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected to perform the full 
range of duties as assigned with increasing independence. 

SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 

Receives direction from the Finance Director. 

May provide technical and functional supervision of technical and administrative support staff. 

EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

Review and analyze financial records for completeness and accuracy. 

Create new or review established financial systems, processes and procedures. 

Provide direction and training to technical staff. 

Maintain capital asset records. 

Oversee general ledger activities; prepare journal entries, trial balances, fiscal and statistical 
reports. 

Prepare monthly bank reconciliations. 

Provide support to the accounts receivable and payroll functions, business license 
processing, and utility billing function. 

Assist in the preparation of the City’s annual budget, Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
(CAFR), fee study updates, and long term forecasting models. 

Analyze expenses and forecast expenditures; participate in the mid-year budget review. 

4



Provide technical assistance to outside auditors in their annual review of accounting records. 

Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 

Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 

Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 

Perform related duties as assigned. 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 

Knowledge of: 

Principles and practices of general and municipal accounting. 

Principles and practices of cost accounting, budget accounting and auditing. 

Financial control systems and methodology. 

Pertinent local, state, and federal laws, ordinances, rules and regulations. 

Automated financial information systems including spreadsheet applications. 

Ability to: 

Perform professional level accounting functions in support of the City’s financial systems. 

On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job; intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve operational and technical policy and procedures. 

On a continuous basis sit at desk for long periods of time; intermittently twist to reach 
equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine manipulation; use 
telephone and write or use a keyboard to communicate through written means; and lift or 
carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 

Prepare clear and accurate financial statements and reports. 

Develop and implement financial systems, processes and procedures. 

Understand and use an automated accounting system. 

Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

5



Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 

Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 

Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 

Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 

Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 

Experience and Training 

Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 

Experience: 

Two years of responsible accounting, finance, or budget administration 
experience. 

Training: 

Equivalent to a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with 
major coursework in accounting, finance, public administration or a related field. 

License and Certificate 

Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license as required by the 
position. 

6



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

ACCOUNTING TECHNICIAN 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform a variety of complex and technical accounting functions in one or more assigned 
areas, including payroll, utility billing, accounts payable, accounts receivable, business licenses, 
and/or cash entries and deposits; to maintain related records; and to provide technical support to 
an assigned supervisor. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the journey level in the single level technical Accounting Technician class. Incumbents 
initially perform the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series and work under close 
supervision.  However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected to perform the full 
range of duties as assigned with increasing independence. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general supervision from an assigned supervisor. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Perform specialized and detailed technical work in the preparation, reviewing and processing 
of financial records and other related documents such as payroll, utility billing, accounts 
payable, accounts receivable, business licenses, and/or cash entries and deposits. 
 
Review various documents and reports related to area of assignment such as payroll, utility 
billing, accounts payable, accounts receivable, business licenses, and/or cash entries and 
deposits for accuracy, completeness and compliance with departmental policies, laws and 
other regulations. 
 
Compile, research, and prepare a variety of periodic and special reports related to area of 
assignment such as payroll, utility billing, accounts payable, accounts receivable, business 
licenses, and/or cash entries and deposits. 
 
Maintain records, databases and files relative to area of assignment such as payroll, utility 
billing, accounts payable, accounts receivable, business licenses, and/or cash entries and 
deposits. 
 
Calculate and reconcile fees, assessments, invoices and other payments. 
 
Receive and count cash; balance cash drawer. 
 

7



 

Review and reconcile bank statements, timesheets, invoices and payments; make correcting 
adjustments as appropriate. 
 
Process and oversee billing statements; coordinate billing processes with other departments; 
prepare letters for delinquent accounts. 
 
May perform simple journal entries. 
 
Coordinate and communicate with outside state and federal agencies, and/or outside 
vendors. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles, practices and theories of financial accounting. 
 
Recordkeeping requirements. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, rules, regulations and requirements. 
 
Methods and techniques of cash handling and reconciliation. 
 
Modern office equipment, including computers and software applications related to 
assignment. 
 
Business mathematics. 
 
English usage, spelling, grammar and punctuation. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Perform complex and specialized technical accounting work related to an assigned areas 
of City financial functions such as payroll, utility billing, accounts payable, accounts 
receivable, business licenses, and/or cash entries and deposits. 
 

8



 

Intermittently, review and evaluate documents related to department operations; observe, 
identify and problem solve office operations and procedures; understand, interpret and 
explain department policies and procedures; explain operations and problem solve issues 
for the public and with staff. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk for long periods of time or stand at public counter; 
intermittently twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and 
fine manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 
means; and lift or carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Maintain detailed and accurate records. 
 
Perform independent research in carrying out administrative and technical duties as 
assigned. 
 
Perform computational tasks and other technical functions with speed and accuracy. 
 
Compile and reconcile numerical and financial data. 
 
Develop and implement various data collection, reporting and filing systems. 
 
Receive and reconcile cash according to prescribed cash handling procedures. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

9



 

Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible experience in payroll processing, financial accounting, or 
utility billing. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to an Associate’s degree from an accredited college with major course 
work in finance, accounting or a related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license as required by the 
position. 
 

10



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform responsible administrative and clerical duties in support of a City department or 
division; to provide administrative support to assigned projects or programs; and to provide 
information and respond to questions from the public. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the journey level in the single level Administrative Assistant class. Incumbents initially 
perform the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series and work under close 
supervision.  However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected to perform the full 
range of duties as assigned with increasing independence. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general supervision from an assigned department manager. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Perform a wide variety of complex administrative support functions related to department or 
division operations, programs and services; perform routine and special administrative 
projects for management staff. 
 
Provide information to the public in response to questions or requests; explain policies and 
procedures; may receive and review a variety of permit or license application materials; 
calculate and collect fees as appropriate; issue permits. 
 
Perform a variety of clerical accounting functions in the preparation, maintenance and 
processing of accounting records and financial transactions; receive cash payments; reconcile 
cash entries and balance cash drawer. 
 
Prepare a variety of reports related to the activities and programs of the department and/or 
division; compile information and statistics; copy and distribute reports and documents. 
 
Provide administrative support to various boards, commissions and/or committees; attend 
meetings and take minutes; prepare and distribute agenda packets and public notices. 
 
Maintain the department’s maintenance work order management system; input work orders 
into the system; assigning work orders to supervisors; and closing out completed work orders. 
 
Prepare draft letters for initial operational or customer inquiry responses. 
 

11



 

May maintain and update portions of the city’s website with respect to content, including 
agendas, minutes, packets, announcements, and similar items. 
 
Schedule inspections and meetings; maintain appointment schedules and calendars. 
 
Maintain various department files in both hard copy and electronic version; process and file a 
variety of documents including timesheets, invoices, contract documents and application 
forms. 
 
Oversee supplies and equipment; order and purchase supplies as necessary. 
 
Receive, sort and distribute mail; independently respond to various letters and 
correspondence not requiring the attention of management staff. 
 
Provide customer service over the phone and in person. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of office management. 
 
Principles and practices of routine research and report writing. 
 
English usage, spelling, grammar and punctuation. 
 
Modern office methods, procedures, and computer equipment including applicable 
software programs. 
 
Pertinent City and department functions, policies, rules and regulations. 
 
Principles and practices of cash handling and bookkeeping. 
 
Basic arithmetic. 
 
Ability to: 
 

12



 

Perform a wide variety of complex administrative support functions related to 
department or division operations, programs and services. 
 
Intermittently, review and evaluate documents related to department operations; observe, 
identify and problem solve office operations and procedures; understand, interpret and 
explain department policies and procedures; explain operations and problem solve issues 
for the public and with staff. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk for long periods of time or stand at public counter; 
intermittently twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and 
fine manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 
means; and lift or carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Understand the organization and operation of the City and of assigned department. 
 
Plan, organize and schedule priorities. 
 
Calculate fees, fines and other charges; receive payments and handle cash. 
 
Neatly and accurately compose clear and concise reports, applications, and general 
correspondence; organize information and present data in a usable format. 
 
Compile and maintain complex records and files. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 

13



 

 
Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible administrative and clerical experience. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to the completion of the twelfth grade supplemented by college course 
work in business, accounting or a related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license as required by the 
position. 
 

14



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE CLERK 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform a wide variety of general clerical, receptionist, and routine administrative support 
duties related to area of assignment; to provide exceptional public service as the primary point of 
contact for an assigned department or division; and to provide administrative support to an 
assigned supervisor. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the journey level in the single level Administrative Clerk class. Incumbents initially perform 
the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series and work under close supervision.  
However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected to perform the full range of duties 
as assigned with increasing independence. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general supervision from an assigned supervisor. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Perform a wide variety of clerical work including filing, billing, verifying and recording information. 
 
Act as primary point of contact for the public; answer telephones and greet visitors; respond to 
inquiries; provide routine information; take messages and refer callers to appropriate parties. 
 
Perform a variety of clerical accounting functions in the preparation, maintenance and 
processing of accounting records and financial transactions; receive cash payments; reconcile 
cash entries and balance cash drawer. 
 
Accept and process a variety of applications, verifying accuracy of information. 
 
Prepare, proofread, copy and distribute various reports, agendas, and files. 
 
Conduct mailings and place posters to advertise public hearings. 
 
May maintain and update the city’s website with respect to content, including agendas, 
minutes, packets, announcements, and similar items. 
 
Sort and file documents, files, charts, and records; maintain alphabetical, index, and cross-
reference files. 
 

15



 

Process and maintain a variety of statistical records; check and tabulate statistical data; prepare 
routine statistical reports; perform data entry. 
 
Receive, sort and distribute incoming and outgoing mail. 
 
Maintain office supplies and equipment. 
  
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Standard and accepted English usage, spelling, grammar, and punctuation. 

 
Principles and practices of customer service. 

 
Modern office methods, procedures and computer equipment, including applicable 
software programs. 
 
Pertinent City functions, policies, rules and regulations. 

 
Methods and techniques of effective recordkeeping. 
 
Principles and practices of cash handling and reconciliation. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Perform a wide variety of general clerical, receptionist, and routine administrative support 
duties. 
 
Intermittently, review and evaluate documents related to department operations; observe, 
identify and problem solve office operations and procedures; understand, interpret and 
explain department policies and procedures; explain operations and problem solve issues 
for the public and with staff. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk for long periods of time or stand at public counter; 
intermittently twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and 

16



 

fine manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 
means; and lift or carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Manage and reconcile cash payments and deposits. 
 
Prepare, proofread, and distribute a variety of documents related to area of assignment. 
 
Accept, review, verify and collect payments, fees, fines and applications. 
  
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible clerical experience. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to the completion of the twelfth grade. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license as required by the 
position. 
 

17



 

 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES MANAGER 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, direct and coordinate the activities of the human resources division within the 
Administration Department including labor relations, workers compensation, and salary and 
benefits administration; to coordinate cemetery administration activities; to coordinate division 
activities with other divisions and departments; and to provide highly complex staff assistance to 
the City Manager. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the City Manager. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned professional, technical and administrative support 
staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Develop and implement divisional goals, objectives, policies and procedures. 
 
Plan, organize and direct human resources activities including recruitment and selection, labor 
relations, employee benefits and workers compensation. 
 
Direct, oversee and participate in the development of the City’s cemetery administration work 
plan; assign work activities, projects, and programs; monitor work flow; review and evaluate 
work products, methods and procedures. 
 
Prepare the human resources budget; assist in budget implementation; participate in the 
forecast of additional funds needed for staffing, equipment, materials and supplies; administer 
the approved budget. 
 
Recommend the appointment of personnel; provide or coordinate staff training; conduct 
performance evaluations; implement discipline procedures as required; maintain discipline and 
high standards necessary for the efficient and professional operation of the department. 
 
Coordinate with finance department staff to ensure accurate interpretation of Memoranda of 
Understanding (MOUs) and personnel policies and procedures as they relate to the payroll 
function. 
 
Develop and conduct new employee orientations. 
 
Maintain employee personnel files and other organizational records related to human resources 
functions. 

18



 

 

 
Represent the division and department to outside agencies and organizations; participate in 
outside community and professional groups and committees; provide technical assistance as 
necessary. 
 
Research and prepare technical and administrative reports; prepare written correspondence. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of public human resources administration. 
 
Principles and practices of leadership, motivation, team building and conflict resolution. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal rules, regulations and laws. 
 
Modern office procedures and computer equipment. 
 
Principles and practices of organizational analysis and management. 
 
Budgeting procedures and techniques. 
 
Principles and practices of supervision, training and personnel management. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Organize and direct the human resources division operations. 
 
On a continuous basis, analyze budget and technical reports; interpret and evaluate staff 
reports; know laws, regulations and codes; observe performance and evaluate staff; 
problem solve department related issues; remember various rules and procedures; and 
explain and interpret policy. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk and in meetings for long periods of time.  Intermittently 
twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine 
manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 

19



 

 

means; and lift or carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed 
actions and implement recommendations in support of goals. 
 
Gain cooperation through discussion and persuasion. 
 
Interpret and apply City and department policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate personnel. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Five years of increasingly responsible experience in human resources 
administration; including two years of supervisory responsibility. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in human resources management, public administration, or a 
related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
 

20



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

ASSISTANT PLANNER 
ASSOCIATE PLANNER 

 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform professional level planning duties in current and long range planning; to prepare and 
present a variety of reports and recommendations regarding planning projects; and to provide 
professional level support to an assigned supervisor. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
Assistant Planner- This is the entry-level class in the professional Planner series.  Positions in 
this class typically have little or no directly related work experience and work under immediate 
supervision while learning job tasks.  The Assistant Planner class is distinguished from the 
Associate level by the performance of less than the full range of duties assigned to the Associate 
level.  Incumbents work under immediate supervision while learning job tasks, progressing to 
general supervision as procedures and processes of assigned area of responsibility are learned. 
 
Associate Planner - This is the journey level class in the professional Planner series and is 
distinguished from the Assistant level by the assignment of the full range of duties. Employees at 
this level receive only occasional instruction or assistance as new, unusual or unique situations 
arise and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies within the work unit.  Positions 
in this class are flexibly staffed and are normally filled by advancement from the Assistant level. 
 
This class is distinguished from the Senior Planner in that the latter performs review of larger, 
more complex development projects and provides technical and functional supervision over 
assigned staff. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 

Assistant Planner 
 
Receives general supervision from the Planning and Community Services Director, and may 
receive technical and functional supervision from the Senior Planner. 
 

Associate Planner 
 
Receives direction from the Planning and Community Services Director, and may receive 
technical and functional supervision from the Senior Planner. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Review and process development projects and planning applications. 
 

21



 

Conduct research and prepare recommendations for the Planning Commission, Design 
Review/Historic Preservation Commission, and other commissions and committees. 
 
Prepare a variety of staff reports, resolutions, agreements and other related documents. 
 
Provide information regarding City planning and zoning regulations, processes and requirements 
to developers and the general public by phone, via email, and in person. 
 
Participate in code enforcement activities, including investigating complaints of municipal code 
violations. 
 
Perform a variety of special projects related to planning programs and functions, including 
General Plan updates, coordination of the City’s bicycle program, municipal code updates, and 
other programs; compile information and make recommendations on special studies. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Assistant Planner 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of urban planning and development. 
 
Role and function of general plans and zoning ordinances. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, ordinances and regulations. 
 
Methods and techniques of research and report preparation. 
 
Modern office equipment including computers and applicable software; uses of 
Geographic Imaging Systems (GIS). 
 
Ability to: 
 
Perform professional level municipal planning work. 
 

22



 

On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job; intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve operational and technical policy and procedures. 
 
On a continuous basis sit at desk for long periods of time; intermittently twist to reach 
equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine manipulation; use 
telephone and write or use a keyboard to communicate through written means; and lift or 
carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Write accurate and concise technical reports and memoranda. 
 
Explain planning and zoning requirements clearly to the public, applicants, and other 
departments. 
 
Research, analyze and summarize planning issues. 
 
Read, understand and interpret a variety of maps, site plans, architectural drawings, and 
specifications. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
No professional experience is required.  
 

23



 

Training: 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in urban planning or a related field. 
 

License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license as required by the 
position. 
 

 Associate Planner 
 
In addition to the qualifications for the Assistant Planner: 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
Principles, objectives and procedures of municipal planning, urban design, and zoning. 
 
Environmental review processes and California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
requirements. 
 
Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Conduct independent research and report preparation. 
 
Accurately interpret planning and zoning map, aerial photos, architectural design plans 
and precise construction drawings. 
 
Prepare staff reports, agendas and public notices. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible experience similar to Assistant Planner with the City of 
Sonoma. 
 
Training: 
 

24



 

Equivalent to a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in urban planning or a related field. 
 

 
 

25



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

BUILDING INSPECTOR 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform technical inspections of residential, commercial and industrial buildings at various 
stages of construction, alteration and repair; to assist in the review of building plans and 
processing of permits; and to provide technical support to an assigned supervisor. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the journey level in the single level technical Building Inspector class. Incumbents initially 
perform the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series and work under close 
supervision.  However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected to perform the full 
range of duties as assigned with increasing independence. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general supervision from the Development Services Director/Building Official. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Plan, schedule, and perform field inspections of residential, commercial, and industrial 
construction projects. 
 
Ensure that building construction is in compliance with related laws, codes, ordinances and 
regulations. 
 
Research, interpret and explain codes, standards, requirements and restrictions; provide 
information to architects, contractors, engineers and the public. 
 
Coordinate inspection and plans examination activities with other city departments and 
divisions. 
 
Prepare reports, investigate code violations and issue violation notices, correction notices and 
abatement orders; maintain files and reports regarding inspection activities and findings. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 

26



 

 
Knowledge of: 
 
Principals and practices of building construction and structural design. 
 
Methods and materials used in building construction. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal codes, laws, and ordinances. 
 
Engineering mathematics. 
 
Relevant software programs. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Interpret and apply relevant codes and standards in the performance of building 
inspections. 
 
On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job.  Intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve building inspection activities; sit at desk for long 
periods of time; and stand at the counter to answer questions of the public. 
 
Intermittently, walk, stand, kneel, climb, and bend in the field; perform simple and power 
grasping, pushing, pulling, and fine manipulation; intermittently write or use a keyboard to 
communicate, and occasionally lift or carry weight of 40 pounds or less. 
 
Read and interpret building plans and specifications, and ensure compliance with all 
applicable codes, laws, regulations and ordinances. 
 
Follow safe and proper inspection techniques to examine construction workmanship and 
materials. 
 
Perform accurate arithmetical calculations. 
 
Neatly and accurately prepare clear and concise reports, written correspondence, 
violation notices, correction notices and abatement orders. 
 
Maintain accurate records of inspection activities. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 

27



 

 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible building inspection experience. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to an Associate’s degree from an accredited college with major course 
work in building inspection, code administration, building safety, architecture, 
engineering or a related field. 
 

License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
Possession of one or more International Code Conference (ICC) certificates in an 
Inspector, Plans Examiner or Building Official category or registration as a Licensed 
Architect or Registered Electrical, Mechanical, or Civil Engineer by the State of 
California. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain and maintain, one or more ICC certifications in an 
Inspector category, within two years of appointment. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain and maintain, an ICC Certification in a Combination 
Inspector category, within four years of appointment. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a Certified Access Specialist certificate from the 
California Department of General Services within three years of appointment. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a Certified Safety Assessment Program Evaluator or 
Coordinator designation from the State of California Office of Emergency Services 
within three years of appointment. 

28



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

CITY CLERK/EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform responsible and confidential administrative duties for the City Council and City 
Manager; to provide administrative support to assigned projects or programs; and to process 
and record official City documents. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the journey level in the single level City Clerk/Executive Assistant administrative support 
class. Incumbents initially perform the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series 
and work under close supervision.  However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected 
to perform the full range of duties as assigned with increasing independence. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general supervision from the City Manager. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Prepare, organize, and distribute materials for City Council meetings; attend meetings, take 
and prepare minutes. 
 
Represent the City to the public, businesses, Council members and other agencies at the 
request of the City Council or City Manager. 
 
Coordinate office activities and schedules; develop and recommend office procedures and 
systems; ensure smooth office operations. 
 
Plan, coordinate, and implement City Council special events and meetings; ensure quality 
representation of City activities and Council members. 
 
Process and file a variety of City documents including agendas, resolutions, ordinances, 
petitions, contracts and deeds. 
 
Perform a wide variety of executive secretarial and administrative duties as required by daily 
operations in the City Manager’s office. 
 
Assist with the administration of elections and legal notifications. 
 
Serve as the City Public Information Officer 
 

29



 

Review and summarize miscellaneous reports and documents; prepare background 
documents as necessary. 
 
Research and analyze routine administrative projects for the City Council and City Manager; 
prepare first draft reports on routine administrative matters. 
 

Receive and distribute incoming mail; review and evaluate mail to identify those items 
requiring priority attention of the City Council or City Manager. 
 
Provide follow up to assignments given management staff by the City Council or City 
Manager; provide status reports to the City Council and City Manager. 
 
Receive telephone calls including complaints, and provide assistance to callers using 
judgment as to calls requiring priority attention. 
 
Independently respond to letters and general correspondence of a routine nature. 
 
Make travel arrangements for the City Council or City Manager; maintain appointment 
schedules and calendars; arrange meetings and conferences. 
 
Provide administrative support for assigned task forces, commissions, and boards. 
 
Act as department front-line representative who provides information and assists the public. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Organization, function, procedures and operating details of a City Council and a City 
Manager's office. 
 
Principles and practices of routine analytical research. 
 
Principles and practices of office management. 
 
Methods and techniques of records retention. 
 

30



 

English usage, spelling, grammar, and punctuation. 
 
Modern office methods, procedures and computer equipment, including applicable 
software. 
 
Pertinent City functions, policies, rules and regulations. 
 
Principles and methods of business letter and report writing. 
 
Applicable local, state and federal laws, ordinances and codes. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Prioritize and coordinate a variety of administrative tasks and projects in a highly sensitive 
environment. 
 
Intermittently, review and evaluate documents related to department operations; observe, 
identify and problem solve office operations and procedures; understand, interpret and 
explain department policies and procedures; explain operations and problem solve issues 
for the public and with staff. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk for long periods of time or stand at public counter; 
intermittently twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and 
fine manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 
means; and lift or carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Research and prepare correspondence and reports. 
 
Interpret and explain pertinent laws and rules. 
 
Gain a thorough knowledge of the Ralph M. Brown Act; learn, interpret and apply 
California Elections Code requirements. 
 
Understand, organize, index and reference a wide variety of administrative information 
and records. 
 
Analyze situations carefully, recommend solutions, adopt effective courses of action. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 

31



 

Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Four years of responsible administrative support experience in a municipal 
government environment. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to an Associate’s degree from an accredited college with major 
coursework in office administration, supervision or a closely related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain within six months, a valid Notary Public certificate. 
 

32



 

 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

DEPUTY CITY MANAGER 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To oversee complex and special projects involving the interests of multiple City departments 
and requiring coordination with other governmental agencies, the private sector, and/or the 
general public; to formulate, coordinate, and manage development and implementation of City 
policies; and to provide highly complex staff assistance to the City Manager. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the City Manager. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned professional, technical and administrative support 
staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Serve as project manager for City involvement in complex and multifaceted developmental 
projects. 
 
Formulate, recommend and administer policies and procedures as assigned. 
 
Establish long-range goals and implementation plans for assigned special projects. 
 
Provide professional advice and support to department heads, City Manager and City Council 
on assigned issues. 
 
Prepare reports to City Manager, advisory boards and commissions, and City Council. 
 
Plan and evaluate the work of professional, technical and support staff involved in assigned 
projects. 
 
Represent the division and department to outside agencies and organizations; participate in 
outside community and professional groups and committees; provide technical assistance as 
necessary. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 

33



 

 

Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles, practices and techniques of project management. 
 
Municipal services including the means by which services are managed within a City 
organization and delivered to the public. 
 
Principles and practices of leadership, motivation, team building and conflict resolution. 
 
Governmental policy development and implementation. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal rules, regulations and laws. 
 
Modern office procedures and computer equipment. 
 
Principles and practices of organizational analysis and management. 
 
Budgeting procedures and techniques. 
 
Principles and practices of supervision, training and personnel management. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Organize and coordinate a variety of complex projects involving a range of City interests 
and issues. 
 
On a continuous basis, analyze budget and technical reports; interpret and evaluate staff 
reports; know laws, regulations and codes; observe performance and evaluate staff; 
problem solve department related issues; remember various rules and procedures; and 
explain and interpret policy. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk and in meetings for long periods of time.  Intermittently 
twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine 
manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 
means; and lift or carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed 
actions and implement recommendations in support of goals. 
 
Gain cooperation through discussion and persuasion. 
 
Interpret and apply City and department policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 

34



 

 

 
Supervise, train and evaluate personnel. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Five years of increasingly responsible management experience in a municipal 
government environment. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in public administration or a related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
 

35



 

 

CITY OF SONOMA  
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR  
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, direct and review the activities and operations of the Building Department 
including city facilities project management and coordination of information systems; to serve as 
the City’s Chief Building Official; to coordinate assigned activities with other departments and 
outside agencies; and to provide highly responsible and complex administrative support to the 
City Manager. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives administrative direction from the City Manager. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned technical and administrative support staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Develop, plan and implement department goals and objectives; recommend and administer 
policies and procedures. 
 
Coordinate department activities with those of other departments and outside agencies and 
organizations; provide staff assistance to the City Manager and City Council; prepare and present 
staff reports and other necessary correspondence. 
 
Direct, oversee and participate in the development of the department's work plan; assign work 
activities, projects and programs; monitor workflow; review and evaluate work products, methods 
and procedures. 
 
Supervise and participate in the development and administration of the Building Department 
budget; direct the forecast of additional funds needed for staffing, equipment, materials and 
supplies; monitor and approve expenditures; implement mid-year adjustments. 
 
Select, train, motivate and evaluate personnel; provide or coordinate staff training; conduct 
performance evaluations; implement discipline procedures; maintain discipline and high 
standards necessary for the efficient and professional operation of the department. 
 
Serve as the City’s Chief Building Official. 
 
Plan, manage, coordinate and oversee all phases of moderate and major construction projects on 
City-owned buildings and facilities. 
 
Represent the department to outside groups and organizations; participate in outside community 
and professional groups and committees; provide technical assistance as necessary. 

36



 

 

 
Research and prepare technical and administrative reports and studies; prepare written 
correspondence as necessary. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of building codes, building construction, plan review and 
inspection. 
 
Methods and techniques of construction project management. 
 
Basic principles and practices of civil engineering, structural design, engineering 
mathematics and soil engineering. 
 
Principles and practices of leadership, motivation, team building and conflict resolution. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations. 
 
Organizational and management practices as applied to the analysis and evaluation of 
programs. 
 
Principles and practices of organization, administration and personnel management. 
 
Principles and practices of budget preparation and administration. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Plan, direct and control the administration and operations of the Building Department. 
 
On a continuous basis, analyze budget and technical reports; interpret and evaluate staff 
reports and related documents; know and interpret laws, regulations, codes and 
procedures; observe performance and evaluate staff; problem solve department related 
issues; and explain and interpret policy. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk and in meetings for long periods of time.  Intermittently 

37



 

 

twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine 
manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 
means; and lift or carry weight of 25 pounds or less. 
 
Prepare and administer department budgets. 
 
Develop and implement department policies and procedures. 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate assigned personnel. 
 
Gain cooperation through discussion and persuasion. 
 
Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed actions 
and implement recommendations in support of goals. 
 
Interpret and apply City and department policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Seven years of increasingly responsible experience in building inspection, 
engineering, construction, or a related field, including three years of administrative 
and management responsibility. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in engineering, architecture, construction management or a 
related field. 

 
License and Certificates 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 

38



 

 

Possession of one or more International Code Conference (ICC) certificates in a 
Residential or Commercial Inspector, Plans Examiner or Building Official category. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain and maintain, ICC certification as a Building Official 
within two years of appointment. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain and maintain, an ICC Certificate in a Combination 
Inspector or Plans Examiner category, within four years of appointment. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain and maintain, a certificate as a Certified Access 
Specialist from the California Department of General Services within three years of 
appointment. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a Certified Safety Assessment Program Inspector or 
Coordinator designation from the State of California Office of Emergency Services 
within three years of appointment. 

 
 
 
 

39



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE ANALYST 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To oversee and administer the City’s stormwater program and other related environmental 
programs; to establish new and modify existing City operations to ensure compliance with 
relevant stormwater laws and regulations; and to provide professional level support to an 
assigned supervisor. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the journey level in the single level professional Environmental Compliance Analyst class. 
Incumbents initially perform the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series and work 
under close supervision.  However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected to 
perform the full range of duties as assigned with increasing independence. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives direction from the Public Works Director/City Engineer. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Serve as the City’s representative to regulatory agencies with regard to stormwater 
compliance issues; prepare and file reports; provide stormwater sampling data; meet with 
regulators to plan and discuss stormwater issues. 
 
Prepare amendments to the City’s Municipal Code and other city policies in support of 
compliance with stormwater regulations. 
 
Develop and disseminate educational materials to a variety of target audiences to support 
pollution reduction goals; participate in public meetings and events. 
 
Prepare and maintain maps and databases, including performing Geographic Information 
System (GIS) analyses that support stormwater program activities. 
 
Review development and construction plans for stormwater compliance; identify stormwater 
discharge sources and best management practices to maximize stormwater and water quality 
protection. 
 
Investigate complaints or requests regarding discharge abatement; conduct field inspections 
and perform code enforcement or abatement; prepare notices of violation; prepare and 
maintain records of investigations and actions taken. 
 
Coordinate and implement the City’s annual dry weather monitoring program. 

40



 

 
Research and pursue grant funding for stormwater projects and activities. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Pertinent federal, state and local laws, codes, and regulations affecting stormwater quality 
management, including the Clean Water Act. 
 
Principles and practices of chemistry, hydrology and geology. 
 
Methods and techniques of inspection, investigation, and code enforcement. 
 
Proper use of monitoring, sampling and basic testing equipment. 
 
Principles and practices of record keeping and records management. 
 
Methods and techniques of data collection, research, and report preparation. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Plan, organize, coordinate and evaluate stormwater compliance programs and projects. 
 
On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job; intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve operational and technical policy and procedures. 
 
On a continuous basis, work outside in different types of weather while exposed to heavy 
traffic, noise, dust, fumes, vibrations, airborne particles, noxious odors, grease oil, 
cleaning chemicals, paint, glues, solvents and spills. Intermittently, sit while driving a 
piece of equipment; stand and walk over rough, uneven or rocky surfaces while 
performing maintenance activities; bend and twist to adjust equipment; kneel and squat to 
review work; climb ladders or climb up on to heavy equipment to begin operations; 
perform duties in cramped areas such as trenches, vaults, and manholes; perform simple 
and power grasping, pushing, pulling, and fine manipulation; and lift or carry weight of 50 
pounds or less. 

41



 

 
Use chemical laboratory equipment to effectively collect stormwater samples. 
 
Conduct accurate and thorough research; prepare accurate and concise analysis, 
reports, and recommendations. 
 
Understand, interpret, explain and apply federal, state, and local policies, laws, and 
regulations. 
 
Apply procedures and techniques involved in the investigation, documentation, and 
enforcement of codes and regulations. 
 
Inspect and/or collect samples from potentially hazardous locations including active 
construction sites and flowing waterways or storm drains. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible environmental compliance program or environmental 
permitting agency experience. 
 
Training: 
 

42



 

Equivalent to a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with 
major coursework in environmental science, physical science, or a related field. 
 

License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a certificate as a Qualified SWPPP Practitioner 
(QSP) or Qualified SWPPP Developer (QSD) from the California Stormwater Quality 
Association (CASQA) within the first twelve months of appointment. 
 

43



 

 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

FINANCE DIRECTOR  
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, direct and review the activities and operations of the Finance Department 
including utility billing, payroll and budget; to coordinate assigned activities with other 
departments and outside agencies; and to provide highly responsible and complex administrative 
support to the City Manager. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives administrative direction from the City Manager. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned professional, technical and administrative support 
staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Develop, plan and implement department goals and objectives; recommend and administer 
policies and procedures. 
 
Coordinate department activities with those of other departments and outside agencies and 
organizations; provide staff assistance to the City Manager and City Council; prepare and present 
staff reports and other necessary correspondence. 
 
Direct, oversee and participate in the development of the department's work plan; assign work 
activities, projects and programs; monitor workflow; review and evaluate work products, methods 
and procedures. 
 
Supervise and participate in the development and administration of the Finance Department 
budget; direct the forecast of additional funds needed for staffing, equipment, materials and 
supplies; monitor and approve expenditures; implement mid-year adjustments; lead development 
of City budget and fee schedule updates. 
 
Select, train, motivate and evaluate personnel; provide or coordinate staff training; conduct 
performance evaluations; implement discipline procedures; maintain discipline and high 
standards necessary for the efficient and professional operation of the department. 
 
Respond to media requests and Public Records Act requests. 
 
Serve as Treasurer for Valley of the Moon Fire Protection District, as assigned. 
 
Lead development of the City’s annual audit and Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
(CAFR). 
 

44



 

 

Serve as administrator for online financial activities, including banking and payments. 
 
Represent the department to outside groups and organizations; participate in outside community 
and professional groups and committees; provide technical assistance as necessary. 
 
Research and prepare technical and administrative reports and studies; prepare written 
correspondence as necessary. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of government accounting, budgeting and auditing. 
 
Generally Accepted Accounting and Auditing Principles. 
 
Principles and practices of cost accounting. 
 
Principles and practices of leadership, motivation, team building and conflict resolution. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations. 
 
Organizational and management practices as applied to the analysis and evaluation of 
programs. 
 
Principles and practices of organization, administration and personnel management. 
 
Principles and practices of budget preparation and administration. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Plan, direct and control the administration and operations of the Finance Department. 
 
On a continuous basis, analyze budget and technical reports; interpret and evaluate staff 
reports and related documents; know and interpret laws, regulations, codes and 
procedures; observe performance and evaluate staff; problem solve department related 
issues; and explain and interpret policy. 
 

45



 

 

On a continuous basis, sit at desk and in meetings for long periods of time;  intermittently 
twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine 
manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 
means; and lift or carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Prepare and administer department budgets. 
 
Develop and implement department policies and procedures. 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate assigned personnel. 
 
Gain cooperation through discussion and persuasion. 
 
Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed actions 
and implement recommendations in support of goals. 
 
Interpret and apply City and department policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Seven years of increasingly responsible experience in municipal finance; including 
three years of administrative and management responsibility. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in accounting, finance, public or business administration, or a 
related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 

46



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

MAINTENANCE WORKER I 
MAINTENANCE WORKER II 

 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform maintenance functions in an assigned division of the Public Works Department, 
including streets, parks, cemeteries or water distribution systems; to operate, maintain, and 
repair assigned City facilities; and to provide technical support to an assigned supervisor. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
Maintenance Worker I - This is the entry level class in the Maintenance Worker series.  Positions 
in this class typically have little or no directly related work experience and work under immediate 
supervision while learning job tasks.  The Maintenance Worker I class is distinguished from the II 
level by the performance of less than the full range of duties assigned to the II level.  Incumbents 
work under immediate supervision while learning job tasks, progressing to general supervision 
as procedures and processes of assigned area of responsibility are learned. 
 
Maintenance Worker II - This is the journey level class in the Maintenance Worker series and is 
distinguished from the I level by the assignment of the full range of duties. Employees at this 
level receive only occasional instruction or assistance as new, unusual or unique situations arise 
and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies within the work unit.  Positions in 
this class are flexibly staffed and are normally filled by advancement from the I level. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 

Maintenance Worker I 
 
Receives immediate supervision from a Public Works Supervisor. 
 

Maintenance Worker II 
 
Receives general supervision from a Public Works Supervisor. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Operate a variety of construction vehicles and equipment, including backhoes, dump trucks, and 
hand and power tools. 
 
Clean, maintain, and perform minor repairs to assigned tools and equipment. 
 
Pick up and dispose of litter, debris, brush and waste materials. 
 
Accurately maintain daily work logs. 

47



 

 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
When assigned to Cemetery: 
 
Inspect, maintain and repair cemeteries; set markers; clean drains; clear walks and roadways; 
maintain cemetery grounds. 
 
Clean, sweep and rake leaves; trim trees and bushes spray weeds. 
 
Prepare and mount head stones; straighten, reinforce and repair as needed; use backhoe to dig 
graves; install grave liners; close graves after burial; tamp and level gravesite; plant flowers. 
 
May perform special construction and installations projects such as building sheds and cabinets, 
constructing signs, pouring concrete pads and painting. 
 
When assigned to Parks: 
 
Perform turf maintenance, including mowing and edging lawns and pulling weeds. 
 
Repair and maintain irrigation systems. 
 
Plant and trim trees and shrubs; apply fertilizers and assist with identification of pests and 
diseases. 
 
Perform minor building repairs; clean and maintain restrooms; maintain and repair drinking 
fountains. 
 
Clear and maintain paths, trails and walkways. 
 
May construct or repair playground equipment and facilities. 
 
Set up for various special events; tear down and clean at end of event. 
 
When assigned to Streets: 
 
Perform maintenance and repair of City streets, including asphalt and concrete work. 
 
Install and replace street signs; paint curbs and legends. 

48



 

 
Remove downed trees or other hazardous debris from streets and sidewalks. 
 
Set up appropriate traffic control at work sites; assist other City departments with traffic control 
as needed. 
 
Maintain and clear storm drains and gutters. 
 
May operate street sweeper as assigned. 
 
When assigned to Water: 
 
Install, repair and replace underground water mains and service laterals; repair water leaks; flush 
water lines. 
 
Install, clean, test, repair and replace water meters and meter boxes. 
 
Maintain and troubleshoot pumping stations; perform preventative maintenance on associated 
equipment including pumps, motors, valves, and hydrants. 
 
Perform minor electrical work. 
 
Mark and locate underground utilities. 
 
Check tank and well levels; check pressures; may take water samples. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Maintenance Worker I 
 

Knowledge of: 
 

Tools and equipment used in general construction work. 
 
Safe construction work practices, including appropriate traffic control measures. 

 
Ability to: 
 
Perform heavy manual labor in the maintenance and repair of assigned City facilities. 
 
On a continuous basis, know and understand maintenance activities and observe safety 
rules; intermittently, analyze problem equipment; identify safety hazards; locate 
equipment; interpret work orders; remember how to operate equipment; and explain jobs 
to other employees. 
 

49



 

On a continuous basis, work outside in different types of weather while exposed to heavy 
traffic, noise, dust, fumes, vibrations, airborne particles, noxious odors, grease oil, 
cleaning chemicals, paint, glues, solvents and spills. Intermittently, sit while driving a 
piece of equipment; stand and walk over rough, uneven or rocky surfaces while 
performing maintenance activities; bend and twist to adjust equipment; kneel and squat to 
review work; climb ladders or climb up on to heavy equipment to begin operations; 
perform duties in cramped areas such as trenches, vaults, and manholes; perform simple 
and power grasping, pushing, pulling, and fine manipulation; and lift or carry weight of 50 
pounds or less. 
 
Safely operate tools and equipment used in maintenance and construction work. 
 
Read and understand work orders, diagrams and maps. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Some construction or manual labor experience is desirable 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to the completion of the twelfth grade. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 

50



 

When assigned to Water, possession of, or ability to obtain, a Water Distribution 
Operator Grade 1 certificate from the State Water Resources Control Board within 
twelve months of appointment. 
 

 Maintenance Worker II 
 
In addition to the qualifications for the Maintenance Worker I: 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
Departmental policies and procedures relative to assigned area of responsibility. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, codes, ordinances and regulations applicable to 
area of assignment. 
 
Basic arithmetic skills to calculate volumes, areas, lengths, percentages and conversions 
as required by area of assignment. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Train and direct less experienced maintenance staff. 
 
Operate specialized tools and equipment used in assigned area. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible experience similar to Maintenance Worker I with the City 
of Sonoma. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to the completion of the twelfth grade. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of a Water Distribution Operator Grade 2 certificate from the State Water 
Resources Control Board. 
 

51



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

MANAGEMENT ANALYST 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To provide responsible professional, administrative and technical assistance in the development, 
administration and implementation of City programs; to conduct specific and comprehensive 
analyses of a wide range of municipal policies and program issues; and to provide professional 
level support to an assigned supervisor. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the journey level in the single level professional Management Analyst class. Incumbents 
initially perform the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series and work under close 
supervision.  However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected to perform the full 
range of duties as assigned with increasing independence. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives direction from an assigned department manager. 
 
May exercise direct supervision over technical and administrative support staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Provide responsible professional and technical assistance in the development, administration 
and implementation of City programs; assist in formulating program policy, goals and 
procedures; collect and compile relevant data supporting recommendations. 
 
Assist in the development of new program elements and program modifications as necessary to 
meet goals and objectives; monitor and coordinate the daily operation of assigned program 
areas; perform analytical work and maintain appropriate records and statistics. 
 
Provide highly responsible analytical staff assistance including conducting specific and 
comprehensive analyses of a wide range of municipal policies involving organization, 
procedures, finance and services. 
 
Respond to complaints and requests for information from the public and City staff; research 
requested information and determine appropriate resolutions; manage, direct and coordinate 
special projects and programs as assigned. 
 
Prepare draft Council and committee staff reports, resolutions, and ordinances; coordinate with 
other departments and external agencies; and ensure proper formatting and timely submission. 
 

52



 

Review and prepare agreements, contracts, leases and licenses to ensure the City’s interests 
are protected; verify licenses and insurance requirements are met; if necessary route through 
City Attorney for review and approval. 
 

Assist in the preparation of the budget; make budget recommendations relative to assigned 
program areas of responsibility; coordinate and compile budget recommendations prepared by 
other staff; research past expenditures; project future expenditures.   
 
Plan, coordinate and implement; coordinate neighborhood association and other community and 
volunteer meetings, forums and related activities; staff various committees established by the 
City Council; prepare agendas and minutes; assist with research and other support as needed. 
 
Provide staff support to various boards and commissions. 
 
May maintain and update the city’s website. 
 
Respond to complaints and requests for information from the public and City staff; research 
requested information and determine appropriate resolutions. 
 
Prepare a variety of written correspondence; maintain administrative files and other city 
records. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles, practices and techniques of public administration. 
 
Methods and techniques of research, analysis, and effective data compilation and 
presentation. 
 
Budget preparation and monitoring. 
 
Methods and techniques of project management. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, codes and ordinances. 
 

53



 

Ability to: 
 
Organize, plan, schedule and implement operations; conduct analytical and 
administrative projects related to area of assignment. 
 
On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job; intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve operational and technical policy and procedures. 
 
On a continuous basis sit at desk for long periods of time; intermittently twist to reach 
equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine manipulation; use 
telephone and write or use a keyboard to communicate through written means; and lift or 
carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Perform a wide variety of analytical duties with little or minimal supervision; analyze 
situations carefully and adopt an appropriate, effective course of action. 
 
Effectively administer assigned programmatic responsibilities; prepare complex reports; 
prepare and administer a program budget; evaluate and develop procedures and policies. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Two years of professional level experience in public administration. 

54



 

 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with 
major coursework in public or business administration or a related field. 
 

License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license as required by the 
position. 
 
 

55



 

 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTOR  
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, direct and review the activities and operations of the Planning and Community 
Services Department including current and long-range planning, zoning and development; to 
coordinate assigned activities with other departments and outside agencies; and to provide highly 
responsible and complex administrative support to the City Manager. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives administrative direction from the City Manager. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned professional, technical and administrative support 
staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Develop, plan and implement department goals and objectives; recommend and administer 
policies and procedures. 
 
Coordinate department activities with those of other departments and outside agencies and 
organizations; provide staff assistance to the City Manager and City Council; prepare and present 
staff reports and other necessary correspondence. 
 
Direct, oversee and participate in the development of the department's work plan; assign work 
activities, projects and programs; monitor workflow; review and evaluate work products, methods 
and procedures. 
 
Supervise and participate in the development and administration of the Planning and Community 
Services Department budget; direct the forecast of additional funds needed for staffing, 
equipment, materials and supplies; monitor and approve expenditures; implement mid-year 
adjustments. 
 
Select, train, motivate and evaluate personnel; provide or coordinate staff training; conduct 
performance evaluations; implement discipline procedures; maintain discipline and high 
standards necessary for the efficient and professional operation of the department. 
 
Implement General Plan or other planning projects; prepare Request for Proposals (RFP) and 
evaluate consultant proposals; manage consultant work. 
 
Oversee and participate in the processing and implementation of current planning activities, 
including applications, abatements, and public inquiries. 
 
Attend meetings and make presentations to the City Council, Planning Commission, and other 

56



 

 

commissions and committees. 
 
Represent the department to outside groups and organizations; participate in outside community 
and professional groups and committees; provide technical assistance as necessary. 
 
Research and prepare technical and administrative reports and studies; prepare written 
correspondence as necessary. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles, practices, theory and techniques of municipal planning. 
 
Principles and techniques of Geographic Imaging Systems (GIS). 
 
Principles and practices of leadership, motivation, team building and conflict resolution. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations. 
 
Organizational and management practices as applied to the analysis and evaluation of 
programs. 
 
Principles and practices of organization, administration and personnel management. 
 
Principles and practices of budget preparation and administration. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Plan, direct and control the administration and operations of the Planning and Community 
Services Department. 
 
On a continuous basis, analyze budget and technical reports; interpret and evaluate staff 
reports and related documents; know and interpret laws, regulations, codes and 
procedures; observe performance and evaluate staff; problem solve department related 
issues; and explain and interpret policy. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk and in meetings for long periods of time;  intermittently 

57



 

 

twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine 
manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 
means; and lift or carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Prepare and administer department budgets. 
 
Develop and implement department policies and procedures. 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate assigned personnel. 
 
Gain cooperation through discussion and persuasion. 
 
Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed actions 
and implement recommendations in support of goals. 
 
Interpret and apply City and department policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Seven years of increasingly responsible experience in planning and community 
development; including three years of administrative and management 
responsibility. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in planning, urban studies, architecture, public administration or 
a related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 

58



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

PLANS EXAMINER 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform plan check review of construction plans and associated documents; to assure 
compliance of building construction with applicable laws, codes and ordinances; and to provide 
technical support to an assigned supervisor. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the journey level in the single level technical Plans Examiner class. Incumbents initially 
perform the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series and work under close 
supervision.  However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected to perform the full 
range of duties as assigned with increasing independence. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general supervision from the Development Services Director. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Perform plan check review of residential, commercial and industrial plans for new buildings 
and building alterations. 
 
Research, interpret and explain building code standards, requirements and restrictions. 
 
Assist with building inspections; confer with architects, contractors, engineers, and others in 
the field and in the office. 
 
Prepare reports and written correspondence related to corrections and deficiencies in 
submittals and construction work. 
 
Provide guidance and education to applicants and the public regarding various construction 
code requirements. 
 
Issue building permits in coordination with other city departments. 
 
Attend meetings; identify and investigate engineering and architectural issues for proposed 
structures. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 

59



 

 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principals and practices of engineering and architecture as applied to building 
construction and structural design. 
 
Methods, materials and techniques used in building construction. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, codes and ordinances. 
 
Engineering mathematics. 
 
Relevant software programs. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Interpret and apply building codes and standards in the performance of plan checks and 
field inspections. 
 
On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job.  Intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve building inspection activities; sit at desk for long 
periods of time; and stand at the counter to answer questions of the public. 

 
Intermittently, walk, stand, kneel, climb, and bend in the field; perform simple and power 
grasping, pushing, pulling, and fine manipulation; intermittently write or use a keyboard to 
communicate, and occasionally lift or carry weight of 40 pounds or less. 
 
Read and interpret plans and supporting documentation and ensure compliance with 
applicable codes, laws, regulations and ordinances. 
 
Neatly and accurately prepare clear and concise written reports and general 
correspondence; prepare correction lists based on relevant codes and ordinances. 

 
Calculate fees, square footages and related numerical figures. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 

60



 

 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible plans examination or building inspection experience. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to an Associate’s degree from an accredited college with major course 
work in architecture, engineering or a related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
Possession of one or more International Code Conference (ICC) certificates in an 
Inspector, Plans Examiner or Building Official category or registration as a Licensed 
Architect or Registered Civil or Structural Engineer by the State of California. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain and maintain, a ICC certificate in a Plans Examiner 
category and one ICC certification in an Inspector or Building Official category within 
two years of appointment.   
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain and maintain, a Certified Access Specialist certificate 
from the California Department of General Services within three years of appointment. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain and maintain, a Certified Safety Assessment 
Program Evaluator or Coordinator designation from the State of California Office of 
Emergency Services within three years of appointment. 

61



 

 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR / CITY ENGINEER 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, direct and review the activities and operations of the Public Works Department 
including streets, parks, water utility, stormwater, and cemetery services; to coordinate assigned 
activities with other departments and outside agencies; and to provide highly responsible and 
complex administrative support to the City Manager. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives administrative direction from the City Manager. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned management, supervisory, professional and 
administrative support staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Develop, plan and implement department goals and objectives; recommend and administer 
policies and procedures. 
 
Coordinate department activities with those of other departments and outside agencies and 
organizations; provide staff assistance to the City Manager and City Council; prepare and present 
staff reports and other necessary correspondence. 
 
Direct, oversee and participate in the development of the department's work plan; assign work 
activities, projects and programs; monitor workflow; review and evaluate work products, methods 
and procedures. 
 
Supervise and participate in the development and administration of the department budget; direct 
the forecast of additional funds needed for staffing, equipment, materials and supplies; monitor 
and approve expenditures; implement mid-year adjustments. 
 
Select, train, motivate and evaluate personnel; provide or coordinate staff training; conduct 
performance evaluations; implement discipline procedures; maintain discipline and high 
standards necessary for the efficient and professional operation of the department. 
 
Prepare Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) and corresponding project budgets. 
 
Negotiate consultant agreements, including contract language and fees. 
 
Represent the City with outside agencies by functioning as intergovernmental coordinator for 
water supplies, regional traffic issues, and other regional governance boards; attend board 
meetings as necessary. 

62



 

 

 
Review and approve developer plans and applications, including property map actions, recording 
of parcel maps, and developer improvement plans for construction. 
 
Establish engineering standards for the City with standard plans and specifications. 
 
Direct and participate in code enforcement efforts and resultant legal processes. 
 
Represent the department to outside groups and organizations; participate in outside community 
and professional groups and committees; provide technical assistance as necessary. 
 
Research and prepare technical and administrative reports and studies; prepare written 
correspondence as necessary. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles, practices, methods and techniques of public works and water utility 
administration. 
 
Principles and practices of civil engineering. 
 
Principles and practices of land development. 
 
Principles and practices of leadership, motivation, team building and conflict resolution. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations. 
 
Organizational and management practices as applied to the analysis and evaluation of 
programs. 
 
Principles and practices of organization, administration and personnel management. 
 
Principles and practices of budget preparation and administration. 
 
Ability to: 

63



 

 

 
Plan, direct and control the administration and operations of the Public Works Department. 
 
On a continuous basis, analyze budget and technical reports; interpret and evaluate staff 
reports and related documents; know and interpret laws, regulations, codes and 
procedures; observe performance and evaluate staff; problem solve department related 
issues; and explain and interpret policy. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk and in meetings for long periods of time; intermittently 
twist to reach equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine 
manipulation; use telephone; write or use a keyboard to communicate through written 
means; and lift or carry weight of 25 pounds or less. 
 
Prepare and administer department budgets. 
 
Develop and implement department policies and procedures. 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate assigned personnel. 
 
Gain cooperation through discussion and persuasion. 
 
Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed actions 
and implement recommendations in support of goals. 
 
Interpret and apply City and department policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Seven years of increasingly responsible experience in municipal public works 
operations, including three years of administrative and management responsibility. 
 
Training: 
 

64



 

 

Equivalent to a Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in civil engineering, public administration, or a related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a Professional Engineer license from the State of 
California Board of Professional Engineers. 
 
 

65



 

 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

PUBLIC WORKS OPERATIONS MANAGER 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, direct and coordinate the activities of the water, streets, parks and cemetery 
divisions within the Public Works Department; to coordinate assigned activities with other 
divisions and departments; and to provide highly complex staff assistance to the Public Works 
Director/City Engineer. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the Public Works Director/City Engineer. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned supervisory and maintenance staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Develop and implement divisional goals, objectives, policies and procedures. 
 
Plan, organize and direct division activities including water, streets, storm drainage, parks and 
cemetery functions. 
 
Direct, oversee and participate in the development of division work plans; assign work activities, 
projects, and programs; monitor work flow; review and evaluate work products, methods and 
procedures. 
 
Assist in department budget development and implementation; participate in the forecast of 
additional funds needed for staffing, equipment, materials and supplies; monitor the approved 
budget. 
 
Recommend the appointment of personnel; provide or coordinate staff training; conduct 
performance evaluations; implement discipline procedures as required; maintain discipline and 
high standards necessary for the efficient and professional operation of the department. 
 
Serve as project manager on smaller maintenance projects; oversee outside contractors 
performing larger maintenance projects. 
 
Serve as department staff liaison to various City committees; preparing agendas, staff memos, 
and minutes, coordinating with committee members; and preparing reports as requested. 
 
Oversee and implement the Safety program for the Public Works Department; coordinate 
training; implement safety programs; ensure that documentation is in compliance; take 
corrective action when needed. 
 

66



 

 

Manage the Hazardous Waste and Hazardous Materials programs for the Public Works 
Department; ensure compliance with rules and regulations; prepare required reports; take 
corrective action when needed. 
 
Participate in Capital Improvement Project (CIP) decisions. 
 
Coordinate utility projects with other agencies as needed. 
 
Manage the Public Works work order system; track effectiveness and priorities. 
 
Represent the division and department to outside agencies and organizations; participate in 
outside community and professional groups and committees; provide technical assistance as 
necessary. 
 
Research and prepare technical and administrative reports; prepare written correspondence. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of public works management. 
 
Principles and practices of water, streets, and parks maintenance. 
 
Principles and practices of leadership, motivation, team building and conflict resolution. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal rules, regulations and laws. 
 
Modern office procedures and computer equipment. 
 
Principles and practices of organizational analysis and management. 
 
Budgeting procedures and techniques. 
 
Principles and practices of supervision, training and personnel management. 
 
Ability to: 

67



 

 

 
Organize and direct public works maintenance operations. 
 
On a continuous basis, analyze budget and technical reports; interpret and evaluate staff 
reports; know laws, regulations and codes; observe performance and evaluate staff; 
problem solve department related issues; remember various rules and procedures; and 
explain and interpret policy. 
 
On a continuous basis, work outside in different types of weather while exposed to heavy 
traffic, noise, dust, fumes, vibrations, airborne particles, noxious odors, grease oil, 
cleaning chemicals, paint, glues, solvents and spills. Intermittently, sit while driving a 
piece of equipment; stand and walk over rough, uneven or rocky surfaces while 
performing maintenance activities; bend and twist to adjust equipment; kneel and squat 
to review work; climb ladders or climb up on to heavy equipment to begin operations; 
perform duties in cramped areas such as trenches, vaults, and manholes; perform 
simple and power grasping, pushing, pulling, and fine manipulation; and lift or carry 
weight of 50 pounds or less. 
 
Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed 
actions and implement recommendations in support of goals. 
 
Gain cooperation through discussion and persuasion. 
 
Interpret and apply City and department policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate personnel. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Five years of increasingly responsible experience in public works maintenance 
operations, including two years of supervisory responsibility. 
 
Training: 

68



 

 

 
Equivalent to an Associate's degree from an accredited college with major course 
work in maintenance technology, public administration, or a related field. 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a Water Distribution Operator Grade 2 certificate from 
the State Water Resources Control Board. 
 
 

69



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

PUBLIC WORKS PROJECT MANAGER 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan and organize administrative services in the Public Works Department; to perform project 
management duties including preparing and managing budgets; and to provide professional 
level support to an assigned supervisor. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the journey level in the single level professional Project Manager class. Incumbents 
initially perform the more routine duties assigned to positions in this series and work under close 
supervision.  However, as experience is gained, incumbents are expected to perform the full 
range of duties as assigned with increasing independence. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives direction from the Public Works Director/City Engineer. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Assist in the preparation of the department’s annual budget; monitor and track expenditures; 
perform revenue forecasting and fee analysis. 
 
Interact with Caltrans and Sonoma County to coordinate transportation projects; manage 
federal and state grants in accordance with applicable procedures and regulations; coordinate 
environmental and cultural compliance on capital projects. 
 
Coordinate and support the Public Works Director on general liability program administration; 
review contract language regarding insurance, indemnification, hold harmless provisions, 
requirements for endorsements, and subrogation; review certificates of insurance for 
adequacy. 
 
Coordinate the receipt of improvement plans, final maps, lot line adjustments, parcel splits 
and other land development applications for City Engineer review; communicate with 
developers and other City departments regarding status of applications; ensure timely 
recordation of land development documents. 
 
Confer with City staff regarding assigned areas of responsibility; represent the City in 
meetings with vendors, contractors, public agencies and other public and private 
organizations. 
 

70



 

Review and process capital project payment requests for contractors and consultants; check 
compliance with State labor regulations; coordinate with project managers and inspectors to 
ensure proper payment quantities; and manage the payment process for timeliness. 
 
Assist the Public Works Director to negotiate public easements, leases, and agreements for 
City projects and City property. 
 
Prepare and review a variety of correspondence and reports; prepare and coordinate 
departmental staff reports, resolutions, and ordinances for the City Council Agenda. 
 
Participate in the development of short and long range planning documents to meet City 
objectives; ensure compliance with CEQA/NEPA environmental planning regulations for 
Public Works projects. 
 
Prepare and maintain the budgets for the Public Works Department; coordinate with 
department staff on annual budget preparation; perform financial reconciliation; work closely 
with the Finance Department to provide necessary budget data; maintain budget information 
in financial enterprise applications. 
 
Perform research on grants to help fund City capital projects; write grant proposals and follow 
up with additional information to maximize competitive opportunity. 
 
Oversee procurement and management of contracts related to the upkeep, equipping and 
operation of the corporation yard, building maintenance, vehicles and related equipment 
consistent with City ordinances, policies and procedures in coordination with the Finance 
Department. 
 
Oversee and participate in purchasing activities for the City; prepare specifications and 
requests for proposal; analyze formal and informal bids and recommend awards; approve 
purchase orders and follow up to ensure delivery of appropriate supplies, materials and 
equipment. 
 
Develop, revise, interpret and enforce divisional policies and procedures; devise systems and 
methods to accomplish the work and monitor the results pertaining to the processing of 
vehicle and equipment purchase requests, acquisition, assignment, usage, operation, repair, 
preventative maintenance, fueling and replacement of City vehicles. 
 
Enforce City Municipal Code provisions under the purview of the Public Works Department, 
writing enforcement letters, and following up with interpersonal communication to seek 
compliance; administer penalties as appropriate. 
 
Prepare personnel documents and oversee the maintenance of personnel records for the 
Public Works Department; coordinate personnel interviews and participate in selections. 
 

71



 

Provide a lead staff role at various City Committees or Commissions, coordinating 
attendance, developing and noticing agendas, taking minutes, and following up on staff action 
items. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of governmental organization and administration. 
 
Budget management and governmental accounting principles. 
 
Operational methods and procedures involved in procurement for a public agency. 
 
Contract administration and bid preparation. 
 
Methods and techniques of organizational planning and analysis. 
 
Grant sources, grant funding methodology and requirements, grant administration 
principles and practices. 
 
Principles of efficient and effective program and project management. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, ordinances, rules and regulations. 
 
Principles and practices of records management. 
 
Risk management standards and practices including insurance requirements and 
indemnifications. 
 
Contract oversight requirements for general and public works projects. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Assist in the overall management of the Public Works Department. 
 

72



 

On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job; intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve operational and technical policy and procedures. 
 
On a continuous basis sit at desk for long periods of time; intermittently twist to reach 
equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine manipulation; use 
telephone and write or use a keyboard to communicate through written means; and lift or 
carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Develop and implement operational programs; plan financial and staffing needs. 
 
Develop sound fiscal strategies that anticipate problems and propose solutions. 
 
Understand procurement methods and procedures of a centralized purchasing function 
including buying, quality assurance, contract administration and contract law. 
 
Prepare comprehensive reports and correspondence. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible administrative experience in a municipal agency. 
 
Training: 

73



 

 
Equivalent to a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with 
major coursework in business, public administration, accounting, or a related 
field. 
 

License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 

74



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, direct and supervise the operations of an assigned section within the Public 
Works Department; to coordinate assigned activities with other divisions; and to perform a 
variety of technical tasks relative to assigned area of responsibility. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the Public Works Director/City Engineer. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned maintenance staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Recommend and assist in the implementation of goals and objectives; establish schedules and 
methods for performance of maintenance activities; implement policies and procedures. 
 
Plan, prioritize, assign, supervise and review the work of staff involved in water, street, or park 
maintenance activities. 
 
Evaluate operations and activities of assigned responsibilities; recommend improvements and 
modifications; prepare various reports on operations and activities. 
 
Participate in budget preparation and administration; prepare cost estimates for budget 
recommendations; submit justifications for purchase of materials and equipment; monitor and 
control expenditures. 
 
Participate in the selection of staff; provide or coordinate staff training; work with employees to 
correct deficiencies; implement discipline procedures. 
 
Prepare and coordinate the procurement of services, supplies, and equipment; perform research 
of vendors and suppliers, seeking best-value; define scope of work for maintenance activities;  
coordinate closeout to ensure payments are processed correctly. 
 
Schedule and oversee the work of outside contractors; perform inspections of work; coordinate 
maintenance projects with other divisions and departments. 
 
Participate in division maintenance activities related to assigned area of responsibility; may 
operate heavy equipment including backhoe and tractors; may use hand and power tools. 
 
Represent the division and department on various boards and committees; attend meetings as 
required. 

75



 

 
Answer questions and provide information to the public; investigate complaints and recommend 
corrective action as necessary to resolve complaints. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of public works maintenance operations in assigned area of 
responsibility. 
 
Equipment, tools and materials used in the performance of public works maintenance 
activities. 
 
Principles and practices of supervision, training and performance evaluations. 
 
Principles and practices of budget monitoring. 
 
Principles and practices of safety management. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, ordinances and rules. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Organize, implement and direct assigned section operations/activities. 
 
On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job; intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve operational and technical policy and procedures. 
 
On a continuous basis, work outside in different types of weather while exposed to heavy 
traffic, noise, dust, fumes, vibrations, airborne particles, noxious odors, grease oil, 
cleaning chemicals, paint, glues, solvents and spills. Intermittently, sit while driving a 
piece of equipment; stand and walk over rough, uneven or rocky surfaces while 
performing maintenance activities; bend and twist to adjust equipment; kneel and squat to 
review work; climb ladders or climb up on to heavy equipment to begin operations; 
perform duties in cramped areas such as trenches, vaults, and manholes; perform simple 

76



 

and power grasping, pushing, pulling, and fine manipulation; and lift or carry weight of 50 
pounds or less. 
 
Interpret and explain pertinent City and department policies and procedures. 
 
Assist in the development and monitoring of an assigned program budget. 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate assigned staff. 
 
Develop and recommend policies and procedures related to assigned operations. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Three years of increasingly responsible experience in public works maintenance; 
including one year providing technical and functional supervision over assigned 
personnel. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to the completion of the twelfth grade supplemented by college course 
work in a related field. 
 

License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
 

77



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

SENIOR MAINTENANCE WORKER 
 

 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform maintenance, construction, and repair duties requiring specialized knowledge; to 
organize, assign and review the work of assigned staff engaged in maintenance of city streets, 
parks, cemeteries and water distribution systems; and to provide highly responsible maintenance 
support to assigned supervisor.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the advanced journey level in the Maintenance Worker series.  Positions at this level are 
distinguished from other classes within the series by the level of responsibility assumed, 
complexity of duties assigned, independence of action taken, by the amount of time spent 
performing the duties, and by the nature of the public contact made. Employees perform the 
most difficult and responsible types of duties assigned to classes within this series, including 
providing technical and functional supervision over assigned staff. Employees at this level are 
required to be fully trained in all procedures related to assigned areas of responsibility. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives direction from an assigned supervisor. 
 
Exercises technical and functional supervision over assigned maintenance staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Plan, prioritize, and review the work of staff assigned to a variety of unskilled, semi-skilled, and 
fully skilled labor in the maintenance, construction, and repair of city streets, parks, cemeteries 
and water distribution systems. 
 
Schedule and oversee the work of outside contractors; perform inspections of work; 
coordinate maintenance projects with other divisions and departments. 
 
Develop schedules and methods to accomplish assignments ensuring work is completed in a 
timely and efficient manner.  
 
Participate in evaluating the activities of staff, recommending improvements and modifications. 
 
Provide and coordinate staff training; work with employees to correct deficiencies.  
 
Ensure that work is accomplished using safe work practices and observing safety rules and 
precautions. 

78



 

 
Operate a variety of construction equipment related to area of assignment. 
 
Use a wide variety of hand and power tools related to area of assignment. 
 
Read, interpret, and explain maps, blueprints, diagrams and work orders. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 

 

Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 

 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of technical and functional supervision and training. 
 
Regulations and codes applicable to area of assignment. 
 
Departmental policies, procedures, and regulations. 
 
Procedures, methods and materials used in assigned duties. 
 
Safe work practices, including safety precautions for operating power equipment, 
working in traffic and under hazardous conditions. 
 
Arithmetic sufficient to calculate volumes, areas, lengths, percentages and 
conversions. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Provide technical and functional supervision over assigned staff including training. 
 
On a continuous basis, know and understand maintenance activities and observe and 
explain safety rules; intermittently, analyze problem equipment; identify safety hazards; 
locate equipment; interpret work orders; remember how to operate equipment; and 
explain jobs to other employees. 
 
On a continuous basis, work outside in different types of weather while exposed to heavy 
traffic, noise, dust, fumes, vibrations, airborne particles, noxious odors, grease oil, 
cleaning chemicals, paint, glues, solvents and spills. Intermittently, sit while driving a 

79



 

piece of equipment; stand and walk over rough, uneven or rocky surfaces while 
performing maintenance activities; bend and twist to adjust equipment; kneel and squat to 
review work; climb ladders or climb up on to heavy equipment to begin operations; 
perform duties in cramped areas such as trenches, vaults, and manholes; perform simple 
and power grasping, pushing, pulling, and fine manipulation; and lift or carry weight of 50 
pounds or less. 
 
Perform the most complex maintenance, construction and repair duties related to area of 
assignment. 
 
Anticipate situations and prepare accordingly. 
 
Determine the most efficient method for accomplishing tasks with available resources; 
give direction to subordinate personnel in conformance with department policy. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 
 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 
Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Three years of responsible journey experience similar to Maintenance Worker II 
with the City of Sonoma. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to the completion of the twelfth grade. 

80



 

 
License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 

 
 

Possession of a Water Distribution Operator Grade 2 certificate issued by the State 
Water Resources Control Board. 
 

 

81



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

SENIOR PLANNER 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform professional and technical urban planning duties requiring specialized knowledge; to 
organize, assign and review the work of assigned staff engaged in preparing staff reports to the 
Planning Commission; and to provide highly responsible professional support to assigned 
management.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is the advanced journey level in the professional Planner series.  Positions at this level are 
distinguished from other classes within the series by the level of responsibility assumed, 
complexity of duties assigned, independence of action taken, by the amount of time spent 
performing the duties, and by the nature of the public contact made. Employees perform the 
most difficult and responsible types of duties assigned to classes within this series, including 
review of larger, more complex development projects and providing technical and functional 
supervision over assigned professional staff. Employees at this level are required to be fully 
trained in all procedures related to assigned areas of responsibility. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the Planning and Community Services Director. 
 
Exercises technical and functional supervision over assigned professional staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Review, analyze, and provide feedback on complex development proposals, subdivisions, lot 
line adjustments, and other land use applications and matters. 
 
Prepare meeting agendas and minutes, legal notices, staff reports, environmental documents, 
letters, and other correspondence. 
 
Attend, facilitate and make presentations at City Council, Planning Commission, and other 
commission and committee meetings. 
 
Review and comment on civil improvement plans, building permit plans, and telecommunications 
facility applications. 
 
Plan, prioritize, and review the work of staff assigned to a variety of professional planning duties. 
 
Develop schedules and methods to accomplish assignments ensuring work is completed in a 
timely and efficient manner.  
 

82



 

Participate in evaluating the activities of staff, recommending improvements and modifications. 
 
Provide and coordinate staff training; work with employees to correct deficiencies.  
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 

 

Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 

 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of technical and functional supervision and training. 
 
Principles and practices of urban planning and development. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws and regulations. 
 
Methods and techniques of effective report preparation and presentation. 
 
Modern office equipment including computers and applicable software. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Perform the most complex duties related to professional current and long range planning. 
 
On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job; intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve operational and technical policy and procedures. 
 
On a continuous basis, sit at desk for long periods of time; intermittently twist to reach 
equipment surrounding desk; perform simple grasping and fine manipulation; use 
telephone, write or use a keyboard to communicate through written means; and lift or 
carry weight of 10 pounds or less. 
 
Provide technical and functional supervision over assigned staff; effectively train staff. 
 
Make presentations and effectively communicate in public forums. 
 
Interpret engineering drawings, architectural plans, maps, surveys, and other relevant 
documents. 
 

83



 

Analyze and evaluate complex development proposals. 
 
Interpret, apply and explain laws affecting general plans, zoning, and land divisions, as 
well as City policies, regulations and processes. 
 
Use sound judgment in recognizing scope of authority. 

 
Operate and use modern office equipment including computers and applicable 
software. 
 

Maintain regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job 
responsibilities. 
 
Utilize appropriate safety procedures and practices for assigned duties. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Two years of responsible journey experience similar to Associate Planner with the 
City of Sonoma. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in urban planning or a related field. 
 

License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license as required by the 
position. 

84



 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

WATER SUPERVISOR 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, direct and supervise the water treatment and distribution system operations 
within the Water section of the Public Works Department; to coordinate assigned activities with 
other divisions; and to perform a variety of technical tasks relative to assigned area of 
responsibility. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the Public Works Director/City Engineer. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned maintenance staff. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Recommend and assist in the implementation of goals and objectives; establish schedules and 
methods for the water treatment and distribution system; implement policies and procedures. 
 
Plan, prioritize, assign, supervise and review the work of staff involved in the maintenance, repair 
and installation of the water treatment and distribution system. 
 
Evaluate operations and activities of assigned responsibilities; recommend improvements and 
modifications; prepare various reports on operations and activities to City, County and State 
departments. 
 
Participate in budget preparation and administration; prepare cost estimates for budget 
recommendations; submit justifications for purchase of materials and equipment; monitor and 
control expenditures. 
 
Participate in the selection of staff; provide or coordinate staff training; work with employees to 
correct deficiencies; implement discipline procedures. 
 
Monitor and control supplies and equipment; order supplies and tools as necessary; prepare 
documents for equipment procurement. 
 
Schedule and oversee the work of outside contractors; perform inspections of work; coordinate 
maintenance projects with other divisions and departments. 
 
Participate in division maintenance activities related to assigned area of responsibility; may 
operate heavy equipment including backhoe and tractors; may use hand and power tools; may 
be designated as chief operator as needed. 
 
Represent the division and department on various boards and committees; attend meetings as 
required. 

85



 

 
Answer questions and provide information to the public; investigate complaints and recommend 
corrective action as necessary to resolve complaints. 
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and the 
public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect. 
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of water treatment and distribution system design, installation, 
and maintenance and operations. 
 
Equipment, tools and materials used in the maintenance and repair of water treatment 
and distribution systems. 
 
Principles and practices of supervision, training and performance evaluations. 
 
Principles and practices of budget monitoring. 
 
Principles and practices of safety management and training related to area of 
responsibility. 
 
Pertinent local, state and federal laws, ordinances and rules. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Organize, implement and direct water treatment and distribution system operations. 
 
On a continuous basis, know and understand all aspects of the job; intermittently analyze 
work papers, reports and special projects; identify and interpret technical and numerical 
information; observe and problem solve operational and technical policy and procedures. 
 
On a continuous basis, work outside in different types of weather while exposed to heavy 
traffic, noise, dust, fumes, vibrations, airborne particles, noxious odors, grease oil, 
cleaning chemicals, paint, glues, solvents and spills. Intermittently, sit while driving a 
piece of equipment; stand and walk over rough, uneven or rocky surfaces while 
performing maintenance activities; bend and twist to adjust equipment; kneel and squat to 
review work; climb ladders or climb up on to heavy equipment to begin operations; 
perform duties in cramped areas such as trenches, vaults, and manholes; perform simple 

86



 

and power grasping, pushing, pulling, and fine manipulation; and lift or carry weight of 50 
pounds or less. 
 
Interpret and explain pertinent City and department policies and procedures. 
 
Assist in the development and monitoring of an assigned program budget. 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate assigned staff. 
 
Develop and recommend policies and procedures related to assigned operations. 
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities 
would be: 
 

Experience: 
 
Three years of increasingly responsible experience in water treatment and 
distribution system maintenance and operations; including one year providing 
technical and functional supervision over assigned personnel. 
 
Training: 
 
Equivalent to the completion of the twelfth grade supplemented by college course 
work in a related field. 
 

License and Certificate 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a valid California driver’s license. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a Water Distribution Operator Grade III (D3) certificate 
from the State Water Resource Control Board. 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, a Water Treatment Operator Grade I (T1) certificate 
from the State Water Resource Control Board. 

87



Effective Nov. 21, 2016

A B C D E Effective Date

General
Administrative Clerk 3,643 3,825 4,016 4,217 4,428 12/25/2015
Administrative Assistant 4,284 4,498 4,723 4,959 5,207 12/25/2015
Accounting Technician 4,683 4,917 5,163 5,421 5,692 12/25/2015
Management Analyst 4,683 4,917 5,163 5,421 5,692 12/25/2015
Maintenance Worker I 3,875 4,069 4,272 4,486 4,710 12/25/2015
Maintenance Worker II 4,271 4,485 4,709 4,944 5,191 12/25/2015
Senior Maintenance Worker 4,968 5,216 5,477 5,751 6,039 12/25/2015
Public Works Supervisor 5,215 5,476 5,750 6,037 6,339 12/25/2015
Water  Supervisor 5,478 5,752 6,039 6,341 6,659 12/25/2015
Environmental Compliance Analyst 5,546 5,823 6,114 6,420 6,741 12/25/2015
Building Inspector 5,982 6,281 6,595 6,925 7,271 12/25/2015
Assistant Planner 5,546 5,823 6,114 6,420 6,741 12/25/2015
Associate Planner 6,549 6,876 7,220 7,581 7,960 12/25/2015
Plans Examiner 6,448 6,770 7,109 7,464 7,838 12/25/2015

Administrative/Management
Public Works Director/Engineer 9,444 9,916 10,412 10,933 11,479 12/25/2015
Planning and Community Services Director 8,818 9,259 9,722 10,208 10,718 12/25/2015
Deputy City Manager 8,818 9,259 9,722 10,208 10,718 12/25/2015
Administrative Services Manager 6,752 7,090 7,444 7,816 8,207 12/25/2015
Development Services Director/ Building Official 8,818 9,259 9,722 10,208 10,718 12/25/2015
City Clerk/Executive Assistant 6,752 7,090 7,444 7,816 8,207 12/25/2015
Accountant 5,360 5,628 5,909 6,205 6,515 12/25/2015
Senior Planner 6,752 7,090 7,444 7,816 8,207 12/25/2015
Finance Director 8,818 9,259 9,722 10,208 10,718 12/25/2015
Public Works Operations Manager 5,753 6,041 6,343 6,660 6,993 12/25/2015
Public Works Project Manager 5,546 5,823 6,114 6,420 6,741 12/25/2015

Part Time (Part-Time rates are stated per hour)
Parks Maintenance Worker 17.14 12/25/2015

updated titles, no change to salary

City of Sonoma
Assignments of Classifications to the Salary Schedule

88



 

 

City of Sonoma 

City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
4C 
 
11/21/2016 

 

Department 

Public Works 

Staff Contact  

Dan Takasugi, P.E. Public Works Director/City Engineer 

Agenda Item Title 

Approve the Notice of Completion for the 2016 Street Rehabilitation Project No. 1502 Constructed 
by Argonaut Constructors and Direct the City Clerk to File the Document 

Summary 

The City Council accepted the 2016 Street Rehabilitation Project at their meeting of June 27, 2016, 
and the City Manager awarded the contract to Argonaut Constructors. The work generally involved 
street rehabilitation at various streets within the City of Sonoma including Second Street West 
(Broadway Hwy 12 to West Spain Street) and West Spain Street (Fourth Street West to Third Street 
West). Specifically, the improvements consisted of edge grinding/conform grinding; dig-out and 
repair of localized pavement failures prior to asphalt overlay; full width grinding; removal and 
replacement of asphalt pavement; replacement of pavement markings and striping; signing; 
adjustment of utility structures to grade; removal and repair of concrete curb, gutter, and sidewalk; 
the upgrade of existing pedestrian curb ramps for ADA compliance; and other related work.   

Final punch-list items have been completed and signed off by the Public Works Inspector.  At this 
time, all work has been completed in accordance with the contract and it is recommended that the 
Notice of Completion (NOC) be approved and the City Clerk directed to file the NOC at the County 
Recorder’s Office.  The final contract amount is $478,678.10.   

Recommended Council Action 

It is recommended that Council approve the Notice of Completion for the 2016 Street Rehabilitation 
Project No. 1502 constructed by Argonaut Constructors and direct the City Clerk to file the 
document. 

Alternative Actions 

None recommended. 

Financial Impact  

The Council approved funding in the amount of $566,000 for the construction of the 2016 Street 
Rehabilitation Project in the FY16/17 CIP Budget. The approved budget included costs for a 10% 
contingency, construction management/inspection (performed by the City), and 
engineering/construction administration support during the construction phase. The final contract 
amount of $478,678.10 is within the CIP budget. 

Environmental Review Status 

89



Agenda Item Error! Reference source not found. 

 

 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Alignment with Council Goals:   

     Supports the Council Infrastructure Goal to maintain Streets Capital repair program. 
 

Attachments: 

      Notice of Completion – 2016 Street Rehabilitation Project No. 1502 

 

 

90



 

When recorded, return to: 

 

City Clerk 

City of Sonoma 

No. 1 The Plaza 

Sonoma, CA 95476 

 

 

OFFICIAL BUSINESS:  Exempt from Recording Fees Pursuant to California Government code §6103. 

 

NOTICE OF COMPLETION 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT: 

1. On the 4th day of November, 2016, the public project known as: 2016 Street 
Rehabilitation Project No. 1502 was completed. 

 
2. The name and address of the party filing this Notice is: 

City of Sonoma, No. 1 The Plaza, Sonoma, CA  95476 
 
3. The name and address of the Contractor responsible for the construction of said public 

project is:   Argonaut Constructors, 1236 Central Avenue, P.O. Box 639, Santa Rosa, CA 
95402. 

 
4. The name and address of said Contractor’s insurance carrier is: 

 

Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America 
One Tower Square 
Hartford, CT 06183 
 

5. The work generally consisted of street rehabilitation and improvements, including 
edge/conform grinding, digout and repair of localized failures prior to asphalt overlay, 
crack sealing, placement of geosynthetic pavement interlayer, asphalt pavement 
overlay, installation of pavement striping/markings and signing, adjusting utility 
structures to grade, upgrading existing curb ramps for ADA compliance, miscellaneous 
concrete sidewalk and curb and gutter construction, replacement of detector loops, 
traffic control, storm water pollution prevention control and other related work.   

 
6. The original contract amount was: $485,678.10 
 

Recording of this document is requested for CITY OF SONOMA and on behalf of the City of 
Sonoma, a Municipal Corporation, under Section 6103 of the Government Code. 
 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is 
true and correct.  
 

___________________________   Dated:  _____________________, 2016 
Carol Giovanatto, City Manager 
 
ATTEST: __________________________ 

City Clerk 

91



 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

92



 

 

City of Sonoma 

City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
4D 
 
11/21/2016 

 

Department 

Public Works 

Staff Contact  

Dan Takasugi, Public Works Director/City Engineer 

Agenda Item Title 

Approve the Notice of Completion for the 2016 Citywide Slurry Seal Project No. 1601 Constructed 
by VSS International, Inc. and Direct the City Clerk to File the Document 

Summary 

The City Council accepted the 2016 Citywide Slurry Seal Project No. 1601 at their meeting of July 
18, 2016, and the City Manager awarded the contract to VSS International, Inc.  The work generally 
involved street surface treatment (slurry seal) for 16 street segments throughout the City. 
Specifically, the improvements consisted of surface preparation; crack seal; removal and 
replacement of pavement striping and markings; protection of existing utility structures, curb and 
gutter and cross gutter; traffic control; and other related work.  

Final punch-list items have been completed and signed off by the Public Works Inspector. At this 
time, all work has been completed in accordance with the contract and it is recommended that the 
Notice of Completion (NOC) be approved and the City Clerk directed to file the NOC at the County 
Recorder’s Office.  The final contract amount is $131,484.95.   

Recommended Council Action 

It is recommended that Council approve the Notice of Completion for the 2016 Citywide Slurry Seal 
Project No. 1601 constructed by VSS International, Inc. and direct the City Clerk to file the 
document. 

Alternative Actions 

None recommended. 

Financial Impact 

The Council approved funding in the amount of $155,000 for the construction of the 2016 Citywide 
Slurry Seal Project in the FY 16/17 CIP Budget.  The approved budget included costs for a 10% 
contingency, construction management/inspection (performed by the City), and engineering support 
during the construction phase.  The final construction contract amount of $131,484.95 combined 
with construction engineering/construction administration amount of $4,260 is within the budgeted 
amount.  The final construction contract amount of $131,484.95 includes a contract change order for 
additional street segment scope and quantities and acceptable variations in the bid item quantities.  

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 93



Agenda Item Error! Reference source not found. 

 

 

   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Alignment with Council Goals:   

     Supports the Council Infrastructure Goal to maintain the Streets Capital repair program. 
 

Attachments: 

      Notice of Completion – 2016 Citywide Slurry Seal Project No. 1601 

 

 

94



 

When recorded, return to: 

 

City Clerk 

City of Sonoma 

No. 1 The Plaza 

Sonoma, CA 95476 

 

 

OFFICIAL BUSINESS:  Exempt from Recording Fees Pursuant to California Government code §6103. 

 

NOTICE OF COMPLETION 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT: 

1. On the __10th__ day of __November_, 2016, the public project known as: 2016 Citywide 
Slurry Seal Project No. 1601 was completed. 

 
2. The name and address of the party filing this Notice is: 

City of Sonoma, No. 1 The Plaza, Sonoma, CA  95476 
 
3. The name and address of the Contractor responsible for the construction of said public 

project is:   VSS International, Inc., 3785 Channel Drive, West Sacramento, CA 95691. 
 
4. The name and address of said Contractor’s insurance carrier is: 

 

Western Surety Company  
101 S. Phillips Ave. 
Sioux Falls, SD 57104 
 

5. The work generally involved street surface treatment (slurry seal) for 16 street segments 
throughout the City. Specifically, the improvements consisted of surface preparation; 
crack seal; removal and replacement of pavement striping and markings; protection of 
existing utility structures, curb and gutter and cross gutter; traffic control; and other 
related work. 

 
6. The original contract amount was: $_117,120.00_________  
 

Recording of this document is requested for CITY OF SONOMA and on behalf of the City of 
Sonoma, a Municipal Corporation, under Section 6103 of the Government Code. 
 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is 
true and correct.  
 
 

___________________________   Dated:  _____________________, 2016 
Carol Giovanatto, City Manager 
 
 
ATTEST: __________________________ 

City Clerk 

95



 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

96



 

 

City of Sonoma 

City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
4E 
 
11/21/2016 

 

Department 

Public Works 

Staff Contact  

Dan Takasugi, Public Works Director/City Engineer 

Agenda Item Title 

Adopt Resolution Approving Program Supplement Agreement No. 0P07 to Administering Agency-
State Master Agreement No. 00504S between the City of Sonoma and the State of California related 
to the Reimbursement of $72,000 in State funding for the Systemic Safety Analysis Report Program 

Summary 

The City of Sonoma was awarded $72,000 in State funding administered through the California 
Department of Transportation (Caltrans) to initiate a Systemic Safety Analysis Report Program 
(SSARP), which will review sixteen key intersections identified in the City’s updated General Plan 
Circulation Element and five other intersections identified as potential problem areas (see attached 
map for a visual of the intersections to be evaluated). This systemic analysis is a proactive safety 
approach that focuses on evaluating a roadway network and identifying potential infrastructure 
improvement countermeasures that could be implemented in the future as needed. The SSARP 
could also assist the City in receiving additional grant funding through the Caltrans’ Highway Safety 
Improvement Program (HSIP). 

Before the City can begin invoicing Caltrans for this analysis, a Program Supplement Agreement is 
required. The attached Resolution will authorize the City Manager to sign this Program Supplement 
Agreement. 

Recommended Council Action 

Adopt Resolution. 

Alternative Actions 

Council discretion. 

Financial Impact 

The City must execute the Program Supplement Agreement in order to request the reimbursement 
of $72,000 in State funding for the Systemic Safety Analysis Report Program. The City is expected 
to have a matching cost of up to $8,000 that would be funded by the existing Gas Tax Fund. 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  97



 

 

Alignment with Council Goals:   

Supports the Council Infrastructure Goals to provide reliable, safe, and effective streets 
infrastructure throughout the City.   

Attachments:  

1. Map of the Intersections to be Evaluated  
2. Resolution 
3. Program Supplement Agreement No. 0P07 

 
  

 

 

98



= 
In

te
rs

ec
tio

ns
 to

 b
e 

E
va

lu
at

ed

99



CITY OF SONOMA 
 

RESOLUTION # ___- 2016 
 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA APPROVING 

A PROGRAM SUPPLEMENT AGREEMENT NO. 0P07 TO ADMINISTERING 
AGENCY-STATE MASTER AGREEMENT NO. 00504S AND AUTHORIZING THE 

CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT 
 
 

 WHEREAS, Program Supplement Agreement No. 0P07 to Administering 
Agency-State Master Agreement No. 00504S between the City of Sonoma and the 
State of California is required to establish the terms and conditions applicable to the City 
of Sonoma in order to receive State funds for the Systemic Safety Analysis Report 
Program; and 
 
 WHEREAS, as individual State-funded projects are developed, Program 
Supplement Agreements shall be executed outlining specific details for each individual 
project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the delegated authority to execute Program Supplement 
Agreements must be approved by Resolution of the City Council; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of 
Sonoma hereby approves Program Supplement Agreement No. 0P07 to Administering 
Agency-State Master Agreement No. 00504S, and authorizes the City Manager to 
execute the Program Supplement Agreement for and on behalf of the City of Sonoma. 

 

ADOPTED this 7th day of November 2016 by the following vote: 
 
  AYES:    
  NOES:    
  ABSENT:  
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 

       Laurie Gallian, Mayor 
 

       ATTEST: 
 
       ________________________________ 

       Rebekah Barr, MMC, City Clerk 

100



PROGRAM SUPPLEMENT NO. PO? 
to 

ADMINISTERING AGENCY-STATE AGREEMENT 
FOR STATE FUNDED PROJECTS NO 00504S 

Adv Project ID Date: October 17, 2016 
0417000113 Location: 04-SON-0-SON 

Project Number: SSARPL-5114(019) 
E.A. Number: 

Locode: 5114 

This Program Supplement, effective , hereby adopts and incorporates into the Administering Agency-State 
Agreement No. 00504S for State Funded Projects which was entered into between the ADMINISTERING AGENCY and 
the STATE with an effective date of 10/13/16 and is subject to all the terms and conditions thereof. This PROGRAM 
SUPPLEMENT is executed in accordance with Article I of the aforementioned Master Agreement under authority of 
Resolution No. approved by the ADMINISTERING AGENCY on (See copy 
attached). 

The ADMINISTERING AGENCY further stipulates that as a condition to the payment by the State of any funds derived 
from sources noted below encumbered to this project, Administering Agency accepts and will comply with the Special 
Covenants and remarks set forth on the following pages. 

PROJECT LOCATION: 

Sixteen (16) intersections throughout the city 

TYPE OF WORK: System Safety Analysis Report Program (SSARP) 

Estimated Cost 

$80,000.00 

CITY OF SONOMA 

By 

Title 

Date 

Attest 

STATE 

Chapter Statutes 

State Funds 

$72,000.00 LOCAL 

$8,000.0( 

Item Year Program BC 

Matching Fund.s 
OTHER 

$0.00 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
Department of Transportation 

By 

Chief, Office of Project Implementation 
Division of Local Assistance 

Date ---~------·--·~---

$72.000.00 

Category Fund Sourc e AMOUNT 

- -'!------·-·-·-------

~--------- ··-

_ _L_ _________ --

Program Supplement 00-504S-P07- SERIAL Page 1 of 3 
101



STATE OF CALIFORNIA. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

PROGRAM SUPPLEMENT AND CERTIFICATION FORM 
PSCF (REV. 0112010) 

TO: STATE CONTROLLER'S OFFICE 
Claims Audits 

DATE PREPARED: PROJECT NUMBER: 

FROM: 

3301 "C" Street, Rm 404 
Sacramento, CA 95816 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
SUBJECT: 

ENCUMBRANCE DOCUMENTS 
VENDOR I CONTRACTOR: 

CITY OF SONOMA 
CONTRACT AMOUNT: 

$72,000.00 
PROCUREMENT TYPE: 

LOCAL ASSISTANCE 

10/17/2016 0417000113 
REQUISITION NUMBER I CONTRACT NUMBER: 

RQS #041700000369 

I HEREBY CERTIFY UPON MY OWN PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE THAT BUDGETED FUNDS ARE AVAILABLE FOR THIS 
ENCUMBRANCE AND PURPOSE OF THE EXPENDITURE STATED ABOVE. 

CHAPTER STATUTES ITEM YEAR PEC I PECT TASK/SUBTASK AMOUNT 

10 2015 2660-102-0042 2016 20.30.010.550 2620/0420 $72,000.00 

TOTAL $72,000.00 

Page 1 of 1 

ADA Notice For individuals with sensory disabilities, this document is available in alternate formats. For information, call (915) 654-641 o of TDD (916) -3880 or write 
Records and Forms Management, 1120 N. Street, MS-89, Sacramento, CA 95814. 

102



04-SON-0-SON 
SSARPL-5114(019) 

SPECIAL COVENANTS OR REMARKS 

10/17/2016 

1. All obligations of STATE under the terms of this Agreement are subject to th.e 
appropriation of resources by the Legislature and the encumbrance of funds under th1s 
Agreement. Funding and reimbursement are available only upon the passage of the State 
Budget Act containing these STATE funds. 

2. Any State and Federal funds that may have been encumbered for this project are 
available for disbursement for limited periods of time. For each fund encumbrance the 
limited period is from the start of the fiscal year that the specific fund was appropriated 
within the State Budget Act to the applicable fund Reversion Date shown on the State 
approved project finance letter. Per Government Code Section 16304, all project funds 
not liquidated within these periods will revert unless an executed Cooperative Work 
Agreement extending these dates is requested by the ADMINISTERING AGENCY and 
approved by the California Department of Finance. 

ADMINISTERING AGENCY should ensure that invoices are submitted to the District 
Local Assistance Engineer at least 75 days prior to the applicable fund Reversion Date to 
avoid the lapse of applicable funds. Pursuant to a directive from the State Controller's 
Office and the Department of Finance; in order for payment to be made, the last date the 
District Local Assistance Engineer can forward an invoice for payment to the 
Department's Local Programs Accounting Office for reimbursable work for funds that are 
going to revert at the end of a particular fiscal year is May 15th of the particular fiscal 
year. Notwithstanding the unliquidated sums of project specific State and Federal funding 
remaining and available to fund project work, any invoice for reimbursement involving 
applicable funds that is not received by the Department's Local Programs Accounting 
Office at least 45 days prior to the applicable fixed fund Reversion Date will not be paid. 
These unexpended funds will be irrevocably reverted by the Department's Division of 
Accounting on the applicable fund Reversion Date. 

3. ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees to comply with 2 CFR Part 225, Cost Principles for 
State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments .. 

4. 1. This PROJECT is funded with State-Only funding from the Systemic Safety Analysis 
Report Program (SSARP). ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees to administer PROJECT 
in accordance with the SSARP Guidelines under which the project was selected. 

2. The ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees to follow all relevant State laws and 
requirements including the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

3. This PSA allows reimbursement of eligible PROJECT expenditures to the 
ADMINISTERING AGENCY for which the SSARP State funds are allocated. The 
effective State allocation date establishes the eligibility date for the ADMINISTERING 
AGENCY to start reimbursable work. Any work performed prior the effective allocation 
date is not eligible for reimbursement from the SSARP funds. 

4. ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees that SSARP funds available for reimbursement 
will be limited to the amount allocated and encumbered by the STATE consistent with the 

Program Supplement 00-504S-P07- SERIAL Page 2 of 3 
103



04-SON-0-SON 

SSARPL-5114(019) 
SPECIAL COVENANTS OR REMARKS 

10/17/2016 

scope of work in the STATE approved application. Funds encumbered may not be used 
for a modified scope of work after a project is awarded unless approved by the Statewide 
SSARP Coordinator prior to performing work. 

5. ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees to the program delivery and reporting 
requirements established by the SSARP Guidelines. The study and the Systemic Safety 
Analysis Report (SSAR) must be completed within thirty-six (36) months of the funding 
allocation. The Final Report of Expenditure, the final invoice and the SSAR report must 
be submitted to the DLAE within six (6) months of the report completion. 

Program Supplement 00-504S-P07- SERIAL Page 3 of 3 

104



 

 

 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
4F 
 
11/21/2016 

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact  

Rebekah Barr, MMC  

City Clerk/Executive Assistant to City Manager 

Agenda Item Title 

Approval of the Minutes of the Regular City Council Meeting of November 7, 2016 

Summary 

The minutes have been prepared for Council review and approval. 

Recommended Council Action 

Approve the minutes. 

Alternative Actions 

Correct or amend the minutes prior to approval. 

Financial Impact 

N/A 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Attachments: 

 Minutes 
 

Alignment with Council Goals:  N/A 

 

cc:  N/A 

 

 

105



 

Page 1 of 5 

    
    
      

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6:00 P.M. – REGULAR MEETING 

 
RECONVENE, CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Mayor Gallian called the meeting to order at 6:02pm. Mr. Demler led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
ROLL CALL  
 
CITY COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT:  Cook, Agrimonti, Edwards, Hundley and Mayor Gallian. 
ABSENT:  None 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  City Manager Giovanatto, City Clerk Barr, City Attorney Walter, and Development 
Services Director/Building Official Wirick. 
 
REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION: None 
 

1. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 

Kate Schertz, Chair, Cultural & Fine Arts Commission, announced that the Commission had named 
Dick Cole as the 2016 Treasure Artist. She spoke regarding Mr. Cole’s artistry and contributions to the 
Sonoma Community. 
 
Amy Harrington and Jack Wagner spoke regarding the election and thanked the Council candidates for 
the manner in which the race was held.   
 

2. MEETING DEDICATIONS 

 
Council Member Edwards asked that the meeting be dedicated to Dr. Rolf Olness and Mike Brocco. 
Council Member Cook also expressed his sympathy to the family. Mayor Gallian asked that the meeting 
be dedicated to Dick Cole, 2016 Treasure Artist, as well. 
 

3. PRESENTATIONS  

 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL 

 

 
 

SPECIAL AND REGULAR MEETING OF THE SONOMA CITY COUNCIL 
& 

CONCURRENT REGULAR MEETING OF SONOMA CITY COUNCIL AS THE 
SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE DISSOLVED SONOMA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 

Community Meeting Room, 177 First Street West, Sonoma CA 
 

Monday, November 7, 2016 
Regular Meeting 

**** 

MINUTES 

City Council 
Laurie Gallian, Mayor 

Madolyn Agrimonti, MPT 
David Cook, 

Gary Edwards 
Rachel Hundley 

 

 

106



 

Page 2 of 5 

Item 4A: Waive further reading and Authorize Introduction and/or Adoption of Ordinances 
by Title Only.  (Standard procedural action - no backup information provided) 

 
Item 4B: Approve Extension of the Refuse Contract to Sonoma Garbage Collectors through 

May 2027 (City Manager) 
   
Item 4C: Second Reading and Adoption of an Ordinance Amending Section 7.20.010 of the 

Municipal Code (Camping on Publically-Owned Property) (Planning Director) 
   
Item 4D: Approval of the Allocation of a City Funded Rental at the Sonoma Veteran’s 

Memorial Building as requested by the Sonoma Community Center for their 
Community Thanksgiving Dinner (City Clerk) 

   
Item 4E: Approval and Ratification of the Appointment of Mr. Robert C. Demler to the 

Position of City Historian for a Term of Two Years (City Clerk) 
   
Item 4F: Approval of the Minutes of the Regular City Council Meeting of September 19, 

2016, and the Special Meetings of October 10, 2016 and October 20, 2016 (City 
Clerk) 

   
Robert Demler thanked the City Council for his consideration as the City Historian. George McHale 
expressed his support for Mr. Demler’s appointment. 
 
City Manager Giovanatto noted that page 5 of the agenda packet was included erroneously as an 
attachment to the Resolution regarding Item 4B and should not be considered as part of the packet. 
 
Motion by Council Member Hundley, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti, to approve the 
Consent Calendar including Resolution # 36 – 2016, Ordinance # 06-2016 and with the removal 
of Page 5 of the Packet which was included unintentionally as an exhibit to the Resolution 
regarding Item 4B. Motion carried unanimously. 
 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

 

6. PUBLIC HEARING 

 
Item 6A:     Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action to Conduct Second Reading and 

Adoption of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 14.24 (Review, Rehabilitation and 
Abatement of Existing Seismically Unsafe Buildings) of the Sonoma Municipal 
Code (Development Services Director/Building Official) 

  
Development Services Director Wirick presented the staff report. 
 
Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti, seconded by Council Member Edwards, to Conduct 
Second Reading and Adoption of Ordinance # 07-2016 Amending Chapter 14.24 (Review, 
Rehabilitation and Abatement of Existing Seismically Unsafe Buildings) of the Sonoma 
Municipal Code. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Item 6B: Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action to Conduct Second Reading, 

Public Hearing and Adopt an Ordinance Repealing Chapter 14.10 of the Sonoma 
Municipal Code, Reenacting a New Chapter 14.10 Adopting and Amending New 
Construction Codes, and Adoption of Findings Determining the Ordinance to be 
Exempt under the California Environmental Quality Act (Development Services 
Director/Building Official) 

107



 

Page 3 of 5 

Development Services Director Wirick presented the staff report. 
 
Mayor Gallian inquired if the Staff was going to be able to implement all of the Code changes. City 
Manager Giovanatto noted that the new codes would be utilized as reference for the Climate Action 
Measures. 
 
Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti, seconded by Council Member Edwards, to Conduct 
Second Reading, Public Hearing and Adopt Ordinance # 08-2016 Repealing Chapter 14.10 of the 
Sonoma Municipal Code, Reenacting a New Chapter 14.10 Adopting and Amending New 
Construction Codes, and Adoption of Findings Determining the Ordinance to be Exempt under 
the California Environmental Quality Act. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
Item 6C: 1) Discussion, Consideration and Possible Adoption of an Interim Urgency 

Ordinance Imposing a Moratorium on the Outdoor Cultivation of Nonmedical 
Marijuana and Making Findings that said Adoption is Exempt Under CEQA 
Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061, Among Other Provisions 

 2) Discussion, Consideration and Possible Adoption of an Interim Urgency 
Ordinance Imposing a Moratorium on the Indoor Cultivation of Nonmedical 
Marijuana, Except Under Certain Circumstances, and Making Findings that said 
Adoption is Exempt Under CEQA Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061, 
Among Other Provisions (City Attorney) 

 
City Attorney Walter presented the staff report. 
 
Council Member Hundley inquired why City Attorney Walter felt that the proposed action should be 
approved preemptively rather than after such time as the proposition were to pass. 
 
City Attorney Walter responded that this was to allow the Council time to regulate if they chose to do 
so. He explained that it can take several months if it is not done by an urgency ordinance, as these 
items would be considered land use issues which would require the City Council to amend its 
development code. 
 
Council Member Cook inquired what other Cities had enacted this type of moratorium. City Attorney 
responded that he was aware that the City of Martinez had done so and that there were other cities that 
had been named in the newspaper but he could not recall at the time. 
 
Toni Kuhry spoke in favor of the moratorium ordinances. 
 
Jack Wagner spoke in opposition to the moratorium ordinances. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti noted that the Governor of Colorado had encouraged voters in California to 
not be in a hurry to approve the legalization of marijuana but to wait until more is known about the 
effects. 
 
Council Member Edwards and Council Member Cook both expressed their support of the ordinances.  
 
Council Member Hundley stated that she had concerns with the timing of the ordinances on the eve of 
the election. However, she noted that she would support the moratorium on the indoor cultivation if the 
stipulation that the property owner had to give consent was removed. 
 

108



 

Page 4 of 5 

Mayor Gallian expressed her concerns including the manner in which the insurance companies would 
be handling related claims, quality control of the marijuana itself, and the City’s natural resources.  She 
noted that until there was additional vetting of those items she would be in support of the ordinances. 
 
Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti, seconded by Council Member Cook, to introduce, conduct 
First Reading, and adopt Interim Urgency Ordinance #09-2016 Imposing a Moratorium on the 
Outdoor Cultivation of Nonmedical Marijuana and Making Findings that said Adoption is Exempt 
Under CEQA Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061, Among Other Provisions. 
Motion carried with Council Members Cook and Edwards, Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti voting YES, 
and Council Member Hundley voting NO. 
 
Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti, seconded by Council Member Cook, to introduce, conduct 
First Reading, and adopt Interim Urgency Ordinance #10-2016 Imposing a Moratorium on the 
Indoor Cultivation of Nonmedical Marijuana, Except Under Certain Circumstances, and Making 
Findings that said Adoption is Exempt Under CEQA Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 
15061, Among Other Provisions. Motion carried with Council Members Cook and Edwards, 
Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti voting YES, and Council Member Hundley voting NO. 
 

7. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL 

 
Item 7A: Consideration, Discussion, and Possible Action to Adopt a Resolution Approving 

an Application by Destination Races for Temporary Use of City Streets for the 
Napa to Sonoma Wine Country Half Marathon on Sunday, July 16, 2017 (Special 
Events Manager) 

 
Special Events Manager Janson presented the staff report on this item. 
 
Matt Dockstader, Destination Races, spoke regarding the street closures and parking plan based on 
the post event review of the Community Services & Environment Commission (CSEC). 
 
Council Member Edwards expressed concern regarding the road closures that were extended beyond 
the specified time and the volunteers leaving their posts unmanned. He stated that he would like to 
have the report from the CSEC review of the item prior to making any decisions on the item. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti inquired what the benefits were to the Plaza. Mr. Dockstader responded that 
the event brought in a tremendous amount of business to the hotels, restaurants, etc. He noted that the 
event raised over $3,000,000 for charity. 
 
Mayor Gallian inquired if there had been changes to the parking plan, specifically the staging of buses 
on Spain Street as this had caused major parking issues and congestion. She strongly recommended 
that they look at locating their parking near the Veterans Building, or the School District parking lot. Mr. 
Dockstader responded that they did use the Veterans Building for parking and that the purpose of the 
CSEC meeting was to review the issues that were being discussed. 
 
Council Member Cook stated that he agreed with Council Member Edwards that the item needed to be 
reviewed by the CSEC before the Council made any decisions and he did not feel comfortable making 
any decisions at the current time. 
 
Special Events Manager Janson clarified that the CSEC had conducted their post event review from 
the last event, but would be considering it on Wednesday, November 9.  
 

109



 

Page 5 of 5 

Motion by Council Member Cook, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti, to table this item to 
the next Council Meeting after the Community Services & Environment Commission had 
considered the item. Motion carried unanimously. 
 

8. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL AS THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

 

9. COUNCILMEMBERS’ REPORTS AND COMMENTS 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Agrimonti reported on the Sonoma Women’s Club Craft Fair and Fire Fighters 
Association Fundraiser at Sonoma Brewing Company, and the North Bay Watershed Association 
Committee meeting. 
 
Council Member Edwards reported that the Sonoma Valley Rotary Club performed some lawn and 
maintenance items at Depot Park and Maysonnave House, including hauling trash and putting sand 
down in the volleyball court.   
 
Mayor Gallian spoke regarding the Treasure Artist presentation to Dick Cole’s family, the Wine Country 
Marine Corps Reserve Anniversary event, the upcoming Veterans Day ceremony, and the Water 
Advisory Committee.   
 

10. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS INCLUDING ANNOUNCEMENTS 
FROM SUCCESSOR AGENCY STAFF 

 

11. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 

12. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:44pm in honor of Dick Cole, Dr. Rolf Olness, and Mike Brocco. 

110



 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 
Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
4G 
 
11/21/16 

 
Department 

Planning and Community Services  

Staff Contact  
David Goodison, Planning Director 

Agenda Item Title 
Approval of a waiver of commission attendance rules for Planning Commissioner Michael Coleman. 

Summary 
Pursuant to Sonoma Municipal Code section 2.40.010, if a member of a City’s commission misses 
three meetings in a row or one-third of any calendar year’s meetings they have automatically 
vacated their position. The same municipal code section allows commissioners to request the City 
Council to waive the attendance rule due to special circumstances. Planning Commissioner Michael 
Coleman has requested such a waiver. While he has never missed three meetings in a row, it is 
possible that he will have been absent for one-third of the Planning Commission meetings held in 
2016, even if he has no more absences. His absence from several meetings this summer was due 
to his being called out to serve on fire strike teams (see attached email). Staff feels that 
Commissioner Coleman’s situation falls within the allowable circumstances whereby his absences 
should be excused and that he be allowed to continue serving on the Planning Commission. Staff 
would also note that Commissioner Coleman has removed himself from the strike team list, so this 
conflict will not occur in the future.   

Recommended Council Action 
1. Approve a waiver of the commission attendance rules for Michael Coleman.  

Alternative Actions 
 Council discretion. 

Financial Impact 
N.A. 

Environmental Review Status 
   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Alignment with Council Goals 
N.A. 

Compliance with Climate Action 2020 Target Goals: 
 N.A. 
Attachments: 

1. Email from Michael Coleman 
cc: Michael Coleman 

 

111



Wednesday,	November	16,	2016	at	11:41:58	AM	Pacific	Standard	Time

Page	1	of	1

Subject: Days	missed	and	updated	e-mail
Date: Tuesday,	November	15,	2016	at	5:35:20	PM	Pacific	Standard	Time
From: Mike	Coleman
To: David	Goodison

Dear	David,

I	wanted	to	forward	to	you	an	explanaJon	for	my	intermiKent	scheduling	conflicts	with	the	Planning	Commission.	On
occasion,	because	I'm	on	a	Wildland	List	of	people	eligible	to	fight	Forest	Fires,	I'm	called	upon	without	noJce	to	be
dispatched	to	the	parJcular	area	of	California	for	no	less	than	10	days	depending	on	the	severity	of	the	fire.	On	two
occasions	I	was	in	that	situaJon	and	had	to	call	to	cancel	my	parJcipaJon	for	that	night.
On	other	occasions	I've	had	to	cancel	because	of	Training,or	unable	to	get	a	trade	so	someone	else	could	work	for	me
for	that	night.
I've	since	been	able	to	have	an	agreement	with	a	fellow	firefighter	who	will	be	able	to	work	for	me	any	Jme	I'm
scheduled	to	aKend	a	Commission	meeJng.
I	understand	I'm	close	or	exceeded	the	minimum	1/3	of	the	meeJngs	I'm	allowed	to	miss	in	a	calendar	year	and	was
hoping	for	an	excepJon	to	the	rule.
As	a	footnote	I	have	removed	myself	from	any	future	Wildland	Strike	Teams	as	the	experience	has	proving	to	be	for
the	young	at	heart,	and	my	stamina	unfortunately	has	had	a	harder	Jme	keeping	up	with	the	parJcular	stresses	of
fighJng	forest	fires.	Therefore	I	will	be	available	to	represent	the	good	people	of	Sonoma	at	full	capacity,	barring	any
unforeseen	circumstances.

																																										Thanks,	Mike	Coleman
P.S.	I	called	and	gave	ChrisJna	my	new	e-mail	address:
mikecoleman371@gmail.com

112

mailto:mikecoleman371@gmail.com


 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 
Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
6A 
 
11/21/16 

 
Department 

Planning and Community Services  

Staff Contact  
David Goodison, Planning Director 

Agenda Item Title 
Discussion, consideration and possible action to conduct first reading and public hearing on the 
extension of an interim moratorium ordinance on the approval of applications for vacation rentals, 
including the adoption of a report specifying the measures taken to alleviate the conditions which led 
to its adoption. 

Summary 
Under State law, an interim moratorium ordinance may be adopted based on anticipated changes in 
development policies arising from ongoing or anticipated planning studies, such as a zoning 
ordinance amendment. At its meeting of October 17, 2016, the City Council unanimously adopted an 
interim moratorium ordinance on the approval of new applications for vacation rentals while changes 
to the regulations are discussed and implemented. Upon adoption, the ordinance went into effect 
immediately, but its initial term is limited to 45 days, after which it will expire unless extended by a 
vote of the City Council within that period. Under state law, the ordinance may be extended twice: 
first for an additional period of ten months and 15 days and, then, for one year, for a total of two 
years. In order to adopt the extension, a four-fifths vote of the City Council is required. In addition, as 
noted in the attached ordinance, the governing body must issue and adopt a report outlining the 
measures taken to address the conditions that led to the adoption of the interim moratorium 
ordinance. This report is provided with Item 7E of this City Council agenda.   

Recommended Council Action 
1. Adopt the attached extension of the interim moratorium ordinance on new applications for vacation 

rentals and make findings that the adoption of the extension is exempt under CEQA under, among 
other things, section 15308 of the CEQA Guidelines.  

Alternative Actions 
 Decline to extend the interim moratorium ordinance. 

Financial Impact 
N.A. 

Environmental Review Status 
   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  
Alignment with Council Goals 

The discussion of vacation rental regulations relates to the City Council’s Housing goal: “To analyze 
policy and programmatic tools suggested by the 2015 Housing Element update; implement 
strategies to facilitate creation of affordable rental and workforce housing; sustain or increase 
opportunities to continue the programs currently in place to maintain current affordable housing 
stock.” 

113



 

 
 

Compliance with Climate Action 2020 Target Goals: 
 N.A. 
Attachments: 

1. Extension of interim moratorium ordinance 
cc: Byron Jones 
 

 

114



1	
Ordinance	Extending	Moratorium	on	Vacation	Rentals	11-16-16	
	

ORDINANCE NO. _____________ 
 

AN URGENCY ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA 
EXTENDING INTERIM RESTRICTIONS ON VACATION RENTALS PENDING THE 

CONSIDERATION AND STUDY OF ZONING AND OTHER LAND USE 
REGULATIONS PERTAINING TO VACATION RENTALS IN THE CITY 

 
The City Council of the City of Sonoma makes the following findings: 
 
 
WHEREAS, Sonoma is a community steeped in history with a small-town environment which 
the City has endeavored to balance with the growth in the wine industry and the influx of tourists 
and new residents. This balance is both unique and of great value to the citizens. The City’s 
history, its residential districts, its beauty and its location in the midst of wine country have made 
Sonoma a special place in which to live and work.  These special qualities of the City must be 
respected so that Sonoma can continue to retain its unique attributes and thrive; and 
 
WHEREAS, Sonoma is a vital and active City that retains a strong sense of community and 
residential cohesiveness.  The City’s 2020 General Plan states, as a matter of policy, that 
“Sonoma should continue to be characterized by variety in terms of land uses, building types, 
and housing, and this diversity should be consistent with preserving the town’s small-scale and 
historic character.”  Moreover, the General Plan espouses that “[n]we residential development 
should emulate the desirable characteristics of existing neighborhoods by providing variety in lot 
and unit sizes and a range of prices, including opportunities for lower-income households, and 
respect unique site and neighborhood conditions.”  Furthermore, one of the City Council’s 
housing goals is to “implement strategies to facilitate creation of affordable rental and workforce 
housing . . . and to maintain current affordable housing stock;” and  
 
WHEREAS, over the last several decades, and due to the desirability of Sonoma as a destination 
tourist attraction, the City has been and continues to experience more and more pressure from 
visitors coming to Sonoma for short durations wishing to live in homes, condominiums and 
apartments offered by their owners for short vacation stays.  On-line services such as AirBnB 
and VRBO have accelerated and facilitated a significant increase in the number of real property 
owners willing to hold their residences out for short term rentals.  This has caused an ever-
increasing number of non-residents to be found living in neighborhoods with which they have no 
permanent identity or relationship; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City has received numerous complaints and compiled evidence that the short-
term renters utilizing these services have caused noise, nuisances, parking problems and 
disruptions to the permanent residents living in the neighborhoods where these short-term rentals 
are located. In some cases, the number and frequency of properties offered for short term rentals 
have transformed the neighborhoods in ways that are inimical to the community values reflected 
in the City’s General Plan and otherwise; and  
 
WHEREAS, under the City’s Development Code, vacation rentals are defined as the “rental or 
letting of up to two complete residential units, containing bedrooms, kitchens, and bathrooms, 

115



2	
Ordinance	Extending	Moratorium	on	Vacation	Rentals	11-16-16	
	

for a period of less than 30 days. Typically, no on-site manager is present (“vacation rental”).”  
Sonoma Municipal Code (“SMC”) §19.92.020.   Under the Development Code, vacation rentals 
are allowed only with a use permit and, then, only in the Commercial and Mixed Use districts.   
Vacation rentals are prohibited in residential zones, except as an adaptive reuse of a historic 
structure, subject to use permit review and approval; and 
 
WHEREAS, owners of real property located in the Commercial and Mixed Use zoning districts 
continue to apply for use permits to convert or build residential structures for vacation rental 
purposes.  As of the date of this Ordinance, 57 legal vacation rentals are currently allowed in the 
City.  Additionally, illegal vacation rentals continue to increase to the point where their numbers 
have exceeded lawful vacation rentals, and the ability of the City to effectively monitor, control 
and restrict illegal vacation rentals has become an enforcement problem demanding more and 
more City resources; and  
 
WHEREAS, Sonoma desires to protect its existing character, including its vibrant tourism 
industry and at the same time create a supportive environment for its existing residential areas, 
and to thrive in a manner consistent with its cohesive, community values.   Moreover, permitting 
the conversion of existing residential structures or the construction of new residential structures 
for vacation rentals undermines the City’s General Plan policy and the Council’s goals of 
encouraging the development and maintenance of affordable housing.  As such, the City Council 
desires to study the City’s General Plan and Development Code to determine whether those 
documents should be or need to be amended to preclude the approval of all future vacation 
rentals or to adopt provisions which foster more effective ways in which to regulate vacation 
rentals in the City of Sonoma and reduce the adverse impacts of vacation rentals on neighbors, 
neighboring properties and the stock of affordable housing; and 
   
WHEREAS, the City has received inquiries and anticipates it will receive pre-application and 
application materials for the conversion of existing structures or the construction of new 
residential structures for use as vacation rentals. These proposed new developments may conflict 
with intended studies and the ultimate decision of the City Council resulting from the studies 
descried above; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has a responsibility to move forward with studies necessary to identify the 
regulations necessary to foster an appropriate mix of uses and harmonize and prioritize the 
various policies relating to vacation rentals and the impacts they have on neighboring land uses, 
neighborhoods and affordable housing. It is important for the City to fulfill this responsibility 
and look carefully at implementing regulations that balance the City's relevant policies prior to 
approving additional changes in land use on an individual property by property or residence by 
residence basis; and 
 
WHEREAS, in order to temporarily halt the approval of vacation rentals in order to provide the 
City the necessary time to conduct and make decisions based on such studies, on October 27, 
2016, the City Council adopted urgency Ordinance No. 05-2016 by which the Council imposed a 
moratorium on the approval of vacation rental applications.  Said Ordinance is slated to expire on 
December 11, 2016, unless before that date the Ordinance is extended; and 
 

116



3	
Ordinance	Extending	Moratorium	on	Vacation	Rentals	11-16-16	
	

WHEREAS, should the moratorium established by Ordinance No. 05-2016 not be extended, 
applications for use permits allowing the establishment of additional vacation rentals in the City 
which are inconsistent with the community's long term vision for the City must be processed 
and, if approved, will hamper and irreparably impede the City's goal of further regulating 
vacation rentals to protect the small town residential character of the City and the residents of the 
City. Specifically, the under-regulated and unmonitored establishment and operation of vacation 
rentals may preclude the City from adequately insuring the protection of the City’s 
neighborhoods and prevent the City from providing for more affordable housing in a meaningful 
way.  Moreover, should additional vacation rentals be allowed while the City is studying the 
propriety and/or criteria under which vacation rentals should be permitted, those studies and any 
decisions leading therefrom will be rendered less effective and meaningful; and   
 
WHEREAS, the City needs a reasonable period of time to properly and carefully consider and 
further study the appropriate mix of land uses and development criteria applicable to vacation 
rentals, potentially leading to the amendment of the City's General Plan and Development Code; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the proliferation of illegal vacation rentals and the continued submittal of 
applications for use permits to allow additional vacation rentals, combined with the facts recited 
above, pose a current and immediate threat to the health, safety and/or welfare of the citizens of 
Sonoma. Moreover, the approval of use permit or other entitlements for use of land or structures 
as vacation rentals will result in that threat to the public health, safety or welfare of the City and 
its citizens. The granting or permitting of such entitlements or uses will likely be in conflict with, 
prevent the implementation of and/or seriously impair the efficacy of any General Plan 
amendment, specific plan, zoning or other land use policies which the City would consider as 
part of its study, thus rendering such plans and policies ineffectual in providing for the needs, 
assuring the housing diversity and preserving the unique character of the City and its 
neighborhoods; and  
 
WHEREAS, the purpose of this Ordinance is to extend the prohibition against the establishment 
of or the allowance of new, additional vacation rentals with the City pending the consideration 
and study of permanent regulations governing such development and use; and 
 
WHEREAS, on November 21, 2016, the City Council issued the report described in Cal. Gov’t 
Code section 65858(d) (“Report”) specifying the measures taken to alleviate the conditions which 
led to the adoption of Ordinance No. 05-2016.  In said Report it is stated that the said conditions 
giving rise to the necessity of adopting Ordinance No. 05-2016 have not been alleviated and that 
more time is necessary in order to study and address the issues involved in deciding whether to 
continue prohibiting the approval of vacation rentals or regulate such, and, if so, how to regulate 
vacation rentals.  Said Report is hereby approved and its dissemination ratified and authorized; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, based on the findings set forth above, it is the intent of the City Council to extend 
Ordinance No. 05-2016’s   moratorium on the approval of vacation rentals throughout the City to 
a date that is ten (10) months and fifteen (15) days following the last day that Ordinance No. 05-
2016 is in effect. 

117



4	
Ordinance	Extending	Moratorium	on	Vacation	Rentals	11-16-16	
	

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA DOES ORDAIN 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The above recitals and findings are incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
Section 2. The City and its agents, employees and departments shall not approve any plan, 
subdivision, design review permit, variance, use permit or other entitlements for any use of land 
or structure as a vacation rental within any zoning district in the City of Sonoma, 
and after the adoption of this Ordinance, no person shall commence development of a vacation 
rental in any zoning district in the City so long as this Ordinance is in effect. 
 
Section 3. During the effective life of this Ordinance, the City shall process any and all 
applications for vacation rentals, but if those applications are acted upon prior to the expiration 
of this Ordinance, they shall be denied.  
 
Section 4. This Ordinance shall not apply to: (a) those land use applications for vacation 
rentals (namely, use permits, building or grading permits) which were deemed complete prior to 
the adoption of Ordinance No. 05-2016; (b) construction required to comply with fire and/or life 
safety requirements; (c) disability accessibility work; and (d) vacation rentals that are adaptive 
re-uses within the meaning of SMC §§19.42.030.B.2.g.   
 
Section 5. This Ordinance is categorically exempt from CEQA under: (a) Section 15308 of 
the State CEQA Guidelines (“Guidelines”) because it is a regulatory action taken by the City in 
accordance with Cal. Gov't Code §65858 to assure maintenance and protection of the 
environment; (b) Guidelines, Section 15060(a)(2) because it will not result in a direct or 
reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment; and (c) Guidelines, Section 
15061(a)(3) because it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the adoption of 
the ordinance may have a significant effect on the environment since the ordinance prohibits 
physical changes for a specified period of time. 
 
Section 6. This ordinance shall become effective immediately if adopted by at least four-fifths 
vote of the City Council, and shall remain in effect until the date that is ten (10) months and fifteen 
(15) days following the last day that Ordinance No. 05-2016 is in effect.  Ordinance No. 05-2016’s 
prohibition of uses and other terms and provisions set forth in sections 2 through 4 thereof shall be 
extended to the date that is ten (10) months and fifteen (15) days following the last day that 
Ordinance No. 05-2016 is in effect.   
 
Section 7. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this Ordinance is 
for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this Ordinance. 
 
The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed this and each section, subsection, 
phrase or clause thereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, phrase 
or clauses be declared unconstitutional on their face or as applied. 
 

118



5	
Ordinance	Extending	Moratorium	on	Vacation	Rentals	11-16-16	
	

Section 8. This Ordinance shall be published in accordance with applicable provisions of 
law, by either: 

publishing the entire Ordinance once in the Sonoma Index Tribute, a newspaper of 
general circulation, published in the City of Sonoma, within fifteen (15) days after its 
passage and adoption, or 

publishing the title or appropriate summary in the Sonoma Index Tribune at least five (5) 
days prior to adoption, and a second time within fifteen (15) days after its passage and 
adoption with the names of those City Councilmembers voting for and against the 
Ordinance. 

 ******** 

THE FOREGOING ORDINANCE was first read and adopted as an urgency Ordinance at 
a regular meeting of the Sonoma City Council on the 21st day of November, 2016, by the 
following vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmembers 

 

NOES:     Councilmembers 

 

ABSENT:   Councilmembers 

 

ABSTAIN:  Councilmembers 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor of the City of Sonoma 

 

Attest: 

 

___________________________________ 

City Clerk of the City of Sonoma 

 

Approved as to form: 

119



6	
Ordinance	Extending	Moratorium	on	Vacation	Rentals	11-16-16	
	

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Attorney of the City of Sonoma 

 
  

120



 

 

City of Sonoma 

City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
7A 
 
11/21/16 

 

Department 

Public Works 

Staff Contact  

Lisa Janson/Special Events Manager 

Agenda Item Title 

Approval of application by Destination Races for temporary use of City streets for the Napa to 
Sonoma Wine Country Half Marathon on Sunday, July 16, 2017.   

Summary 

Destination Races has requested temporary use of city streets for the Napa to Sonoma Wine 
Country Half Marathon as follows: 

1. Closure of East Napa Street between Broadway and First Street East 6:30 a.m. until 11:00 
a.m. on Sunday July 16, 2017. 

2. Closure of the north-bound far right lane of Broadway between East MacArthur and the Plaza 
(including Road closure signs at Chase, France and Patten Streets) 7:15 a.m. until 11:00 a.m. 
on Sunday July 16, 2017. 

3. Closure of East MacArthur Street between Second Street East and Broadway 7:50 a.m. until 
11:00 a.m. on Sunday July 16, 2017. 

4. Closure of Denmark Street between High School and Napa Road 7:15 a.m. until 10:45 a.m. on 
Sunday July 16, 2017. 

5. The applicant will be responsible for providing notice to all residents and business affected by 
street closures in the affected areas.  

i. Denmark between High School and Napa Road from 7:15am to10:45am  
ii. Macarthur between 2nd St East and Broadway from 7:50am to 11:00am 
iii. Chase Street between Broadway and Austin Ave from 7:50am to 11:00am 
iv. France Street between Broadway and Austin Ave from 7:50am to 11:00am 
v. Patten Street between Broadway and 1st Street East from 7:50am to 11:00am  
vi. Broadway between Macarthur  and the Plaza from 7:50am to 11:00am 
vii. E. Napa Street between Broadway and 1st St East  

6. Applicant will be required to hire a professional traffic safety entity to assist with all detours within 
City limits. 

 

The Special Events Committee reviewed this proposal at its meeting of October 5, at which time they 
identified recommended conditions of approval that have been incorporated in the attached 
Resolution.     The CSEC approved the Plaza Use Permit on November 9, 2016 additional details 
regarding the Plaza Use Permit are included in the attachments. 

Council Action   

Adopt the resolution approving the use of city streets, which includes the conditions recommended by 
the Special Events Committee members, including Police, Fire, Public Works and Planning 
Departments. 

Alternative Actions 

121



Agenda Item 7A 

 

 

N/A 

Financial Impact 

The applicant is required to reimburse the City for additional personnel costs incurred as a result of 
this event. 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Attachments: 

1. Supplemental Staff Report 
2. Draft Resolution 
3. 2017 CSEC Pre Event Review Plaza Permit Application 2017 (includes, site plan, SEC conditions, 

waste minimization plan, and prelim event budget) 
4. Staff Memo regarding Destination Races 2017 Revised Plaza Parking Plan 
5. 2016 Post Event Review- Approved by CSEC on September 14, 2016 

 

cc:  Matt Dockstader 
 Destination Races 
 1905 Sperring Road 
 Sonoma, CA 95476 

 

 

122



 

SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT 
 

Discussion and Consideration of the Destination Races -Wine Country 1/2 Marathon 

 Request for Street Closures 

 

For the City Council Meeting of November 21, 2016 

 

Background 

 

September 2016, Destination Races (event organizer) submitted a Plaza Permit Application for their Napa 

to Sonoma Wine Country Half Marathon schedule for July 16, 2017. Included with the Plaza Permit 

Application was a Street Use Permit, a Permit Application Possession and Consumption of Alcoholic 

Beverages on City Property, Waste Minimization Plan, Route Map, Site Plan, Event Budget, and Photo of 

the Finish Line Delineation. 

 

The SEC reviewed the Application on October 5, 2016. The CSEC Post Event 2016 Review (approved 

September 14, 2016 by the CSEC) was a fundamental component of the review process.  The 2016 CSEC 

post event review was created with input from previous meetings/discussions with the Street Supervisor, 

Police Chief, Director of Public Works, Fire Marshal and Park Supervisor in an effort to address the 

issues that were reported during the 2016 event.  

 

The Street Resolution was added to the City Council Agenda on November 7th and was not approved 

pending request for additional information in order to make a decision, including CSEC review and 

approval of the Plaza Permit Application.  

 

The CSEC reviewed the Plaza Use Application and the Request to Reserve Public Parking on November 

9, 2016 and approved the application unanimously with the additional provisions as noted below. 

 

 Event Overview  

 

The Napa to Sonoma Wine Country 1/2 Marathon is in its 14th year. It attracts approximately 3500 

runners of which 70% live outside of California (per 2016 Napa to Sonoma Wine Country Half Marathon 

Breakdown of States and Countries, provided by the organizer).   The participants find housing in both 

Sonoma and Napa Counties. The organizer provides shuttle service from the hotels and designated 

parking lots (Veterans Building and Arnold Field) to the start of the race Cuvaison Carneros, Napa 

County. The event ends in the Historic Sonoma Plaza where runners and attendees can participate in wine 

tasting, eating and listening to music the event ends at noon on Sunday.  Estimated total attendance is 

8,000 people.  

 

The event is anticipating 25 wineries from Sonoma and Napa Counties pouring wines for participants.  

They expect 22 exhibitors ranging from Alaska Airlines to FitBit, a recovery tent (20x40) located in front 

of the Historic City Hall, Crohn's and Colitis Foundation participant area (20x40 tent in the NE quadrant 

and a 15'x15' food tent), a 16'x24' Stage with bands playing, and a VIP area with their own food service 

located in the South East quadrant.  

 

The event is comprised of two races the first one; the ½ Marathon departs from Cuvaison Carneros in 

Napa County and enters the County of Sonoma 2 ½ miles after the start at Ramal Road, it then proceeds 

down Ramal until it veers on to Dale Road, turns onto Burndale, crossing Hwy 12, it proceeds down 

Burndale until it crosses Napa Road at Denmark Street, the race continues down Denmark Street until it 

123



 2 

reaches the High School, at which point it runs through the High School along the bike path and re-

emerges at 2nd Street East at MacArthur Street, the race turns left on MacArthur and turns right onto 

Broadway until it reaches the Plaza. The course is timed to be completed in 3 hours and 30 minutes, 

however with 3000 runners it takes up to 10 minutes to cross the start line. The race is slated to start at 

7:30am and be completed by the runners by 11:00am.  

 

The second race is the 5K Gun Bun Fun Run which starts at Gundlach Bundschu, it attracts 450 runners. 

The race merges with the ½ Marathon on Denmark Street so there isn’t additional street closures.  The 

race start time is 8:15, 8:20, 8:25 it’s a staggered start. The participants arrive at the Plaza within 30 

minutes around 9am.  

 

Most of the ½ marathon runners arrive at the Plaza by 10:30am, if they have purchased a VIP pass it 

allows them access to the VIP area which provides food and beverages. The regular entrance fee for the 

marathon includes wine tasting post event. Those individuals participating in the Crohn's and Colitis 

Team Challenge have access to the Crohn's and Colitis function in the North East quadrant of the Plaza 

which serves food and beverage.  For those individuals supporting the runners they have the ability to 

purchase a tasting glass and enjoy the wine tasting during the event. 

 

The event ends at noon. Most of the vendors are out of the Plaza by 2:00pm except for the party rental 

company who is responsible for disassembling the tents they are done by 4:00pm.  

 

Set-Up 

The event occurs on a Sunday and requires heavy use of the Plaza on the Saturday for set-up. It was 

observed last year that the setup was impeded by the public enjoying the grounds.  In previous years the 

event setup started at noon, (the Plaza is typically a focal point of Sonoma and being enjoyed by   many 

tourists and locals on Saturdays). During the setup of the 2016 event the rental company was using the 

placement of tables, chairs and temporary fencing on the ground as a way to take up or stake off the 

space. It was clear they were trying to secure space already occupied by picnickers in order to erect the 

tents that were permitted.  As a condition of the application approval it is being requested that the event 

organizer erects the large tents in the NE quadrant before 10am on Saturday morning, all of the fencing, 

tables and chairs that are to be used in this area can be staged and contained under the tent until 3pm, at 

which point they can start setting up the area. The idea is to create a safe environment to erect the tent 

while also mitigating the tripping hazards of having supplies placed on the ground for staging. The 

organizer will communicate to their vendors  to not leave supplies scattered about the plaza.  

 

Busing, Drop-off and Pick-up Locations and Staging 

Destination Races and its associated foundations organize and run over 40 buses in and around the Plaza 

during the Race.  

 In 2016 Destination Races ran 11 buses from First St East (Pick up West side of the Mission) to 

the start of the Race. These buses were for those individuals who were parking in the Veterans 

building parking lot and Arnold Field lot. It's important to note that in 2016 there was no 

enforcement of runners parking at the Plaza.  

 5 Buses assigned to shuttle individuals from the Napa Marriott and Napa Best Western Inn at the 

Vines to the Cuvaison Carneros and from the Plaza back to the hotels in Napa.  

 2 Buses assigned to the Sonoma Mission Inn and Lodge at Sonoma.  The pick-up location was on 

First Street East near the Mission.  

 Three other groups associated with Team Challenge (Crohn’s and Colitis Foundation) all run 

buses from various hotels in Napa, Santa Rosa and Sonoma, last year it was over 30 buses, they 

124



 3 

are anticipating a reduction in the use of buses in 2017 to 20. They offer pick up directly from the 

Plaza on First Street East.   

 The event organizer is going to change their gear check procedures in 2017, therefore removing 

the need for gear check buses to be parked on Spain Street.   

 In 2017 there will be additional attention to staggering the bus pick up in the Plaza with the goal 

to eliminate a back up of buses around the Plaza.   

Course Management 

The race starts in Napa and at the 2 1/2 mile mark enters Sonoma County at Ramal Road. The race enters 

the City of Sonoma at Denmark Street and 5th Street East.  The organizer has requested street closures 

along parts of the race course. In the past the race course has been treated as a rolling street closure. It was 

the understanding of the SEC that traffic was being allowed to proceed through intersections, with the aid 

of traffic enforcement/control. In 2016 it was observed that most of the route/course is run on closed 

streets with only a few intersections passable by cars during the peak running time of 7:15am-11:00am. 

The SEC decided that the conditions, timing, and implementation of traffic enforcement/control for the 

2017 race should be designated a road closure and follow the rules of notification to residents, 

enforcement of detours, and traffic controls rules deemed appropriate for road closures. It was also 

observed that west bound traffic detours needed to be marked (signs and flagman)  prior to traffic 

reaching 2nd Street East. The intersections of 5th Street at Denmark and 8th Street at Denmark will 

continue to be controlled by CHP officers and traffic will be allowed through the intersections as space 

between runners allows.  

 

The Special Event Manager received a few calls from residents reporting littering of energy gel packets 

distributed at a vendor table on the race course and discarded by the runners during the race. The Event 

Organizer will address this issue with the organization they hire to sweep the course and ensure that this 

issue is mitigated in the future.  

 

Following is the list of action items derived from discussion between the SEC, the Event Organizer, and 

CSEC regarding the Street Closures:   

 Event organizer to hire a professional traffic safety entity to assist with the creation of the detour 

plan and implementation/management of all detours within the City limits. The  SEC would like 

to see traffic heading west diverted  earlier by starting the detours at of 5th Street East and 8th 

Street East, this will allow individuals to make a decision to proceed North toward East Spain 

Street or cross Denmark Street and by-pass the Plaza completely by heading South and then 

West. Additional routes include diversion down 2nd Street East to  Spain Street  and down 8th 

Street to either Napa Street or Napa Road.   

 The course will completely open at 11am to traffic, the Event Organizer will ensure there are 

enough volunteers to move barricades off to the side of the road and traffic will be allowed to 

flow. At that time all runners/walkers left on the course will be notified that the streets are open to 

vehicles and they will be asked to move to the sidewalk.  

 At 11:00am MacArthur will be completely re-open, a crossing guard will be in place to help the 

remaining runners cross at 2nd Street.  

 The Event Organizer is going to hire two individuals to manage traffic control down the East 

bound lane of MacArthur, when there are spaces between runners.  

 30 days prior to the event the Street Supervisor, Event Organizer, the professional traffic safety 

entity, Sonoma Police Chief, representatives of volunteer organizations assisting with course 

management within the City limits and the City of Sonoma Special Events Manager will meet to 

review the execution of the proposed detours.  

 All costs associated with the course management are the responsibility of the Event Organizer. 

125



 4 

 Event Organizer will be required to pay for all public parking spots that are impacted by the 

course.  

 In addition to notification to all residents the Event Organizer will be required to place an ad in 

the local newspaper one week prior to the event, the ad needs to contain the route map, closure 

times, detour options and a contact number.   

 

 

Parking 

In 2016 the Event Organizer requested the reservation of 91 parking spaces adjacent to the Plaza. The 

Street Supervisor approved a total of 79 parking spaces. The parking spaces were used in the following 

ways: 12 for Winery Load In and Load Out along West Spain Street, 27 spaces on East Spain Street for 

the Gear Buses, 22 Parking spaces on First Street East for the Crohn’s and Colitis Buses, 13 Vendor 

Parking Spaces along East Napa Street, 5 Staff Parking spaces on West Napa Street.  Concerns that arose 

during the 2016 event included loss of visibility for pedestrians crossing the street due to Vendor Trucks 

parking close to the cross walks, lack of parking for visitors due to vendors and race participants parking 

in the Plaza in the morning, in- ability to proceed down Spain Street due to Vendor Trucks parked in the 

commercial loading and unloading zones. The Event Organizer included parking instructions to all 

registrants in their pre-event materials, however there was no onsite enforcement of parking. 

 

The original 2017 Reservation for Parking request was for the same amount of parking spaces to be used 

in a similar manner as 2016. During the application process there was discussion with the Event 

Organizer regarding the buses parked adjacent to the Plaza, they have changed the original request. In 

2017 they are proposing to change how they handle the gear of the runners. Instead of having the buses 

staged on East Spain Street they will have runners place their gear in a truck and the truck will be 

unloaded onsite at the Plaza and the gear will be sorted and handed out, reducing the need to have the 

gear buses parked on Spain Street. This will free up 14 of the 27 spaces for visitors to the Plaza on East 

Spain Street, they are requesting the remaining 14 spaces located along East Spain Street to be used for 

Winery Load In and Load Out. Below is a list of action items that have been discussed and agreed upon. 

 

 Event Organizer will communicate to all vendors in advance of the event the parking rules and 

restrictions.  

o Event organizer will hire two individuals to monitor the parking around the Plaza and 

enforce the vendor parking rules. 

o Vendors can only park in designated vendor parking spots or parking lots designated as 

vendor parking.  

o The parking stalls in proximity to cross walks are not to be used for vendor parking or 

bus parking.  

o Vendors will be notified that they cannot park in the commercial unloading zones around 

the Plaza during the event times 8:00am- noon on Sunday.  

 

As part of CSEC discussion there was a discussion of a revised parking application, which would allow 

the Event Organizer to rope off all of the parking adjacent to the Plaza from 6:00am-8:00am on Sunday 

morning pre-race. The Event Organizer would then open up the parking not reserved for the Event back to 

the general public approx 78 parking spaces at 8:00am. The thought was to try to mitigate racers from 

parking in the Plaza and force them to park in the designated parking areas of Arnold Field and Veterans 

Parking lot.  This revised parking plan was sent back to the Street Supervisor for his review and he didn't 

approve the plan. (refer to memo Destination Races 2017 Revised Plaza Parking Plan)  

 

Event Financials 

126



 5 

The Event Organizer has submitted a preliminary budget with their application (please see attachment 

Plaza Permit Application). The rates and locations for some of the ancillary events have not been 

determined to date, included below is a list of ancillary events from the 2016 event and the rates 

associated with the ticket price.  It currently includes the following figures:  

Total Income of $612,000.00 (includes sponsor, race entry fees, expo, wine/glass, merchandise) 

Direct/Operational Expense of $283,000.00 

Overhead Expense at $281,500.00 

Operating Profit of $46,900.00 

 

Breakdown of ticket fees from 2016: 

VIP Ticket: $350.00  

Race Entrance Fee: $165.00 (fee includes wine glass and tasting at the festival) 

5K Fun Run Bun Run Entrance Fee $30.00 (without wineglass/tasting) or $55 (with wine glass/tasting) 

 

2016 Ancillary Events Included - (to date not all venues are secured for 2017 however the Organizer has 

plans to continue with similar ancillary events for 2017)  

 Welcome Reception Cuvaison in Napa County-Separate ticket $45.00 unless the participant 

registers as a VIP  

 The Saturday Expo Cornerstone Sonoma -Free and open to public (expense not included in the 

event budget) 

 Pre-Race Dinner Ramekins- Separate ticket $85.00 (costs included in the 2017 budget submitted 

as part of the Plaza Permit Application) 

 Post-Race Celebration- Free but RSVP required 

 

Financial Impact 

 

The Event Organizer has submitted a 2012 Race Economic Impact Analysis and 2016 attendee 

breakdown by geographic location, this information was discussed during the Nov. 9th CSEC meeting. 

The main discussion was around the number of individuals from out of town and how to quantify the time 

they spend in the Plaza pre and post event and the financial impact to local businesses, restaurants and 

hotels.  

 

In 2017 it is estimated that Destination Races will pay approximately $17,445.00 * to the City of Sonoma. 

All costs incurred by the City of Sonoma for the production of the Wine Country 1/2 Marathon are 

reimbursed by the Event Organizer. * fees are based on the 2016 fees schedule and are approximate.  

 

Break down of the fees: 

$8,531.00 for the use of the Plaza, Street Use Permit and Alcohol Permit for the two day event. 

$1856.00 for the reservation of parking adjacent to the Plaza 

$3,520.00 for the parking fees associated with street closures 

$1,066.00 for the use of equipment associated with the Street Closures 

$2,472.00 for materials associated with closing of the Streets. 

  

Contribution to Local Non Profits in 2016: $32,000* 

Hannah Boys Center provided volunteers to help with the event and they received a donation of 

$20,000.00  Native Sons provides volunteers to help with the event and they received a donation of 

$2,200.00. The remaining $9,800 was donated to FAHA, Mentoring Program, Sonoma Valley High 

School, and few other local non profits.  

 

*Per the Special Event Policy section 3.3  

127



 6 

Events that are sponsored by a for-profit organization are required to donate either 10% of gross event 

revenue or 40% of net revenue which ever number is larger to local Sonoma Valley non-profit 

organizations.  

 

During the CSEC 2017 pre-event review the contribution to local non-profits was discussed at length and 

it was determined that if the Event Organizer wanted to reduce his contribution from the estimated 

amount of charitable donations of $61,200.00 that they would need to get City Council approval. In the 

Nov 9th CSEC meeting it was discuss that in previous years there has been an understanding between 

CSEC and the Event Organizer that the calculation of the charitable donation would only be calculated on 

those revenues generated inside the Plaza and not on the overall budget for the event. Since this is a race 

that starts in Napa and occurs over multiple days it has been unclear on what % of revenue is used to 

determine the donation to non-profits, and there doesn't seem to be any formal documentation of the 

process used in previous years.  The Event Organizer did mention that this event is one of Crohn's and 

Colitis largest fundraisers, and has raised millions for the foundation over the years through the Team 

Challenge.  

 

Recommendation 

 

Review the documentation provided, provide feedback to the Event Organizer and either decide to 

approve the Street Resolution or request additional information from the Event Organizer for a decision at 

a later date or not approve the Street Resolution.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

128



 
CITY OF SONOMA 

 
RESOLUTION # _____.2016     

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA APPROVING AND 

CONSENTING TO THE USE OF CITY STREETS FOR THE WINE COUNTRY HALF 
MARATHON ON SUNDAY, JULY 16, 2017 

 
 WHEREAS, Destination Races has made application to conduct the Napa to Sonoma Wine 
Country Half Marathon, which will involve use of city streets and State Route 12; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Napa to Sonoma Wine Country Half Marathon will temporarily impede and 
restrict the free passage of traffic over city streets and State Route 12 on July 16, 2017 between 
the hours of 7:50 a.m. and 11:00 a.m.  
 

WHEREAS, the application for the use of city streets was brought forward to the City 
Council at its meeting of November 21, 2016.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Sonoma as follows: 
 

1. The City Council approves and consents to the street closure associated with the 
proposed Wine Country Half Marathon and recommends approval of and consents to 
the proposed restriction of State Route 12 upon terms and conditions deemed 
appropriate and necessary by the State of California, Department of Transportation. 

2. The approval of the street closure is subject to the following conditions and limitations: 
A. Applicant shall contact Police Department as soon as possible to finalize traffic 

control plan and contract with the Sonoma County Sheriff’s Department for services 
as required.  

B. Applicant shall provide a written request for special barricading to the Public Works 
Department at least thirty days prior to the event and meet with the Street and Police 
Dept. 

C. Applicant shall provide notice of the event and the street closure to all businesses 
located on Broadway and on all sides of the Plaza no later than thirty days prior to 
the event.  

D. Applicant will be required to hire a professional traffic safety entity to assist with all 
detours within City limits. 

E. Applicant shall comply with City of Sonoma standard insurance requirements. 
F. The applicant is required to reimburse the City for additional personnel costs 

incurred as a result of this event. 
 
 The foregoing Resolution was duly adopted this 21ST day of November 2016, by the 
following vote: 
 

Ayes:    
Noes:    
Absent:   

 
 ______________________________  

       Laurie Gallian, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
__________________________________             
Rebekah Barr, MMC, City Clerk    

 

129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166

kwall
Text Box
Agenda Item 2.dSeptember 14, 2016



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



 City of Sonoma 
Department of Public Works 

No. 1 The Plaza 
Sonoma, California 95476-6690 

Phone  (707) 938-3332    Fax  (707) 938-8775 
E-Mail: cityhall@sonomacity.org 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
November 15, 2016 
 
 
TO: Lisa Janson, Special Event Manager 

FROM:  Dean Merrill, Street Supervisor 

SUBJ: Destination Races 2017 Revised Plaza Parking Plan 

════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════ 

This memorandum was prepared in response to the revised Plaza Parking Plan for Destination Races’ 
2017 Napa to Sonoma Wine Country Half Marathon event (see attached).  

Over the years, the number of requested public parking spaces to be reserved for Destination Races’ 
event has increased. Starting in 2011, the Street Department has scaled down the amount of parking 
reserved for the event due to the City potentially having other guests or residents needing to use some 
of the Plaza parking. In recent years, 79 public parking spaces have been allowed to be reserved for this 
event.   

At this time, and continuing with the decision made in previous years, I approve the use of up to 79 
public parking spaces in the Plaza area. This is due to the following reasons: 

• 79 parking spaces are more than half the available spaces in the Plaza area; 
• The City has other guests or residents potentially needing to use available Plaza parking; and 
• Destination Races’ also reserves an additional 150-170 other public parking spaces for their 

event. 

As a condition of this approval, I would require Destination Races to provide staff in the reserved parking 
area to ensure the safety of the users and compliance with the City’s regulations. 

 

 

Attachment: 

1. Destination Races’ 2017 Revised Plaza Parking Plan 

 

 

183



184



 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 
Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
7B 
 
11/21/16 

 
Department 

Planning and Community Services  

Staff Contact  
David Goodison, Planning Director 

Agenda Item Title 
Discussion, consideration and possible action on establishing a Safe Parking program on the Police 
Station property, including consideration of a Memorandum of Understanding with Sonoma 
Overnight Support for program management. 

Summary 
On September 19, 2016, the City Council voted 3-2 to direct staff to develop a proposal for 
establishing a Safe Parking program on the Police Station property. As envisioned by the Council, 
the program would be provided on a trial basis, from December through March, and would be limited 
to five parking spaces. It would be operated in conjunction with the homeless shelter by Sonoma 
Overnight Support, the non-profit organization that manages the shelter. At its meeting of October 
17, 2016, staff returned to the City Council to review alternatives for implementing its direction, at 
which time the Council voted 3-2 to direct staff as follows: 

1. Process an application for a temporary use permit for the Safe Parking program from the 
Planning Commission.  

2. Negotiate an agreement with Sonoma Overnight Support for the management of the program. 

Pursuant to this direction, an application for a temporary use permit was made and reviewed by the 
Planning Commission at its meeting of November 8, 2016. Following a public hearing, the Planning 
Commission voted 6-1 (Comm. Cribb dissenting) to approve a temporary use permit, subject to 
conditions. Details concerning the program, including screening requirements for participants and 
rules of conduct, are provided in the attached Planning Commission staff report, along with the final 
conditions of approval.  

In addition, SOS and staff have negotiated a draft Memorandum of Understanding (attached), which 
would constitute the agreement between the City and SOS for the management of the program. The 
MOU is subject to the review and approval of the City Council.  

Recommended Council Action 
1. Authorize the City Manager to execute the MOU, subject to any revisions deemed necessary by the 

Council. 
Alternative Actions 
 Council discretion. 

Financial Impact 
The direct costs of the program will be funded through community donations. While there will be 
some staff time associated with monitoring the program, staff anticipates that this will be 
accommodated as part of normal work activities. 

Environmental Review Status 
   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

185



 

 
 

 
Alignment with Council Goals 

The consideration of a Safe Parking program falls within the City Council’s Housing goal: “To 
analyze policy and programmatic tools suggested by the 2015 Housing Element update; implement 
strategies to facilitate creation of affordable rental and workforce housing; sustain or increase 
opportunities to continue the programs currently in place to maintain current affordable housing 
stock.” 

 Compliance with Climate Action 2020 Target Goals: 
 N.A. 

 Attachments: 
1. Draft MOU 
2. Planning Commission Staff Report/Final Conditions of Approval 
3. Planning Commission Late Correspondence 

cc: Kathy King, SOS 
 Safe Parking Mailing List 

 

186



1 | P a g e  
 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for  
Pilot Safe Parking Program 

 
This Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) is made as of December 1, 2016 by and 
between the City of Sonoma (“City”) and Sonoma Overnight Support, Inc (“SOS”).  

 
RECITALS 

 
Whereas, a lack of affordable housing in the City and in Sonoma Valley results in a number 
of individuals and families living in their vehicles; and  
 
Whereas, SOS and City are concerned with the safety, health and welfare of the community 
and wish to safeguard private property and provide a safe and sanitary place for people to 
park their vehicles on a short-term basis while they transition to more permanent housing; 
and 
 
Whereas, City is willing to provide five (5) parking spaces overnight on its parking lot (the 
“Premises”) located between the City Police Station at 175 First Street West, Sonoma and 
The Haven (SOS emergency shelter) at 151 First Street West, Sonoma, as shown on Exhibit 
A attached hereto and incorporated by this reference, pursuant to a pilot “Safe Parking 
Program” (the “Program”) under the management of SOS. SOS shall support and oversee 
the overnight parking spaces, at no cost to City, through a commitment of expertise, 
policies/procedures, staffing, and other resources including, without limitation, technical 
assistance and guidance from Catholic Charities of the Diocese of Santa Rosa (“CCDSR”) 
which has implemented similar Safe Parking Programs in other areas of Sonoma County.  
 

AGREEMENT 
      
Now, therefore, in consideration of the covenants and conditions contained herein, the City 
and SOS agree as follows:  
 
1. Program Commencement and Termination: The Program shall commence no earlier 

than December 1, 2016, and continue until 7:00 a.m. on March 31, 2017. The parties 
acknowledge that the Program is likely to start later in the month of December 2016, 
tentatively on December 19, in order to allow SOS time to fully screen, test and evaluate 
the Participants (as defined in Section 3).  Notwithstanding the above, either party may 
terminate this MOU for any reason upon 10 days’ advance written notice to the other 
party, such notice to include the reason(s) for termination.   Neither the City nor SOS 
shall be liable to the other for damages or any other relief, legal or equitable, merely as 
a result of termination of this MOU pursuant to this Section 1. 

 
2. Breach of Agreement: Notwithstanding the termination provisions set forth in Section 

1, if the City finds that the terms of the MOU have been substantially breached by SOS 
it may immediately terminate the MOU upon written notice to SOS documenting the 
breach of the agreement, provided that at SOS’ request, City shall meet with SOS to 
determine if SOS shall instead be allowed to cure the breach.  Irrespective of the 
manner in which this MOU terminates, upon its termination, SOS shall promptly (a) 

187



2 | P a g e  
 

clean the Premises to the same condition they were in immediately prior to the date this 
MOU was entered, (b) notify all persons who may have been using or are likely to be 
using the Designated Spaces (as defined in Section 3)  that they are no longer available 
for overnight parking, (c) remove all persons using the Designated Spaces for overnight 
parking from those spaces, and (d) prevent all persons desirous of using the 
Designated Spaces for overnight parking from using said spaces for overnight parking 
(with the exception of SOS employees whose duties require them to be at the Haven 
during part or all of the night, and Haven residents (clients who live at the Haven and 
sleep there overnight) who have vehicles). 

 
3. Use of Premises: Subject to the terms set forth below, SOS may use 5 designated 

parking spaces (the “Designated Spaces”) located in the Premises between the hours 
of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., 7 days per week (“Program hours”) for overnight parking by 
“Participants” in this Safe Parking Program. SOS shall provide adequate sanitation 
facilities for Participants as described in Section 8 below.  Some evenings there may be 
events at the Field of Dreams near the Premises, and Participants will need to arrive at 
a later time. In that case, City shall notify SOS, who in turn shall notify the Participants 
to arrive at a later time. During Program hours, Participants shall stay at the Designated 
Spaces only. The SOS placard referred to in Section 6 shall be displayed at all times 
during Program hours on a Participant’s vehicle in a manner clearly visible from outside 
the vehicle. The City may modify Program hours and the length of time the Participants 
may stay at the Designated Spaces upon notification to SOS. During Program hours 
SOS shall not authorize more than 5 vehicles to park at the Premises and only in the 
Designated Spaces; provided, however, that SOS employees whose duties require 
them to be at the Haven during all or part of the night, and Haven residents as 
described in Section 2(d), may park at the Premises other than in the Designated 
Spaces during Program hours. SOS staff and representatives may enter the Premises 
as necessary for monitoring and enforcement activities. SOS shall mark or sign the 
Designated Spaces, in a manner approved by the City, to prevent vehicles other than 
those belonging to Participants from making use of them during Program hours.   

 
4. Program Preference. Participants shall be screened and selected by SOS with a 

preference for women and children, City residents, and seniors. 
 

5. Written Agreement with Users and Compliance with Rules Required: SOS shall 
only issue permits to Participants with whom SOS has made a prior written agreement 
to use a Designated Space for overnight parking; such agreement must be signed by 
the Participant (the driver of the vehicle) and by all the Participant’s registered 
household members. The City shall have the right to review and approve the basic form 
of such agreement in advance.  Each potential Participant shall be evaluated in advance 
by the SOS Case Manager. As part of such evaluation, alcohol and drug testing shall be 
performed on all potential Participants and his/her registered household members, and 
anyone who tests positive shall automatically be disqualified. Also as part of of such 
evaluation, SOS shall check all potential Participants, and their registered household 
members, against the State-wide Megan’s Law database, and any person found to be 
on such database shall be disqualified from the Program.  The written agreement 
between SOS and each Participant shall, at a minimum, contain the following 
requirements:  

   

188



3 | P a g e  
 

a) Every Participant  must have a valid driver’s license and current registration, and the 
Participant’s vehicle must be in working order. 

b) Each vehicle shall only be occupied by designated Participants and approved and 
registered household members. Guests are prohibited. 

c) No alcohol or illicit drugs shall be contained in the vehicle or consumed on the 
Premises.  Random drug and alcohol tests shall be performed by SOS and each 
Participant and all the other occupants of the vehicle shall submit to such testing. 

d) Cooking or food preparation is prohibited on the Premises.  
e) Littering is prohibited. All trash shall be disposed of properly at another location and 

not on the Premises. However, at the City’s option a trash and/or recycling 
receptacle for use by Participants may be provided.  

f) Loitering is prohibited. Participants and their vehicles must leave the Premises every 
day at the end of Program hours. However, Participants who are also day clients of 
SOS may return to the Premises and park their vehicles in the Premises to use 
Haven services during normal Haven day client hours. 

g) With respect to sanitation needs, Participants (including household members) shall 
exclusively use the sanitation facilities provided by SOS as described in Section 8 
during Program hours.   

h) No music may be played that is audible on the surrounding sidewalk, in surrounding 
buildings (including neighboring residences, the Haven, and the Police Station), on 
the Field of Dreams, or that is so loud as to disturb other Participants while in their 
Designated Spaces during Program hours.   

i) Parking shall be limited to the Program hours and days specified above.  
j) Participant(s) shall comply with SOS’s Good Neighbor Policy (which will be affixed 

to the agreement as Attachment “A”). 
k) Participants shall comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and 

regulations and any other rules as outlined in the written agreement. 
l) Failure to follow all rules shall result in immediate termination and expulsion from 

the Program.   
m) Every Participant must carry insurance during the entire time he/she is using the 

Designated Spaces, covering his/her vehicle in amounts meeting the minimum 
requirements of State law, and must provide evidence of same to SOS. 

 
6. Authorized, Permitted Vehicles Only: SOS shall use reasonable efforts, including 

overnight monitoring and (if necessary) volunteers on-site, to ensure that only one 
vehicle owned by a Participant is parked in the Participant’s Designated Space during 
Program hours. SOS shall give the City Police Department a list of the license plate 
numbers and driver’s license numbers of all authorized Participants, as well as the 
names of the registered household members for each vehicle. SOS shall also supply 
each Participant authorized to use a Designated Space with a placard to be displayed 
in the Participant’s vehicle window indicating that the Participant is authorized to park 
overnight in a Designated Space. The SOS overnight monitor shall direct all 
unauthorized vehicles to leave the Premises during Program hours. 
 

7. Removal of Vehicles: Subject to the California Vehicle Code, upon notification by City, 
SOS shall remove any vehicle parked in a Designated Space after 7:00 a.m., including 
but not limited to an abandoned and inoperable vehicle. Upon notification to the 
relevant Participant, and subject to a Participant’s right to return to the Premises for the 
purpose specified in Section 5(f), above, SOS shall also remove any vehicle owned by a 

189



4 | P a g e  
 

Participant that is parked anywhere on the Premises other than in a Designated Space, 
and any other unauthorized vehicle parked on the Premises, outside of Program hours. 
However, the parties acknowledge that members of the public are entitled to park in the 
Premises during and outside of Program hours for authorized activities involving the 
facilities on the subject property, including but not limited to visiting the Police Station 
and attending meetings at the Community Meeting room, and such use shall not, by 
itself, be considered unauthorized use of the Premises. 

 
8. Other SOS Responsibilities:  

 
a. The SOS night monitor shall be on site to ensure appropriate behavior by 

Participants and compliance with the terms of  this MOU and the Program. The 
night monitor shall wake Participants at 6:00 a.m. each day, to give them time to get 
ready to leave, and to ensure they do leave, the Premises by 7:00 am. 

 
b. A case manager shall be assigned by SOS to the Program to perform the initial 

evaluation of Participants and to work with Participants to find alternative housing.  
 
c. SOS shall ensure that the Premises are kept in a clean and orderly manner.  
 
d. SOS shall provide a sanitation facility in the back yard of the Haven (and as shown 

on the diagram attached as Exhibit “B,” incorporated by this reference) for the 
exclusive use of Program Participants including registered household members. 
This facility shall be equipped with a sink inside and shall be cleaned daily. The 
sanitation facility shall be locked during the day and only opened during Program 
hours (as such hours may be adjusted for Field of Dreams events in accordance 
with Section 3). Entry to the area where the sanitation facility is located shall be 
limited to the front sidewalk of the Haven as shown on Exhibit “B.” 

 
e. To help ensure appropriate behavior by Participants and others during Program 

hours, SOS shall maintain an alarm system with two cameras: one on the front 
porch of the Haven with a live stream view of the Designated Spaces, and one 
focused on the Haven’s back yard.  

 
f. At all times SOS shall adhere to the terms and conditions of the Temporary Use 

Permit that was granted by the City Planning Commission on November 10, 2016 
with respect to the Program and which is attached as Exhibit C and incorporated by 
this reference. 

 
g. SOS shall track and record client demographics and outcomes and, at City’s 

request, shall provide this information to City. 
 

9. Post-Program Evaluation: At least two weeks prior to March 31, 2017 (expiration of 
the pilot Program), City and SOS agree that SOS, City Representatives including the 
Police Chief, and other stakeholders (homeless clients, leaders of the Field of Dreams 
and the dog park, and First Street neighbors) shall meet to review and evaluate the 
Program, its successes and areas for improvement, with a view to making a 
recommendation to the City Council regarding continuation of a safe parking program 
within City limits. 

190



5 | P a g e  
 

 
10. Indemnification: To the full extent allowed by law, SOS shall defend (with counsel 

acceptable to City), indemnify and hold harmless City and  its officers, officials, agents 
and employees (collectively, Indemnitees) from and against any and all claims, 
demands, suits, actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory proceedings, civil 
penalties, fines, damages, costs, expenses (including without limitation reasonable 
attorneys' fees and costs of litigation), judgments or liabilities (collectively, “Liability”), of 
every nature arising out of or in connection with (a) SOS’s performance or lack of 
performance under this MOU; (b) SOS’s breach of this MOU; and/or (c) the  Program, 
including without limitation death, personal injury or property damage caused by or 
suffered by a Participant on or adjacent to the Premises; except such Liability resulting 
from the sole negligence or willful misconduct of Indemnitees. SOS shall provide a 
“Certificate of Liability Insurance” naming City, its officers, officials, agents and 
employees as additional insureds, in form and content acceptable to City, prior to 
commencement of the Program at the Premises. The defense and indemnity obligations 
of this MOU are undertaken in addition to, and shall not be limited in any way, by SOS’s 
insurance obligations, and shall survive expiration or the earlier termination of this MOU.  
SOS shall notify City immediately in the event of any accident, damage or injury arising 
out of or in connection with this MOU.  

 
11. Compliance with Laws: SOS shall fully comply with all applicable local, state and 

federal laws, statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations relating to the Participants’ use 
of the Designated Spaces. 

 
12. Condition of Property and Improvements: City makes no representations or 

warranties regarding the suitability of the Designated Spaces for overnight sleeping or 
regarding conditions of the improvements in the Premises.    

 
13. Alterations: SOS shall not alter or make improvements to the Designated Spaces, the 

parking lot, or any portion of the Premises without the express written approval of the 
City.   

 
14. Governing Law: This MOU is governed by the laws of the State of California.   

 
15. Whole Agreement: This MOU constitutes the entire agreement between the parties 

related to the use of the Premises and the Designated Spaces and supersedes all prior 
written and verbal agreements, representations, promises or understandings between 
the parties related thereto.   

 
16. Amendments: Any amendments to this MOU shall be in writing and executed by both 

parties.   
 

17. Severability: If any provision of this MOU is held to be invalid or unenforceable with 
respect to any party, the remainder of this MOU or the application of such provision to 
persons other than those as to whom it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be 
affected and each provision of this MOU shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest 
extent permitted by law.   

 

191



6 | P a g e  
 

18. No Waiver: The waiver by either party of any term, covenant, agreement or condition 
contained in this MOU shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach of 
the same or any other term, covenant, agreement or condition contained in this MOU.    

 
19. Authority of Signatories. The signatories to this MOU represent and warrant that they 

are authorized to sign this MOU on behalf of, and thereby to bind, the parties for whom 
they are signing. 

 
20. Notices. Any notices required to be given pursuant to this MOU shall be in writing and 

may be delivered personally, by U.S. mail, facsimile or email, to the addresses below or 
such other addresses as a party may subsequently provide:  

 
a. To City:  City of Sonoma 

1, The Plaza 
Sonoma, CA 95476 
Attention:  City Manager                                        

 
b. To SOS: Sonoma Overnight Support 

151 First Street West 
Sonoma, CA 95476 
Attention:  Executive Director  

 
Personal delivery of notices shall be deemed effective immediately. Certified or registered 
mail, return receipt requested, shall be deemed delivered on receipt if delivery is confirmed 
by a return receipt.  Facsimile and email delivery shall be deemed delivered on transmittal, 
absent a message to sender indicating a failure of delivery. 

 
21. No Third Party Beneficiaries. The parties hereto do not intend to create, and nothing 

in this MOU shall be construed to create, any benefit or right in any third party. 
 

22. Parties Not Co-Venturers. Nothing in this MOU is intended to or shall establish the 
parties hereto as partners, co-venturers, or principal and agent with one another. 
 

23. Recitals Incorporated.  The Recitals are incorporated by this reference. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City and SOS have executed this MOU as of the last date set forth 
below.   
 
 

    City of Sonoma 
 
Date: __________________                               By: __________________________________ 
                                                              [Signature], Sonoma City Manager 
 
                                                                                        
Sonoma Overnight Support 
 
Date:  __________________                               By:  _________________________   

[Signature], Executive Director   

192



 

 1 

City of Sonoma Planning Commission 
STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Item #1    
Meeting Date: 11/10/16 

 
Agenda Item Title: Application for a Temporary Use Permit to allow the implementation of a Safe 

Parking program in conjunction with an existing emergency shelter. 
 
Applicant/Owner: City of Sonoma 
 
Site Address/Location: 151 First Street West 
 
Staff Contact: David Goodison, Planning Director 
    Staff Report Prepared: 11/03/16 
  
PROJECT SUMMARY 
 
Description: Application for a a Temporary Use Permit to allow the development of a Safe 

Parking program in conjunction with an existing emergency shelter. 
 
General Plan 
Designation: Public Facility (P)  
 
Zoning: Base: Public Overlay: Historic 
     
Site 
Characteristics: The subject property is a 7.5-acre site, owned by the City of Sonoma, and 

developed with a Police Station/Council Chambers facility, playing fields, and 
associated parking, as well as a nine-bed emergency shelter. 

 
Surrounding 
Land Use/Zoning:  North: A vacant property/Hillside Residential 
 South: A restaurant and single-family residences/Medium Density Residential (R-M) 
 East: Arnold Field and the Sonoma Valley Veterans’ Building/Public (P) 
 West: Vallejo Home State Park/Park (Pk) 
 
Environmental 
Review: Categorical Exemption Approved/Certified 
 Negative Declaration No Action Required 
 Environmental Impact Report Action Required 
 Not Applicable 
Staff 
Recommendation: Approve the Temporary Use Permit, subject to conditions. 

193



 

 

 
PROJECT ANALYSIS 
 
BACKGROUND 
Beginning last June, the City Council has been discussing the concept of establishing a Safe Parking 
program. The concept of safe parking refers to a managed allowance for homeless persons with cars to 
sleep in their cars overnight at a safe location, preferably with access to bathroom facilities. Participating 
clients are screened in advance and given parking passes for designated spaces. Safe parking programs 
are often but not always offered on a seasonal basis during the winter months. The concept was original-
ly put forward by Sonoma Overnight Support (SOS), the local non-profit organization that manages the 
City-owned homeless shelter on the Police Station property. SOS put forward the proposal because they 
saw a need for it through the operation of the shelter. At the time of their original proposal, they be-
lieved that Catholic Charities would be available to provide on-site support for the program. (Since that 
time, Catholic Charities has indicated that while they could provide advice and technical resources based 
on their experience operating Safe Parking programs in other communities, they would not provide on-
site assistance.) On September 19, 2016, the City Council voted 3-2 to direct staff to develop a proposal 
for establishing, on a trial basis, a Safe Parking program on the Police Station property, limited to five 
spaces and operated in conjunction with the homeless shelter. At its meeting of October 17, 2016, staff 
returned to the City Council to review alternatives for implementing its direction, at which time the 
Council voted 3-2 to direct staff as follows: 
 
1. Process an application for a temporary use permit for the Safe Parking program from the Planning 

Commission. A temporary use permit was recommended because it is consistent with Development 
Code provisions regarding emergency shelters, it provides a mechanism for establishing conditions 
of approval, and it allows for neighbor notice and comment. 

 
2. Negotiate an agreement with Sonoma Overnight Support for the management of the program. This 

agreement would incorporate conditions of approval identified through the temporary use permit 
process as well as issues such as insurance requirements. Once a draft agreement was negotiated, it 
would be brought to the City Council for final review and approval. 

 
Pursuant to this direction, an application for a temporary use permit has been made, as detailed in this 
staff report. In addition, SOS and staff have begun working on a draft Memorandum of Understanding 
(attached), which would constitute the agreement between the City and SOS for the management of the 
program. The MOU will be subject to the review and approval of the City Council. 
 
DETAILED PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
As proposed, the Safe Parking program would consist of five designated parking spaces adjoining the 
shelter. Approval would be on a trial basis to test the concept for a four-month period, beginning in De-
cember. Program management, including client screening, would be provided by Sonoma Overnight 
Support, in conjunction with its management of the emergency shelter located on the Police Station 
property. Hours of operation would be from 9 p.m. to 7 a.m., with variations as needed to accommodate 
special events that might occur on the Police Station property. Participating clients would be subject to 
the following regulations and requirements: 
 

• Every driver must have a valid driver’s license and current registration and vehicles must be in 
working order. 

• Each vehicle shall only be occupied by designated participants and approved and registered 
household members. 

194



 

 3 

• The use of alcohol and illicit drugs would be prohibited. Random drug and alcohol tests would 
be performed by SOS. 

• Cooking and food preparation would be prohibited.  
• SOS would be required to keep the area in a clean and orderly condition.  
• Loitering would be prohibited. Participants and their vehicles would be required to leave the area 

by 7:00 a.m.  
• Loud music or other noise disturbances would be prohibited.   

 
These rules would be enforced by a program monitor provided by SOS. Failure to follow the rules 
would result in immediate expulsion from the program. SOS would supply each participant with a plac-
ard to be displayed in the vehicle window indicating authorizing to park overnight in a designated space. 
The SOS monitor would check-in participants and direct anyone other than an approved participant to 
leave the premises during program hours. Each morning, the monitor would ensure that program partici-
pants leave the premises by 7:00 a.m. Additionally, SOS would provide the Police Department, on a 
weekly basis at minimum, an updated list of the license plate numbers and driver’s license numbers of 
authorized participants, as well as the names of the registered household members for each vehicle. To 
further assure security, SOS would maintain an alarm system with two cameras: one on the front porch 
of the shelter with a view of the designated spaces, and one focused on the shelter’s back yard. Partici-
pants in the Safe Parking program would not have access to the shelter during the program hours. SOS 
would provide a portable sanitation facility (including a sink) in the back yard of the shelter for the ex-
clusive use of program participants. This facility would be cleaned daily. It would be locked during the 
day and only opened during program hours. 
 
GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY ( Not Applicable to this Project)  
The project site is designated as “Public Facility” in the General Plan, the purpose of which is to provide 
for public and quasi-public uses of all kinds, including emergency shelters. General Plan policies appli-
cable to the project are set forth below: 
 

Policy 5.3: Continue to address the special needs of persons with disabilities, including developmen-
tal disabilities, through provision of supportive housing, accessibility grants, zoning for group hous-
ing, universal design, and procedures for reasonable accommodation. 
 
Policy 5.4: Work cooperatively with the County and other applicable organizations to address val-
ley-wide special housing needs, such as housing for agricultural workers and the homeless, and in-
cluding transitional housing and emergency shelters. 

 
The proposed Safe Parking program is consistent with Housing Element policies addressing special 
needs groups.  
 
DEVELOPMENT CODE CONSISTENCY ( Not Applicable to this Project) 
Use: In order to comply with State law, the City amended the Development Code in 2014 to identify 
emergency shelters having fifteen beds or fewer as a permitted use, meaning that use permit is not re-
quired for such facilities on properties having the “Public” zoning designation. The existing emergency 
shelter has a capacity of 9-10 beds (it is currently occupied by 7 persons). Assuming that at two persons 
could be accommodated in participating vehicles, the proposed Safe Parking could be viewed as expand-
ing the emergency shelter capacity of the site to twenty beds. Based on this interpretation, it is staff’s 
view that use permit review is required. Since the program is untested and is intended to address a sea-
sonal need, staff is proposing that the Safe Parking program be processed as a Temporary Use Permit, 
pursuant to section 19.54.030 of the Development Code. 

195



 

 4 

Compliance with Quantified Standards: Because the project consists of the use of existing parking spac-
es, it does not raise any issues with respect to setbacks, coverage, Floor Area Ratio or other development 
standards applicable to new construction. 
 
Parking: The Safe Parking program would make use of five existing parking spaces. Because the use of 
the spaces for the program would be limited to the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m., parking impacts on 
other uses of the Police Station property, including the use of the Field of Dreams, would be limited.  
 
CONSISTENCY WITH OTHER  
CITY ORDINANCES/POLICIES ( Not Applicable to this Project) 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW ( Not Applicable to this Project)  
The proposed Safe Parking is exempt from environmental review pursuant to Section (b)(3) of Title 14 
of the California Code of Regulations, because it is a temporary use that involves no new construction 
that will not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment. 
 
DISCUSSION OF PROJECT ISSUES 
The primary issue associated with this project is that of compatibility with neighboring uses and other 
uses on the Police Station property, especially the Field of Dreams. While this new proposal provides for 
a seasonal increase in the effective capacity of the shelter, program participants will be monitored and 
supervised. In addition, the hours of the program—9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.—should help reduce potential 
conflicts with the use of the playing fields. However, it must be said that Field of Dreams users and resi-
dents of the area already report issues related to the presence of the shelter, including vandalism, petty 
theft, and unwanted confrontations. (See attached incident map submitted by a resident of the area.) In 
speaking about this issue with the Police Department, it is the view of Planning staff that these issues 
mainly arise from the day services provided at the shelter, rather than the shelter residents, as the resi-
dents are screened and monitored, which is not the case with those seeking day services. That said, it is 
staff’s view that if the Safe Parking program is carefully managed, it should not add to the issues associ-
ated with the day services program because, as with the shelter residents, participants will be screened 
and monitored. Requirements intended to ensure that the program does not create compatibility issues 
include the following: 
 

• On-site check-in, check-out, and supervision by a program monitor. 
• Screening of participants, including drug testing. 
• The use of alcohol and illicit drugs would be prohibited. 
• Random drug and alcohol tests would be performed by SOS. 
• Prohibitions on cooking, food preparation, and loud music.  
• Regular site maintenance and clean-up.  
• Loitering is prohibited. Participants and their vehicles would be required to leave the area every 

day by 7:00 a.m. 
• Ongoing reporting and coordination with the Police Department. 

 
On a separate track, Planning staff and the Police Department will work with SOS to address the issues 
raised regarding their day services programs. On a related matter, the Police Chief has noted that if the 
Safe Parking program is implemented, restrictions on camping overnight in other public places within 
city limits will be strictly enforced, as otherwise the provision of the program could lead to overnight 
parking in other areas of the city. 
 
 

196



 

 5 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve a Temporary Use Permit authorizing the pro-
posed Safe Parking program for a four-month period, based on the attached findings and subject to the 
recommended conditions of approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments 
1. Draft Findings of Project Approval 
2. Draft Conditions of Approval 
3. Draft MOU 
4. SOS Submittal 
5. Incident Map (neighbor submittal) 
 
 
cc: Bret Sackett, Police Chief 
 
 Safe Parking Program Email List 
 

Bill Spencer 
319 First Street West 
Sonoma, CA 
 
Steve Weisiger 
227 First Street West 
Sonoma, CA 
 
Kathy Reilly 
217 First Street West 
Sonoma, CA 
 
Denise Ewings 
217 First Street West 
Sonoma, CA 
 
Gia Ghilarducci 
c/o Depot Hotel 
241 First Street West 
Sonoma, CA 

 

197



 

 6 

 
DRAFT 

City of Sonoma Planning Commission  
FINDINGS OF TEMPORARY USE PERMIT APPROVAL 

Safe Parking Program 
151 First Street West 

 
November 10, 2016 

 
Based on substantial evidence in the record, including but not limited to the initial study and staff report, and upon consideration 
of all testimony received in the course of the public review, including the public review, the City of Sonoma Planning 
Commission finds and declares as follows: 
 
1. The proposed use is consistent with the General Plan, in that emergency shelters and services are allowable uses in the 

“Public” land use designation.  
 
2. The proposed use is allowed with a conditional Use Permit within the applicable zoning district and complies with all 

applicable standards and regulations of this Development Code, because emergency shelters of 16 or more beds are 
identified as a conditionally-permitted use in the “Public” zone and because, as a temporary use that involves no new 
construction, it does not raise any issues of consistency with the quantified standards of the Development Code appli-
cable to new development. 

 
3. The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed use are compatible with the existing and future 

land uses in the vicinity, because: 
 

A. The approval of the Safe Parking Program is limited to five parking spaces, with a four-month term that au-
tomatically expires on March 31, 2017. 

B. The conditions of approval include requirements for client screening, on-site monitoring, limitations on 
hours, reporting and coordination with the Police Department, and other measures intended to ensure safety 
and compatibility. 

 
4. The proposed use will not impair the architectural integrity and character of the zoning district in which it is to be lo-

cated, in that the safe parking program is a temporary use that makes use of an existing parking lot and does not in-
volve the development of any permanent structures. 

 
 
 
 

198



 

 7 

 
FINAL 

 
City of Sonoma Planning Commission  

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR TEMPORARY USE PERMIT 
Safe Parking Program 
151 First Street West 

 
November 10, 2016 

 
1. This Temporary Use Permit is granted for a four-month period, beginning on December 1, 2016, and terminating on 

March 31, 2017. 
 
 Enforcement Responsibility: Planning Director 
 Timing: Term of Temporary Use Permit 
 
2. The Safe Parking program shall be operated and managed by Sonoma Overnight Support (SOS) under a Memorandum 

of Understanding (MOU), the terms of which shall be subject to the review and approval of the City Council. The 
MOU shall address, at a minimum, the following: 

 
a. The program shall be limited to the use of five designated parking spaces, selected by the City, in proximity to 

the emergency shelter. The use of the designated parking spaces shall be limited to 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. 
b. SOS shall maintain liability insurance, of an amount satisfactory to the City Council, naming the City and the 

Field of Dreams organization as additional insured. 
c. Screening procedures, subject to the review and approval of the City, shall be adopted and implemented on a 

consistent basis, applicable to all prospective clients. As part of the screening process, SOS shall check all ap-
plicants, including all household members, against the State-wide Megan’s Law database. Any person found to 
be on the database shall be disqualified from the program. Screening procedures shall include drug testing. Par-
ticipants shall be screened with a preference for women and children, City residents, and seniors.  

d. Regular reporting to the Police Department identifying program participants and their vehicles. 
e. Loitering is prohibited. Participants and their vehicles are required to leave the Safe Parking area every day by 

7:00 a.m. 
f. Due to the security requirements necessary to protect their safety, battered women shall not be placed in the 

program but instead shall be referred to specialized facilities that are set up to ensure client safety in those cir-
cumstances. 

g. SOS shall refer program participants to applicable support services and an SOS caseworker shall work with 
them to seek permanent housing. 

h. The Safe Parking program shall be fully documented by SOS, to include client demographics, and reports of us-
age shall be provided to the City on a monthly basis. 

i. SOS shall provide a program monitor who shall check-in and check-out program participants each day. At a 
minimum, the monitor shall be on-site from 9 p.m. to midnight and from 6 a.m. until all program participants 
have left the parking lot. The program monitor shall be available on-call at all other times in which the desig-
nated parking spaces are occupied by program participants. 

j. Noise control measures. 
k. The regular clean-up of the site shall be required. 
l. The provision and maintenance of a sanitation facility, with sink, shall be required. 
m. Other security measures as deemed necessary by the City. 
n. Provisions for the immediate termination of the use in the event that the City finds that the terms of the Tempo-

rary Use Permit or the MOU have been substantially breached. 
o. Other management requirements as deemed necessary by the City Council. 

 
 Enforcement Responsibility: Planning Director/Police Chief/City Council 
 Timing: Prior to commencement of the use/ongoing 
 
3. A follow-up review on the operation of the Safe Parking program, to include neighbor outreach, shall be conducted no 

later than two weeks following the termination of the Temporary Use Permit. 
 

199



 

 8 

 Enforcement Responsibility: Planning Director/Police Chief 
 Timing: No later than two weeks following the termination of the Temporary Use Permit 

200



1 | P a g e  
 

Draft  
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for  

Pilot Safe Parking Program 
 
This Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) is made as of [December 1, 2016] by 
and between the City of Sonoma (“City”) and Sonoma Overnight Support, Inc 
(“SOS”).  
 
Whereas, a lack of affordable housing in the City and in Sonoma Valley results in a 
number of individuals and families living in their vehicles; and  
 
Whereas, SOS and City are concerned with the safety, health and welfare of the 
community and wish to safeguard private property and provide a safe and sanitary 
place for people to park their vehicles on a short-term basis while they transition to 
more permanent housing; and 
 
Whereas, City is willing to provide five (5) parking spaces overnight on its parking lot 
next to The Haven (SOS emergency shelter located at 151 First Street West, 
Sonoma) (the “Premises”), pursuant to a pilot “Safe Parking Program” (the 
“Program”) under the management of SOS. SOS shall support and oversee the 
overnight parking spaces, at no cost to City, through a commitment of expertise, 
policies/procedures, staffing, and other resources including, without limitation, 
technical assistance and guidance from Catholic Charities of the Diocese of Santa 
Rosa (“CCDSR”) which has implemented similar Safe Parking Programs in other 
areas of Sonoma County.  
      
Now, therefore, in consideration of the covenants and conditions contained herein, 
the City and SOS agree as follows:  
 
1. Term: The term of this MOU shall commence on [December 1, 2016], and 

continue until March 31, 2017. Notwithstanding the above, either party may 
terminate this MOU for any reason upon 10 days’ written notice to the other 
party, such notice to include the reason for termination.   

 
2. Breach of Agreement: Notwithstanding the term set forth in Section 1, if the 

City finds that the terms of the MOU have been substantially breached by SOS it 
may immediately terminate the MOU upon written notice to SOS documenting 
the breach of the agreement, provided that at SOS’ request, City shall meet with 
SOS to determine if SOS shall instead be allowed to cure the breach. 

 
3. Use of Parking Lot: Subject to the terms set forth below, SOS may use 5 

designated parking spaces (the “Designated Spaces”) between the hours of 
9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., 7 days per week for overnight parking by “Participants” 
in this Safe Parking Program. SOS shall provide adequate sanitation facilities for 
Participants as described in Section 8 below.  Some evenings there may be 
events at the Field of Dreams near the Premises, and Participants will need to 

201



2 | P a g e  
 

arrive at a later time. In that case, City shall notify SOS, who in turn shall notify 
the Participants to arrive at a later time. Participants shall stay at the Designated 
Spaces only. The SOS placard referred to in Section 6 shall be displayed at all 
times during Program hours on a Participant’s vehicle in a clearly visible manner. 
The City may modify Program hours and length of stay upon notification to SOS. 
SOS shall not authorize more than 5 vehicles to park at the Premises. SOS staff 
and representatives may enter the Premises as necessary for monitoring and 
enforcement activities. SOS shall mark or sign the Designated Spaces, in a 
manner approved by the City, to prevent vehicles other than those belonging to 
Participants from making use of them during Program hours.  SOS shall cordon 
off the Premises during Program hours, so that no vehicles other than those 
belonging to Participants or the City Police can enter the Premises during 
Program hours. 

 
4. Program Preference. Participants shall be screened by SOS with a preference 

for women and children, City residents, and seniors. 
 

5. Written Agreement with Users and Compliance with Rules Required: SOS 
shall only issue permits to Participants with whom SOS has made a prior written 
agreement to use a Designated Space for overnight parking. Each potential 
Participant shall be evaluated in advance by the SOS Case Manager. As part of 
such evaluation, alcohol and drug testing shall be performed and anyone who 
tests positive shall automatically be disqualified. The written agreement between 
SOS and each Participant shall, at a minimum, contain the following 
requirements:  

   
a) Every driver must have a valid driver’s license and current registration, and 

the Participant’s vehicle must be in working order. 
b) Each vehicle shall only be occupied by designated Participants and 

approved and registered household members. Guests are prohibited. No 
more than two adults shall be allowed in any vehicle. 

c) No alcohol or illicit drugs shall be contained in the vehicle or consumed on 
the Premises.  Random drug and alcohol tests shall be performed by SOS. 

d) Cooking or food preparation is prohibited on the Premises.  
e) Littering is prohibited. All trash shall be disposed of properly at another 

location and not on the Premises. However, at the City’s option a trash 
and/or recycling receptacle for use by Participants may be provided.  

f) Loitering is prohibited. Participants and their vehicles must leave the 
Premises every day at the end of Program hours. However, Participants who 
are also day clients of SOS may come back to use Haven services during 
normal Haven day client hours. 

g) With respect to sanitation needs, Participants (including household 
members) shall exclusively use the sanitation facilities provided by SOS as 
described in Section 8 during Program hours.   

h) No music may be played that is audible on the surrounding sidewalk, in 
surrounding buildings (including neighboring residences, the Haven, and the 
Police Station), on the Field of Dreams, or that is so loud as to disturb other 
Participants while in their Designated Spaces.   

i) Parking shall be limited to the Program hours and days specified above.  

202



3 | P a g e  
 

j) Participant(s) shall comply with SOS’s Good Neighbor Policy (Attachment 
“A”). 

k) Participants shall comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws 
rules and regulations and any other rules as outlined in the written 
agreement. 

l) Failure to follow all rules shall result in immediate termination and expulsion 
from the Program.   

 
6. Authorized, Permitted Vehicles Only: SOS shall use reasonable efforts, 

including overnight monitoring and (if necessary) volunteers on-site, to ensure 
that only one vehicle owned by a Participant is parked in the Participant’s 
Designated Space during Program hours. SOS shall give the City Police 
Department a list of the license plate numbers and driver’s license numbers of 
all authorized Participants, as well as the names of the registered household 
members for each vehicle and shall provide the Police Department with an 
updated list upon any change in authorized clients, associated household 
members, or vehicles. SOS shall also supply each Participant authorized to use 
a Designated Space with a placard to be displayed in the Participant’s vehicle 
window indicating that the Participant is authorized to park overnight in a 
Designated Space. The SOS overnight monitor shall direct anyone other than an 
approved Participant to leave the Premises during Program hours. 
 

7. Removal of Vehicles: Subject to the California Vehicle Code, upon notification 
by City, SOS shall remove any vehicle parked in a Designated Space after 7:00 
a.m., including but not limited to an abandoned and inoperable vehicle. Upon 
notification, SOS shall also remove any vehicle owned by a Participant that is 
parked anywhere on the Premises other than in a Designated Space, and any 
other unauthorized vehicle parked on the Premises, outside of Program hours.  

 
8. Other SOS Responsibilities:  

 
a. The SOS night monitor shall be on site to ensure appropriate behavior by 

Participants and compliance with the terms of the Program. The night 
monitor shall wake Participants at 6:00 a.m. each day, to give them time to 
get ready to leave, and to ensure they do leave, the Premises by 7:00 am. 

 
b. A case manager shall be assigned to the Program to perform the initial 

evaluation of Participants and to work with Participants to find alternative 
housing.  

 
c. SOS shall ensure that the Premises are kept in a clean and orderly manner.  
 
d. SOS shall provide a sanitation facility in the back yard of the Haven for the 

exclusive use of Program Participants including registered household 
members. This facility shall be equipped with a sink inside and shall be 
cleaned daily. The sanitation facility shall be locked during the day and only 
opened during Program hours (as such hours may be adjusted for Field of 
Dreams events). Entry to the area where the sanitation facility is located shall 
be limited to the front sidewalk of the Haven.  

203



4 | P a g e  
 

 
e. To help ensure appropriate behavior by Participants and others during 

Program hours, SOS shall maintain an alarm system with two cameras: one 
on the front porch of the Haven with a live stream view of the Designated 
Spaces, and one focused on the Haven’s back yard.  

 
9. Post-Program Evaluation: At least two weeks prior to March 31, 2017 

(expiration of the pilot Program), City and SOS agree that SOS, City 
Representatives including the Police Chief, and other stakeholders (homeless 
clients, leaders of the Field of Dreams and the dog park, and First Street 
neighbors) shall meet to review and evaluate the Program, its successes and 
areas for improvement, with a view to making a recommendation to the City 
Council regarding continuation of a safe parking program within City limits. 

 
10. Indemnification: To the full extent allowed by law, SOS shall defend (with 

counsel acceptable to City), indemnify and hold harmless City and  its officers, 
officials, agents and employees (collectively, Indemnitees) from and against any 
and all claims, demands, suits, actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory 
proceedings, civil penalties, fines, damages, costs, expenses (including without 
limitation reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of litigation), judgments or 
liabilities (collectively, “Liability”), of every nature arising out of or in connection 
with the Safe Parking Program at the Premises, including without limitation 
death, personal injury or property damage caused by or suffered by a 
Participant on or adjacent to the Premises; except such Liability resulting from 
the sole negligence or willful misconduct of Indemnitees. SOS shall provide a 
“Certificate of Liability Insurance” naming City, its officers, officials, agents and 
employees as additional insureds, in form and content acceptable to City, prior 
to commencement of the Program at the Premises. The defense and indemnity 
obligations of this MOU are undertaken in addition to, and shall not be limited in 
any way, by SOS’s insurance obligations, and shall survive expiration or the 
earlier termination of this MOU.  SOS shall notify City immediately in the event of 
any accident, damage or injury arising out of or in connection with this MOU.  

 
11. Compliance with Laws: SOS shall fully comply with all applicable local, state 

and federal laws, statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations relating to the 
Participants’ use of the Designated Spaces. 

 
12. Condition of Property and Improvements: City makes no representations or 

warranties regarding the suitability of the Designated Space for overnight 
sleeping or regarding conditions of the improvements in the Premises.    

 
13. Alterations: SOS shall not alter or make improvements to the Designated 

Spaces, the parking lot, or any portion of the Premises without the express 
written approval of the City.   

 
14. Governing Law: This MOU is governed by the laws of the State of California.   

 
15. Whole Agreement: This MOU constitutes the entire agreement between the 

parties related to the use of the Premises and the Designated Spaces and 

204



5 | P a g e  
 

supersedes all prior written and verbal agreements, representations, promises or 
understandings between the parties related thereto.   

 
16. Amendments: Any amendments to this MOU shall be in writing and executed 

by both parties.   
 

17. Severability: If any provision of this MOU is held to be invalid or unenforceable 
with respect to any party, the remainder of this MOU or the application of such 
provision to persons other than those as to whom it is held invalid or 
unenforceable, shall not be affected and each provision of this MOU shall be 
valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.   

 
18. No Waiver: The waiver by either party of any term, covenant, agreement or 

condition contained in this MOU shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any 
subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant, agreement or 
condition contained in this MOU.    

 
19. Authority of Signatories. The signatories to this MOU represent and warrant 

that they are authorized to sign this MOU on behalf of, and thereby to bind, the 
parties for whom they are signing. 

 
20. Notices. Any notices required to be given pursuant to this MOU shall be in 

writing and may be delivered personally, by U.S. mail, facsimile or email, to the 
addresses below or such other addresses as a party may subsequently provide:  

 
a. To City:  City of Sonoma 

1, The Plaza 
Sonoma, CA 95476 
Attention:  City Manager                                        

 
b. To SOS: Sonoma Overnight Support 

151 First Street West 
Sonoma, CA 95476 
Attention:  Executive Director  

 
21. Personal delivery shall be effective immediately. Certified or registered mail, 

return receipt requested, shall be deemed delivered on receipt if delivery is 
confirmed by a return receipt.  Facsimile and email delivery shall be deemed 
delivered on transmittal, absent a message to sender indicating a failure of 
delivery. 

 
22. No Third Party Beneficiaries. The parties hereto do not intend to create, and 

nothing in this MOU shall be construed to create, any benefit or right in any third 
party. 

 
23. Parties Not Co-Venturers. Nothing in this MOU is intended to or shall establish 

the parties hereto as partners, co-venturers, or principal and agent with one 
another. 

 

205



6 | P a g e  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City and SOS have executed this MOU as of the last date 
set forth below.   
 
 

    City of Sonoma 
 
Date: __________________                                         By: 
__________________________________ 
                                                                                             [Signature, Title] 
 
                                                                                        
Sonoma Overnight Support 
 
Date:  __________________                                       By:  _________________________   
                                                                                            [Signature, Title]   

206



 

 

TO:  Sonoma City Council  
 
FROM: Kathy King, Executive Director, Sonoma Overnight Support  
 
RE: SOS Safe Parking pilot program update  
 
October 13, 2016 
 
Sonoma Overnight Support had proposed that the City of Sonoma allow for overnight use of five 
spaces in The Haven parking lot or the Council parking lot for people currently living in their 
cars. This program, called Safe Parking, would be overseen and monitored by SOS. 
 
The City Council voted on September ___ , 2016  to approve the program through March 2017.  
 
Safe Parking will give some of the homeless people who are living in their cars a safe and 
controlled place to park at night. Every driver must have a valid driver’s license, current car 
registration and the car must in be running condition. The occupants must sign an agreement 
with SOS to adhere to the Safe Parking. (See attached) 
 
The SOS evening monitor will be on site to ensure appropriate behavior (e.g., no alcohol / drug 
use, no cooking, no littering) from 9 pm to midnight. Each week, SOS will give the police a list of 
the license plate numbers of the cars that are authorized to park overnight. There would be 
signage on the five cars to indicate that they have the permission to park overnight. The monitor 
would ask anyone who is not approved to leave the area.   
 
Random drug/and alcohol testing will be done of those living in the cars. If they test positive, 
they will be asked to leave the premises and not return.  
 
The SOS case manager will work with the Safe Parking participants to provide them with 
referrals to shelters and to help them find permanent housing.  
 
SOS has been tracking the clients who use the SOS Day Services to determine who is sleeping 
in cars. Currently SOS has recorded 18 adults, of whom at least 50% are over the age of 50. Of 
the 18, 10 are women.  SOS will give priority to women during the vetting process. 
 
This pilot program will follow the protocols of the well-run Safe Parking program run by Catholic 
Charities in Santa Rosa. Catholic Charities has agreed to will help SOS with staff training about 
the program and how to administer it safely and effectively. 
.  
SOS prefers to have the Safe Parking program in The Haven parking lot as it would be more 
cost-effective for our professional staff to monitor the participants while on duty in The HAVEN. 
 
SOS would put a sanitation station in the back yard of The HAVEN for use by the Safe Parking 
participants. It would have a sink inside. It would be cleaned daily by HAVEN resident 
volunteers who already pick up the garbage in the Field of Dreams and outside the dog park 
once a week as part of their weekly chores. The sanitation station would be locked during the 
day and opened only from 9 pm to 7 am.  
 

207



 

 

 
If the approved Safe Parking site is behind the police station, SOS would provide the sanitation 
station and additional garbage cans there and would do daily clean-up of the area. 
 
The Haven has an ADT alarm system with two cameras – one on the front porch with live-
stream view of the 5 parking spots in front of The HAVEN and one focused on the backyard. 
  
Between midnight to 6 am, there will be a designated person at the Haven who will phone the 
on-call staff person if they see or hear anyone breaking the Safe Parking rules. The on-call staff 
member lives five minutes from The Haven and can quickly be there to assess the situation and, 
if necessary, call the police. We make every effort to resolve the problems in order to cut down 
on police time.  
  
At 6 am, the site monitor will wake up the Safe Parking participants to make sure they leave the 
parking lot by 7 am. 
 
Once the pilot project is over in March, SOS executive director and staff will meet with Police 
Chief and other stakeholders (homeless clients, the Field of Dreams and dog park leaders, and 
local neighbors) to make recommendations for program improvements.  
 
 
Regarding pursuing other potential sites in the faith community for Safe Parking: 
 
Kathy King met on Sept. 21 with Peadar Dalton, leader of Sonoma Ministerial Association. He 
stated that many of the clergy who belong to the Association do not have churches or if they 
do there are schools on the property which prohibit parking overnight. He does in theory support 
the program and has written a letter of support to the City Council. 
 
SOS has already contacted 5 local churches with only one church within the city limits seen as a 
possibility. The pastor is exploring	the	possibilities	of	Safe	Parking.	A	meeting	of	the	Parish	
Council	is	scheduled	at	which	time	the	members	will	discuss	the	program.	If	they	are	in	favor,	
the	program	will	then	be	brought	to	the	entire	parish	to	seek	their	agreement	to	host	the	Safe	
Parking	program. 

208



209



 

 7 

 
FINAL 

 
City of Sonoma Planning Commission  

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR TEMPORARY USE PERMIT 
Safe Parking Program 
151 First Street West 

 
November 10, 2016 

 
1. This Temporary Use Permit is granted for a four-month period, beginning on December 1, 2016, and terminating on 

March 31, 2017. 
 
 Enforcement Responsibility: Planning Director 
 Timing: Term of Temporary Use Permit 
 
2. The Safe Parking program shall be operated and managed by Sonoma Overnight Support (SOS) under a Memorandum 

of Understanding (MOU), the terms of which shall be subject to the review and approval of the City Council. The 
MOU shall address, at a minimum, the following: 

 
a. The program shall be limited to the use of five designated parking spaces, selected by the City, in proximity to 

the emergency shelter. The use of the designated parking spaces shall be limited to 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. 
b. SOS shall maintain liability insurance, of an amount satisfactory to the City Council, naming the City and the 

Field of Dreams organization as additional insured. 
c. Screening procedures, subject to the review and approval of the City, shall be adopted and implemented on a 

consistent basis, applicable to all prospective clients. As part of the screening process, SOS shall check all ap-
plicants, including all household members, against the State-wide Megan’s Law database. Any person found to 
be on the database shall be disqualified from the program. Screening procedures shall include drug testing. Par-
ticipants shall be screened with a preference for women and children, City residents, and seniors.  

d. Regular reporting to the Police Department identifying program participants and their vehicles. 
e. Loitering is prohibited. Participants and their vehicles are required to leave the Safe Parking area every day by 

7:00 a.m. 
f. Due to the security requirements necessary to protect their safety, battered women shall not be placed in the 

program but instead shall be referred to specialized facilities that are set up to ensure client safety in those cir-
cumstances. 

g. SOS shall refer program participants to applicable support services and an SOS caseworker shall work with 
them to seek permanent housing. 

h. The Safe Parking program shall be fully documented by SOS, to include client demographics, and reports of us-
age shall be provided to the City on a monthly basis. 

i. SOS shall provide a program monitor who shall check-in and check-out program participants each day. At a 
minimum, the monitor shall be on-site from 9 p.m. to midnight and from 6 a.m. until all program participants 
have left the parking lot. The program monitor shall be available on-call at all other times in which the desig-
nated parking spaces are occupied by program participants. 

j. Noise control measures. 
k. The regular clean-up of the site shall be required. 
l. The provision and maintenance of a sanitation facility, with sink, shall be required. 
m. Other security measures as deemed necessary by the City. 
n. Provisions for the immediate termination of the use in the event that the City finds that the terms of the Tempo-

rary Use Permit or the MOU have been substantially breached. 
o. Other management requirements as deemed necessary by the City Council. 

 
 Enforcement Responsibility: Planning Director/Police Chief/City Council 
 Timing: Prior to commencement of the use/ongoing 
 
3. A follow-up review on the operation of the Safe Parking program, to include neighbor outreach, shall be conducted no 

later than two weeks following the termination of the Temporary Use Permit. 
 

210



 

 8 

 Enforcement Responsibility: Planning Director/Police Chief 
 Timing: No later than two weeks following the termination of the Temporary Use Permit 

211



Wednesday,	November	16,	2016	at	2:13:09	PM	Pacific	Standard	Time

Page	1	of	3

Subject: Help	--Safe	Overnight	Parking	Program	--	Safe	for	Whom
Date: Thursday,	November	10,	2016	at	8:33:56	AM	Pacific	Standard	Time
From: Denise	Ewings
To: David	Goodison

Hello	David,
	
Thank	you	for	forwarding	the	SOS	guidelines	to	me	and	your	prompt	response.		The
more	I	learn	the	more	uncomfortable	I	am	with	this	Program.		Below	is	an	email	I	sent
to	the	Planning	Commission	re	tonight’s	meeTng.
	
By	the	way,	even	though	I	was	cc’d	on	your	email	re	this	Program,	I	never	received	a
copy	from	you(?)
	
Best,
	
Denise	Ewings
	
From:	Denise	Ewings	
Sent:	Wednesday,	November	9,	2016	11:06	PM
To:	'chrisTnamorris@sonomacity.org'	<chrisTnamorris@sonomacity.org>
Subject:	Help	--Safe	Overnight	Parking	Program	--	Safe	for	Whom
	
Hello	ChrisTna,
	
Would	you	be	so	kind	as	to	email	the	City	Manager	and	Planning	Commission	this
email.		It	is	crucial	informaTon	re	the	11/10	Planning	Commission	MeeTng.
	
City	Manager,	Michael	Coleman,	James	Cribb,	Mary	Sek,	Chip	Robertson,	Ron
Wellander,	Bill	Willers,	Robert	McDonald:
	
Thank	you	for	taking	the	Tme	to	read	my	plea.
	
At	a	recent	City	Council	meeTng,	Kathy	King	of	SOS	assured	us,	the	neighbors,	this

212



Page	2	of	3

Program	we	would	be	safe:		“These	are		people	from	Sonoma	who	are	someone’s
brother,	sister,	cousin.	There	would	be	no	guns,	alcohol	or	drugs	allowed.”		My
quesTon	is	why	aren’t	their	own	families	embracing	them	in	their	homes?
	
As	part	of	the	background	check,	I	asked	David	Goodison	if	the	Megan’s	Law	website
would	be	checked	for	sexual	predators.		Following	is	what	Kathy	King,	SOS	responded:
	
“David,
In	the	survey	that	we	fill	out	for	HUD.		We	ask	if	they	are	on	probaTon	or	parole	and
request	contact	informaTon	of	the	probaTon/parole	officer,	and	We	also	ask	for	a	list
of	medicaTons,	which	gives	more	insight	into	each	person.		We	ask	about	work
history,	income,	and	income	sources.
We	do	not	allow	children	at	the	HAVEN	under	school	age.		If	in	school	they	must	be	a
members	of	family	resident.	
We	don’t	allow	volunteers	under	the	age	of	18	either.
No	Children	visitors	either.
The	residents	have	no	contact	with	children	at	all.
The	Megans	law	does	not	apply
Kathy”
	
They	would	allow	ex-convicts	and	parolees?		No	guns,	drugs	and	alcohol	would	be
allowed?		And	this	is	supposed	to	make	feel	safe?		Would	you	feel	safe?		Megan’s	Law
very	definitely	applies,	as	it	restricts	sexual	predators	from	within	1,000’	of	a	school.	
Here	they	would	be	within	50’	of	a	sojball	field	and	accessible	to	Arnold	Field’s
overflow	student	parking.	
	
Possibly	an	18	or	19	year-old	volunteer	would	be	supervising/checking	them	in?		Does
anyone	really	think	an	ex-con	is	going	to	take	direcTon	from	a	teenager	or	even	a
polite	adult?		If	there	is	a	problem,	they	are	to	call	another	volunteer	who	lives	five
minutes	away	and	not	bother	the	police(?)	No	record,	no	accountability.	
	
My	home		is	approximately	50’	from	here.		I	reTred	recently	and	was	hoping	to	be	in
the	process	of	transiToning	to	Sonoma	full-Tme.		As	a	widow	living	alone,	this

213



Page	3	of	3

program	terrifies	me.		I	will	not	feel	safe	sleeping	in	my	own	home,	and	I	will	not	feel
safe	leaving	it	vacant	for	four	months	hoping	this	Parking	Program	implodes.	That
might	mean	some	innocent	person/child	fell	vicTm	to	a	felony.		I	have	four	law
enforcement	officers	in	my	immediate	family;		all	are	expressing	concern	about	this
Program.	
	
We	neighbors	really	do	understand	this	is	a	heartbreaking	situaTon.		Just	hearing
Kathy	King	speak,	you	know	it	all	comes	from	the	heart.		The	once	Haven	now	really	a
homeless	shelter	with	drop-in	services	for	food,	showers	and	laundry	appears	to	be
operaTng	outside	of	its	charter,	because	this	problem	is	so	much	greater.
	
Recently,	the	headlines	and	arTcle	in	the	Index	Tribune	stated	“City	Council	puts	a
moratorium	on	new	VacaTon	Rental	applicaTons	if	they	see	an	immediate	threat	to
the	safety	and	welfare	of	the	public”.		Really?		A	VacaTon	Rental	an	immediate	threat
to	the	safety	and	welfare	of	the	public?	and	not	a	growing	homeless	enclave	of
possible	ex-convicts	and	parolees?	I	never	thought	the	city	I	have	loved	all	my	life
would	be	the	enTty	that	would	treat	me	as	if	my	life	doesn’t	mamer.
	
I	beg	you,	will	someone	with	some	common	sense	please	put	a	stop	to	this.	
	
Very	respecnully,
	
Denise	Ewings
217	First	Street	West
Sonoma
	
	
	
	
	

214



215



216



217



218



219



220



 

 

City of Sonoma 

City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
7C 
 
11/21/2016 

 

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact  

Carol Giovanatto, City Manager 

Jeffrey A. Walter, City Attorney 

Agenda Item Title 

Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action on the Approval of a 25-Year Lease for the 
Sebastiani Theater and Related Documents 

Summary 

Under a 25-year lease, the City and/or its Community Development Agency leased the Sebastiani 
Theater for $3,000 per month.  Roger Rhoten subleased the theater paying the City for one-half of 
the rental obligation and a portion of the other costs incurred in leasing the premises.  That 25-year 
lease ended in 2011 and since that time the City has been renting the theater on a month-to-month 
basis, while the landlord has been annually increasing the rent to the point where the monthly rental 
costs are approximately $5,318.  Over the last several years, the Sonoma Valley Theater 
Foundation has been in negotiations with the City and the landlord for the purpose of agreeing to a 
new 25-year lease between the City and the landlord, with the Sebastiani Theater Foundation 
subleasing the premises from the City under agreed-upon terms and conditions.  A 25-year lease 
(renewable for an additional 25 years at the option of both the City and Sebastiani Theater 
Foundation) has been negotiated, along with associated other documents.  They are being 
presented to the Council for its consideration and approval. 

Recommended Council Action 

Adopt the attached Resolution Approving (1) the Standard Industrial Commercial Multi-Tenant 
Lease-Net; (2) the Addendum thereto; (3) the Right of First Refusal Agreement Between the City, 
the Sebastiani Theater Foundation and the Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc.; (4) the 
Indemnification and Reimbursement Agreement Between the City and the Sebastiani Theater 
Foundation; and (5) the Sublease Between the City and the Sebastiani Theater Foundation and 
Make Findings that said actions are exempt from CEQA under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301. 

Alternative Actions 

1.  Decline to enter into the lease and related documents 

2.  Modify the lease documents and approve the modifications 

Financial Impact 

Please see financial analysis prepared by City Manager attached hereto as Exhibit G 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Attachments: 

Exhibit A:  Resolution Approving Lease Documents and Making CEQA Findings  

Exhibit B:  Standard Industrial-Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease dated December 1, 2016 

Exhibit C:  Addendum to Lease 

 

C:/JAW/Sonoma/Agenda Item Summary (Sebastiani Theater) 11-17-16.doc 

 

221



Agenda Item 7C 

 

 

Exhibit D:  Sublease dated December 1, 2016 

Exhibit E:  Indemnification and Reimbursement Agreement dated December 1, 2016 

Exhibit F:  Right of First Refusal Agreement dated December 1, 2016 

Exhibit G:  Financial Charts Showing Liability 

cc:    Michael Woods; Darryl Bellach; Ryan Snow 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C:/JAW/Sonoma/Agenda Item Summary (Sebastiani Theater) 11-17-16.doc 

222



1 
C:/JAW/Sonoma/Supplement Agenda Item Report (Sebastiani Theater) 11-17-16.doc 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT 

 

Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action on the Approval of a 

25-Year Lease for the Sebastiani Theater and Related Documents 

 

For Council Meeting of November 21, 2016 

              

 

BACKGROUND 

 

In 1986, the City entered into a 25-year Lease of the Sebastiani Theater building.  Lease 

payments were $3,000 per month and stayed at that level for the full 25-year lease period.  Roger 

Rhoten subleased the theater property from the City and paid half of those lease payments and 

other monthly costs along with the City.  In 2011, the lease expired and since that time, the City 

and the owner of the building, the Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc. (“owner” or “landlord”) 

have been attempting to negotiate another long-term lease.   

 

Since 2011, when the original 25-year lease expired, the City has been leasing (and Roger 

Rhoten has been subleasing) the theater on a month-to-month basis.  Each year during that time, 

the landlord has increased the monthly rental payment such that as of the present time, the 

monthly rent is $5,318.  The new rental agreement that is before the Council on November 21, 

2016, sets the beginning rent at $5,425 per month. 

 

In the meantime, Roger Rhoten, who has operated the theater for many years, has indicated that 

at some point in the future he is going to remove himself from operational duties at the theater.  

As such, new operators will need to be secured.  In 2007, the Sebastiani Theater Foundation, Inc. 

was formed to provide for a more long-lasting and sustainable effort to upgrade, improve, 

operate and maintain the theater for movies and the performing arts.  The Sebastiani Theater 

Foundation has a Board of Directors, the current members of which have expressed strong 

commitments to operating the theater, fundraising and generating sufficient monies to not only 

defray more than 50% of the lease obligations, but also to construct ADA improvements at the 

theater and engage in significant fundraising activities in order to generate the monies that will 

allow the Foundation to operate the theater for many years to come. 

 

Consequently, a key component to the negotiations between the City and the owner of the 

Sebastiani Theater was and is the involvement of the Sebastiani Theater Foundation (“STF”).  

The documents described below and which the Council is being asked to approve demonstrate 

that the STF is agreeing to absorb more than 50% of the Lease obligations for monthly rent, 

insurance, taxes and other monetary obligations, as well as construct ADA improvements and 

take responsibility for the theater’s operations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

223



2 
C:/JAW/Sonoma/Supplement Agenda Item Report (Sebastiani Theater) 11-17-16.doc 

 

THE LEASE DOCUMENTS 

 

The Lease and Addendum Between the City and the Owner (Exhibits B and C) 

 

The proposed Lease of the Sebastiani Theater Building has an initial term of 25 years, renewable 

one time for an additional 25 years, provided that both the City and the STF agree to the 

extension.  Thus, the Lease has a potential term of 50 years.1 

 

The beginning base monthly rent (“Base Rent”) under the Lease is $5,425 which is adjusted 

upwards every year by 2% per annum. 

 

This is a triple-net Lease and, therefore, other than (a) remedying a water leak in the basement, 

(b) preventing water from intruding through the wall of the south stage exit, (c) making operable 

and sealing the fire hatches on the roof, and (d) maintaining exterior walls, which are the 

landlord’s responsibilities, the City assumes any and all financial obligations under the Lease, 

including paying property taxes attributable to the theater building, insurance, common area 

maintenance and repair costs, utilities, and so on.  In addition, the Lease requires the City to 

maintain the theater in good order, condition and repair, including its equipment and facilities, 

plumbing, fire sprinklers and alarms, HVAC equipment, electrical facilities, interior walls and 

interior surfaces of exterior walls, ceilings, windows, doors and floors, among other things.   

 

The City must carry insurance that covers the building and names the landlord as an additional 

insured. 

 

The Lease makes the City liable for the building’s failure to comply with the Americans with 

Disabilities Act (“ADA”), and its State counterpart and all regulations promulgated thereunder.  

The Lease causes the City to indemnity the landlord for the City’s failure to comply with its 

ADA obligations.  Under paragraph 56 of the Addendum (Exhibit C), the City is responsible for 

completing the necessary ADA improvements by no later than 48 months after December 1, 

2016.  However, if within 24 months after December 1, 2016, the City (actually, the STF as 

sublessee) is unable, in the STF’s  or City’s determination, to raise sufficient funds to pay for the 

ADA improvements, the City and/or STF have the right to terminate the Lease upon 120 days 

advance notice to the landlord which notice must be delivered to the landlord no later than 30 

days after the second-year anniversary of the commencement date.2 

 

                                                           
1 Under paragraph 51 of the Addendum, if the County exempts the Sebastiani Theater from real property taxes 

provided that the original term of the Lease is at least 35 years, then the parties have agreed to change the initial 

term from 25 years to 35 years.  However, the County must come to this determination before December 1, 2017, in 

order for the initial Lease term to be expanded to 35 years. 

 
2 Although in this part of the staff report, we describe the lessee’s obligations as being those of the City’s, by force 

of the Sublease and Indemnification and Reimbursement Agreement which the Foundation is signing, the 

Foundation is assuming all of the City’s obligations under the Lease, except for the City’s agreement to pay 50% of 

the monthly rent payments, taxes, insurance and ADA improvements (up to $300,000).  In the Sublease, the Lease 

between the City and the owner of the building is called the “Master Lease.” 

224



3 
C:/JAW/Sonoma/Supplement Agenda Item Report (Sebastiani Theater) 11-17-16.doc 

 

The Addendum also grants to the City (actually, the STF), the right to construct a storage 

structure in the rear of the theater.  Neither the additional storage structure nor any ADA 

improvements will result in the rent being increased because of the potential addition of new 

square footage resulting from these improvements. 

 

In the event that the City defaults under the Lease, the landlord retains the rights and remedies 

set forth in Section 13 of the Lease, including the landlord having the right to pursue the City for 

the amount of the Lease payments due for the balance of the Lease remaining to be paid after the 

date of the breach, reduced by any rent or other consideration that the landlord could have 

obtained through the re-letting of the theater to a third party with the exercise of commercially 

reasonable due diligence.  See, Exhibit B, Section 13.2(a) for further details. 

 

Sublease (Exhibit D) and Indemnification and Reimbursement Agreement (Exhibit F) 

 

Under the Sublease proposed to be entered into between the STF and the City, the STF 

essentially agrees to step into the shoes of the City as lessee under the Master Lease and perform 

all of the duties the City agrees to perform under the Master Lease.  However, the STF’s 

obligation to perform all of the City’s duties under the Master Lease is qualified as follows: 

 

(1) The STF is required to only pay 50% of the monthly Base Rent and 50% of the 

real property taxes.  In addition, under these documents, the City has agreed to reimburse the 

STF for 50% of its annual insurance costs.  All other Rent owed to the landlord under the Master 

Lease must be paid by the STF. 

 

Furthermore, under the Indemnification and Reimbursement Agreement (Exhibit F), the City 

has agreed (at Section 3) to pay to the STF 50% (not to exceed $300,000) of the costs incurred 

by the STF in designing, permitting, constructing and inspecting the ADA improvements that the 

STF must construct as part of its Sublease obligations.  Moreover, the City need not pay its share 

of these ADA costs unless and until the ADA work has been 100% completed. 

 

Under these documents, the STF assumes 100% responsibility for paying all operational costs, 

including sewage and utility charges, costs of equipment and supplies, film rentals, salaries and 

benefits of employees, costs associated with monitoring the premise’s fire sprinkler system, 

common area maintenance expenses, and the like. 

 

Furthermore, the STF indemnifies the City for any and all liability arising out of the STF’s 

occupancy and use of the theater building, as well as any liability arising out of its performance 

or nonperformance under the various agreements into which it enters with the City pertinent to 

the Sebastiani Theater building. 

 

Right of First Refusal Agreement (Exhibit F) 

 

This agreement is entered into between the City, the owner and the STF.  Under this agreement, 

the owner, upon receiving a bona fide offer from a third party to purchase the entire property 

(which includes the theater, the real estate office and the bar), must give notice of the offer to the 

City and STF; and STF, first, has 7 seven days within which to accept the offer and agree to 

225



4 
C:/JAW/Sonoma/Supplement Agenda Item Report (Sebastiani Theater) 11-17-16.doc 

 

purchase the building under the terms and conditions specified in the third party’s offer.  If the 

STF does not agree within the 7 days to accept the offer, the City has the option of accepting it 

within 14 days after it receives notice of same.  There is no requirement that the City agree to 

purchase the building pursuant to the offer made by the third party.  This Right of First Refusal 

Agreement simply gives the City the option to do so. 

 

Similarly, if the owner wishes to lease other portions of the building to persons other than those 

who are currently leasing them or to persons unaffiliated with the owner, then the owner must 

provide notice of that opportunity to the City and the City has 7 days from receipt of that notice 

to determine whether or not it wishes to lease the space under the same conditions the 

prospective third party lessee was willing to rent the space.  Again, the City is not obligated to 

exercise this option. 

 

Financial Implications (Exhibit G)3 

 

As the attached financial analysis shows, the total Base Rent liability for the first 25 years of the 

Lease is $2,085,173.  The total liability for the Base Rent payments for the 50-year Lease is 

$5,506,119.  In the event that the STF pays its 50% share of these Base Rent payments, through 

the first 25 years of the Lease, the City’s obligation would be $1,042,586 and if the Lease is 

extended for an additional 25 years, the City’s Base Rent liability would be a total of $2,253,060 

(again, assuming that the STF paid 50% of the all of the Base Rent payments owed through a 50-

year Lease).   

 

With respect to the property tax and insurance obligations under the Lease, the total amount 

owed would be approximately $788,382 (assuming that the existing property tax and insurance 

costs are increased 2% per year) for the first 25 years of the Lease.  For the full 50 years, the 

total liability for property tax and insurance costs is estimated to be $2,081,805.  If the STF pays 

50% of these costs, after 25 years, the City will have paid $394,191 and after 50 years the City 

will have paid $1,040,903.  See, Exhibit G at page 2. 

 

Page 3 of Exhibit G shows a summary of the estimated Base Rent, property tax and insurance 

costs that will be incurred by the City and/or STF, including an estimated $600,000 required to 

be spent to effect necessary ADA improvements. 

 

Resolution 

 

Attached to this agenda packet is a proposed form of Resolution by which the City Council can 

approve the Lease and related documents and makes the necessary CEQA findings. 

 

                                                           
3 The following discussion regarding the City’s financial exposure - should it enter into the Lease and its related 

documents -  does not include any responsibility that the City or the STF may have to pay for common area 

maintenance expenses, utilities, maintenance of the interior of the structure and/or its windows, doors, and other 

improvements, all of which STF has agreed to pay for.  This discussion and Exhibit G only estimate the amounts the 

City and/or STF may be liable to pay for monthly rent payments (“Base Rent”), real property taxes, insurance and 

ADA improvements (identified as $600,000 for purposes of discussion only – it is likely that the ADA 

improvements will cost more but that has not been determined yet). 

226



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

227



C:/JAW/Sonoma/Resolutions/Resolution (Sebastiani Theater) 11-17-16.docx 
Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

RESOLUTION # ____ - 2016 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA APPROVING A 
LEASE AGREEMENT FOR THE LEASE OF THE SEBASTIANI THEATER AND OTHER 

RELATED DOCUMENTS AND MAKING CEQA FINDINGS 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Sonoma and/or the Community Development Agency of the City 
of Sonoma has been leasing the Sebastiani Theater for theater and performing arts purposes 
since 1986; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Sebastiani Theater is an iconic structure located in the heart of the 
downtown and plaza area of the City of Sonoma and is deserving of preservation for use as a 
theater under a program that assures, to the extent reasonably practicable, the financial 
sustainability of the use of the theater as a performing arts center; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City and the Sebastiani Theater Foundation, as well as the current 
owner of the theater, have negotiated a lease and related documents providing for the long-time 
use of the structure as a performing arts theater and related uses; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City and its citizens to assure the continued 
use of the theater for such purposes through the vehicle of a long-term lease: 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Sonoma resolves and finds as 
follows: 
 
 1. That the following documents are hereby approved and the City Manager is 
authorized and directed to execute same on behalf of the City of Sonoma: 
 
  a. Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease-Net dated   
December 1, 2016, between the City of Sonoma and Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc., a 
California corporation (and its Addendum); 
 
  b. A Sublease dated December 1, 2016, between the City of Sonoma and 
the Sebastiani Theater Foundation; 
 
  c. Indemnification and Reimbursement Agreement dated December 1, 
2016, between the City of Sonoma and the Sebastiani Theater Foundation; and 
 
  d. Right of First Refusal Agreement dated December 1, 2016, between the 
City of Sonoma, the Sebastiani Theater Foundation, and the Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc. 
 
 
 2. (A)  The adoption of this resolution and the approval of the documents 
referenced above are not projects within the meaning of CEQA because said actions do not 
have the potential for resulting in either a direct physical change in the environment or a 
reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment as those terms are defined 
under CEQA Guidelines, Section 15378. 
 
 

228



C:/JAW/Sonoma/Resolutions/Resolution (Sebastiani Theater) 11-17-16.docx 
Page 2 of 2 

(B)  Further, the adoption of this resolution and the approval of and entry into  
the documents referenced above are not subject to CEQA under the general rule that CEQA 
applies only to projects which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the 
environment.  Where, as here, it can be seen with certainty that there is not a possibility that the 
activity in question may have a significant effect on the physical environment, the activity is not 
subject to CEQA.   
 

(C) These matters are further exempt under CEQA under the Class 1  
categorical exemption described in Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines in that the leasing of 
existing private structures involving negligible or no expansion of use beyond that existing at the 
time of the City’s decision to enter into the documents above is considered exempt under 
CEQA. 
 
 The foregoing resolution was duly adopted this 21st day of November, 2016, by the 
following roll call vote: 
 
   AYES:     
   NOES:     
   ABSENT:    
   DISQUALIFIED:   
 
             
        Laure Gallian, Mayor 
 
 

      
Rebekah Barr, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 

 
I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was duly and regularly passed by the City 

Council of the City of Sonoma at a regular adjourned meeting thereon held on    
  . 

 
              
        Rebekah Barr, MMC, City Clerk 

229



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

230



 

   

AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION

STANDARD INDUSTRIAL/COMMERCIAL MULTI-TENANT LEASE - NET

1.   Basic Provisions ("Basic Provisions").

 1.1   Parties: This Lease   ("Lease"), dated for reference purposes only   December 1, 2016                          ,

is made by and between   Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc., a California Corporation                

                                                                                       ("Lessor")

and   the City of Sonoma, a California general law city                                        

                                                                                            

                                                      ("Lessee"), (collectively the   "Parties", or individually a   "Party").

 1.2(a)   Premises:  That certain portion of the Project (as defined below), including all improvements therein or to be provided by Lessor

under the terms of this Lease, commonly known by the street address of   472 First Street East                             ,

located in the City of   Sonoma                              , County of   Sonoma                               , State of

California                         , with zip code   95476          , as outlined on Exhibit   A          attached hereto   ("Premises")

and generally described as (describe briefly the nature of the Premises):      The Sebastiani Theatre: The theatre area only

consisting of 7,900± square feet of ground floor, balcony and second floor projection area

                                                                                           .

In addition to Lessee's rights to use and occupy the Premises as hereinafter specified, Lessee shall have non-exclusive rights to any utility raceways of

the building containing the Premises ("Building") and to the common Areas (as defined in Paragraph 2.7 below), but   except as to access rights,

ADA improvements amd as otherwise provided in this Lease,   shall not have any rights to   the roof or exterior walls of the Building or to any other

buildings in the Project.  The Premises, the Building, the Common Areas, the land upon which they are located, along with all other buildings and

improvements thereon, are herein collectively referred to as the   "Project."  (See also Paragraph 2)

 1.2(b)   Parking:   zero (0)                           unreserved vehicle parking spaces.  (See also Paragraph 2.6)

 1.3   Term:   Twenty Five (25)             years and   Zero (0)                      months   ("Original Term")

commencing   December 1, 2016                ("Commencement Date") and ending   November 30, 2041               

("Expiration Date").  (See also Paragraphs 3 and 51)
 1.4   Early Possession:   If the Premises are available Lessee may have non-exclusive possession of the Premises commencing

Not applicable                         ("Early Possession Date").

(See also Paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3)

 1.5   Base Rent: $    5,425.00        per month   ("Base Rent"), payable on the   First                         

day of each month commencing   December 1, 2016                                           .  (See also Paragraph 4)

�  If this box is checked, there are provisions in this Lease for the Base Rent to be adjusted. See Paragraph   50                

 1.6   Lessee's Share of Common Area Operating Expenses:      Thirty Nine        percent (39     %)   ("Lessee's Share").

In the event that the size of the Premises and/or the Project are modified during the term of this Lease, Lessor shall recalculate Lessee's Share to

reflect such modification,   except as provided in the Addendum ("Addendum").

 1.7   Base Rent and Other Monies Paid Upon Execution:

  (a)   Base Rent: $5,425.00            for the period   December 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016      .

  (b)   Common Area Operating Expenses:  $0.00                for the period   N/A                       .

  (c)   Security Deposit: $0.00                  ("Security Deposit").  (See also Paragraph 5)

  (d)   Other: $0.00                 for   N/A                                              

                                                   

                                                                           .

  (e)   Total Due Upon Execution of this Lease: $5,425.00                 .

 1.8   Agreed Use:   As a theatre including but not limited to live theatrical              

performances, concerts, movie presentations and private gatherings as allowed by            

city/county codes                                                              .  (See also Paragraph 6)

_________                         PAGE 1 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

231



 1.9   Insuring Party.  Lessor is the   "Insuring Party".  (See also Paragraph 8)

 1.10   Real Estate Brokers:  (See also Paragraph 15 and 25)

  (a)   Representation:  The following real estate brokers (the   "Brokers") and brokerage relationships exist in this transaction

(check applicable boxes):

�                                                                represents Lessor exclusively ("Lessor's Broker");

�   Cassidy Turley Northern CA Inc dba Cushman & Wakefield   represents Lessee exclusively ("Lessee's Broker"); or

�                                                               represents both Lessor and Lessee ("Dual Agency").

  (b)   Payment to Brokers: Upon execution and delivery of this Lease by both Parties, Lessor shall pay to the Brokers the

brokerage fee agreed to in a separate written agreement (or if there is no such agreement, the sum of   $0.00          or   0           % of the

total Base Rent) for the brokerage services rendered by the Brokers.

 1.11   Guarantor.  The obligations of the Lessee under this Lease are to be guaranteed by                             

                                                                     ("Guarantor").  (See also Paragraph 37)

 1.12   Attachments.  Attached hereto are the following, all of which constitute a part of this Lease:

� an Addendum consisting of Paragraphs   50                through   61                ;

� a site plan depicting the Premises;

� a site plan depicting the Project;   

� a current set of the Rules and Regulations for the Project;

� a current set of the Rules and Regulations adopted by the owners' association;

� a Work Letter;

� other (specify);   1) Right of First Refusal Agreement and 2) and a site plan depicting area of    

ADA work and added storage                                                                  .

2.   Premises.

 2.1   Letting.  Lessor hereby leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby leases from Lessor, the Premises, for the term, at the rental, and

upon all of the terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Lease.  While the approximate square footage of the Premises may have been used in

the marketing of the Premises for purposes of comparison, the Base Rent stated herein is NOT tied to square footage and is not subject to adjustment

should the actual size be determined to be different.     NOTE: Lessee is advised to verify the actual size prior to executing this Lease.

 2.2   Condition.  Lessor shall deliver that portion of the Premises contained within the Building   ('Unit") to Lessee broom clean and free

of debris on the Commencement Date or the Early Possession Date, whichever first occurs   ("Start Date"), and, so long as the required service

contracts described in Paragraph 7.1(b) below are obtained by Lessee and in effect within thirty days following the Start Date, warrants that the existing

electrical, plumbing, fire sprinkler, lighting, heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems   ("HVAC"), loading doors, sump pumps, if any, and all other

such elements in the Unit, other than those constructed by Lessee, shall be in good operating condition on said date, that the structural elements of the

roof, bearing walls and foundation of the Unit shall be free of material defects, and that the Unit does not contain hazardous levels of any mold or fungi

defined as toxic under applicable state or federal law. If a non-compliance with such warranty exists as of the Start Date, or if one of such systems or

elements should malfunction or fail within the appropriate warranty period, Lessor shall, as Lessor's sole obligation with respect to such matter, except

as otherwise provided in this Lease, promptly after receipt of written notice from Lessee setting forth with specificity the nature and extent of such

non-compliance, malfunction or failure, rectify same at Lessor's expense.  The warranty periods shall be as follows: (i) 6 months as to the HVAC

systems, and (ii) 30 days as to the remaining systems and other elements of the Unit.  If Lessee does not give Lessor the required notice within the

appropriate warranty period, correction of any such non-compliance, malfunction or failure shall be the obligation of Lessee at Lessee's sole cost and

expense (except for the repairs to the fire sprinkler systems, roof, foundations, and/or bearing walls - see Paragraph 7). Lessor also warrants, that

unless otherwise specified in writing, Lessor is unaware of (i) any recorded Notices of Default affecting the Premise; (ii) any delinquent amounts due

under any loan secured by the Premises; and (iii) any bankruptcy proceeding affecting the Premises.    Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties

acknowledge and agree that the following conditions are the responsibility of Lessor and that Lessor agrees to rectify said

conditions within   ninety (90) days   one (1) year after the Start Date:  (a) water is leaking into the basement; (b) water is intruding

through the wall over the south stage exit; and (c) the fire hatches on the roof are inoperable and improperly sealed. Under no

circumstances (and notwithstanding this Paragraph, Paragraphs 2.4 and 7 and any other provision in this Lease to the contrary)

shall Lessee be responsible for (i) said conditions, (ii) Lessor's work to rectify same, or (iii) Lessor's failure to rectify same pursuant

to the terms of this Lease
 2.3   Compliance.   Lessor warrants that to the best of its knowledge the improvements on the Premises comply with the building codes,

applicable laws, covenants or restrictions of record, regulations, and ordinances ("Applicable Requirements") that were in effect at the time that each

improvement, or portion thereof, was constructed. Said warranty does not apply to the use to which Lessee will put the Premises, modifications which

may be required by the Americans with Disabilities Act or any similar laws as a result of Lessee's use (see Paragraph 49), or to any Alterations or Utility

_________                         PAGE 2 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

232



Installations (as defined in Paragraph 7.3(a)) made or to be made by Lessee.    NOTE: Lessee is responsible for determining whether or not the

Applicable Requirements and especially the zoning are appropriate for Lessee's intended use, and acknowledges that past uses of the

Premises may no longer be allowed.  If the Premises do not comply with said warranty, Lessor shall, except as otherwise provided, promptly after

receipt of written notice from Lessee setting forth with specificity the nature and extent of such non-compliance, rectify the same at Lessor's expense.  If

Lessee does not give Lessor written notice of a non-compliance with this warranty within 6 months following the Start Date, correction of that

non-compliance shall be the obligation of Lessee at Lessee's sole cost and expense.  If the Applicable Requirements are hereafter changed so as to

require during the term of this Lease the construction of an addition to or an alteration of the Unit, Premises and/or Building, the remediation of any

Hazardous Substance, or the reinforcement or other physical modification of the Unit, Premises and/or Building   ("Capital Expenditure"), Lessor and

Lessee shall allocate the cost of such work as follows:

  (a) Subject to Paragraph 2.3(c) below, if such Capital Expenditures are required as a result of the specific and unique use of

the Premises by Lessee as compared with uses by tenants in general, Lessee shall be fully responsible for the cost thereof, provided, however that if

such Capital Expenditure is required during the last 2 years of this Lease and the cost thereof exceeds 6 months' Base Rent, Lessee may instead

terminate this Lease unless Lessor notifies Lessee, in writing, within 10 days after receipt of Lessee's termination notice that Lessor has elected to pay

the difference between the actual cost thereof and the amount equal to 6 months' Base Rent.  If Lessee elects termination, Lessee shall immediately

cease the use of the Premises which requires such Capital Expenditure and deliver to Lessor written notice specifying a termination date at least 90

days thereafter.  Such termination date shall, however, in no event be earlier than the last day that Lessee could legally utilize the Premises without

commencing such Capital Expenditure.

  (b)  If such Capital Expenditure is not the result of the specific and unique use of the Premises by Lessee (such as,

governmentally mandated seismic modifications), then Lessor shall pay for such Capital Expenditure and Lessee shall only be obligated to pay, each

month during the remainder of the term of this Lease or any extension thereof, on the date that on which the Base Rent is due, an amount equal to

1/144th of the portion of such costs reasonably attributable to the Premises.  Lessee shall pay Interest on the balance but may prepay its obligation at

any time. If, however, such Capital Expenditure is required during the last 2 years of this Lease or if Lessor reasonably determines that it is not

economically feasible to pay its share thereof, Lessor shall have the option to terminate this Lease upon 90 days prior written notice to Lessee unless

Lessee notifies Lessor, in writing, within 10 days after receipt of Lessor's termination notice that Lessee will pay for such Capital Expenditure. If Lessor

does not elect to terminate, and fails to tender its share of any such Capital Expenditure, Lessee may advance such funds and deduct same, with

Interest, from Rent until Lessor's share of such costs have been fully paid.  If Lessee is unable to finance Lessor's share, or if the balance of the Rent

due and payable for the remainder of this Lease is not sufficient to fully reimburse Lessee on an offset basis, Lessee shall have the right to terminate

this Lease upon 30 days written notice to Lessor.   

  (c) Notwithstanding the above, the provisions concerning Capital Expenditures are intended to apply only to non-voluntary,

unexpected, and new Applicable Requirements.  If the Capital Expenditures are instead triggered by Lessee as a result of an actual or proposed

change in use, change in intensity of use, or modification to the Premises then, and in that event, Lessee shall either: (i) immediately cease such

changed use or intensity of use and/or take such other steps as may be necessary to eliminate the requirement for such Capital Expenditure, or (ii)

complete such Capital Expenditure at its own expense.  Lessee shall not have any right to terminate this Lease   under the circumstances described

in this Subparagraph (c).

 2.4    Acknowledgements.  Lessee acknowledges that:  (a) it has been given an opportunity to inspect and measure the Premises, (b) it

has been advised by Lessor and/or Brokers to satisfy itself with respect to the size and condition of the Premises (including but not limited to the

electrical, HVAC and fire sprinkler systems, security, environmental  aspects, and compliance with Applicable Requirements and the Americans with

Disabilities Act), and their suitability for Lessee's intended use, (c) Lessee has made such investigation as it deems necessary with reference to such

matters and assumes all responsibility therefor as the same relate to its occupancy of the Premises, (d) it is not relying on any representation as to the

size of the Premises made by Brokers or Lessor, (e) the square footage of the Premises was not material to Lessee's decision to lease the Premises

and pay the Rent stated herein, and (f) neither Lessor, Lessor's agents, nor Brokers have made any oral or written representations or warranties with

respect to said matters other than as set forth in this Lease.  In addition, Lessor acknowledges that: (i) Brokers have made no representations,

promises or warranties concerning Lessee's ability to honor the Lease or suitability to occupy the Premises, and (ii) it is Lessor's sole responsibility to

investigate the financial capability and/or suitability of all proposed tenants.

 2.5   Lessee as Prior Owner/Occupant.  The warranties made by Lessor in Paragraph 2 shall be of no force or effect if immediately

prior to the Start Date Lessee was the owner or occupant of the Premises.  In such event, Lessee shall be responsible for any necessary corrective

work.   

 2.6   Vehicle Parking.  Lessee shall be entitled to use the number of parking spaces specified in Paragraph 1.2(b) on those portions of

the Common Areas designated from time to time by Lessor for parking.  Lessee shall not use more parking spaces than said number.  Said parking

spaces shall be used for parking by vehicles no larger than full-size passenger automobiles or pick-up trucks, herein called   "Permitted Size Vehicles."

 Lessor may regulate the loading and unloading of vehicles by adopting Rules and Regulations as provided in Paragraph 2.9.  No vehicles other than

Permitted Size Vehicles may be parked in the Common Area without the prior written permission of Lessor. In addition:

  (a) Lessee shall not permit or allow any vehicles that belong to or are controlled by Lessee or Lessee's employees,

suppliers, shippers, customers, contractors or invitees to be loaded, unloaded, or parked in areas other than those designated by Lessor for such

_________                         PAGE 3 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

233



activities.

  (b) Lessee shall not service or store any vehicles in the Common Areas.

  (c) If Lessee permits or allows any of the prohibited activities described in this Paragraph 2.6, then Lessor shall have the

right, without notice, in addition to such other rights and remedies that it may have, to remove or tow away the vehicle involved and charge the cost to

Lessee, which cost shall be immediately payable upon demand by Lessor.

 2.7   Common Areas - Definition.  The term   "Common Areas" is defined as all areas and facilities outside the Premises,   outside

other leaseholds in the Project   and within the exterior boundary line of the Project and interior utility raceways and installations within the Unit that

are provided and designated by the Lessor from time to time for the general non-exclusive use of Lessor, Lessee and other tenants of the Project and

their respective employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, contractors and invitees, including parking areas, loading and unloading areas, trash areas,

roadways, walkways, driveways and landscaped areas.

 2.8   Common Areas - Lessee's Rights.  Lessor grants to Lessee, for the benefit of Lessee and its employees, suppliers, shippers,

contractors, customers and invitees, during the term of this Lease, the non-exclusive right to use, in common with others entitled to such use, the

Common Areas as they exist from time to time, subject to any rights, powers, and privileges reserved by Lessor under the terms hereof or under the

terms of any rules and regulations or restrictions governing the use of the Project.  Under no circumstances shall the right herein granted to use the

Common Areas be deemed to include the right to store any property, temporarily or permanently, in the Common Areas.  Any such storage shall be

permitted only by the prior written consent of Lessor or Lessor's designated agent, which consent may be revoked at any time.  In the event that any

unauthorized storage shall occur then Lessor shall have the right, without notice, in addition to such other rights and remedies that it may have, to

remove the property and charge the cost to Lessee, which cost shall be immediately payable upon demand by Lessor.

 2.9   Common Areas - Rules and Regulations.  Lessor or such other person(s) as Lessor may appoint shall have the exclusive control

and management of the Common Areas and shall have the right, from time to time, to establish, modify, amend and enforce reasonable rules and

regulations   ("Rules and Regulations") for the management, safety, care, and cleanliness of the grounds, the parking and unloading of vehicles and

the preservation of good order, as well as for the convenience of other occupants or tenants of the Building and the Project and their invitees.  Lessee

agrees to abide by and conform to all such Rules and Regulations, and shall use its best efforts to cause its employees, suppliers, shippers, customers,

contractors and invitees to so abide and conform.  Lessor shall not be responsible to Lessee for the non-compliance with said Rules and Regulations by

other tenants of the Project.

 2.10   Common Areas - Changes.  Lessor shall have the right, in Lessor's sole discretion, from time to time:

  (a) To make changes to the Common Areas, including, without limitation, changes in the location, size, shape and number of

driveways, entrances, parking spaces, parking areas, loading and unloading areas, ingress, egress, direction of traffic, landscaped areas, walkways and

utility raceways;

  (b) To close temporarily any of the Common Areas for maintenance purposes so long as reasonable access to the Premises

remains available;

  (c) To designate other land outside the boundaries of the Project to be a part of the Common Areas;

  (d) To add additional buildings and improvements to the Common Areas;

  (e) To use the Common Areas while engaged in making additional improvements, repairs or alterations to the Project, or any

portion thereof; and

  (f) To do and perform such other acts and make such other changes in, to or with respect to the Common Areas and Project

as Lessor may, in the exercise of sound business judgment, deem to be appropriate.

3.   Term.

 3.1   Term.  The Commencement Date, Expiration Date and Original Term of this Lease are as specified in Paragraph 1.3.

 3.2   Early Possession.   Any provision herein granting Lessee Early Possession of the Premises is subject to and conditioned upon the

Premises being available for such possession prior to the Commencement Date.  Any grant of Early Possession only conveys a non-exclusive right to

occupy the Premises.  If Lessee totally or partially occupies the Premises prior to the Commencement Date, the obligation to pay Base Rent shall be

abated for the period of such Early Possession.  All other terms of this Lease (including but not limited to the obligations to pay Lessee's Share of

Common Area Operating Expenses, Real Property Taxes and insurance premiums and to maintain the Premises) shall be in effect during such period.   

Any such Early Possession shall not affect the Expiration Date.

 3.3   Delay In Possession.  Lessor agrees to use its best commercially reasonable efforts to deliver possession of the Premises to

Lessee by the Commencement Date.  If, despite said efforts, Lessor is unable to deliver possession by such date, Lessor shall not be subject to any

liability therefor, nor shall such failure affect the validity of this Lease or change the Expiration Date. Lessee shall not, however, be obligated to pay Rent

or perform its other obligations until Lessor delivers possession of the Premises and any period of rent abatement that Lessee would otherwise have

enjoyed shall run from the date of delivery of possession and continue for a period equal to what Lessee would otherwise have enjoyed under the terms

hereof, but minus any days of delay caused by the acts or omissions of Lessee.  If possession is not delivered within 60 days after the Commencement

Date, as the same may be extended under the terms of any Work Letter executed by Parties, Lessee may, at its option, by notice in writing within 10

days after the end of such 60 day period, cancel this Lease, in which event the Parties shall be discharged from all obligations hereunder.  If such

written notice is not received by Lessor within said 10 day period, Lessee's right to cancel shall terminate.  If possession of the Premises is not

_________                         PAGE 4 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

234



delivered within 120 days after the Commencement Date, this Lease shall terminate unless other agreements are reached between Lessor and Lessee,

in writing.

 3.4   Lessee Compliance.  Lessor shall not be required to tender possession of the Premises to Lessee until Lessee complies with its

obligation to provide evidence of insurance (Paragraph 8.5).  Pending delivery of such evidence, Lessee shall be required to perform all of its

obligations under this Lease from and after the Start Date, including the payment of Rent, notwithstanding Lessor's election to withhold possession

pending receipt of such evidence of insurance.  Further, if Lessee is required to perform any other conditions prior to or concurrent with the Start Date,

the Start Date shall occur but Lessor may elect to withhold possession until such conditions are satisfied.

4.   Rent.

 4.1    Rent Defined.  All monetary obligations of Lessee to Lessor under the terms of this Lease (except for the Security Deposit) are

deemed to be rent   ("Rent").

 4.2   Common Area Operating Expenses.  Lessee shall pay to Lessor during the term hereof, in addition to the Base Rent, Lessee's

Share (as specified in Paragraph 1.6) of all Common Area Operating Expenses, as hereinafter defined, during each calendar year of the term of this

Lease, in accordance with the following provisions:

  (a)   "Common Area Operating Expenses"  are defined, for purposes of this Lease, as.     See also, Paragraph 52.      
all costs incurred by Lessor relating to the ownership and operation of the Project, including, but not limited to, the following:

   (i) The operation, repair and maintenance, in neat, clean, good order and condition , and if necessary the

replacement, of the following:

      (aa) The Common Areas and Common Area improvements, including parking areas, loading and

unloading areas, trash areas, roadways, parkways, walkways, driveways, landscaped areas, bumpers, irrigation systems, Common Area

lighting facilities, fences and gates, elevators,   roofs, exterior walls of the buildings, building systems and   roof drainage systems.

    (bb) Exterior signs and any tenant directories.

    (cc) Any fire sprinkler systems   except for any such system in Lessee's premises.

    (dd)   All other areas and improvements that are within the exterior boundaries of the Project but

outside of the Premises and/or any other space occupied by a tenant.

   (ii) The cost of water, gas, electricity and telephone to service the Common Areas and any utilities not separately

metered.

   (iii) The cost of trash disposal, pest control services, property management, security services, owners' association

dues and fees,   the cost to repaint the exterior of any structures and the cost of any environmental inspections.

   (iv) Reserves set aside for maintenance,  repair and/or replacement of Common Area improvements and

equipment.

   (v) Real Property Taxes (as defined in Paragraph 10).

   (vi) The cost of the premiums for the insurance maintained by Lessor pursuant to Paragraph 8.

   (vii) Any deductible portion of an insured loss concerning the Building or the Common Areas.

   (viii) Auditors', accountants' and attorneys' fees and costs related to the operation, maintenance, repair and   

replacement of the Project   excluding fees and costs soley related to another tenant.
     (ix) The cost of any capital improvement to the Building or the Project not covered under the provisions of

Paragraph 2.3 provided; however, that Lessor shall allocate the cost of any such capital improvement over a 12 year period and Lessee shall

not be required to pay more than Lessee's Share of 1/144th of the cost of such capital improvement in any given month.

   (x) The cost of any other services to be provided by Lessor that are stated elsewhere in this Lease to be a

Common Area Operating Expense.

  (b) Any Common Area Operating Expenses and Real Property Taxes that are specifically attributable to the Unit, the

Building or to any other building in the Project or to the operation, repair and maintenance thereof, shall be allocated entirely to such Unit, Building, or

other building.  However, any Common Area Operating Expenses and Real Property Taxes that are not specifically attributable to the Building or to any

other building or to the operation, repair and maintenance thereof, shall be equitably allocated by Lessor to all buildings in the Project.      The provisions

of this Subparagraph (b) shall be subject to and limited by Paragraph 4.2(a).
  (c) The inclusion of the improvements, facilities and services set forth in Subparagraph 4.2(a) shall not be deemed to impose

an obligation upon Lessor to either have said improvements or facilities or to provide those services unless the Project already has the same, Lessor

already provides the services, or Lessor has agreed elsewhere in this Lease to provide the same or some of them.

  (d) Lessee's Share of Common Area Operating Expenses is payable monthly on the same day as the Base Rent is due

hereunder.  The amount of such payments shall be based on Lessor's estimate of the annual Common Area Operating Expenses.  Within 60 days after

written request (but not more than once each year) Lessor shall deliver to Lessee a reasonably detailed statement showing Lessee's Share of the

actual Common Area Operating Expenses for the preceding year.  If Lessee's payments during such year exceed Lessee's Share, Lessor shall credit

the amount of such over-payment against Lessee's future payments.  If Lessee's payments during such year were less than Lessee's Share, Lessee

shall pay to Lessor the amount of the deficiency within 10 days after delivery by Lessor to Lessee of the statement.

_________                         PAGE 5 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

235



  (e) Common Area Operating Expenses shall not include any expenses paid by any tenant directly to third parties, or as to

which Lessor is otherwise reimbursed by any third party, other tenant, or insurance proceeds.

 4.3   Payment.  Lessee shall cause payment of Rent to be received by Lessor in lawful money of the United States, without offset or

deduction (except as specifically permitted in this Lease), on or before the day on which it is due. All monetary amounts shall be rounded to the nearest

whole dollar.  In the event that any invoice prepared by Lessor is inaccurate such inaccuracy shall not constitute a waiver and Lessee shall be obligated

to pay the amount set forth in this Lease.  Rent for any period during the term hereof which is for less than one full calendar month shall be prorated

based upon the actual number of days of said month.  Payment of Rent shall be made to Lessor at its address stated herein or to such other persons or

place as Lessor may from time to time designate in writing.  Acceptance of a payment which is less than the amount then due shall not be a waiver of

Lessor's rights to the balance of such Rent, regardless of Lessor's endorsement of any check so stating.  In the event that any check, draft, or other

instrument of payment given by Lessee to Lessor is dishonored for any reason, Lessee agrees to pay to Lessor the sum of $25 in addition to any Late

Charge and Lessor, at its option, may require all future Rent be paid by cashier's check.  Payments will be applied first to accrued late charges and

attorney's fees, second to accrued interest, then to Base Rent and Common Area Operating Expenses, and any remaining amount to any other

outstanding charges or costs.

5.   Security Deposit.      Intentionally left blank.    Lessee shall deposit with Lessor upon  execution hereof the Security Deposit as security for

Lessee's faithful performance of its obligations under this Lease.  If Lessee fails to pay Rent, or otherwise Defaults under this Lease, Lessor may use,

apply or retain all or any portion of said Security Deposit for the payment of any amount already due Lessor, for Rents which will be due in the future,

and/ or to reimburse or compensate Lessor for any liability, expense, loss or damage which Lessor may suffer or incur by reason thereof.  If Lessor

uses or applies all or any portion of the Security Deposit, Lessee shall within 10 days after written request therefor deposit monies with Lessor sufficient

to restore said Security Deposit to the full amount required by this Lease. If the Base Rent increases during the term of this Lease, Lessee shall, upon

written request from Lessor, deposit additional monies with Lessor so that the total amount of the Security Deposit shall at all times bear the same

proportion to the increased Base Rent as the initial Security Deposit bore to the initial Base Rent.  Should the Agreed Use be amended to

accommodate a material change in the business of Lessee or to accommodate a sublessee or assignee, Lessor shall have the right to increase the

Security Deposit to the extent necessary, in Lessor's reasonable judgment, to account for any increased wear and tear that the Premises may suffer as

a result thereof.  If a change in control of Lessee occurs during this Lease and following such change the financial condition of Lessee is, in Lessor's

reasonable judgment, significantly reduced, Lessee shall deposit such additional monies with Lessor as shall be sufficient to cause the Security Deposit

to be at a commercially reasonable level based on such change in financial condition.  Lessor shall not be required to keep the Security Deposit

separate from its general accounts. Within 90 days after the expiration or termination of this Lease, Lessor shall return that portion of the Security

Deposit not used or applied by Lessor. No part of the Security Deposit shall be considered to be held in trust, to bear interest or to be prepayment for

any monies to be paid by Lessee under this Lease.

6.   Use.

 6.1   Use.  Lessee shall use and occupy the Premises only for the Agreed Use, or any other legal use which is reasonably comparable

thereto, and for no other purpose.  Lessee shall not use or permit the use of the Premises in a manner that is unlawful, creates damage, waste or a

nuisance, or that disturbs occupants of or causes damage to neighboring premises or properties. Other than guide, signal and seeing eye dogs, Lessee

shall not keep or allow in the Premises any pets, animals, birds, fish, or reptiles. Lessor shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its consent to any

written request for a modification of the Agreed Use, so long as the same will not impair the structural integrity of the Building or the mechanical or

electrical systems therein, and/or is not significantly more burdensome to the Project.  If Lessor elects to withhold consent, Lessor shall within 7 days

after such request give written notification of same, which notice shall include an explanation of Lessor's objections to the change in the Agreed Use.

 6.2   Hazardous Substances.

  (a)   Reportable Uses Require Consent.  The term   "Hazardous Substance" as used in this Lease shall mean any product,

substance, or waste whose presence, use, manufacture, disposal, transportation, or release, either by itself or in combination with other materials

expected to be on the Premises, is either: (i) potentially injurious to the public health, safety or welfare, the environment or the Premises, (ii) regulated

or monitored by any governmental authority, or (iii) a basis for potential liability of Lessor to any governmental agency or third party under any applicable

statute or common law theory.  Hazardous Substances shall include, but not be limited to, hydrocarbons, petroleum, gasoline, and/or crude oil or any

products, by-products or fractions thereof.  Lessee shall not engage in any activity in or on the Premises which constitutes a Reportable Use of

Hazardous Substances without the express prior written consent of Lessor and timely compliance (at Lessee's expense) with all Applicable

Requirements.    "Reportable Use" shall mean (i) the installation or use of any above or below ground storage tank, (ii) the generation, possession,

storage, use, transportation, or disposal of a Hazardous Substance that requires a permit from, or with respect to which a report, notice, registration or

business plan is required to be filed with, any governmental authority, and/or (iii) the presence at the Premises of a Hazardous Substance with respect

to which any Applicable Requirements requires that a notice be given to persons entering or occupying the Premises or neighboring properties.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee may use any ordinary and customary materials reasonably required to be used in the normal course of the

Agreed Use, ordinary office supplies (copier toner, liquid paper, glue, etc.) and common household cleaning materials, so long as such use is in

compliance with all Applicable Requirements, is not a Reportable Use, and does not expose the Premises or neighboring property to any meaningful

risk of contamination or damage or expose Lessor to any liability therefor.  In addition, Lessor may condition its consent to any Reportable Use upon

receiving such additional assurances as Lessor reasonably deems necessary to protect itself, the public, the Premises and/or the environment against

_________                         PAGE 6 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

236



damage, contamination, injury and/or liability, including, but not limited to, the installation (and removal on or before Lease expiration or termination) of

protective modifications (such as concrete encasements) and/or increasing the Security Deposit.

  (b)   Duty to Inform Lessor.  If Lessee knows, or has reasonable cause to believe, that a Hazardous Substance has come to

be located in, on, under or about the Premises, other than as previously consented to by Lessor, Lessee shall immediately give written notice of such

fact to Lessor, and provide Lessor with a copy of any report, notice, claim or other documentation which it has concerning the presence of such

Hazardous Substance.

  (c)   Lessee Remediation.  Lessee shall not cause or permit any Hazardous Substance to be spilled or released in, on,

under, or about the Premises (including through the plumbing or sanitary sewer system) and shall promptly, at Lessee's expense, comply with all

Applicable Requirements and take all investigatory and/or remedial action reasonably recommended, whether or not formally ordered or required, for

the cleanup of any contamination of, and for the maintenance, security and/or monitoring of the Premises or neighboring properties, that was caused or

materially contributed to by Lessee, or pertaining to or involving any Hazardous Substance brought onto the Premises during the term of this Lease, by

or for Lessee, or any third party.    

  (d)   Lessee Indemnification.  Lessee shall indemnify,  defend and hold Lessor, its agents, employees, lenders and ground

lessor, if any, harmless from and against any and all loss of rents and/or damages, liabilities, judgments, claims, expenses, penalties, and attorneys'

and consultants' fees arising out of or involving any Hazardous Substance brought onto the Premises by or for Lessee, or any third party (provided,

however, that Lessee shall have no liability under this Lease with respect to underground migration of any Hazardous Substance under the Premises

from areas outside of the Project not caused or contributed to by Lessee). Lessee's obligations shall include, but not be limited to, the effects of any

contamination or injury to person, property or the environment created or suffered by Lessee, and the cost of investigation, removal, remediation,

restoration and/or abatement, and shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease.  No termination, cancellation or release agreement entered

into by Lessor and Lessee shall release Lessee from its obligations under this Lease with respect to Hazardous Substances, unless specifically so

agreed by Lessor in writing at the time of such agreement.

  (e)   Lessor Indemnification.  Except as otherwise provided in paragraph 8.7, Lessor and its successors and assigns shall

indemnify, defend, reimburse and hold Lessee, its   officers,   employees and lenders, harmless from and against any and all environmental damages,

including the cost of remediation, which are suffered as a direct result of Hazardous Substances on the Premises prior to Lessee taking possession or

which are caused by   the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lessor, its agents or employees.  Lessor's obligations, as and when required by the

Applicable Requirements, shall include, but not be limited to, the cost of investigation, removal, remediation, restoration and/or abatement, and shall

survive the expiration or termination of this Lease.

  (f)   Investigations and Remediations.  Lessor shall retain the responsibility and pay for any investigations or remediation

measures required by governmental entities having jurisdiction with respect to the existence of Hazardous Substances on the Premises prior to the

Lessee taking possession, unless such remediation measure is required as a result of Lessee's use (including "Alterations", as defined in paragraph

7.3(a) below) of the Premises, in which event Lessee shall be responsible for such payment.  Lessee shall cooperate fully in any such activities at the

request of Lessor, including allowing Lessor and Lessor's agents to have reasonable access to the Premises at reasonable times in order to carry out

Lessor's investigative and remedial responsibilities.

  (g)   Lessor Termination Option.  If a Hazardous Substance Condition (see Paragraph 9.1(e)) occurs during the term of this Lease,

unless Lessee is legally responsible therefor (in which case Lessee shall make the investigation and remediation thereof required by the Applicable

Requirements and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, but subject to Lessor's rights under Paragraph 6.2(d) and Paragraph 13), Lessor

may, at Lessor's option, either (i) investigate and remediate such Hazardous Substance Condition, if required, as soon as reasonably possible at

Lessor's expense, in which event this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, or (ii) if the estimated cost to remediate such condition exceeds 12

times the then monthly Base Rent or $100,000, whichever is greater, give written notice to Lessee, within 30 days after receipt by Lessor of knowledge

of the occurrence of such Hazardous Substance Condition, of Lessor's desire to terminate this Lease as of the date 60 days following the date of such

notice.  In the event Lessor elects to give a termination notice, Lessee may, within 10 days thereafter, give written notice to Lessor of Lessee's

commitment to pay the amount by which the cost of the remediation of such Hazardous Substance Condition exceeds an amount equal to 12 times the

then monthly Base Rent or $100,000, whichever is greater.  Lessee shall provide Lessor with said funds or satisfactory assurance thereof within 30

days following such commitment.  In such event, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, and Lessor shall proceed to make such remediation

as soon as reasonably possible after the required funds are available.  If Lessee does not give such notice and provide the required funds or assurance

thereof within the time provided, this Lease shall terminate as of the date specified in Lessor's notice of termination.

 6.3    Lessee's Compliance with Applicable Requirements.  Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, Lessee shall, at Lessee's

sole expense, fully, diligently and in a timely manner, materially comply with all Applicable Requirements, the requirements of any applicable fire

insurance underwriter or rating bureau, and the recommendations of Lessor's engineers and/or consultants which relate in any manner to such

Requirements, without regard to whether said Requirements are now in effect or become effective after the Start Date.  Lessee shall, within 10 days

after receipt of Lessor's written request, provide Lessor with copies of all permits and other documents, and other information evidencing Lessee's

compliance with any Applicable Requirements specified by Lessor, and shall immediately upon receipt, notify Lessor in writing (with copies of any

documents involved) of any threatened or actual claim, notice, citation, warning, complaint or report pertaining to or involving the failure of Lessee or the

Premises to comply with any Applicable Requirements.  Likewise, Lessee shall immediately give written notice to Lessor of: (i) any water damage to the

_________                         PAGE 7 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

237



Premises and any suspected seepage, pooling, dampness or other condition conducive to the production of mold; or (ii) any mustiness or other odors

that might indicate the presence of mold in the Premises.

 6.4   Inspection; Compliance.  Lessor and Lessor's "Lender" (as defined in Paragraph 30) and consultants shall have the right to enter

into Premises at any time, in the case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable times after reasonable notice, for the purpose of inspecting the

condition of the Premises and for verifying compliance by Lessee with this Lease.  The cost of any such inspections shall be paid by Lessor, unless a

violation of Applicable Requirements, or a Hazardous Substance Condition (see Paragraph 9.1) is found to exist or be imminent, or the inspection is

requested or ordered by a governmental authority.  In such case, Lessee shall upon request reimburse Lessor for the cost of such inspection, so long

as such inspection is reasonably related to the violation or contamination.  In addition, Lessee shall provide copies of all relevant material safety data

sheets (MSDS) to Lessor within 10 days of the receipt of written request therefor.

7.   Maintenance; Repairs, Utility Installations; Trade Fixtures and Alterations.

 7.1   Lessee's Obligations.

  (a)   In General.  Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 2.2 (Condition), 2.3 (Compliance), 6.3 (Lessee's Compliance with

Applicable Requirements), 7.2 (Lessor's Obligations), 9 (Damage or Destruction), and 14 (Condemnation), Lessee shall, at Lessee's sole expense,

keep the Premises, Utility Installations (intended for Lessee's exclusive use, no matter where located), and Alterations in good order, condition and

repair (whether or not the portion of the Premises requiring repairs, or the means of repairing the same, are reasonably or readily accessible to Lessee,

and whether or not the need for such repairs occurs as a result of Lessee's use, any prior use, the elements or the age of such portion of the Premises),

including, but not limited to, all equipment or facilities   on or in the Premises, such as plumbing   and fire sprinkler system/alarm in unit, HVAC

equipment, electrical, lighting facilities, boilers, pressure vessels, fixtures, interior walls, interior surfaces of exterior walls   (except for the damaged

wall(s) located over the south stage exit and described in Paragraph 2.2), ceilings, floors, windows, doors, plate glass, and skylights but

excluding any items which are the responsibility of Lessor pursuant to Paragraph 7.2.  Lessee, in keeping the Premises in good order, condition and

repair, shall exercise and perform good maintenance practices, specifically including the procurement and maintenance of the service contracts

required by Paragraph 7.1(b) below. Lessee's obligations shall include restorations, replacements or renewals when necessary to keep the Premises

and all improvements thereon or a part thereof in good order, condition and state of repair.      Lessee is not responsible for any feature that

Lessor is required to maintain and repair unless the damage is solely caused by Lessee's acts or omissions.
  (b)   Service Contracts.  Lessee shall, at Lessee's sole expense, procure and maintain contracts, with copies to Lessor, in

customary form and substance for, and with contractors specializing and experienced in the maintenance of the following equipment and

improvements, if any, if and when installed on the Premises:  (i) HVAC equipment, (ii) boiler and pressure vessels,   and (iii) clarifiers   and (iiii) fire

sprinkler system and alarm in unit.  However, Lessor reserves the right, upon notice to Lessee, to procure and maintain any or all of such service

contracts, and Lessee shall reimburse Lessor, upon demand, for the cost thereof.

  (c)   Failure to Perform.  If Lessee fails to perform Lessee's obligations under this Paragraph 7.1, Lessor may enter upon the

Premises after 10 days' prior written notice to Lessee (except in the case of an emergency, in which case no notice shall be required), perform such

obligations on Lessee's behalf, and put the Premises in good order, condition and repair, and Lessee shall promptly pay to Lessor a sum equal to 115%

of the cost thereof.

  (d)   Replacement. Subject to Lessee's indemnification of Lessor as set forth in Paragraph 8.7 below, and without relieving

Lessee of liability resulting from Lessee's failure to exercise and perform good maintenance practices, if an item described in Paragraph 7.1(b) cannot

be repaired other than at a cost which is in excess of 50% of the cost of replacing such item, then such item shall be replaced by Lessor, and the cost

thereof shall be prorated between the Parties and Lessee shall only be obligated to pay, each month during the remainder of the term of this Lease, on

the date on which Base Rent is due, an amount equal to the product of multiplying the cost of such replacement by a fraction, the numerator of which is

one, and the denominator of which is 144 (ie. 1/144th of the cost per month).  Lessee shall pay Interest on the unamortized balance but may prepay its

obligation at any time.

 7.2   Lessor's Obligations.  Subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 2.2 (Condition), 2.3 (Compliance), 4.2 (Common Area Operating

Expenses), 6 (Use), 7.1 (Lessee's Obligations), 9 (Damage or Destruction) and 14 (Condemnation), Lessor, subject to reimbursement pursuant to

Paragraph 4.2, shall keep in good order, condition and repair the foundations, exterior roof (in a water-tight and water-impermeable condition,

among other things), exterior walls (in a water-tight and water-impermeable condition,   among other things), structural condition of interior

bearing walls,   exterior roof, fire sprinkler system   subject to Section 7.1 (a) and 7.1 (b) above, Common Area fire alarm and/or smoke detection

systems, fire hydrants, parking lots, walkways, parkways, driveways, landscaping, fences, roof drainage systems, the cost to repaint the

exterior of structures,   sump pumps in Common Areas only,   utility systems serving the Premises (including but not limited to laterals

and conduits to and from the Premises), plumbing under the floor, entry way or substructure of the Premises, signs and utility systems

serving the Common Areas and all parts thereof,   as well as providing the services for which there is a Common Area Operating Expense

pursuant to Paragraph 4.2.       Notwithstanding anything stated herein to the contrary, the cost of any of the foregoing shall not be

borne by Lessee unless any damage, disrepair or deteriorated condition of the aforementioned items is caused by the sole acts or

omissions of Lessee.  Lessor shall not be obligated to paint the exterior or interior surfaces of exterior walls nor shall Lessor be obligated to maintain,

repair or replace windows, doors or plate glass of the Premises   nor any feature that Lessee is required to maintain and repair unless the

_________                         PAGE 8 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

238



damage, disrepair or deteriorated condition is solely caused by Lessor's acts or omissions.  Lessee expressly waives the benefit of any

statute now or hereafter in effect to the extent it is inconsistent with the terms of this Lease.

 7.3   Utility Installations; Trade Fixtures; Alterations.

  (a)   Definitions.  The term   "Utility Installations" refers to all floor and window coverings, air and/or vacuum lines, power

panels, electrical distribution, security and fire protection systems, communication cabling, lighting fixtures, HVAC equipment, plumbing, and fencing in

or on the Premises.  The term "Trade Fixtures" shall mean Lessee's machinery and equipment that can be removed without doing material damage to

the Premises.  The term "Alterations" shall mean any modification of the improvements, other than Utility Installations or Trade Fixtures, whether by

addition or deletion.  "Lessee Owned Alterations and/or Utility Installations" are defined as Alterations and/or Utility Installations made by Lessee

that are not yet owned by Lessor pursuant to Paragraph 7.4(a).   

  (b)    Consent.   Except as is provided in and subject to Paragraph 56 of the Addendum, Lessee shall not make any

Alterations or Utility Installations to the Premises without Lessor's prior written consent.  Lessee may, however, make non-structural Alterations or Utility

Installations to the interior of the Premises (excluding the roof) without such consent but upon notice to Lessor, as long as they are not visible from the

outside, do not involve puncturing, relocating or removing the roof or any existing walls, will not affect the electrical, plumbing, HVAC, and/or life safety

systems, and the cumulative cost thereof during this Lease as extended does not exceed a sum equal to 3 month's Base Rent in the aggregate or a

sum equal to one month's Base Rent in any one year.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall not make or permit any roof penetrations and/or

install anything on the roof without the prior written approval of Lessor.  Lessor may, as a precondition to granting such approval, require Lessee to

utilize a contractor chosen and/or approved by Lessor   provided, however, that in the event Lessee is required to use a competitive bidding

process or other procedure which requires the Lessee to select the contractor, then Lessor shall not have any rights pursuant to

this sentence.  Any Alterations or Utility Installations that Lessee shall desire to make and which require the consent of the Lessor shall be presented

to Lessor in written form with detailed plans.  Consent shall be deemed conditioned upon Lessee's:  (i) acquiring all applicable governmental permits, (ii)

furnishing Lessor with copies of both the permits and the plans and specifications prior to commencement of the work, and (iii) compliance with all

conditions of said permits and other Applicable Requirements in a prompt and expeditious manner.  Any Alterations or Utility Installations shall be

performed in a workmanlike manner with good and sufficient materials.  Lessee shall promptly upon completion furnish Lessor with as-built plans and

specifications. For work which costs an amount in excess of one month's Base Rent, Lessor may condition its consent upon Lessee providing a lien

and completion bond in an amount equal to 150% of the estimated cost of such Alteration or Utility Installation and/or upon Lessee's posting   a   an

additional   Security Deposit with Lessor.

  (c)    Liens; Bonds.  Lessee shall pay, when due, all claims for labor or materials furnished or alleged to have been furnished

to or for Lessee at or for use on the Premises, which claims are or may be secured by any mechanic's or materialman's lien against the Premises or

any interest therein.  Lessee shall give Lessor not less than 10 days notice prior to the commencement of any work in, on or about the Premises, and

Lessor shall have the right to post notices of non-responsibility.  If Lessee shall contest the validity of any such lien, claim or demand, then Lessee

shall, at its sole expense defend and protect itself, Lessor and the Premises against the same and shall pay and satisfy any such adverse judgment that

may be rendered thereon before the enforcement thereof.  If Lessor shall require, Lessee shall furnish a surety bond in an amount equal to 150% of the

amount of such contested lien, claim or demand, indemnifying Lessor against liability for the same.  If Lessor elects to participate in any such action,

Lessee shall pay Lessor's attorneys' fees and costs.

 7.4   Ownership; Removal; Surrender; and Restoration.

  (a)    Ownership.  Subject to Lessor's right to require removal or elect ownership as hereinafter provided, all Alterations and

Utility Installations made by Lessee shall be the property of Lessee, but considered a part of the Premises.  Lessor may, at any time, elect in writing to

be the owner of all or any specified part of the Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations.  Unless otherwise instructed per paragraph 7.4(b)

hereof, all Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations shall, at the expiration or termination of this Lease, become the property of Lessor and be

surrendered by Lessee with the Premises.

  (b)    Removal.    By   Except as to any Alterations, Expansion Structure or Utility Installations effected or

installed pursuant to Paragraph 56 or 62 of the Addendum  or any other Alteration or Utility Installation consented to by Lessor,

by   delivery to Lessee of written notice from Lessor not earlier than 90 and not later than 30 days prior to the end of the term of this Lease, Lessor may

require that any or all Lessee Owned Alterations or Utility Installations be removed by the expiration or termination of this Lease.  Lessor may require

the removal at any time of all or any part of any Lessee Owned Alterations or Utility Installations made without the required consent.

  (c)    Surrender; Restoration.  Lessee shall surrender the Premises by the Expiration Date or any earlier termination date,

with all of the improvements, parts and surfaces thereof broom clean and free of debris, and in good operating order, condition and state of repair,

ordinary wear and tear excepted.  "Ordinary wear and tear" shall not include any damage or deterioration that would have been prevented by good

maintenance practice.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if this Lease is for 12 months or less, then Lessee shall surrender the Premises in the same

condition as delivered to Lessee on the Start Date with NO allowance for ordinary wear and tear.  Lessee shall repair any damage occasioned by the

installation, maintenance or removal of Trade Fixtures, Lessee owned Alterations and/or Utility Installations, furnishings, and equipment as well as the

removal of any storage tank installed by or for Lessee.  Lessee shall also remove from the Premises any and all Hazardous Substances brought onto

the Premises by or for Lessee, or any third party (except Hazardous Substances which were deposited via underground migration from areas outside of

the Project) to the level specified in Applicable Requirements.  Trade Fixtures shall remain the property of Lessee and shall be removed by Lessee. Any

_________                         PAGE 9 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

239



personal property of Lessee not removed on or before the Expiration Date or any earlier termination date shall be deemed to have been abandoned by

Lessee and may be disposed of or retained by Lessor as Lessor may desire.  The failure by Lessee to timely vacate the Premises pursuant to this

Paragraph 7.4(c) without the express written consent of Lessor shall constitute a holdover under the provisions of Paragraph 26 below.

8.   Insurance; Indemnity.

 8.1   Payment of Premiums.  The cost of the premiums for the insurance policies required to be carried by Lessor, pursuant to

Paragraphs 8.2(b), 8.3(a) and 8.3(b), shall be a Common Area Operating Expense.  Premiums for policy periods commencing prior to, or extending

beyond, the term of this Lease shall be prorated to coincide with the corresponding Start Date or Expiration Date.

 8.2   Liability Insurance.

  (a)    Carried by Lessee.  Lessee shall obtain and keep in force a Commercial General Liability policy of insurance protecting

Lessee and Lessor as an additional insured against claims for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage based upon or arising out of the

ownership, use, occupancy or maintenance of the Premises and all areas appurtenant thereto.  Such insurance shall be on an occurrence basis

providing single limit coverage in an amount not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence with an annual aggregate of not less than $2,000,000. Lessee

shall add Lessor as an additional insured by means of an endorsement at least as broad as the Insurance Service Organization's "Additional

Insured-Managers or Lessors of Premises" Endorsement. The policy shall not contain any intra-insured exclusions as between insured persons or

organizations, but shall include coverage for liability assumed under this Lease as an "insured contract" for the performance of Lessee's indemnity

obligations under this Lease.  The limits of said insurance shall not, however, limit the liability of Lessee nor relieve Lessee of any obligation hereunder.   

Lessee shall provide an endorsement on its liability policy(ies) which provides that its insurance shall be primary to and not contributory with any similar

insurance carried by Lessor, whose insurance shall be considered excess insurance only.

  (b)    Carried by Lessor.  Lessor shall maintain liability insurance as described in Paragraph 8.2(a), in addition to, and not in

lieu of, the insurance required to be maintained by Lessee.  Lessee shall not be named as an additional insured therein.

 8.3   Property Insurance - Building, Improvements and Rental Value.

  (a)    Building and Improvements.  Lessor shall obtain and keep in force a policy or policies of insurance in the name of

Lessor, with loss payable to Lessor, any ground-lessor, and to any Lender insuring loss or damage to the Premises.  The amount of such insurance

shall be equal to the full insurable replacement cost of the Premises, as the same shall exist from time to time, or the amount required by any Lender,

but in no event more than the commercially reasonable and available insurable value thereof.  Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations, Trade

Fixtures, and Lessee's personal property shall be insured by Lessee not by Lessor.  If the coverage is available and commercially appropriate, such

policy or policies shall insure against all risks of direct physical loss or damage (except the perils of flood and/or earthquake unless required by a

Lender), including coverage for debris removal and the enforcement of any Applicable Requirements requiring the upgrading, demolition, reconstruction

or replacement of any portion of the Premises as the result of a covered loss.  Said policy or policies shall also contain an agreed valuation provision in

lieu of any coinsurance clause, waiver of subrogation, and inflation guard protection causing an increase in the annual property insurance coverage

amount by a factor of not less than the adjusted U.S. Department of Labor Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers for the city nearest to where

the Premises are located.  If such insurance coverage has a deductible clause, the deductible amount shall not exceed $5,000 per occurrence.

  (b)    Rental Value.  Lessor shall also obtain and keep in force a policy or policies in the name of Lessor with loss payable to

Lessor and any Lender, insuring the loss of the full Rent for one year with an extended period of indemnity for an additional 180 days ("Rental Value

insurance").  Said insurance shall contain an agreed valuation provision in lieu of any coinsurance clause, and the amount of coverage shall be

adjusted annually to reflect the projected Rent otherwise payable by Lessee, for the next 12 month period.

   (c)    Adjacent Premises.  Lessee shall pay for any increase in the premiums for the property insurance of the Building and for

the Common Areas or other buildings in the Project if said increase is caused by Lessee's acts, omissions, use or occupancy of the Premises.

  (d)    Lessee's Improvements.  Since Lessor is the Insuring Party, Lessor shall not be required to insure Lessee Owned

Alterations and Utility Installations unless the item in question has become the property of Lessor under the terms of this Lease.

  8.4   Lessee's Property; Business Interruption Insurance; Worker's Compensation Insurance.

  (a)    Property Damage.  Lessee shall obtain and maintain insurance coverage on all of Lessee's personal property, Trade

Fixtures, and Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations.  Such insurance shall be full replacement cost coverage with a deductible of not to

exceed $1,000 per occurrence.  The proceeds from any such insurance shall be used by Lessee for the replacement of personal property, Trade

Fixtures and Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations.    

  (b)    Business Interruption.  Lessee shall obtain and maintain loss of income and extra expense insurance in amounts as will

reimburse Lessee for direct or indirect loss of earnings attributable to all perils commonly insured against by prudent lessees in the business of Lessee

or attributable to prevention of access to the Premises as a result of such perils.   

  (c)    Worker's Compensation Insurance.    Lessee shall obtain and maintain Worker’s Compensation Insurance in such

amount as may be required by Applicable Requirements. Such policy shall include a ‘Waiver of Subrogation’ endorsement.  Lessee shall provide

Lessor with a copy of such endorsement along with the certificate of insurance or copy of the policy required by paragraph 8.5.

  (d)    No Representation of Adequate Coverage.  Lessor makes no representation that the limits or forms of coverage of

insurance specified herein are adequate to cover Lessee's property, business operations or obligations under this Lease.

_________                         PAGE 10 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

240



 8.5   Insurance Policies.  Insurance required herein shall be by companies maintaining during the policy term a "General Policyholders

Rating" of at least A-, VII, as set forth in the most current issue of "Best's Insurance Guide", or such other rating as may be required by a Lender.

Insurance policies required hereunder and their premiums shall be commercially reasonable.  Lessee shall not do or permit to be done

anything which invalidates the required insurance policies.  Lessee shall, prior to the Start Date, deliver to Lessor certified copies of policies of such

insurance or certificates with copies of the required endorsements evidencing the existence and amounts of the required insurance.  No such policy

shall be cancelable or subject to modification except after 30 days prior written notice to Lessor.  Lessee shall, at least 10 days prior to the expiration of

such policies, furnish Lessor with evidence of renewals or "insurance binders" evidencing renewal thereof, or Lessor may order such insurance and

charge the cost thereof to Lessee, which amount shall be payable by Lessee to Lessor upon demand.  Such policies shall be for a term of at least one

year, or the length of the remaining term of this Lease, whichever is less.  If either Party shall fail to procure and maintain the insurance required to be

carried by it, the other Party may, but shall not be required to, procure and maintain the same.    Lessee shall submit to Lessor evidence of the

insurance policies Lessee is required to maintain hereunder within the time specified in this Lease.  Unless Lessor notifies Lessee in

writing within thirty (30) days after the Start Date that such evidence and/or policies do not meet the requirements of this Lease,

said policies and evidence shall be deemed to comply with the insurance requirements imposed upon Lessee under this Lease.
 8.6   Waiver of Subrogation.  Without affecting any other rights or remedies, Lessee and Lessor each hereby release and relieve the

other, and waive their entire right to recover damages against the other, for loss of or damage to its property arising out of or incident to the perils

required to be insured against herein.  The effect of such releases and waivers is not limited by the amount of insurance carried or required, or by any

deductibles applicable hereto.  The Parties agree to have their respective property damage insurance carriers waive any right to subrogation that such

companies may have against Lessor or Lessee, as the case may be, so long as the insurance is not invalidated thereby.

 8.7   Indemnity.  Except for Lessor's gross negligence or willful misconduct, Lessee shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless

the Premises, Lessor and its agents, Lessor's master or ground lessor, partners and Lenders, from and against any and all claims, loss of rents and/or

damages, liens, judgments, penalties, attorneys' and consultants' fees, expenses and/or liabilities arising out of, involving, or in connection with, the use

and/or occupancy of the Premises by Lessee.  If any action or proceeding is brought against Lessor by reason of any of the foregoing matters   for

which Lessee provides indemnification hereunder, Lessee shall upon notice defend the same at Lessee's expense by counsel reasonably

satisfactory to Lessor and Lessor shall cooperate with Lessee in such defense.  Lessor need not have first paid any such claim in order to be defended

or indemnified.    

 8.8   Exemption of Lessor and its Agents from Liability.    Notwithstanding   Except for   the negligence or breach of this Lease by

Lessor or its agents, neither Lessor nor its agents shall be liable under any circumstances for: (i) injury or damage to the person or goods, wares,

merchandise or other property of Lessee, Lessee's employees, contractors, invitees, customers, or any other person in or about the Premises, whether

such damage or injury is caused by or results from fire, steam, electricity, gas, water or rain, indoor air quality, the presence of mold or from the

breakage, leakage, obstruction or other defects of pipes, fire sprinklers, wires, appliances, plumbing, HVAC or lighting fixtures, or from any other cause,

whether the said injury or damage results from conditions arising upon the Premises or upon other portions of the Building, or from other sources or

places, (ii) any damages arising from any act or neglect of any other tenant of Lessor or from the failure of Lessor or its agents to enforce the provisions

of any other lease in the Project, or (iii) injury to Lessee's business or for any loss of income or profit therefrom.  Instead, it is intended that Lessee's

sole recourse in the event of such damages or injury be to file a claim on the insurance policy(ies) that Lessee is required to maintain pursuant to the

provisions of paragraph 8.    

   8.9 Failure to Provide Insurance.  Lessee acknowledges that any failure on its part to obtain or maintain the insurance

required herein will expose Lessor to risks and potentially cause Lessor to incur costs not contemplated by this Lease, the extent of which

will be extremely difficult to ascertain.  Accordingly, for any month or portion thereof that Lessee does not maintain the required insurance

and/or does not provide Lessor with the required binders or certificates evidencing the existence of the required insurance, the Base Rent

shall be automatically increased, without any requirement for notice to Lessee, by an amount equal to   10% 5%   of the then existing Base Rent

or $100, whichever is greater.  The parties agree that such increase in Base Rent represents fair and reasonable compensation for the

additional risk/costs that Lessor will incur by reason of Lessee's failure to maintain the required insurance.  Such increase in Base Rent shall

in no event constitute a waiver of Lessee's Default or Breach with respect to the failure to maintain such insurance, prevent the exercise of

any of the other rights and remedies granted hereunder, nor relieve Lessee of its obligation to maintain the insurance specified in this Lease.

9.   Damage or Destruction.

 9.1   Definitions.

  (a)    "Premises Partial Damage" shall mean damage or destruction to the improvements on the Premises, other than

Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations, which can reasonably be repaired in 3 months or less from the date of the damage or destruction,

and the cost thereof does not exceed a sum equal to 6 month's Base Rent.  Lessor shall notify Lessee in writing within 30 days from the date of the

damage or destruction as to whether or not the damage is Partial or Total.    

  (b)    "Premises Total Destruction" shall mean damage or destruction to the improvements on the Premises, other than

Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations and Trade Fixtures, which cannot reasonably be repaired in 3 months or less from the date of the

damage or destruction and/or the cost thereof exceeds a sum equal to 6 month's Base Rent.  Lessor shall notify Lessee in writing within 30 days from

the date of the damage or destruction as to whether or not the damage is Partial or Total.

_________                         PAGE 11 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

241



  (c)    "Insured Loss" shall mean damage or destruction to improvements on the Premises, other than Lessee Owned

Alterations and Utility Installations and Trade Fixtures, which was caused by an event required to be covered by the insurance described in Paragraph

8.3(a), irrespective of any deductible amounts or coverage limits involved.

  (d)    "Replacement Cost" shall mean the cost to repair or rebuild the improvements owned by Lessor at the time of the

occurrence to their condition existing immediately prior thereto, including demolition, debris removal and upgrading required by the operation of

Applicable Requirements, and without deduction for depreciation.

  (e)    "Hazardous Substance Condition" shall mean the occurrence or discovery of a condition involving the presence of, or

a contamination by, a Hazardous Substance, in, on, or under the Premises which requires restoration.

 9.2   Partial Damage - Insured Loss.  If a Premises Partial Damage that is an Insured Loss occurs, then Lessor shall, at Lessor's

expense, repair such damage (but not Lessee's Trade Fixtures or Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations) as soon as reasonably possible

and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect; provided, however, that Lessee shall, at Lessor's election, make the repair of any damage or

destruction the total cost to repair of which is $10,000 or less, and, in such event, Lessor shall make any applicable insurance proceeds available to

Lessee on a reasonable basis for that purpose.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the required insurance was not in force or the insurance proceeds are

not sufficient to effect such repair, the Insuring Party shall promptly contribute the shortage in proceeds as and when required to complete said repairs.   

In the event, however, such shortage was due to the fact that, by reason of the unique nature of the improvements, full replacement cost insurance

coverage was not commercially reasonable and available, Lessor shall have no obligation to pay for the shortage in insurance proceeds or to fully

restore the unique aspects of the Premises unless Lessee provides Lessor with the funds to cover same, or adequate assurance thereof, within 10 days

following receipt of written notice of such shortage and request therefor.  If Lessor receives said funds or adequate assurance thereof within said 10 day

period, the party responsible for making the repairs shall complete them as soon as reasonably possible and this Lease shall remain in full force and

effect.  If such funds or assurance are not received, Lessor may nevertheless elect by written notice to Lessee within 10 days thereafter to:  (i) make

such restoration and repair as is commercially reasonable with Lessor paying any shortage in proceeds, in which case this Lease shall remain in full

force and effect, or (ii) have this Lease terminate 30 days thereafter.  Lessee shall not be entitled to reimbursement of any funds contributed by Lessee

to repair any such damage or destruction.  Premises Partial Damage due to flood or earthquake shall be subject to Paragraph 9.3, notwithstanding that

there may be some insurance coverage, but the net proceeds of any such insurance shall be made available for the repairs if made by either Party.

 9.3   Partial Damage - Uninsured Loss.  If a Premises Partial Damage that is not an Insured Loss occurs, unless caused by a

negligent or willful act of Lessee (in which event Lessee shall make the repairs at Lessee's expense), Lessor may either:  (i) repair such damage as

soon as reasonably possible at Lessor's expense (subject to reimbursement pursuant to Paragraph 4.2), in which event this Lease shall continue in full

force and effect, or (ii) terminate this Lease by giving written notice to Lessee within 30 days after receipt by Lessor of knowledge of the occurrence of

such damage.  Such termination shall be effective 60 days following the date of such notice.  In the event Lessor elects to terminate this Lease, Lessee

shall have the right within 10 days after receipt of the termination notice to give written notice to Lessor of Lessee's commitment to pay for the repair of

such damage without reimbursement from Lessor.  Lessee shall provide Lessor with said funds or satisfactory assurance thereof within 30 days after

making such commitment.  In such event this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, and Lessor shall proceed to make such repairs as soon as

reasonably possible after the required funds are available.  If Lessee does not make the required commitment, this Lease shall terminate as of the date

specified in the termination notice.

 9.4   Total Destruction.  Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, if a Premises Total Destruction occurs, this Lease shall terminate

60 days following such Destruction.  If the damage or destruction was caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lessee, Lessor shall

have the right to recover Lessor's damages from Lessee, except as provided in Paragraph 8.6.

 9.5   Damage Near End of Term.  If at any time during the last 6 months of this Lease there is damage for which the cost to repair

exceeds one month's Base Rent, whether or not an Insured Loss, Lessor may terminate this Lease effective 60 days following the date of occurrence of

such damage by giving a written termination notice to Lessee within 30 days after the date of occurrence of such damage.  Notwithstanding the

foregoing, if Lessee at that time has an exercisable option to extend this Lease or to purchase the Premises, then Lessee may preserve this Lease by,

(a) exercising such option and (b) providing Lessor with any shortage in insurance proceeds (or adequate assurance thereof) needed to make the

repairs on or before the earlier of (i) the date which is 10 days after Lessee's receipt of Lessor's written notice purporting to terminate this Lease, or (ii)

the day prior to the date upon which such option expires.  If Lessee duly exercises such option during such period and provides Lessor with funds (or

adequate assurance thereof) to cover any shortage in insurance proceeds, Lessor shall, at Lessor's commercially reasonable expense, repair such

damage as soon as reasonably possible and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect.  If Lessee fails to exercise such option and provide such

funds or assurance during such period, then this Lease shall terminate on the date specified in the termination notice and Lessee's option shall be

extinguished.

 9.6   Abatement of Rent; Lessee's Remedies.

  (a)    Abatement.  In the event of Premises Partial Damage or Premises Total Destruction or a Hazardous Substance

Condition for which Lessee is not responsible under this Lease, the Rent payable by Lessee for the period required for the repair, remediation or

restoration of such damage shall be abated in proportion to the degree to which Lessee's use of the Premises is impaired   during the period

beginning on the later of (i) the date of destruction or the advent of the condition, or (ii) the date Lessee ceases to occupy the

affected portion of the  Premises because of same and ending on the date the Lessee is able to and does occupy the Premises, which

_________                         PAGE 12 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

242



date shall not be longer than   30   10 days after completion of the repair, remediation or restoration of such damages, but not to exceed

the proceeds received from the Rental Value insurance.  All other obligations of Lessee hereunder shall be performed by Lessee, and Lessor shall have

no liability for any such damage, destruction, remediation, repair or restoration except as provided herein.

  (b)    Remedies.  If Lessor is obligated to repair or restore the Premises and does not commence, in a substantial and

meaningful way, such repair or restoration within 90 days after such obligation shall accrue, Lessee may, at any time prior to the commencement of

such repair or restoration, give written notice to Lessor and to any Lenders of which Lessee has actual notice, of Lessee's election to terminate this

Lease on a date not less than 60 days following the giving of such notice.  If Lessee gives such notice and such repair or restoration is not commenced

within 30 days thereafter, this Lease shall terminate as of the date specified in said notice.  If the repair or restoration is commenced within such 30

days, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect.  "Commence" shall mean either the unconditional authorization of the preparation of the required

plans, or the beginning of the actual work on the Premises, whichever first occurs.

 9.7   Termination; Advance Payments.  Upon termination of this Lease pursuant to Paragraph 6.2(g) or Paragraph 9, an equitable

adjustment shall be made concerning advance Base Rent and any other advance payments made by Lessee to Lessor.  Lessor shall, in addition, return

to Lessee so much of Lessee's Security Deposit as has not been, or is not then required to be, used by Lessor.

10.    Real Property Taxes.

 10.1   Definition.  As used herein, the term "Real Property Taxes" shall include any form of assessment; real estate, general, special,

ordinary or extraordinary, or rental levy or tax (other than inheritance, personal income or estate taxes); improvement bond; and/or license fee imposed

upon or levied against any legal or equitable interest of Lessor in the Project, Lessor's right to other income therefrom, and/or Lessor's business of

leasing, by any authority having the direct or indirect power to tax and where the funds are generated with reference to the Project address and where

the proceeds so generated are to be applied by the city, county or other local taxing authority of a jurisdiction within which the Project is located.  The

term "Real Property Taxes" shall also include any tax, fee, levy, assessment or charge, or any increase therein: (i) imposed by reason of events

occurring during the term of this Lease, including but not limited to, a change in the ownership of the Project, (ii) a change in the improvements thereon,

and/or (iii) levied or assessed on machinery or equipment provided by Lessor to Lessee pursuant to this Lease.  In calculating Real Property Taxes for

any calendar year, the Real Property Taxes for any real estate tax year shall be included in the calculation of Real Property Taxes for such calendar

year based upon the number of days which such calendar year and tax year have in common.    See also Paragraph 60.
 10.2   Payment of Taxes.  Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 10.3, Lessor shall pay the Real Property Taxes applicable to the

Project, and said payments shall be included in the calculation of Common Area Operating Expenses in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph

4.2.

 10.3   Additional Improvements.  Common Area Operating Expenses shall not include Real Property Taxes specified in the tax

assessor's records and work sheets as being caused by additional improvements placed upon the Project by other lessees or by Lessor for the

exclusive enjoyment of such other lessees.  Notwithstanding Paragraph 10.2 hereof, Lessee shall, however, pay to Lessor at the time Common Area

Operating Expenses are payable under Paragraph 4.2, the entirety of any increase in Real Property Taxes if assessed solely by reason of Alterations,

Trade Fixtures or Utility Installations placed upon the Premises by Lessee or at Lessee's request or by reason of any alterations or improvements to the

Premises made by Lessor subsequent to the execution of this Lease by the Parties.

 10.4   Joint Assessment.  If the Building is not separately assessed, Real Property Taxes allocated to the Building shall be an equitable

proportion of the Real Property Taxes for all of the land and improvements included within the tax parcel assessed, such proportion to be determined by

Lessor from the respective valuations assigned in the assessor's work sheets or such other information as may be reasonably available.  Lessor's

reasonable determination thereof, in good faith, shall be conclusive.

 10.5   Personal Property Taxes.  Lessee shall pay prior to delinquency all taxes assessed against and levied upon Lessee Owned

Alterations and Utility Installations, Trade Fixtures, furnishings, equipment and all personal property of Lessee contained in the Premises.  When

possible, Lessee shall cause its Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations, Trade Fixtures, furnishings, equipment and all other personal

property to be assessed and billed separately from the real property of Lessor.  If any of Lessee's said property shall be assessed with Lessor's real

property, Lessee shall pay Lessor the taxes attributable to Lessee's property within 10 days after receipt of a written statement setting forth the taxes

applicable to Lessee's property.

11.    Utilities and Services.  Lessee shall pay for all water, gas, heat, light, power, telephone, trash disposal and other utilities and services

supplied to the Premises, together with any taxes thereon.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 4.2, if at any time in Lessor's sole judgment,

Lessor determines that Lessee is using a disproportionate amount of water, electricity or other commonly metered utilities, or that Lessee is generating

such a large volume of trash as to require an increase in the size of the trash receptacle and/or an increase in the number of times per month that it is

emptied, then Lessor may increase Lessee's Base Rent by an amount equal to such increased costs.  There shall be no abatement of Rent and Lessor

shall not be liable in any respect whatsoever for the inadequacy, stoppage, interruption or discontinuance of any utility or service due to riot, strike, labor

dispute, breakdown, accident, repair or other cause beyond Lessor's reasonable control or in cooperation with governmental request or directions.

12.    Assignment and Subletting.

 12.1   Lessor's Consent Required.

  (a)  Lessee shall not voluntarily or by operation of law assign, transfer, mortgage or encumber (collectively,   "assign or

assignment") or sublet all or any part of Lessee's interest in this Lease or in the Premises without Lessor's prior written consent.  See Paragraph 59.

_________                         PAGE 13 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

243



  (b)  Unless Lessee is a corporation and its stock is publicly traded on a national stock exchange, a change in the control of

Lessee shall constitute an assignment requiring consent.  The transfer, on a cumulative basis, of 25% or more of the voting control of Lessee shall

constitute a change in control for this purpose.

  (c)  The involvement of Lessee or its assets in any transaction, or series of transactions (by way of merger, sale, acquisition,

financing, transfer, leveraged buy-out or otherwise), whether or not a formal assignment or hypothecation of this Lease or Lessee's assets occurs,

which results or will result in a reduction of the Net Worth of Lessee by an amount greater than 25% of such Net Worth as it was represented at the

time of the execution of this Lease or at the time of the most recent assignment to which Lessor has consented, or as it exists immediately prior to said

transaction or transactions constituting such reduction, whichever was or is greater, shall be considered an assignment of this Lease to which Lessor

may withhold its consent.    "Net Worth of Lessee" shall mean the net worth of Lessee (excluding any guarantors) established under generally accepted

accounting principles.

  (d)  An assignment or subletting without consent shall, at Lessor's option, be a Default curable after notice per Paragraph

13.1(c), or a noncurable Breach without the necessity of any notice and grace period.  If Lessor elects to treat such unapproved assignment or

subletting as a noncurable Breach, Lessor may either: (i) terminate this Lease, or (ii) upon 30 days written notice, increase the monthly Base Rent to

110% of the Base Rent then in effect.  Further, in the event of such Breach and rental adjustment, (i) the purchase price of any option to purchase the

Premises held by Lessee shall be subject to similar adjustment to 110% of the price previously in effect, and (ii) all fixed and non-fixed rental

adjustments scheduled during the remainder of the Lease term shall be increased to 110% of the scheduled adjusted rent.

  (e)  Lessee's remedy for any breach of Paragraph 12.1 by Lessor shall be limited to compensatory damages and/or injunctive

relief.

  (f) Lessor may reasonably withhold consent to a proposed assignment or subletting if Lessee is in Default at the time

consent is requested.

  (g) Notwithstanding the foregoing, allowing a de minimis portion of the Premises, ie. 20 square feet or less, to be used by a

third party vendor in connection with the installation of a vending machine or payphone shall not constitute a subletting.

 12.2   Terms and Conditions Applicable to Assignment and Subletting.

  (a) Regardless of Lessor's consent, no assignment or subletting shall:  (i) be effective without the express written assumption

by such assignee or sublessee of the obligations of Lessee under this Lease, (ii) release Lessee of any obligations hereunder, or (iii) alter the primary

liability of Lessee for the payment of Rent or for the performance of any other obligations to be performed by Lessee.    

  (b) Lessor may accept Rent or performance of Lessee's obligations from any person other than Lessee pending approval or

disapproval of an assignment.  Neither a delay in the approval or disapproval of such assignment nor the acceptance of Rent or performance shall

constitute a waiver or estoppel of Lessor's right to exercise its remedies for Lessee's Default or Breach.

  (c) Lessor's consent to any assignment or subletting shall not constitute consent to any subsequent assignment or

subletting.

  (d) In the event of any Default or Breach by Lessee, Lessor may proceed directly against Lessee, any Guarantors or anyone

else responsible for the performance of Lessee's obligations under this Lease, including any assignee or sublessee, without first exhausting Lessor's

remedies against any other person or entity responsible therefore to Lessor, or any security held by Lessor.

  (e) Each request for consent to an assignment or subletting shall be in writing, accompanied by information relevant to

Lessor's determination as to the financial and operational responsibility and appropriateness of the proposed assignee or sublessee, including but not

limited to the intended use and/or required modification of the Premises, if any, together with a fee of $500 as consideration for Lessor's considering

and processing said request.  Lessee agrees to provide Lessor with such other or additional information and/or documentation as may be reasonably

requested. (See also Paragraph 36)

  (f) Any assignee of, or sublessee under, this Lease shall, by reason of accepting such assignment, entering into such

sublease, or entering into possession of the Premises or any portion thereof, be deemed to have assumed and agreed to conform and comply with

each and every term, covenant, condition and obligation herein to be observed or performed by Lessee during the term of said assignment or sublease,

other than such obligations as are contrary to or inconsistent with provisions of an assignment or sublease to which Lessor has specifically consented

to in writing.

  (g) Lessor's consent to any assignment or subletting shall not transfer to the assignee or sublessee any Option granted to

the original Lessee by this Lease unless such transfer is specifically consented to by Lessor in writing. (See Paragraph 39.2)

 12.3   Additional Terms and Conditions Applicable to Subletting.  The following terms and conditions shall apply to any subletting by

Lessee of all or any part of the Premises and shall be deemed included in all subleases under this Lease whether or not expressly incorporated therein:

  (a) Lessee hereby assigns and transfers to Lessor all of Lessee's interest in all Rent payable on any sublease, and Lessor

may collect such Rent and apply same toward Lessee's obligations under this Lease; provided, however, that until a Breach shall occur in the

performance of Lessee's obligations, Lessee may collect said Rent. In the event that the amount collected by Lessor exceeds Lessee's then

outstanding obligations any such excess shall be refunded to Lessee.  Lessor shall not, by reason of the foregoing or any assignment of such sublease,

nor by reason of the collection of Rent, be deemed liable to the sublessee for any failure of Lessee to perform and comply with any of Lessee's

obligations to such sublessee.  Lessee hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs any such sublessee, upon receipt of a written notice from Lessor

_________                         PAGE 14 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

244



stating that a Breach exists in the performance of Lessee's obligations under this Lease, to pay to Lessor all Rent due and to become due under the

sublease.  Sublessee shall rely upon any such notice from Lessor and shall pay all Rents to Lessor without any obligation or right to inquire as to

whether such Breach exists, notwithstanding any claim from Lessee to the contrary.   

  (b) In the event of a Breach by Lessee, Lessor may, at its option, require sublessee to attorn to Lessor, in which event

Lessor shall undertake the obligations of the sublessor under such sublease from the time of the exercise of said option to the expiration of such

sublease; provided, however, Lessor shall not be liable for any prepaid rents or security deposit paid by such sublessee to such sublessor or for any

prior Defaults or Breaches of such sublessor.

  (c) Any matter requiring the consent of the sublessor under a sublease shall also require the consent of Lessor.

  (d) No sublessee shall further assign or sublet all or any part of the Premises without Lessor's prior written consent.

  (e) Lessor shall deliver a copy of any notice of Default or Breach by Lessee to the sublessee, who shall have the right to cure

the Default of Lessee within the grace period, if any, specified in such notice.  The sublessee shall have a right of reimbursement and offset from and

against Lessee for any such Defaults cured by the sublessee.

13.    Default; Breach; Remedies.

 13.1   Default; Breach.  A   "Default" is defined as a failure by the Lessee to comply with or perform any of the terms, covenants,

conditions or Rules and Regulations under this Lease.  A   "Breach" is defined as the occurrence of one or more of the following Defaults, and the

failure of Lessee to cure such Default within any applicable grace period:

  (a) The abandonment of the Premises; or the vacating of the Premises without providing a commercially reasonable level of

security, or where the coverage of the property insurance described in Paragraph 8.3 is jeopardized as a result thereof, or without providing reasonable

assurances to minimize potential vandalism.

  (b) The failure of Lessee to make any payment of Rent or any Security Deposit required to be made by Lessee hereunder,

whether to Lessor or to a third party, when due, to provide reasonable evidence of insurance or surety bond, or to fulfill any obligation under this Lease

which endangers or threatens life or property, where such failure continues for a period of 3 business days following written notice to Lessee. THE

ACCEPTANCE BY LESSOR OF A PARTIAL PAYMENT OF RENT OR SECURITY DEPOSIT SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A WAIVER OF ANY OF

LESSOR'S RIGHTS, INCLUDING LESSOR'S RIGHT TO RECOVER POSSESSION OF THE PREMISES.

  (c) The failure of Lessee to allow Lessor and/or its agents access to the Premises or the commission of waste, act or acts

constituting public or private nuisance, and/or an illegal activity on the Premises by Lessee, where such actions continue for a period of 3 business days

following written notice to Lessee.

  (d) The failure by Lessee to provide (i) reasonable written evidence of compliance with Applicable Requirements, (ii) the

service contracts, (iii) the rescission of an unauthorized assignment or subletting, (iv) an Estoppel Certificate or financial statements, (v) a requested

subordination, (vi) evidence concerning any guaranty and/or Guarantor, (vii) any document requested under Paragraph 41, (viii) material data safety

sheets (MSDS), or (ix) any other documentation or information which Lessor may reasonably require of Lessee under the terms of this Lease, where

any such failure continues for a period of 10 days following written notice to Lessee.

  (e) A Default by Lessee as to the terms, covenants, conditions or provisions of this Lease, or of the rules adopted under

Paragraph 2.9 hereof, other than those described in subparagraphs 13.1(a), (b), (c) or (d), above, where such Default continues for a period of 30 days

after written notice; provided, however, that if the nature of Lessee's Default is such that more than 30 days are reasonably required for its cure, then it

shall not be deemed to be a Breach if Lessee commences such cure within said 30 day period and thereafter diligently prosecutes such cure to

completion.

  (f) The occurrence of any of the following events:  (i) the making of any general arrangement or assignment for the benefit of

creditors; (ii) becoming a   "debtor" as defined in 11 U.S.C.   § 101 or any successor statute thereto (unless, in the case of a petition filed against

Lessee, the same is dismissed within 60 days); (iii) the appointment of a trustee or receiver to take possession of substantially all of Lessee's assets

located at the Premises or of Lessee's interest in this Lease, where possession is not restored to Lessee within 30 days; or (iv) the attachment,

execution or other judicial seizure of substantially all of Lessee's assets located at the Premises or of Lessee's interest in this Lease, where such

seizure is not discharged within 30 days; provided, however, in the event that any provision of this subparagraph  is contrary to any applicable law, such

provision shall be of no force or effect, and not affect the validity of the remaining provisions.

  (g) The discovery that any financial statement of Lessee or of any Guarantor given to Lessor was materially false.

  (h) If the performance of Lessee's obligations under this Lease is guaranteed:  (i) the death of a Guarantor, (ii) the

termination of a Guarantor's liability with respect to this Lease other than in accordance with the terms of such guaranty, (iii) a Guarantor's becoming

insolvent or the subject of a bankruptcy filing, (iv) a Guarantor's refusal to honor the guaranty, or (v) a Guarantor's breach of its guaranty obligation on

an anticipatory basis, and Lessee's failure, within 60 days following written notice of any such event, to provide written alternative assurance or security,

which, when coupled with the then existing resources of Lessee, equals or exceeds the combined financial resources of Lessee and the Guarantors

that existed at the time of execution of this Lease.        

 13.2   Remedies.  If Lessee fails to perform any of its affirmative duties or obligations, within   10 days after written notice   (provided,

however, that if the nature of Lessee's obligation is such that more than 30 days are reasonably required for its performance, then

Lessee shall not be in breach if performance is commenced within such 30 day period and thereafter diligently pursued to

_________                         PAGE 15 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

245



completion)   (or in case of an emergency, without notice), Lessor may, at its option, perform such duty or obligation on Lessee's behalf, including but

not limited to the obtaining of reasonably required bonds, insurance policies, or governmental licenses, permits or approvals. Lessee shall pay to Lessor

an amount equal to 115% of the costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in such performance upon receipt of an invoice therefor.  In the event of a

Breach, Lessor may, with or without further notice or demand, and without limiting Lessor in the exercise of any right or remedy which Lessor may have

by reason of such Breach:

  (a) Terminate Lessee's right to possession of the Premises by any lawful means, in which case this Lease shall terminate

and Lessee shall immediately surrender possession to Lessor.  In such event Lessor shall be entitled to recover from Lessee:  (i) the unpaid Rent which

had been earned at the time of termination; (ii) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent which would have been earned

after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that the Lessee proves could have been reasonably avoided; (iii) the

worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent for the balance of the term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental

loss that the Lessee proves could be reasonably avoided; and (iv) any other amount necessary to compensate Lessor for all the detriment proximately

caused by the Lessee's failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom,

including but not limited to the cost of recovering possession of the Premises, expenses of reletting, including necessary renovation and alteration of

the Premises, reasonable attorneys' fees, and that portion of any leasing commission paid by Lessor in connection with this Lease applicable to the

unexpired term of this Lease.  The worth at the time of award of the amount referred to in provision (iii) of the immediately preceding sentence shall be

computed by discounting such amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of the District within which the Premises are located at the time

of award plus one percent.  Efforts by Lessor to mitigate damages caused by Lessee's Breach of this Lease shall not waive Lessor's right to recover

any damages to which Lessor is otherwise entitled.  If termination of this Lease is obtained through the provisional remedy of unlawful detainer, Lessor

shall have the right to recover in such proceeding any unpaid Rent and damages as are recoverable therein, or Lessor may reserve the right to recover

all or any part thereof in a separate suit.  If a notice and grace period required under Paragraph 13.1 was not previously given, a notice to pay rent or

quit, or to perform or quit given to Lessee under the unlawful detainer statute shall also constitute the notice required by Paragraph 13.1.  In such case,

the applicable grace period required by Paragraph 13.1 and the unlawful detainer statute shall run concurrently, and the failure of Lessee to cure the

Default within the greater of the two such grace periods shall constitute both an unlawful detainer and a Breach of this Lease entitling Lessor to the

remedies provided for in this Lease and/or by said statute.   

  (b) Continue the Lease and Lessee's right to possession and recover the Rent as it becomes due, in which event Lessee

may sublet or assign, subject only to reasonable limitations.  Acts of maintenance, efforts to relet, and/or the appointment of a receiver to protect the

Lessor's interests, shall not constitute a termination of the Lessee's right to possession.

  (c)   Subject to the terms and conditions of this Lease, pursue any other remedy now or hereafter available under the

laws or judicial decisions of the state wherein the Premises are located.  The expiration or termination of this Lease and/or the termination of Lessee's

right to possession shall not relieve Lessee from liability under any indemnity provisions of this Lease as to matters occurring or accruing during the

term hereof or by reason of Lessee's occupancy of the Premises.

 13.3   Inducement Recapture.  Any agreement for free or abated rent or other charges, or for the giving or paying by Lessor to or for

Lessee of any cash or other bonus, inducement or consideration for Lessee's entering into this Lease, all of which concessions are hereinafter referred

to as   "Inducement Provisions", shall be deemed conditioned upon Lessee's full and faithful performance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions

of this Lease.  Upon Breach of this Lease by Lessee, any such Inducement Provision shall automatically be deemed deleted from this Lease and of no

further force or effect, and any rent, other charge, bonus, inducement or consideration theretofore abated, given or paid by Lessor under such an

Inducement Provision shall be immediately due and payable by Lessee to Lessor, notwithstanding any subsequent cure of said Breach by Lessee.  The

acceptance by Lessor of rent or the cure of the Breach which initiated the operation of this paragraph shall not be deemed a waiver by Lessor of the

provisions of this paragraph unless specifically so stated in writing by Lessor at the time of such acceptance.

 13.4   Late Charges.  Lessee hereby acknowledges that late payment by Lessee of Rent will cause Lessor to incur costs not

contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of which will be extremely difficult to ascertain.  Such costs include, but are not limited to, processing and

accounting charges, and late charges which may be imposed upon Lessor by any Lender.  Accordingly, if any Rent shall not be received by Lessor

within 5 days after such amount shall be due, then, without any requirement for notice to Lessee, Lessee shall immediately pay to Lessor a one-time

late charge equal to 10% of each such overdue amount or $100, whichever is greater.  The parties hereby agree that such late charge represents a fair

and reasonable estimate of the costs Lessor will incur by reason of such late payment.  Acceptance of such late charge by Lessor shall in no event

constitute a waiver of Lessee's Default or Breach with respect to such overdue amount, nor prevent the exercise of any of the other rights and remedies

granted hereunder.  In the event that a late charge is payable hereunder, whether or not collected, for 3 consecutive installments of Base Rent, then

notwithstanding any provision of this Lease to the contrary, Base Rent shall, at Lessor's option, become due and payable quarterly in advance.

 13.5   Interest.  Any monetary payment due Lessor hereunder, other than late charges, not received by Lessor, when due shall bear

interest from the  31st day after it was due. The interest ("Interest") charged shall be computed at the rate of 10% per annum but shall not exceed the

maximum rate allowed by law.  Interest is payable in addition to the potential late charge provided for in Paragraph 13.4.

 13.6   Breach by Lessor.

  (a)   Notice of Breach.  Lessor shall not be deemed in breach of this Lease unless Lessor fails within a reasonable time to

perform an obligation required to be performed by Lessor.  For purposes of this Paragraph, a reasonable time shall in no event be less than 30 days

_________                         PAGE 16 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

246



after receipt by Lessor, and any Lender whose name and address shall have been furnished Lessee in writing for such purpose, of written notice

specifying wherein such obligation of Lessor has not been performed; provided, however, that if the nature of Lessor's obligation is such that more than

30 days are reasonably required for its performance, then Lessor shall not be in breach if performance is commenced within such 30 day period and

thereafter diligently pursued to completion.

  (b)   Performance by Lessee on Behalf of Lessor.  In the event that neither Lessor nor Lender cures said breach within 30

days after receipt of said notice, or if having commenced said cure they do not diligently pursue it to completion, then Lessee may elect to cure said

breach at Lessee's expense and offset from Rent the actual and reasonable cost to perform such cure, provided however, that such offset shall not

exceed an amount equal to the greater of one month's Base Rent or the Security Deposit, reserving Lessee's right to reimbursement from Lessor for

any such expense in excess of such offset.  Lessee shall document the cost of said cure and supply said documentation to Lessor.

14.    Condemnation.  If the Premises or any portion thereof are taken under the power of eminent domain or sold under the threat of the exercise

of said power (collectively   "Condemnation"), this Lease shall terminate as to the part taken as of the date the condemning authority takes title or

possession, whichever first occurs.  If more than 10% of the floor area of the Unit, or more than 25% of the parking spaces is taken by Condemnation,

Lessee may, at Lessee's option, to be exercised in writing within 10 days after Lessor shall have given Lessee written notice of such taking (or in the

absence of such notice, within 10 days after the condemning authority shall have taken possession) terminate this Lease as of the date the condemning

authority takes such possession.  If Lessee does not terminate this Lease in accordance with the foregoing, this Lease shall remain in full force and

effect as to the portion of the Premises remaining, except that the Base Rent shall be reduced in proportion to the reduction in utility of the Premises

caused by such Condemnation.  Condemnation awards and/or payments shall be the property of Lessor, whether such award shall be made as

compensation for diminution in value of the leasehold, the value of the part taken, or for severance damages; provided, however, that Lessee shall be

entitled to any compensation paid by the condemnor for Lessee's relocation expenses, loss of business goodwill and/or Trade Fixtures, without regard

to whether or not this Lease is terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Paragraph.  All Alterations and Utility Installations made to the Premises by

Lessee, for purposes of Condemnation only, shall be considered the property of the Lessee and Lessee shall be entitled to any and all compensation

which is payable therefor.  In the event that this Lease is not terminated by reason of the Condemnation, Lessor shall repair any damage to the

Premises caused by such Condemnation.

15.    Brokerage Fees.

   15.1   Additional Commission.  In addition to the payments owed pursuant to Paragraph 1.10 above, and unless Lessor and the Brokers

otherwise agree in writing, Lessor agrees that:  (a) if Lessee exercises any Option, (b) if Lessee or anyone affiliated with Lessee acquires from Lessor

any rights to the Premises or other premises owned by Lessor and located within the Project, (c) if Lessee remains in possession of the Premises, with

the consent of Lessor, after the expiration of this Lease, or (d) if Base Rent is increased, whether by agreement or operation of an escalation clause

herein, then, Lessor shall pay Brokers a fee in accordance with the fee schedule of the Brokers in effect at the time the Lease was executed.

 15.2   Assumption of Obligations.  Any buyer or transferee of Lessor's interest in this Lease shall be deemed to have assumed Lessor's

obligation hereunder.    Brokers shall be third party beneficiaries of the provisions of Paragraphs 1.10, 15, 22 and 31.  If Lessor fails to pay to Brokers

any amounts due as and for brokerage fees pertaining to this Lease when due, then such amounts shall accrue Interest.  In addition, if Lessor fails to

pay any amounts to Lessee's Broker when due, Lessee's Broker may send written notice to Lessor and Lessee of such failure and if Lessor fails to pay

such amounts within 10 days after said notice, Lessee shall pay said monies to its Broker and offset such amounts against Rent.  In addition, Lessee's

Broker shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of any commission agreement entered into by and/or between Lessor and Lessor's Broker for the

limited purpose of collecting any brokerage fee owed.

 15.3   Representations and Indemnities of Broker Relationships.  Lessee and Lessor each represent and warrant to the other that it

has had no dealings with any person, firm, broker or finder (other than the Brokers, if any) in connection with this Lease, and that no one   other than said

named Brokers is entitled to any commission or finder's fee in connection herewith.  Lessee and Lessor do each hereby agree to indemnify, protect,

defend and hold the other harmless from and against liability for compensation or charges which may be claimed by any such unnamed broker, finder

or other similar party by reason of any dealings or actions of the indemnifying Party, including any costs, expenses, attorneys' fees reasonably incurred

with respect thereto.

16.   Estoppel Certificates.

  (a) Each Party (as   "Responding Party") shall within 10 days after written notice from the other Party (the   "Requesting

Party") execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Requesting Party a statement in writing in form similar to the then most current   "Estoppel Certificate"

form published by the AIR Commercial Real Estate Association, plus such additional information, confirmation and/or statements as may be reasonably

requested by the Requesting Party.

  (b) If the Responding Party shall fail to execute or deliver the Estoppel Certificate within such 10 day period, the Requesting

Party may execute an Estoppel Certificate stating that: (i) the Lease is in full force and effect without modification except as may be represented by the

Requesting Party, (ii) there are no uncured defaults in the Requesting Party's performance, and (iii) if Lessor is the Requesting Party, not more than one

month's rent has been paid in advance. Prospective purchasers and encumbrancers may rely upon the Requesting Party's Estoppel Certificate, and the

Responding Party shall be estopped from denying the truth of the facts contained in said Certificate.  In addition, Lessee acknowledges that any failure

on its part to provide such an Estoppel Certificate will expose Lessor to risks and potentially cause Lessor to incur costs not contemplated by this

Lease, the extent of which will be extremely difficult to ascertain.  Accordingly, should the Lessee fail to execute and/or deliver a requested Estoppel

_________                         PAGE 17 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

247



Certificate in a timely fashion the monthly Base Rent shall be automatically increased, without any requirement for notice to Lessee, by an amount

equal to 10% of the then existing Base Rent or $100, whichever is greater for remainder of the Lease.  The Parties agree that such increase in Base

Rent represents fair and reasonable compensation for the additional risk/costs that Lessor will incur by reason of Lessee's failure to provide the

Estoppel Certificate.  Such increase in Base Rent shall in no event constitute a waiver of Lessee's Default or Breach with respect to the failure to

provide the Estoppel Certificate nor prevent the exercise of any of the other rights and remedies granted hereunder.

  (c) If Lessor desires to finance, refinance, or sell the Premises, or any part thereof, Lessee and all Guarantors shall within 10

days after written notice from Lessor deliver to any potential lender or purchaser designated by Lessor such financial statements as may be reasonably

required by such lender or purchaser, including but not limited to Lessee's financial statements for the past 3 years.  All such financial statements shall

be received by Lessor and such lender or purchaser in confidence and shall be used only for the purposes herein set forth.

17.    Definition of Lessor.  The term   "Lessor" as used herein shall mean the owner or owners at the time in question of the fee title to the

Premises, or, if this is a sublease, of the Lessee's interest in the prior lease.  In the event of a transfer of Lessor's title or interest in the Premises or this

Lease, Lessor shall deliver to the transferee or assignee (in cash or by credit) any unused Security Deposit held by Lessor. Upon such transfer or

assignment and delivery of the Security Deposit, as aforesaid, the prior Lessor shall be relieved of all liability with respect to the obligations and/or

covenants under this Lease thereafter to be performed by the Lessor.  Subject to the foregoing, the obligations and/or covenants in this Lease to be

performed by the Lessor shall be binding only upon the Lessor as hereinabove defined.

18.   Severability.  The invalidity of any provision of this Lease, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall in no way affect the

validity of any other provision hereof.

19.   Days.  Unless otherwise specifically indicated to the contrary, the word   "days" as used in this Lease shall mean and refer to calendar days.

20.   Limitation on Liability.  The obligations of Lessor under this Lease shall not constitute personal obligations of Lessor, or its partners,

members, directors, officers or shareholders, and Lessee shall look to the Premises, and to no other assets of Lessor, for the satisfaction of any liability

of Lessor with respect to this Lease, and shall not seek recourse against Lessor's partners, members, directors, officers or shareholders, or any of their

personal assets for such satisfaction.

21.   Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of all obligations to be performed or observed by the Parties under

this Lease.

22.   No Prior or Other Agreements; Broker Disclaimer.  This Lease, the Sublease dated August 1, 2016, between the Lessee and the

Sebastiani Theatre Foundation, a California not for profit Corporation ("STF"), and the Right of First Refusal Agreement dated

August 1, 2016, between the Lessor, Lessee and STF contains all agreements between the Parties with respect to any matter mentioned herein,

and no other prior or contemporaneous agreement or understanding shall be effective.  Lessor and Lessee each represents and warrants to the

Brokers that it has made, and is relying solely upon, its own investigation as to the nature, quality, character and financial responsibility of the other

Party to this Lease and as to the use, nature, quality and character of the Premises.  Brokers have no responsibility with respect thereto or with respect

to any default or breach hereof by either Party.   

23.   Notices.

 23.1   Notice Requirements.  All notices required or permitted by this Lease or applicable law shall be in writing and may be delivered in

person (by hand or by courier) or may be sent by regular, certified or registered mail or U.S. Postal Service Express Mail, with postage prepaid, or by

facsimile transmission, or by email, and shall be deemed sufficiently given if served in a manner specified in this Paragraph 23.  The addresses noted

adjacent to a Party's signature on this Lease shall be that Party's address for delivery or mailing of notices.  Either Party may by written notice to the

other specify a different address for notice, except that upon Lessee's taking possession of the Premises, the Premises shall constitute Lessee's

address for notice.  A copy of all notices to Lessor shall be concurrently transmitted to such party or parties at such addresses as Lessor may from time

to time hereafter designate in writing.   A copy of all notices to Lessee shall be concurrently transmitted to such party or parties at such

addresses as Lessee may from time to time hereafter designate in writing   by delivering notice of such to Lessor as defined above.
 23.2   Date of Notice.  Any notice sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, shall be deemed given on the date of delivery

shown on the receipt card, or if no delivery date is shown, the postmark thereon.  If sent by regular mail the notice shall be deemed given 72 hours after

the same is addressed as required herein and mailed with postage prepaid.  Notices delivered by United States Express Mail or overnight courier that

guarantees next day delivery shall be deemed given 24 hours after delivery of the same to the Postal Service or courier.  Notices transmitted by

facsimile transmission or by email shall be deemed delivered upon telephone confirmation of receipt (if by fax, a confirmation report from fax machine is

sufficient), provided a copy is also delivered via delivery or mail.  If notice is received on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, it shall be deemed

received on the next business day.

24.   Waivers.    

 (a) No waiver by Lessor of the Default or Breach of any term, covenant or condition hereof by Lessee, shall be deemed a waiver of any

other term, covenant or condition hereof, or of any subsequent Default or Breach by Lessee of the same or of any other term, covenant or condition

hereof.  Lessor's consent to, or approval of, any act shall not be deemed to render unnecessary the obtaining of Lessor's consent to, or approval of, any

subsequent or similar act by Lessee, or be construed as the basis of an estoppel to enforce the provision or provisions of this Lease requiring such

consent.    

_________                         PAGE 18 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

248



 (b) The acceptance of Rent by Lessor shall not be a waiver of any Default or Breach by Lessee.  Any payment by Lessee may be

accepted by Lessor on account of moneys or damages due Lessor, notwithstanding any qualifying statements or conditions made by Lessee in

connection therewith, which such statements and/or conditions shall be of no force or effect whatsoever unless specifically agreed to in writing by

Lessor at or before the time of deposit of such payment.

 (c) THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE SHALL GOVERN WITH REGARD TO ALL MATTERS RELATED

THERETO AND HEREBY WAIVE THE PROVISIONS OF ANY PRESENT OR FUTURE STATUTE TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH STATUTE IS

INCONSISTENT WITH THIS LEASE.

25.   Disclosures Regarding The Nature of a Real Estate Agency Relationship.

 (a) When entering into a discussion with a real estate agent regarding a real estate transaction, a Lessor or Lessee should from the

outset understand what type of agency relationship or representation it has with the agent or agents in the transaction.  Lessor and Lessee

acknowledge being advised by the Brokers in this transaction, as follows:

  (i)   Lessor's Agent.  A Lessor's agent under a listing agreement with the Lessor acts as the agent for the Lessor only.  A

Lessor's agent or subagent has the following affirmative obligations:    To the Lessor:  A fiduciary duty of utmost care, integrity, honesty, and loyalty in

dealings with the Lessor.    To the Lessee and the Lessor:  (a) Diligent exercise of reasonable skills and care in performance of the agent's duties.  (b) A

duty of honest and fair dealing and good faith.  (c) A duty to disclose all facts known to the agent materially affecting the value or desirability of the

property that are not known to, or within the diligent attention and observation of, the Parties.  An agent is not obligated to reveal to either Party any

confidential information obtained from the other Party which does not involve the affirmative duties set forth above.

  (ii)   Lessee's Agent.  An agent can agree to act as agent for the Lessee only.  In these situations, the agent is not the

Lessor's agent, even if by agreement the agent may receive compensation for services rendered, either in full or in part from the Lessor.  An agent

acting only for a Lessee has the following affirmative obligations.    To the Lessee:  A fiduciary duty of utmost care, integrity, honesty, and loyalty in

dealings with the Lessee.    To the Lessee and the Lessor:  (a) Diligent exercise of reasonable skills and care in performance of the agent's duties.  (b) A

duty of honest and fair dealing and good faith.  (c) A duty to disclose all facts known to the agent materially affecting the value or desirability of the

property that are not known to, or within the diligent attention and observation of, the Parties.  An agent is not obligated to reveal to either Party any

confidential information obtained from the other Party which does not involve the affirmative duties set forth above.

  (iii)   Agent Representing Both Lessor and Lessee.  A real estate agent, either acting directly or through one or more associate

licenses, can legally be the agent of both the Lessor and the Lessee in a transaction, but only with the knowledge and consent of both the Lessor and

the Lessee. In a dual agency situation, the agent has the following affirmative obligations to both the Lessor and the Lessee: (a) A fiduciary duty of

utmost care, integrity, honesty and loyalty in the dealings with either Lessor or the Lessee.  (b) Other duties to the Lessor and the Lessee as stated

above in subparagraphs (i) or (ii). In representing both Lessor and Lessee, the agent may not without the express permission of the respective Party,

disclose to the other Party that the Lessor will accept rent in an amount less than that indicated in the listing or that the Lessee is willing to pay a higher

rent than that offered. The above duties of the agent in a real estate transaction do not relieve a Lessor or Lessee from the responsibility to protect their

own interests.  Lessor and Lessee should carefully read all agreements to assure that they adequately express their understanding of the transaction.   

A real estate agent is a person qualified to advise about real estate.  If legal or tax advice is desired, consult a competent professional.

 (b) Brokers have no responsibility with respect to any Default or Breach hereof by either Party.  The Parties agree that no lawsuit or

other legal proceeding involving any breach of duty, error or omission relating to this Lease may be brought against Broker more than one year after the

Start Date and that the liability (including court costs and attorneys' fees), of any Broker with respect to any such lawsuit and/or legal proceeding shall

not exceed the fee received by such Broker pursuant to this Lease; provided, however, that the foregoing limitation on each Broker's liability shall not be

applicable to any gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Broker.

 (c) Lessor and Lessee agree to identify to Brokers as "Confidential" any communication or information given Brokers that is considered

by such Party to be confidential.

26.   No Right To Holdover.  Lessee has no right to retain possession of the Premises or any part thereof beyond the expiration or termination of

this Lease.  In the event that Lessee holds over, then the Base Rent shall be increased to 150% of the Base Rent applicable immediately preceding the

expiration or termination.  Holdover Base Rent shall be calculated on monthly basis.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed as consent by Lessor

to any holding over by Lessee.

27.   Cumulative Remedies.  No remedy or election hereunder shall be deemed exclusive but shall, wherever possible, be cumulative with all

other remedies at law or in equity.

28.   Covenants and Conditions; Construction of Agreement.  All provisions of this Lease to be observed or performed by Lessee are both

covenants and conditions.  In construing this Lease, all headings and titles are for the convenience of the Parties only and shall not be considered a

part of this Lease.  Whenever required by the context, the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.  This Lease shall not be construed as if

prepared by one of the Parties, but rather according to its fair meaning as a whole, as if both Parties had prepared it.

29.   Binding Effect; Choice of Law.  This Lease shall be binding upon the parties, their personal representatives, successors and assigns and

be governed by the laws of the State in which the Premises are located.  Any litigation between the Parties hereto concerning this Lease shall be

initiated in the county in which the Premises are located.

30.   Subordination; Attornment; Non-Disturbance.

_________                         PAGE 19 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

249



 30.1   Subordination.  This Lease and any Option granted hereby shall be subject and subordinate to any ground lease, mortgage, deed

of trust, or other hypothecation or security device (collectively,   "Security Device"), now or hereafter placed upon the Premises, to any and all advances

made on the security thereof, and to all renewals, modifications, and extensions thereof.  Lessee agrees that the holders of any such Security Devices

(in this Lease together referred to as   "Lender") shall have no liability or obligation to perform any of the obligations of Lessor under this Lease.  Any

Lender may elect to have this Lease and/or any Option granted hereby superior to the lien of its Security Device by giving written notice thereof to

Lessee, whereupon this Lease and such Options shall be deemed prior to such Security Device, notwithstanding the relative dates of the

documentation or recordation thereof.

 30.2   Attornment.  In the event that Lessor transfers title to the Premises, or the Premises are acquired by another upon the foreclosure

or termination of a Security Device to which this Lease is subordinated (i) Lessee shall, subject to the non-disturbance provisions of Paragraph 30.3,

attorn to such new owner, and upon request, enter into a new lease, containing all of the terms and provisions of this Lease, with such new owner for

the remainder of the term hereof, or, at the election of the new owner, this Lease will automatically become a new lease between Lessee and such new

owner, and (ii) Lessor shall thereafter be relieved of any further obligations hereunder and such new owner shall assume all of Lessor's obligations,

except that such new owner shall not: (a) be liable for any act or omission of any prior lessor or with respect to events occurring prior to acquisition of

ownership; (b) be subject to any offsets or defenses which Lessee might have against any prior lessor,  (c) be bound by prepayment of more than one

month's rent, or (d) be liable for the return of any security deposit paid to any prior lessor which was not paid or credited to such new  owner.

 30.3   Non-Disturbance.  With respect to Security Devices entered into by Lessor after the execution of this Lease, Lessee's

subordination of this Lease shall be subject to receiving a commercially reasonable non-disturbance agreement (a   "Non-Disturbance Agreement")

from the Lender which Non-Disturbance Agreement provides that Lessee's possession of the Premises, and this Lease, including any options to extend

the term hereof, will not be disturbed so long as Lessee is not in Breach hereof and attorns to the record owner of the Premises.  Further, within 60

days after the execution of this Lease, Lessor shall, if requested by Lessee, use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a Non-Disturbance

Agreement from the holder of any pre-existing Security Device which is secured by the Premises.  In the event that Lessor is unable to provide the

Non-Disturbance Agreement within said 60 days, then Lessee may, at Lessee's option, directly contact Lender and attempt to negotiate for the

execution and delivery of a Non-Disturbance Agreement.   

 30.4   Self-Executing.  The agreements contained in this Paragraph 30 shall be effective without the execution of any further documents;

provided, however, that, upon written request from Lessor or a Lender in connection with a sale, financing or refinancing of the Premises, Lessee and

Lessor shall execute such further writings as may be reasonably required to separately document any subordination, attornment and/or

Non-Disturbance Agreement provided for herein.

31.   Attorneys' Fees.  If any Party or Broker brings an action or proceeding involving the Premises whether founded in tort, contract or equity, or

to declare rights hereunder, the Prevailing Party (as hereafter defined) in any such proceeding, action, or appeal thereon, shall be entitled to reasonable

attorneys' fees.  Such fees may be awarded in the same suit or recovered in a separate suit, whether or not such action or proceeding is pursued to

decision or judgment.  The term,   "Prevailing Party" shall include, without limitation, a Party or Broker who substantially obtains or defeats the relief

sought, as the case may be, whether by compromise, settlement, judgment, or the abandonment by the other Party or Broker of its claim or defense.   

The attorneys' fees award shall not be computed in accordance with any court fee schedule, but shall be such as to fully reimburse all attorneys' fees

reasonably incurred.  In addition, Lessor shall be entitled to attorneys' fees, costs and expenses incurred in the preparation and service of notices of

Default and consultations in connection therewith, whether or not a legal action is subsequently commenced in connection with such Default or resulting

Breach ($200 is a reasonable minimum per occurrence for such services and consultation).

32.   Lessor's Access; Showing Premises; Repairs.  Lessor and Lessor's agents shall have the right to enter the Premises at any time, in

the case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable times after reasonable prior notice for the purpose of showing the same to prospective

purchasers, lenders, or tenants, and making such alterations, repairs, improvements or additions to the Premises as Lessor may deem necessary or

desirable and the erecting, using and maintaining of utilities, services, pipes and conduits through the Premises and/or other premises as long as there

is no material adverse effect on Lessee's use of the Premises.  All such activities shall be without abatement of rent or liability to Lessee.    

33.   Auctions.  Lessee shall not conduct, nor permit to be conducted, any auction upon the Premises without Lessor's prior written consent.   

Lessor shall not be obligated to exercise any standard of reasonableness in determining whether to permit an auction.

34.   Signs.  Lessor may place on the Premises ordinary "For Sale" signs at any time and ordinary "For Lease" signs during the last 6 months of

the term hereof.  Except for ordinary "For Sublease" signs which may be placed only on the Premises   signs in the entrance or foyer of the

Premises advertising shows and/or events occurring at the Premises, and signs in the Premises' marquee, Lessee shall not place any

sign upon the Project without Lessor's prior written consent. All signs must comply with all Applicable Requirements.

35.   Termination; Merger.  Unless specifically stated otherwise in writing by Lessor, the voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Lessee, the

mutual termination or cancellation hereof, or a termination hereof by Lessor for Breach by Lessee, shall automatically terminate any sublease or lesser

estate in the Premises; provided, however, that Lessor may elect to continue any one or all existing subtenancies.  Lessor's failure within 10 days

following any such event to elect to the contrary by written notice to the holder of any such lesser interest, shall constitute Lessor's election to have

such event constitute the termination of such interest.

36.   Consents.  Except as otherwise provided herein, wherever in this Lease the consent of a Party is required to an act by or for the other Party,

such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  Lessor's actual reasonable costs and expenses (including but not limited to architects',

_________                         PAGE 20 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

250



attorneys', engineers' and other consultants' fees) incurred in the consideration of, or response to, a request by Lessee for any Lessor consent,

including but not limited to consents to an assignment, a subletting or the presence or use of a Hazardous Substance, shall be paid by Lessee upon

receipt of an invoice and supporting documentation therefor.  Lessor's consent to any act, assignment or subletting shall not constitute an

acknowledgment that no Default or Breach by Lessee of this Lease exists, nor shall such consent be deemed a waiver of any then existing Default or

Breach, except as may be otherwise specifically stated in writing by Lessor at the time of such consent.  The failure to specify herein any particular

condition to Lessor's consent shall not preclude the imposition by Lessor at the time of consent of such further or other conditions as are then

reasonable with reference to the particular matter for which consent is being given.  In the event that either Party disagrees with any determination

made by the other hereunder and reasonably requests the reasons for such determination, the determining party shall furnish its reasons in writing and

in reasonable detail within 10 business days following such request.   

37.   Guarantor.  (N/A)

 37.1   Execution.  The Guarantors, if any, shall each execute a guaranty in the form    most recently published by the AIR Commercial

Real Estate Association.

 37.2   Default.  It shall constitute a Default of the Lessee if any Guarantor fails or refuses, upon request to provide:  (a) evidence of the

execution of the guaranty, including the authority of the party signing on Guarantor's behalf to obligate Guarantor, and in the case of a corporate

Guarantor, a certified copy of a resolution of its board of directors authorizing the making of such guaranty, (b) current financial statements, (c) an

Estoppel Certificate, or (d) written confirmation that the guaranty is still in effect.

38.    Quiet Possession.  Subject to payment by Lessee of the Rent and performance of all of the covenants, conditions and provisions on

Lessee's part to be observed and performed under this Lease, Lessee shall have quiet possession and quiet enjoyment of the Premises during the term

hereof.

39.    Options.  If Lessee is granted any option, as defined below, then the following provisions shall apply.

 39.1   Definition.    "Option" shall mean:  (a) the right to extend or reduce the term of or renew this Lease or to extend or reduce the term

of or renew any lease that Lessee has on other property of Lessor; (b) the right of first refusal or first offer to lease either the Premises or other property

of Lessor; (c) the right to purchase, the right of first offer to purchase or the right of first refusal to purchase the Premises or other property of Lessor.

 39.2   Options   Not   Personal To Original Lessee.  Any Option granted to Lessee in this Lease is   not personal to the original Lessee,

and   cannot   can   be assigned or exercised by   the   anyone other than said original Lessee,   any assignee,  and  any sublessee of this Lease or

sublease successor lessee under this Lease as long as the original Lessee, any assignee,   or   and any sublessee remains liable for the

performance of all terms of this Lease which are the Lessee's to perform.       and only while the original Lessee is in full possession of the

Premises and, if requested by Lessor, with Lessee certifying that Lessee has no intention of thereafter assigning or subletting.

  39.3   Multiple Options.  In the event that Lessee has any multiple Options to extend or renew this Lease, a later Option cannot be

exercised unless the prior Options have been validly exercised.

 39.4   Effect of Default on Options.   

  (a) Lessee shall have no right to exercise an Option:  (i) during the period commencing with the giving of any notice of

Default and continuing until said Default is cured, (ii) during the period of time any Rent is unpaid (without regard to whether notice thereof is given

Lessee), (iii) during the time Lessee is in Breach of this Lease, or (iv) in the event that Lessee has been given  3 or more notices of separate Default,

whether or not the Defaults are cured, during the 12 month period immediately preceding the exercise of the Option.

  (b) The period of time within which an Option may be exercised shall not be extended or enlarged by reason of Lessee's

inability to exercise an Option because of the provisions of Paragraph 39.4(a).

  (c) An Option shall terminate and be of no further force or effect, notwithstanding Lessee's due and timely exercise of the

Option, if, after such exercise and prior to the commencement of the extended term or completion of the purchase, (i) Lessee fails to pay Rent for a

period of 30 days after such Rent becomes due (without any necessity of Lessor to give notice thereof),or (ii) if Lessee commits a Breach of this Lease.

40.   Security Measures.  Lessee hereby acknowledges that the Rent payable to Lessor hereunder does not include the cost of guard service or

other security measures, and that Lessor shall have no obligation whatsoever to provide same.  Lessee assumes all responsibility for the protection of

the Premises, Lessee, its agents and invitees and their property from the acts of third parties.

41.   Reservations.  Lessor reserves the right: (i) to grant, without the consent or joinder of Lessee, such easements, rights and dedications that

Lessor deems necessary, (ii) to cause the recordation of parcel maps and restrictions, and (iii) to create and/or install new utility raceways, so long as

such easements, rights, dedications, maps, restrictions, and utility raceways do not unreasonably interfere with the use of the Premises by Lessee.   

Lessee agrees to sign any documents reasonably requested by Lessor to effectuate such rights.

42.   Performance Under Protest.  .  If at any time a dispute shall arise as to any amount or sum of money to be paid by one Party to the

other under the provisions hereof, the Party against whom the obligation to pay the money is asserted shall have the right to make payment "under

protest" and such payment shall not be regarded as a voluntary payment and there shall survive the right on the part of said Party to institute suit for

recovery of such sum.  If it shall be adjudged that there was no legal obligation on the part of said Party to pay such sum or any part thereof, said Party

shall be entitled to recover such sum or so much thereof as it was not legally required to pay.  A Party who does not initiate suit for the recovery of

sums paid "under protest" within 6 months shall be deemed to have waived its right to protest such payment.

43.    Authority; Multiple Parties; Execution.

_________                         PAGE 21 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

251



  (a) If either Party hereto is a corporation, trust, limited liability company, partnership, or similar entity, each

individual executing this Lease on behalf of such entity represents and warrants that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease on its

behalf. Each Party shall, within 30 days after request, deliver to the other Party satisfactory evidence of such authority.

  (b) If this Lease is executed by more than one person or entity as "Lessee", each such person or entity shall be

jointly and severally liable hereunder.  It is agreed that any one of the named Lessees shall be empowered to execute any amendment to this Lease, or

other document ancillary thereto and bind all of the named Lessees, and Lessor may rely on the same as if all of the named Lessees had executed

such document.   

  (c) This Lease may be executed by the Parties in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all

of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

44.    Conflict.  Any conflict between the printed provisions of this Lease and the typewritten or handwritten provisions shall be controlled by the

typewritten or handwritten provisions.

45.    Offer.  Preparation of this Lease by either party or their agent and submission of same to the other Party shall not be deemed an offer to

lease to the other Party.  This Lease is not intended to be binding until executed and delivered by all Parties hereto.

46.   Amendments.  This Lease may be modified only in writing, signed by the Parties in interest at the time of the modification.  As long as they

do not materially change Lessee's obligations hereunder, Lessee agrees to make such reasonable non-monetary modifications to this Lease as may be

reasonably required by a Lender in connection with the obtaining of normal financing or refinancing of the Premises.

47.   Waiver of Jury Trial.    THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR

PROCEEDING INVOLVING THE PROPERTY OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT.

48.   Arbitration of Disputes.  An Addendum requiring the Arbitration of all disputes between the Parties and/or Brokers arising out of this Lease   

�    is    �    is not  attached to this Lease.   

49.   Accessibility;   Americans with Disabilities Act.    

   (a) The Premises:   � have not undergone an inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp).   � have

undergone an inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp) and it was determined that the Premises met all applicable construction-related

accessibility standards pursuant to California Civil Code §55.51 et seq.   ���� have undergone an inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp) and it

was determined that the Premises did not meet all applicable construction-related accessibility standards pursuant to California Civil Code §55.51 et

seq.

   (b)   Subject to Paragraph 56 of Addendum #1,   Ssince compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act

(ADA) is dependent upon Lessee's specific use of the Premises, Lessor makes no warranty or representation as to whether or not the Premises comply

with ADA or any similar legislation.  In the event that Lessee's use of the Premises requires modifications or additions to the Premises in order to be in

ADA compliance, Lessee agrees to make any such necessary modifications and/or additions at Lessee's expense.      Lessee shall fully defend,

indemnify, and hold harmless Lessor from any and all claims, lawsuits, demands, cause of action, liability, loss, damage and/or injury

of any kind whatsoever including without limitation all claims for monetary loss, property damage, equitable relief, personal injury

and/or wrongful death, whether by and individual or other entity and imposed by a court of law or by administrative action of any

federal, state, or local governmental body or agency, arising out of, in any way whatsoever any acts, omissions, negligence, or willful

misconduct on the part of Lessee its officers, owners, personnel, employees, agents, contractors, invitees or volunteers.  This

indemnification applies to and includes, without limitation, the payment of all penalties, fines, judgments, awards, decrees, attorney's

fees, and related costs or expenses, and any reimbursement to Lessor for all legal fees, expenses and costs incurred by Lessor.

The indemnification obligations of Lessee as set forth in this Paragraph 49(b) shall only apply to Lessee's obligations under the ADA

and any other accissibility law, rule or statute, as described in Paragraph 49.

LESSOR AND LESSEE HAVE CAREFULLY READ AND REVIEWED THIS LEASE AND EACH TERM AND PROVISION CONTAINED HEREIN, AND
BY THE EXECUTION OF THIS LEASE SHOW THEIR INFORMED AND VOLUNTARY CONSENT THERETO.  THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE
THAT, AT THE TIME THIS LEASE IS EXECUTED, THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE ARE COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE AND EFFECTUATE THE
INTENT AND PURPOSE OF LESSOR AND LESSEE WITH RESPECT TO THE PREMISES.

ATTENTION:  NO REPRESENTATION OR RECOMMENDATION IS MADE BY THE AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION OR BY ANY
BROKER AS TO THE LEGAL SUFFICIENCY, LEGAL EFFECT, OR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THIS LEASE OR THE TRANSACTION TO WHICH
IT RELATES.  THE PARTIES ARE URGED TO:
1. SEEK ADVICE OF COUNSEL AS TO THE LEGAL AND TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THIS LEASE.   
2. RETAIN APPROPRIATE CONSULTANTS TO REVIEW AND INVESTIGATE THE CONDITION OF THE PREMISES.  SAID
INVESTIGATION SHOULD INCLUDE BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO: THE POSSIBLE PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES, THE ZONING OF
THE PREMISES, THE STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY, THE CONDITION OF THE ROOF AND OPERATING SYSTEMS, COMPLIANCE WITH THE
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT AND THE SUITABILITY OF THE PREMISES FOR LESSEE'S INTENDED USE.    

WARNING:  IF THE PREMISES ARE LOCATED IN A STATE OTHER THAN CALIFORNIA, CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LEASE MAY NEED TO
BE REVISED TO COMPLY WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE IN WHICH THE PREMISES ARE LOCATED.

_________                         PAGE 22 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

252



The parties hereto have executed this Lease at the place and on the dates specified above their respective signatures.

Executed at:                                       

 On:                                              

Executed at:                                       

On:                                              

By LESSOR:            By LESSEE:   

                                              

                                                 

By:                                               

Name Printed:                                        

Title:                                              

   

By:                                               

Name Printed:   Doris Seyranian                      

Title:   President                                  

Address:   4144 Redwood Road                       

Oakland, CA   94619                           

                                                 

Telephone:(510)   482 8100                           

Facsimile:(510)    482 8876                           

Email:   dkseyranian@aol.com                         

Email:                                               

Federal ID No.                                           

                                              

                                                 

By:                                               

Name Printed:                                        

Title:                                              

   

By:                                               

Name Printed:   Carol Giovanatto                     

Title:   City Manager                               

Address:City of Sonoma, No. 1 The Plaza,        

Sonoma, CA   95476                            

                                                 

Telephone:(707)   933 2213                           

Facsimile:(707)   938 8775                            

Email:   www.sonomacity.org                          

Email:                                               

Federal ID No.                                           

With copies to:

Law Office of Michael R. Woods  and  Jeffrey A. Walter

846 Broadway      Walter & Pistole, Attorneys at Law

Sonoma CA 95476     670 West Napa Street Suite F

707-996-1776 x300      Sonoma, CA 95476

Fax:  707 996-2460     707-996-9690

Email:  mwoods@mrwlawcorp.com      Fax: 707-996-9603

       Email:  jwalter@waltepistole.com

         

The Sebastiani Theatre Foundation

P. O. Box 874

Sonoma, CA  95476

Darryl Bellach

_________                         PAGE 23 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

253



2413 Bristol Road

Kenwood, CA  95452

Email:  dbellach@sonic.net        

BROKER:       BROKER:

                                              

                                                 

                                                 

Attn:                                                

Title:                                                

Addres:                                              

                                                 

Telephone:(        )                                        

Facsimile:(        )                                      

Email:                                             

Federal ID No.                                           

Broker/Agent BRE License #:                               

                                              

                                                 

                                                 

                                                 

Attn:                                                

Title:                                                

Address:                                           

                                                 

Telephone: (      )                                        

Facsimile:(        )                                         

Email:                                             

Federal ID No.                                           

Broker/Agent BRE License #:                               

                                              

                                                 

NOTICE:    These forms are often modified to meet changing requirements of law and industry needs.  Always write or call to make sure you
are utilizing the most current form:  AIR Commercial Real Estate Association,  500 N Brand Blvd, Suite 900, Glendale, CA 91203.    

Telephone No. (213) 687-8777.  Fax No.: (213) 687-8616.

©Copyright 1999 By AIR Commercial Real Estate Association.   

All rights reserved. No part of these works may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing.

_________                         PAGE 24 OF 24                   _________
_________                       _________
INITIALS                       INITIALS
          
©1999 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION       FORM MTN-16-04/14E

254



255

rbarr
Typewritten Text
LEASE EXHIBIT A



256



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 

257



Addendum 7-28-16 Redline JW  ________/_______ 1 

 

ADDENDUM  
 
 
The following terms and conditions are hereby incorporated in and made a part of the Standard 

Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease-Net dated, for reference purposes only, December 1, 2016 on the 
property commonly known as 472 First Street East, Sonoma, CA in which Sebastiani Building investors Inc, 
A California Corporation, is referred to as “Lessor” and the City of Sonoma, a California general law city, is 
referred to as “Lessee”. 

  
50.    (a)      The minimum Base Rent per month during the lease term and any extensions thereof shall 

be adjusted each December 1st by an increase of 2% (Two percent) per year beginning with the first 
anniversary of the Commencement Date. 
  

(b) All the above monthly Base Rent payments shall be in addition to any Common Area 
Operating Expenses and property taxes as outlined in the Lease. 

 
(c) There shall be no additional Rent charged by Lessor for any Alterations, ADA 

Improvements (in Paragraph 56 below), Expansion Structure (defined below), or Utility Installations 
constructed, added or erected after the Start Date, even if said Alterations, ADA Improvements, Expansion 
Structure or Utility Installations result in additional square footage being added to the Premises or Building.  
However, Lessee shall be liable for any increase in real property taxes directly attributable to said 
Alterations, ADA Improvements, Expansion Structure and Utility Installations.  
 
51.    Notwithstanding paragraph 1.3 to the contrary, in the event the County of Sonoma agrees in writing to 
exempt the Unit from real property taxes if the Original Term of the Lease is at least thirty-five (35) years, 
then Lessor and Lessee agree that the Original Term shall be thirty-five (35) years (“Modified Original 
Term”) and the Lease shall be deemed to be so amended; provided, however that said Modified Original 

Term shall not become effective until and unless, prior to December 1, 2017,  Lessee gives notice to Lessor 
of the County of Sonoma’s determination as described above, along with the necessary documentation 
evidencing said determination.  If Lessee does not give Lessor notice of such by December 1, 2017, this 
lease will be for the original term of twenty-five (25) years.  

 
52.   In addition to the expenses identified in Paragraph 4.2, Lessee shall be responsible for the following 
expenses: (a) Sewer charges currently based at 6.7 ESD’s based on a current seating capacity of 335 
seats. Lessee acknowledges that this figure is subject to re-calculation by the sewer district and that Lessee 
may pay more or less based on the sewer district’s calculations. 
 
53. In the event that Lessee fails to maintain insurance per Paragraph 8 or should Lessee’s insurance per 
Paragraph 8 lapse for any reason, all Alterations as defined by Paragraph 7.3(a) owned by Lessee shall 
immediately become the property of Lessor until such time as Lessee obtains reinstatement of insurance or 
a new policy of insurance subject to the provisions of Paragraph 8 and provides Lessor with evidence of 
reinstatement or a new policy of insurance.  During such time that Lessor has ownership of any Alterations, 
Lessee shall continue to be responsible for all maintenance, repairs and replacement of Alterations. 
 
54. Lessee shall obtain service contracts for regularly scheduled maintenance of any exhaust fans and 
HVAC systems in accordance with Paragraph 7.1(b). 
 
55. Lessee shall maintain and keep free of any debris the covered front entrance to the Premises and the 
ticket booth.  
 
56. Subject to and qualified by the provisions of this Paragraph, Lessee shall be responsible for any and 
all costs, including but not limited to the installation of those improvements (ADA Improvements) necessary, 
to bring the Premises in compliance with the current Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).   Lessee shall 
complete said ADA improvements by no later than forty-eight (48) months after the Commencement Date; 
provided, however, that if within twenty-four (24) months after the Commencement Date, Lessee is unable, 
in its sole determination, to raise sufficient funds to pay for said ADA improvements, Lessee shall have the 
right to terminate the Lease upon one hundred twenty (120) days advance, written notice to Lessor, which 
said notice must be delivered to Lessor no later than thirty (30) days after the second year anniversary of the 
Commencement Date.  If any terms of the Lease are in conflict with this Paragraph 56, the terms contained 
in this Paragraph shall prevail.  

258



Addendum 7-28-16 Redline JW  ________/_______ 2 

 
57. Intentionally Left Blank  Lessee shall not be responsible for the reimbursement of any insurance 

premiums paid by Lessor as outlined in Paragraph 8.3 except for any increases of the cost of insurance due 
to Lessee’s business or actions of Lessee that would cause the insurance premiums to increase. 
 
58. Provided that Lessee is not in breach or default beyond any applicable cure periods of any terms, 
conditions, covenants, obligations or provisions of the Lease, and that no event shall have occurred or state 
of facts exists which if continued uncured will, with the lapse of time or the delivery of notice, or both, 
constitute an event of default on the part of Lessee, then Lessee shall have and is hereby granted, the 
option to extend the Original Term or Modified Original Term of the Lease, as the case may be, for  one (1) 
additional period of twenty-five (25) years (the “Renewal Term”). Lessee’s occupancy of the Premises 

during the Renewal Term shall be governed by all of the terms, conditions, covenants and provisions of the 
Lease including this Addendum except that Lessee shall have no further option to extend the Term after the 
expiration of the Renewal Term if exercised.  If Lessee desires to exercise its option to extend the Original 
Term or Modified Original Term of the Lease, as the case may be, Lessee must give Lessor notice in writing 
(the “Option Notice”) of Lessee’s election to do so at least one hundred eighty (180) days, but not more 

than three hundred sixty-five (365) days, prior to the expiration of the current Term.  The annual Base Rent 
for the first year of the Renewal Term shall be 102% of the previous year’s Base Rent.   
 
59. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated in this Lease,  Lessee is permitted to assign and/or 
sublet this Lease and all of Lessee’s rights and obligations under this Lease to the Sebastiani Theatre 
Foundation, a not for profit California Corporation (“Foundation”) and/or to any other party; provided that  
any such subletting or assignment shall not release Lessee of any obligations hereunder and shall not alter 
the primary liability of Lessee for the payment of Rent or for the performance of any other obligations to be 
performed by Lessee.   Lessor consents to said subleases and/or assignments, and no further consent from 
Lessor is required for same.  With respect to all subleases and assignments other than the sublease with the 
Foundation mentioned above, the Lessee shall give written notice of its intent to sublease or assign the 
Lease to the Lessor at least thirty (30) days before the sublease or assignment becomes effective. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the provisions of Paragraphs 12 and 36 shall not apply to these 
specific subleases and assignments. 
 
60. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated in this Lease, in the event that at any time during the 
Term, Lessee’s liability for the payment of real property taxes increases by ten percent (10%) or more, year 
over year, as a result of a sale or transfer of the property then:  (a) Lessee shall have the right to pay the 
amount of the increase in five equal payments, the first payment starting on the date that Lessee’s payment 
of Common Area Operating Expenses are otherwise due that is the closest to the date Lessee first receives 
written notice from Lessor of the increase; (b) subsequent payments by Lessee shall be due on the 
anniversary dates of the first payment; (c) no interest  shall accrue on the outstanding balances owed under 
this paragraph 60; and (d) this right shall be exercisable only once during the Term. 
 
61. Intentionally Left Blank  During the Term, Lessee shall have an ongoing Right of First Refusal to 

purchase the Project in the event that Lessor receives an offer to purchase the Project or to lease any 
adjacent space in the Building that becomes available for lease.  Lessor shall not sell the Project or lease 
any adjacent space in the Building that becomes available for lease except in accordance with the 
provisions of this Section.  

(a) Any such sale or lease shall be pursuant to a written offer (“Offer”) from a Qualified Purchaser, 
defined below, setting forth the terms and conditions for such proposed purchase or lease, provided that (for 
a purchase) such terms and conditions must provide for an all-cash purchase price and a closing date of not 
less than forty-five (45) days after acceptance of the Offer. A Qualified Purchaser shall be an independent 
third party that is not directly or indirectly owned or controlled by or under common control with Lessor and 
that intends to purchase the Project or lease a portion thereof for its own account. 

(b) If Lessor receives an Offer that Lessor is willing to accept, Lessor shall give Lessee a copy of the 
Offer and certify to Lessee that the proposed purchaser is a Qualified Purchaser (“Offer Notice”). 

(c) Lessee shall have forty five (45) days from the delivery of the Offer Notice (“Acceptance Period”) 
within which to notify Lessor of its election to purchase the Project (or lease a portion thereof) under the 
terms and conditions specified in the Offer, by giving written notice to Lessor (Acceptance Notice) of such 
election. 

(d) On delivery of the Acceptance Notice, Lessor and Lessee shall forthwith proceed to consummate 
the sale and purchase of the Project on the terms and conditions set forth in the Offer. 

259



Addendum 7-28-16 Redline JW  ________/_______ 3 

(e) If the Acceptance Notice is not given in a timely manner, then Lessor may thereafter proceed to sell 
the Project any time within ninety (90) days after the expiration of the Acceptance Period, on the terms and 
conditions set forth in the Offer, free and clear of any rights of Lessee under this Right of First Refusal with 
respect to that sale only. Lessor may make changes in the terms and conditions of the Offer as long as such 
changes are not materially more favorable to Lessor and are agreed to by Lessee after the Offer has been 
submitted to Lessee. 

(f) Any sale or proposed sale on any other terms and conditions or after expiration of said ninety (90) 
days shall be a new sale subject to all of the terms of this Right of First Refusal. 

(g) The right of first refusal set forth in this section shall not be applicable to sales or transfers of the 
Project on account of: intrafamily transfers; transfers when there is no change of control of the Lessor or its 
successor; transfers by operation of law; or involuntary transfers. 

(h) The right of first refusal set forth in this section may not be assigned or transferred by Lessee 
except to Guarantor the City of Sonoma, a municipal corporation. 

(i) This Right of First Refusal shall terminate upon termination of the Lease. 

62. Lessee shall have the right to construct an Expansion Structure (such as, without limitation, for 
additional storage) in the approximate location shown on Exhibit A to the Lease as “proposed 
storage/dressing,” subject to Lessor’s approval as to design and materials.  No rent shall be charged for 
such additional space, and no further Lessor consent or Lessee bond or security deposit shall be required.  
Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, an Expansion Structure shall constitute an Alteration and be 
subject to any applicable provisions of paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4.  
  
The foregoing terms and conditions are hereby agreed to, and the undersigned acknowledge receipt of a 
copy of this document. 
 
 
Date: ____________________________ Lessor: Sebastiani Building Investors Inc., a 

California Corporation  
 
 By:                                        __                        
  

Name: ______________________________ 
 

 Its: _________________________________ 
 

 
Date: ____________________________ Lessee:  The City of Sonoma, a California 

general law city 
 
 By:                                        __                        
  

Name: ______________________________ 
 

 Its: _________________________________ 

  

260



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D 

261



1 

Sublease B/N City and Foundation 11-8-16 FINAL JW 

SUBLEASE 

THIS SUBLEASE (“Sublease”) dated as of December 1, 2016, is made between the City of 

Sonoma, a California general law city (“Sub-landlord”), and the Sebastiani Theatre Foundation, a 

not for profit California Corporation (“Subtenant”). 

  

RECITALS 

A. Sub-landlord is the tenant under a Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease – Net 

dated as of December 1, 2016 (“Original Master Lease”), pursuant to which the Sebastiani 

Building Investors, Inc., a California Corporation (“Master Lessor”) leased to Sub-landlord the 

real property located in the City of Sonoma, County of Sonoma, State of California, described as 

472 First Street East, Sonoma, CA (“Premises”). 

  

B. The Original Master Lease, together with its attachments, is collectively referred to as the 

“Master Lease.” 

  

C. A copy of the Master Lease is attached and incorporated in this Sublease as Exhibit A. 

 

D.  Capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meaning as those terms are used in the 

Master Lease, unless the context dictates otherwise. 

  

  

Section 1. Sublease 

Sub-landlord subleases to Subtenant on the terms and conditions in this Sublease the 

Premises. 

  

Section 2. Warranty by Sub-landlord 

Sub-landlord warrants to Sub-tenant that the Master Lease has not been amended or 

modified except as expressly set forth in this Sublease; that Sub-landlord is not now, and as of the 

commencement of the Term (defined in this Sublease) of this Sublease will not be, in default or 

breach of any of the provisions of the Master Lease; and that Sub-landlord has no knowledge of 

any claim by Master Lessor that Sub-landlord is in default or breach of any of the provisions of 

the Master Lease. 

  

Section 3. Term 

262



2 

Sublease B/N City and Foundation 11-8-16 FINAL JW 

The term of this Sublease (the “Term”) will commence on the latter of December 1, 2016 

(“Beginning Date”), or when Master Lessor consents to this Sublease (if consent is required under 

the Master Lease), whichever occurs later, and end on November 30, 2041 (“Expiration Date”), 

unless terminated sooner in accordance with the provisions of this Sublease. If the Term 

commences on a date other than the Beginning Date, Sub-landlord and Subtenant will execute a 

memorandum setting forth the actual date of commencement of the Term. Possession of the 

Premises (“Possession”) will be delivered to Subtenant on the commencement of the Term. If for 

any reason Sub-landlord does not deliver Possession to Subtenant on the commencement of the 

Term, Sub-landlord will not be subject to any liability for this failure, the Expiration Date will not 

be extended by the delay, and the validity of this Sublease will not be impaired. Rent will be abated 

until delivery of Possession. However, if Sub-landlord has not delivered Possession to Subtenant 

within thirty (30) days after the Beginning Date, at any time after that and before delivery of 

Possession, Subtenant may give written notice to Sub-landlord of Subtenant’s intention to cancel 

this Sublease. The notice will set forth an effective date for the cancellation, which will be at least 

ten (10) days after delivery of notice to Sub-landlord. If Sub-landlord delivers Possession to 

Subtenant on or before this effective date, this Sublease will remain in full force. If Sub-landlord 

fails to deliver Possession to Subtenant on or before this effective date, this Sublease will be 

canceled. Upon cancellation, all consideration previously paid by Subtenant to Sub-landlord on 

account of this Sublease will be returned to Subtenant, this Sublease will have no further force, 

and Sub-landlord will have no further liability to Subtenant because of this delay or cancellation. 

If Sub-landlord permits Subtenant to take Possession prior to the commencement of the Term, the 

early Possession will not advance the Termination Date and will be subject to the provisions of 

this Sublease, including, without limitation, the payment of Rent. 

  

Section 4. Rent 

Minimum Rent. 

(a) Minimum (“Base”) Rent.  Subtenant will pay to Sub-landlord as minimum rent (“Base 

Rent”), without deduction, setoff, notice, or demand, at City of Sonoma, Atten:  City Manager, 

No. 1 The Plaza, Sonoma, CA, or at any other place Sub-landlord designates by notice to 

Subtenant, an amount equal to 50% of the monthly Base Rent, in advance, at least five days before 

the first day of each month of the Term. Subtenant will pay to Sub-landlord on execution of this 

Sublease 50% of five thousand three hundred eighteen dollars ($5,425.00) as rent for December 1, 

2016 to December 31, 2016. If the Term begins or ends on a day other than the first or last day of 

a month, the rent for the partial months will be prorated on a per diem basis.  Said Base Rent shall 

be subject to adjustment as set forth in the Master Lease. 

  

Operating Costs. 

(b) Common Area Operating Costs. Except as to Real Property Taxes, Subtenant will pay 

to Sub-landlord as additional rent 100% of the amounts payable by Sub-landlord for Common 

Area Operating Costs incurred during the Term. This additional rent will be payable as and when 

Common Area Operating Costs are payable by Sub-landlord to Master Lessor. If the Master Lease 

263



3 

Sublease B/N City and Foundation 11-8-16 FINAL JW 

provides for payment by Sub-landlord of Common Area Operating Costs on the basis of an 

estimate, then as and when adjustments between estimated and actual Common Area Operating 

Costs are made under the Master Lease, the obligations of Sub-landlord and Subtenant will be 

adjusted in the same manner. If this adjustment occurs after the Expiration or earlier termination 

of the Term, the obligations of Sub-landlord and Subtenant under this Subsection will survive this 

Expiration or termination. Sub-landlord will, on request by Subtenant, furnish Subtenant with 

copies of all statements submitted by Master Lessor of the actual or estimated Common Area 

Operating Costs during the Term. 

 

Rent and Payment of Same by Subtenant. 

 

(c)  Except as is expressly provided herein, Subtenant shall be liable for the payment of all 

Rent to the Sub-landlord.  Monthly Base Rent payments (pursuant to Section 4(a)) shall be paid 

by the Subtenant at least five days before the first day of each month of the Term.  Notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary stated in this Sublease, all other payments of Rent shall be paid by the 

Subtenant to the Sub-landlord (or to the Master Lessor, as the Sub-landlord may direct), within ten 

(10) days after the Sub-landlord’s delivery of written notice to the Subtenant of Subtenant’s 

obligation to pay said other Rent; provided, however, with respect to Real Property Taxes owed 

by the Lessee under the Master Lease, Subtenant shall pay to Sub-landlord an amount equal to 

50% of said Real Property Taxes.   Except as is provided in the Indemnification and 

Reimbursement Agreement between the Sub-landlord and Subtenant of even date, at its cost, 

Subtenant shall obtain and maintain during the Term, all of the insurance the Lessee is required to 

obtain and maintain under the Master Lease, naming the Sub-landlord and its officers, employees, 

agents and representatives as additional insureds, among other things. 

 

Section 5. Use of Premises 

The Premises will be used and occupied only for the purposes described in the Master 

Lease and for no other use or purpose. 

  

Section 6. Assignment and Subletting 

Subtenant will not assign this Sublease or further sublet all or any part of the Premises 

without the prior written consent of Sub-landlord (and the consent of Master Lessor, if this is 

required under the terms of the Master Lease). 

  

Section 7. Other Provisions of Sublease and Subtenant’s Obligation to Perform as Though 

the Lessee Under the Master Lease 

(a)This Sublease is and shall be at all times subject and subordinate to the Master Lease. 

264



4 

Sublease B/N City and Foundation 11-8-16 FINAL JW 

(b) The terms, conditions and respective obligations of Sub-landlord and Subtenant to each 

other under this Sublease shall be the terms and conditions of the Master Lease except for those 

provisions of the Master Lease which are directly contradicted by this Sublease in which event the 

terms of this Sublease document shall control over the Master Lease.   Therefore, for the purpose 

of this Sublease, where in the Master Lease the word “Lessor” is used it shall be deemed to mean 

the Sub-landlord herein and wherever in the Master Lease the word “Lessee” is used it shall be 

deemed to mean the Subtenant herein. All the terms and conditions of the Master Lease are 

incorporated into and made a part of this Sublease as if Sub-landlord were the Lessor under the 

Master Lease and Subtenant were the Lessee under the Master Lease. 

 

(c)  During the Term of this Sublease and for all periods subsequent for obligations which 

have arisen prior to the termination of this Sublease, Subtenant does hereby expressly assume and 

agree to perform and comply with, for the benefit of Sub-landlord and Master Lessor, each and 

every obligation of Sub-landlord under the Master Lease.  The obligations that Subtenant has 

assumed under this paragraph are hereinafter referred to as the “Subtenant’s Assumed 

Obligations.”  Subtenant shall hold Sub-landlord free and harmless from all liability, judgments, 

costs, damages, claims or demands, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, arising out of Subtenant’s 

failure to comply with or perform Subtenant’s Assumed Obligations. However, the obligation to 

pay Base Rent, Common Area Operating Costs and other forms of Rent to the Master Lessor under 

the Master Lease will be considered performed by Subtenant to the extent and in the amount Base 

Rent, Common Area Operating Costs and other forms of Rent are paid to Sub-landlord in 

accordance with Section 4 of this Sublease.  

 

(d) Subtenant will not commit or suffer any act or omission that will violate any of the 

provisions of the Master Lease.  

 

(e)  Sub-landlord will exercise due diligence in attempting to cause Master Lessor to 

perform its obligations under the Master Lease for the benefit of Subtenant.  Sub-landlord agrees 

to maintain the Master Lease during the entire term of this Sublease, subject, however, to any 

earlier termination of the Master Lease without the fault of the Sub-landlord.  If the Master Lease 

terminates, at the option of Master Lessor, this Sublease will terminate and the parties will be 

relieved of any further liability or obligation under this Sublease. However, if the Master Lease 

terminates as a result of a default or breach by Sub-landlord or Subtenant under this Sublease or 

the Master Lease, the defaulting party will be liable to the nondefaulting party for the damage 

suffered as a result of the termination. Regardless, if the Master Lease gives Sub-landlord any right 

to terminate the Master Lease in the event of the partial or total damage, destruction, or 

condemnation of the Premises or the Building or Project of which the Premises are a part, the 

exercise of this right by Sub-landlord will not constitute a default or breach.  In the event of a 

Default under this Sublease by Subtenant, Sub-landlord shall have all of the remedies available to 

the Master Lessor under the Master Lease. 

  

 (f) Under Paragraph 56 of the Lease, Sub-landlord is granted the right to terminate the 

Lease under certain circumstances. The parties acknowledge and agree that either the Sub-landlord 

or the Subtenant may exercise that right of termination, consistent with the terms and conditions 

265



5 

Sublease B/N City and Foundation 11-8-16 FINAL JW 

set forth in Paragraph 56, and the Master Lessor shall be bound by such election irrespective which 

party invokes it.  Under Paragraph 58 of the Lease, Sub-landlord is granted the option of extending 

the Term of the Lease an additional twenty-five (25) years. The parties acknowledge and agree 

that both the Sub-landlord and the Subtenant must elect to extend the Term under said Paragraph 

58 and that exercise of the said extension option by only the Sub-landlord or the Subtenant shall 

be ineffective, and the Master Lessor agrees to same.  

 

Section 8. Attorney Fees 

If either party commences an action against the other in connection with this Sublease, the 

prevailing party will be entitled to recover costs of suit and reasonable attorney’s fees in 

accordance with and as provided in Paragraph 21 of the Master Lease. 

  

Section 9. Broker 

Sub-landlord and Subtenant each warrant that, other than Cassidy Turley Northern CA Inc., 

dba Cushman & Wakefield, they have not dealt with any real estate broker in connection with this 

transaction. Sub-landlord and Subtenant each agree to indemnify, defend, and hold the other 

harmless against any damages incurred as a result of the breach of the warranty contained in this 

Sublease.  

Section 10. Notices 

All notices and demands that may be required or permitted by either party to the other will 

be delivered and deemed received in accordance with Paragraph 23 of the Master Lease. All 

notices and demands will be sent to the addresses, email addresses and/or fax numbers as set forth 

in the Master Lease.  

Section 11. Successors and Assigns 

This Sublease will be binding on and inure to the benefit of the parties to it, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors in interest, and assigns. 

  

Section 12. Attornment 

If the Master Lease terminates, Subtenant will, if requested, attorn to Master Lessor and 

recognize Master Lessor as Sub-landlord under this Sublease. However, Subtenant’s obligation to 

attorn to Master Lessor will be conditioned on Subtenant’s receipt of a nondisturbance agreement. 

  

Section 13. Entry 

266



6 

Sublease B/N City and Foundation 11-8-16 FINAL JW 

Sub-landlord reserves the right to enter the Premises on reasonable notice to Subtenant to 

inspect the Premises or the performance by Subtenant of the terms and conditions of this Sublease 

and, during the last six months of the Term, to show the Premises to prospective subtenants. In an 

emergency, no notice will be required for entry. 

Section 14. Late Charge and Interest 

The late payment of any Rent will cause Sub-landlord to incur additional costs, including 

the cost to maintain in full force the Master Lease, administration and collection costs, and 

processing and accounting expenses. If Sub-landlord has not received any installment of Rent 

within five (5) days after that amount is due, Subtenant will pay ten percent (10%) of the delinquent 

amount, or $100, whichever is greater, which is agreed to represent a reasonable estimate of the 

cost incurred by Sub-landlord. In addition, all delinquent amounts will bear interest from the date 

the amount was due until paid in full at a rate per annum (“Applicable Interest Rate”) equal to the 

greater of (a) five percent (5%) per annum plus the then federal discount rate on advances to 

member banks in effect at the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco on the 25th day of the month 

preceding the date of this Sublease or (b) ten percent (10%). However, in no event will the 

Applicable Interest Rate exceed the maximum interest rate permitted by law that may be charged 

under these circumstances. Sub-landlord and Subtenant recognize that the damage Sub-landlord 

will suffer in the event of Subtenant’s failure to pay this amount is difficult to ascertain and that 

the late charge and interest are the best estimate of the damage that Sub-landlord will suffer. If a 

late charge becomes payable for any three (3) installments of Base Rent within any twelve (12) 

month period, the Base Rent will automatically become payable quarterly in advance.  

Section 15. Entire Agreement 

This Sublease, the Right of First Refusal Agreement between the Sub-landlord, Subtenant 

and Master Lessor of even date, and the Indemnification and Reimbursement Agreement (“IR 

Agreement”) between the Sub-landlord and Subtenant of even date set forth all the agreements 

between Sub-landlord and Subtenant concerning the Premises, and there are no other agreements 

either oral or written other than as set forth in this Sublease.  

Section 16. Time of Essence 

Time is of the essence in this Sublease. 

Section 17. Consent by Master Lessor 

 (a) The signature of the Master Lessor at the end of this document shall constitute its 

consent to and agreement with the terms of this Sublease. 

 (b) In the event that Sub-landlord Defaults under its obligations to be performed under 

the Master Lease by Sub-landlord, Master Lessor agrees to deliver to Subtenant a copy of any such 

notice of Default.  Subtenant shall have the right to cure any Default of Sub-landlord described in 

any notice of default if Subtenant does so within the same number of days set forth in the notice 

of Default given to Sub-tenant.  If such Default is cured by Subtenant, then Subtenant shall have 

267



7 

Sublease B/N City and Foundation 11-8-16 FINAL JW 

the right of reimbursement and offset from and against Sub-landlord.  

Section 18. Governing Law 

This Sublease will be governed by and construed in accordance with California law. 

  

Section 19.  ADA Compliance 

 

Since compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and other similar laws 

is dependent upon Subtenant’s specific use of the Premises, Sub-landlord makes no warranty or 

representation as to whether or not the Premises comply with ADA or any similar legislation.  In 

the event that Subtenant’s use of the Premises requires modifications or additions to the Premises 

in order to be in ADA compliance, subject to the terms and conditions of the IR Agreement, 

Subtenant agrees to make any such necessary modifications and/or additions at Subtenant’s 

expense. 

 

Section 20. Warranty of Authority 

 

 The persons whose signatures appear below warrant that they are duly authorized to 

execute this agreement on behalf of the entity which they represent and warrant that this 

agreement is a binding obligation on the part of their respective entity. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Sublease as of the date first above 

written. 

  

 

 SUB-LANDLORD: 

 

 

 City of Sonoma 

 

    

 By: 

 

 .................................................  

 

 

 Name Carol Giovanatto  

 Its: 

 

City Manager   

    

    

    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

268



8 

Sublease B/N City and Foundation 11-8-16 FINAL JW 

SUBTENANT: 

 

 The Sebastiani Theatre Foundation, a California not for 

profit Corporation 

 

    

 By: 

 

 .................................................  

 

 

 Name  .................................................  

 

 

 Its: 

 

President or Chief Executive 

Officer 

 

 

    

 By: 

 

 .................................................  

 

 

 Name 

 

 .................................................  

 

 

 Its: 

 

Treasurer or Chief Financial 

Officer 

 

 

 

Master Lessor’s Consent to Sublease 

The undersigned (“Master Lessor”), landlord under the Master Lease, consents to the Sublease 

without waiver of any restriction in the Master Lease concerning further assignment or subletting. 

Master Lessor certifies that, as of the date of Master Lessor’s execution, Sub-landlord is not in 

default or breach of any of the provisions of the Master Lease, and that the Master Lease has not 

been amended or modified except as expressly set forth in the Sublease. 

  

Date: ________________________. 

 

 MASTER LESSOR: 

 

 

 The Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc., a California 

Corporation 

 

    

 By: 

 

 .................................................  

 

 

 Name 

 

 .................................................  

 

 

 Its: 

 

President or Chief Executive 

Officer  

 

 

    

269



9 

Sublease B/N City and Foundation 11-8-16 FINAL JW 

 By: 

 

 .................................................  

 

 

 Name 

 

 .................................................  

 

 

 Its: 

 

Treasurer or Chief Financial 

Officer 

 

 

 

 

270



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E 

271



Indemnification and Reimbursement Agmt. 11-8-16 JW FINAL 1 

INDEMNIFICATION AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated as of December 1, 2016, by and between the City of 

Sonoma (“City”) and the Sebastiani Theatre Foundation, a not for profit California 

Corporation (“STF”), with reference to the following: 

 

RECITALS 

 

A. The City is entering into a Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease – 

Net (“Lease”), dated as of September 1, 2016, with the Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc. 

(“Master Lessor”) for the purpose of leasing the Premises located at 472 First Street 

West, Sonoma, CA (“Premises”), most commonly known as the Sebastiani Theater. 

 

B. The City is subleasing the Premises to STF pursuant to a Sublease (“Sublease”) 

dated as of September 1, 2016, under which the STF assumes all of the City’s obligations 

under the Lease except as provided in the Sublease. 

 

C. STF has requested that the City defray 50% of STF’s monthly rental obligations 

under the Sublease, 50% of STF’s Real Property Tax and insurance premium liabilities 

under the Sublease and 50% of the costs incurred by STF to bring the Premises into 

conformance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”).  The City is agreeable 

to reimbursing STF for these financial obligations under the terms and conditions set 

forth herein. 

 

NOW, therefore, for the following promises, covenants and considerations, the receipt 

and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

1. Definitions. Unless the context requires a different definition, all capitalized 

terms used herein shall have the same meaning assigned to them in the Lease. 

 

2. Reimbursement. 

 

a. Base Rent. As long as (i) STF is the occupant of and is operating a theater at 

the Premises consistent with the terms of the Lease and Sublease, (ii) STF is 

not in Default under the  Sublease,  (iii) the Lease and Sublease remain in full 

force and effect, (iv) STF has timely paid to the City 50% of all Base Rent 

payments, (v) STF has timely paid  to the City 50% of all Real Property Tax 

liabilities owed by the Lessee under the Lease and (vi) STF has timely paid all 

costs necessary to comply with Lessee’s insurance obligations and timely paid 

to the City all other Rent owed by the Lessee under the Lease, the City (aa) 

shall timely pay to the Master Lessor the monthly amount of the Base Rent, 

the amount owed by the Lessee for Real Property Taxes and all other amounts 

owed as Rent and (bb) shall reimburse  STF one-half of the amount paid by 

STF to purchase said insurance (the City shall pay said reimbursement within 

272



Indemnification and Reimbursement Agmt. 11-8-16 JW FINAL 2 

fifteen calendar days of receiving notice from STF of the amount(s) due 

accompanied by evidence that the insurance premium(s) were fully paid.). 

 

3. ADA Improvements. As long as (a) STF is the occupant of and is operating a 

theater at the Premises consistent with the terms of the Sublease, (b) STF is not in Default 

under the Sublease, (c) the Lease and Sublease remain in full force and effect, and (d) 

STF is not in default under this Agreement, the City shall reimburse STF for 50%, not to 

exceed three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000.00) (“Reimbursement Amount”),  of 

the costs incurred by STF in designing, permitting, constructing and inspecting the ADA 

Improvements.  

 

a. The City shall pay the Reimbursement Amount upon written request by 

STF and written verification by an architect or other qualified construction 

specialist (reasonably approved by the City but paid for by STF) that (i) STF has 

satisfactorily completed construction of 100% of the ADA Improvements and (ii) 

no outstanding liens encumber the Premises for the ADA Improvements or any 

other improvements constructed by STF thereon. 

 

b. STF’s written request to be paid said Reimbursement Amount shall 

include: (i) the Reimbursement Amount sought by STF; (ii) a detailed itemization 

of all costs incurred by STF for which STF seeks said Reimbursement Amount; 

and (iii) proof satisfactory to the City that said costs have been fully paid.  Within 

thirty (30) calendar days after receiving STF’s written request, the City shall 

either pay the Reimbursement Amount or submit to STF a written letter 

specifying why the City declines to pay the Reimbursement Amount and the 

manner in which STF can cure the deficiencies identified by the City.  Once those 

deficiencies have been resolved to the reasonable satisfaction of the City, the City 

shall pay the Reimbursement Amount to STF. 

 

4. Prevailing Wage. The City’s payment of the amounts specified in Sections 2 

and 3 above, and any capital improvement work of more than one thousand dollars 

($1,000.00) performed on or in the Premises, Building or Project may require STF to pay, 

or have STF’s contractor(s) pay, with respect to such work, State prevailing wages, and 

conform to all other requirements, in compliance with Cal. Labor Code Section 1720 et 

seq.  STF hereby expressly acknowledges and agrees that the City is not, by this 

Agreement, affirmatively representing, and has not previously affirmatively represented, 

to STF or any contractor(s) of STF, for any work of improvement on or in the Premises, 

Building or Project, in writing or otherwise, in a call for bids or any agreement or 

otherwise, that any work to be undertaken on the Premises, Building or Project, as may 

be referred to in this Agreement or constructed under this Agreement, is or is not a 

“public work,” as defined in Section 1720 of the Cal. Labor Code.  STF shall indemnify, 

protect, defend and hold harmless the City and its officers, employees, agents, 

representatives, and attorneys, with counsel reasonably acceptable to the City, from and 

against “increased costs” as defined in Cal. Labor Code Section 1781 (including City’s 

reasonable attorneys’ fees, court and litigation costs, and fees of expert witnesses) in 

connection with any work of improvement on the Premises, Building or Project, that 

273



Indemnification and Reimbursement Agmt. 11-8-16 JW FINAL 3 

results or arises in any way from (i) noncompliance by STF of the requirement, if and to 

the extent applicable, to pay federal or state prevailing wages and hire apprentices; or (ii) 

failure by STF to provide any required disclosure or identification as required by Cal. 

Labor Code Sections 1720 et seq. including without limitation specifically Section 1781, 

as the same may be amended from time to time.  The foregoing indemnity shall survive 

the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 

 

5. STF’s Liability for Operational Expenses. Subject to and except as provided in 

Sections 2 and 3, above, and in the Sublease, STF shall be solely responsible and shall 

bear exclusive liability for the payment of all expenses required to lease, use and operate 

the Premises, including, but not limited to, all Rent and expenses for which the Lessee is 

liable under the Lease, Real Property Taxes, sewage and utility charges, costs of 

equipment and supplies, film rentals, salaries and benefits of employees, and the costs 

associated with monitoring the Premises’ fire sprinkler system 

 

6. Compliance with Laws and Indemnification.  STF shall comply with all 

applicable laws, ordinances and regulations in subleasing and using the Premises 

pursuant to the Sublease, including but not limited to all local ordinances, hazardous 

substances laws, the ADA, its State counterpart and all implementing regulations 

(collectively “Laws”).  The STF shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend (with counsel 

reasonably acceptable to the City) the City, and its officers, employees, agents, 

representatives, and attorneys from any and all claims, injuries, damages, causes of 

action, costs, expenses (including attorney’s fees) and liabilities of any sort arising out of  

(i) STF’s use and subleasing of the Premises, (ii) STF’s failure to comply with the terms 

and conditions of the Sublease, (iii) STF’s performance or failure to perform under the 

Sublease, (iv) STF’s Default(s) under the Sublease, (v) STF’s acts or omissions, (vi) 

STF’s contractors’ and agents’ acts or omissions, (vii) STF’s performance or failure to 

perform under this Agreement or any other agreement entered with the City, and (viii) 

STF’s failure to comply with the Laws, and irrespective of the City’s negligence or its 

exercise of its police powers, land use authority, regulatory authority, permitting 

authority and/or inspection and building plan approval authority; provided, however, that 

this indemnity shall not extend to the City’s sole or gross negligence or to its willful 

misconduct.  The foregoing indemnity shall survive the expiration or earlier termination 

of this Agreement. 

 

7. Insurance. On or prior to the date first written above, STF shall furnish or 

cause to be furnished to City, and shall obtain City’s City Manager’s approval (which 

approval shall not be unreasonably withheld) of duplicate originals of policies and 

endorsements, or appropriate certificates thereof, of  liability insurance policies covering 

STF’s  activities under the Sublease and Lease and STF’s obligations to provide 

insurance under the Sublease, and insuring against bodily injury and property damage in 

the amount of at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000), combined single limits, naming 

the City and its employees, officers, agents and representatives (“City Personnel”) as 

additional insureds.  STF shall maintain such insurance in force and without lapse 

throughout the Term of the Sublease and the term of this Agreement and provide 

274



Indemnification and Reimbursement Agmt. 11-8-16 JW FINAL 4 

evidence of such insurance to the City Manager not less than once per calendar year, or 

more often if reasonably requested by the City Manager.  In addition, all said insurance:  

(i) shall be primary insurance and not contributory with any other 

insurance the City may have;  

(ii) shall contain no special limitations on the scope of protection 

afforded to the City and City Personnel; 

(iii) shall be “date of occurrence” and not “claims made” insurance;  

(iv) shall apply separately to each insured against whom claim is made 

or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer’s 

liability;  

(v) shall provide that the policy (i) shall not be cancelled by the insurer 

or STF unless there is a minimum of thirty (30) days prior written 

notice to City, and (ii) shall not be non-renewed by the insurer or 

STF unless there is a minimum of thirty (30) days prior written 

notice to City; and 

(vi) shall be written by a California admitted insurer with a Best rating 

of not less than B+, Class X; and 

(vii) none of the above described policies shall require STF to meet a 

deductible or self-insured retention amount of more than Twenty-

Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) unless approved in writing by 

the City Manager in her sole and absolute discretion. 

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, insurance which STF provides to the Master Lessor under 

the Sublease and which names the City and City Personnel as additional insureds shall be 

deemed compliant with this paragraph 7 provided that that insurance (aa) provides 

coverage in at least the amount of $2,000,000, combined single limit, and (bb) otherwise 

complies with all of the other insurance requirements set forth herein . 

 

8. Termination of Lease.  Pursuant to the Sublease and under Paragraph 56 of 

the Lease, STF has twenty-four (24) months after the Lease’s Commencement Date to 

secure sufficient funds to pay for the ADA Improvements, and should STF be unable to 

obtain such funding, STF has the right to terminate the Lease and, thus, the Sublease.  

STF shall deliver to the City written reports detailing the status of STF’s efforts in 

securing such funding. Said reports shall be delivered to the City every four months, 

commencing on the first day of the third month after the Commencement Date.  Said 

reports shall provide the information determined acceptable by the City Manager. 

 

a. Either the City or STF shall have the right to terminate the Lease and the 

Sublease pursuant to Paragraph 56 of the Lease.   In the event STF determines to 

terminate the Lease and Sublease pursuant to Paragraph 56 of the Lease, it shall 

275



Indemnification and Reimbursement Agmt. 11-8-16 JW FINAL 5 

consult with the City at least twenty-one (21) days prior to delivering the 

termination notice described in Paragraph 56. In the event the City determines to 

terminate the Lease and Sublease pursuant to Paragraph 56 of the Lease, it shall 

consult with the STF at least twenty-one (21) days prior to delivering the 

termination notice described in Paragraph 56. 

9. Third-Party Beneficiaries.  None of the terms or provisions of this Agreement are 

intended to benefit any person or entity other than the City and STF. 

10. Governing Law; Venue; Attorneys’ Fees.  This Agreement shall be governed by, 

interpreted under, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the internal laws of the 

State of California without application of principles of conflicts of law.  Any legal action 

brought under this Agreement must be instituted in the Superior Court of the County of 

Sonoma, or in the Federal District Court of the applicable federal district of California.  

In the event of any litigation between the parties hereto, the prevailing party shall be 

entitled to receive, in addition to the relief granted, its reasonable attorneys’ fees and 

costs and such other costs incurred in investigating the action and prosecuting the same, 

including costs for expert witnesses, costs on appeal, and for discovery. 

11. Successor and Assigns.  STF shall not assign this Agreement to any person, firm, 

or entity without the prior, express, written consent of the City, which the City may 

withhold in its sole and absolute discretion. 

12. Waivers.  No waiver of any breach of any covenant or provision contained in this 

Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach or such 

provision, or of any other covenant or provision contained in this Agreement.  No 

extension of the time for performance of any obligation or act or any waiver of any 

provision of this Agreement shall be enforceable against the City or STF, unless made in 

writing and executed by both the City and STF. 

13. Notices.  All notices under this Agreement shall be delivered and deemed 

received in accordance with and as provided under Paragraph 23 of the Lease.  

14. Calendar Days and Business Days.  As used herein, the term “days” shall mean 

calendar days unless the term “business days” is used.  As used herein, a “business day” 

shall mean a day that Sonoma City Hall is open for business to the general public.  STF 

acknowledges that Sonoma City Hall is closed for holidays designated by the State of 

California or by ordinance or resolution of the City Council of the City.  If the date on 

which the City or STF is required to take any action pursuant to the terms of this 

Agreement is not a business day, the action shall be taken on the next succeeding 

business day. 

15. Construction.  Headings at the beginning of each section and subsection of this 

Agreement are solely for the convenience of reference of the City and STF and are not a 

part of this Agreement.  Whenever required by the context of this Agreement, the 

singular shall include the plural and the masculine shall include the feminine and vice 

versa.  This Agreement shall not be construed as if it had been prepared by one or the 

276



Indemnification and Reimbursement Agmt. 11-8-16 JW FINAL 6 

other of the City or STF but rather as if both the City and STF prepared this Agreement.  

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to sections are to this Agreement.  If any 

exhibits are referred to in this Agreement, such exhibits are either attached to this 

Agreement or incorporated into this Agreement by reference. 

16. Nonliability of Officials, Officers, and Employees.  No officer, official, member, 

employee, agent, representative, or volunteer of the City shall be personally liable to 

STF, or any successors in interest, in the event of any default or breach by the City of this 

Agreement, or for any amount which may become due to STF or to any successor under 

this Agreement, or for breach of any obligation of the terms of this Agreement. 

No officer, official, member, employee, agent, representative, or volunteer of STF shall 

be personally liable to the City, or any successors in interest, in the event of any default 

or breach by STF of this Agreement, or for any amount which may become due to the 

City or to any successor under this Agreement, or for breach of any obligation of the 

terms of this Agreement. 

17. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in this Agreement and of each and 

every term and provision hereof, it being understood that the parties hereto have 

specifically negotiated the dates or time limits for the completion of each obligation 

herein. 

18. Entire Agreement; Amendment.  This Agreement, the Sublease and the Right of 

First Refusal Agreement of even date and executed by the parties hereto set forth the 

entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter set forth herein 

and supersedes all prior discussions and negotiations between the parties with respect 

thereto.  No amendment to this Agreement shall be effective unless set forth in a writing 

signed by an authorized signatory of each party. 

19. Authority to Sign. The individuals executing this Agreement on behalf of an 

entity represent and warrant that he or she is duly authorized to execute this Agreement 

on behalf of the entity he or she represents. 

20. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of duplicate 

originals, all of which shall be of equal legal force and effect upon all of the parties 

hereto signing this Agreement. 

[end—signature page follows] 

277



Indemnification and Reimbursement Agmt. 11-8-16 JW FINAL 7 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and entered into this 

Agreement as of the date first appearing above. 

CITY OF SONOMA 

By: 

_________________________________ 

Name:  Carol Giovanatto 

Its: City Manager 

 

SEBASTIANI THEATRE 

FOUNDATION  

 

By:________________________________

Name:______________________________ 

Its:   President or CEO 

 

By:_________________________________ 

Name:______________________________ 

Its:   Treasurer or CFO 

ATTEST:      

_____________________________ 

Rebekah Barr, 

City Clerk  

 

278



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 

279



1 

Right of First Refusal Agmt. 11-8-16 Clean and Final JW  

RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement” or “First Right Agreement”) dated as of December 1, 2016, 

is made between the City of Sonoma, a California general law city (“City”), the Sebastiani Theatre 

Foundation, a not for profit California Corporation (“STF”) and the Sebastiani Building Investors, 

Inc., a California Corporation (“Owner”). 

RECITALS 

A. The City is entering into a Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease – Net 

(“Lease”), dated as of December 1, 2016, with the Owner for the purpose of leasing the Premises 

located at 472 First Street West, Sonoma, CA (“Premises”), most commonly known as the 

Sebastiani Theater. 

 

B. The City is subleasing the Premises to STF pursuant to a Sublease (“Sublease”) dated as 

of December 1, 2016, under which the STF assumes all of the City’s obligations under the Lease 

except as provided in the Sublease. 

 

C. The Premises are part of the larger Building which is part of a Project, as these terms are 

defined in the Lease.  Capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meaning as those terms 

are used in the Lease, unless the context dictates otherwise.  Other Units in the Building are 

currently being leased by the Owner to other tenants. 

 

D. In consideration for leasing and subleasing the Premises pursuant to the Lease and 

Sublease, the STF and the City have expressed a desire to be offered the opportunity to lease 

other Units and/or to purchase the Project in the event that the Owner decides to lease the other 

Units and/or to sell the Project. 

 

E. The Owner, City and STF are agreeable to afford the City the opportunity to lease other 

Units in the Building and afford the City and STF the opportunity to purchase the Project under 

the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

 

AGREEMENT 

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are 

hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. During the Term, the STF and City shall have an ongoing Right of First Refusal to 

purchase the Project in the event that Owner receives a bona fide offer to purchase the Project 

from a third party.  During the Term, the City shall have an ongoing Right of First Refusal to 

lease any other Unit in the Building that becomes available for lease.  The Owner shall not (a) 

sell the Project or (b) lease any other Units in the Building that become available for lease except 

in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  This First Right Agreement does not apply 

to any extension of the term of any lease of a person or entity that is a tenant of the Building as 

of the date first written above.  

280



2 

Right of First Refusal Agmt. 11-8-16 Clean and Final JW  

2. Any such sale or lease to a third party shall be pursuant to a written letter of intent 

(“LOI”) signed by the person or entity that wishes to lease a Unit in the Building or purchase the 

Project, as the case may be. 

    3. If the Owner receives a LOI which the Owner is willing to accept, Owner shall deliver to 

the City and STF each a copy of the LOI signed by the third party accompanied by a written 

statement (collectively, “LOI Notice”) to the effect that the Owner is willing, able and intending 

to execute the LOI, as is, and will do so, in the event that, in the case of a lease LOI,  the City is 

not  agreeable to leasing the Unit pursuant to the terms and conditions of the LOI or, in the case 

of a purchase LOI, neither the City nor the STF is agreeable to purchasing the Project pursuant to 

the terms and conditions of the LOI. 

4.  In the case of a lease LOI, the City shall have seven (7) days from the delivery of the LOI 

Notice (“City’s Lease Acceptance Period”) within which to notify the Owner and STF of the 

City’s election to lease the Unit in question, under the terms and conditions specified in the LOI, 

by giving written notice (“City’s Lease Acceptance Notice”) within the City’s Lease Acceptance 

Period of such election.  In the event the City delivers the City’s Lease Acceptance Notice and 

executes the lease containing the terms of the lease LOI, the City shall have the right to assign or 

sublease the lease to the STF or any other person or entity provided that the City remains liable 

for the performance of the lessee’s obligations under the lease. 

5. In the case of a purchase LOI, the STF shall have seven (7) days from the delivery of the 

LOI Notice (“Acceptance Period”) within which to notify the Owner of its election to purchase 

the Project under the terms and conditions specified in the LOI, by giving written notice, within 

the Acceptance Period, to Owner (“Purchase Acceptance Notice”) of such election.  In the case 

of a purchase LOI, the City shall have fourteen (14) days from the delivery of the LOI Notice 

(“City Acceptance Period”) within which to notify the Owner of its election to purchase the 

Project under the terms and conditions specified in the LOI, by giving written notice, within the 

City Acceptance Period, to Owner (“Purchase Acceptance Notice”) of such election.  In the 

event that both the City and STF elect to purchase the Project under the terms and conditions 

specified in the LOI, by giving written notice, only STF shall have the right to consummate the 

sale and purchase of the Project on the terms and conditions set forth in the LOI. 

6. On timely delivery of the STF’s Purchase Acceptance Notice, City’s Lease Acceptance 

Notice or City’s Purchase Acceptance Notice, as the case may be, Owner and STF or Owner and 

the City, respectively, shall forthwith proceed to consummate the sale and purchase of the 

Project or the lease of the Unit on the terms and conditions set forth in the LOI. 

7. The rights of first refusal set forth in this Agreement may not be assigned or transferred 

by STF or the City. 

8. The terms of this First Right Agreement shall not be applicable to any purchase of the 

entire Project or any portion thereof by any current shareholders of Sebastiani Building 

Investors, Inc., a California Corporation or any family members of current shareholders of 

Sebastiani Building Investors, Inc., a California Corporation. 

281



3 

Right of First Refusal Agmt. 11-8-16 Clean and Final JW  

9. This First Right Agreement shall terminate upon termination of the Lease or the 

Sublease, and the rights granted to the City hereunder may not be exercised during the time the 

City is in default under the Lease. 

10. All notices and demands that may be required or permitted by one party to the other(s) 

shall be delivered and deemed received in accordance with Paragraph 23 of the Lease. All notices 

and demands will be sent to the addresses, email addresses and/or fax numbers as set forth in the 

Lease.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto execute this Agreement on the dates set forth 

below. 

 

CITY OF SONOMA 

By: _________________________________ 

Name:  Carol Giovanatto 

Its: City Manager 

 

SEBASTIANI THEATRE FOUNDATION  

 

By:________________________________ 

Name:______________________________ 

Its:   President or CEO 

 

By:_________________________________ 

Name:______________________________ 

Its:   Treasurer or CFO 

      

      SEBASTIANI BUILDING INVESTORS, INC. 

 

      By: _________________________________ 

      Name: _______________________________ 

      Its:   _________________________________ 

 

       

      By: __________________________________ 

      Name: ________________________________ 

      Its:   __________________________________ 

 

282



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT G 

283



SEBASTIANI THEATER LEASE CALCULATIONS Page 1

Year #

Beginning 
Monthly 

Lease Amount
ANNUAL LEASE 

OBLIGATION 
Annual City 

Budgeted Costs

Annual Payment 
from Sebastiani 

Theater 
Foundation

1 5,425$            65,100$                   32,550$                   32,550$              
2 66,402$                   33,201$                   33,201$              
3 67,730$                   33,865$                   33,865$              
4 69,085$                   34,542$                   34,542$              
5 70,466$                   35,233$                   35,233$              
6 71,876$                   35,938$                   35,938$              
7 73,313$                   36,657$                   36,657$              
8 74,779$                   37,390$                   37,390$              
9 76,275$                   38,138$                   38,138$              

10 77,801$                   38,900$                   38,900$              
11 79,357$                   39,678$                   39,678$              
12 80,944$                   40,472$                   40,472$              
13 82,563$                   41,281$                   41,281$              
14 84,214$                   42,107$                   42,107$              
15 85,898$                   42,949$                   42,949$              
16 87,616$                   43,808$                   43,808$              
17 89,368$                   44,684$                   44,684$              
18 91,156$                   45,578$                   45,578$              
19 92,979$                   46,489$                   46,489$              
20 94,838$                   47,419$                   47,419$              
21 96,735$                   48,368$                   48,368$              
22 98,670$                   49,335$                   49,335$              
23 100,643$                 50,322$                   50,322$              
24 102,656$                 51,328$                   51,328$              
25 104,709$                 52,355$                   52,355$              

2,085,173$   1,042,586$   1,042,586$   
26 106,803$                 53,402$                   53,402$              
27 108,940$                 54,470$                   54,470$              
28 111,118$                 55,559$                   55,559$              
29 113,341$                 56,670$                   56,670$              
30 115,607$                 57,804$                   57,804$              
31 117,920$                 58,960$                   58,960$              
32 120,278$                 60,139$                   60,139$              
33 122,684$                 61,342$                   61,342$              
34 125,137$                 62,569$                   62,569$              
35 127,640$                 63,820$                   63,820$              

1,169,468$     584,734$        584,734$        
36 130,193$                 65,096$                   65,096$              
37 132,797$                 66,398$                   66,398$              
38 135,453$                 67,726$                   67,726$              
39 138,162$                 69,081$                   69,081$              
40 140,925$                 70,462$                   70,462$              
41 143,743$                 71,872$                   71,872$              
42 146,618$                 73,309$                   73,309$              
43 149,551$                 74,775$                   74,775$              
44 152,542$                 76,271$                   76,271$              
45 155,592$                 77,796$                   77,796$              
46 158,704$                 79,352$                   79,352$              
47 161,878$                 80,939$                   80,939$              
48 165,116$                 82,558$                   82,558$              
49 168,418$                 84,209$                   84,209$              
50 171,787$                 85,893$                   85,893$              

3,420,947$   1,710,473$   1,710,473$   
TOTAL 5,506,119$           2,753,060$           2,753,060$      

Calculation based on annualized base monthly rent with an initial increase from current; interest 
rate increase capped @ 2% per year over a 50 year lease (2 sequential 25 year terms) beginning in 
FY 2016-17.  Lease agreement includes sublease to Sebastiani Theater Foundation @ 50% of of  
lease rate.  Should the Foundation default on its sub-lease, the lease obligates the City to fund the 
full annual lease and other costs.

PROPERTY LEASE    

284



285



Page 3

SUMMARY COSTS & OBLIGATIONS - SEBASTIANI THEATER PROPERTY LEASE

TOTAL CITY FOUNDATION

Lease - Year 1-25 2,085,173$     1,042,586$              1,042,586$         
Lease - Year 26-50 3,420,947$     1,710,473$              1,710,473$         
Property Tax/Ins.  Year 1-25 788,382$        394,191$                 394,191$            
Property Tax/Ins.  Year 26-50 1,293,424$     646,712$                 646,712$            
ADA Improvements (estimate) 600,000$        300,000$                 * 300,000$            

7,587,926$   4,093,962$           3,793,962$      

*Not to exceed amount
NOTE:  Sub-totals shown in green on spreadsheet designates provision that lease could terminate at year 35.

286



PROPERTY TAX & INSURANCE PROVISIONS Page 2

Year #

Annual 
Property 

Tax 
Obligation

Annual 
Property 
Insurance 
Obligation

Total Annual 
Property Tax + 

Insurance

Annual City 
Budgeted 

Costs

Annual 
Payment from 

Sebastiani 
Theater 

Foundation

1 17,500$     6,631$          24,614$           12,307$           12,307$            
2 25,106$           12,553$           12,553$            
3 25,608$           12,804$           12,804$            
4 26,120$           13,060$           13,060$            
5 26,643$           13,321$           13,321$            
6 27,175$           13,588$           13,588$            
7 27,719$           13,859$           13,859$            
8 28,273$           14,137$           14,137$            
9 28,839$           14,419$           14,419$            

10 29,416$           14,708$           14,708$            
11 30,004$           15,002$           15,002$            
12 30,604$           15,302$           15,302$            
13 31,216$           15,608$           15,608$            
14 31,840$           15,920$           15,920$            
15 32,477$           16,239$           16,239$            
16 33,127$           16,563$           16,563$            
17 33,789$           16,895$           16,895$            
18 34,465$           17,233$           17,233$            
19 35,154$           17,577$           17,577$            
20 35,857$           17,929$           17,929$            
21 36,575$           18,287$           18,287$            
22 37,306$           18,653$           18,653$            
23 38,052$           19,026$           19,026$            
24 38,813$           19,407$           19,407$            
25 39,589$           19,795$           19,795$            

788,382$          -$               394,191$       -$                394,191$       
26 40,381$           20,191$           20,191$            
27 41,189$           20,594$           20,594$            
28 42,013$           21,006$           21,006$            
29 42,853$           21,426$           21,426$            
30 43,710$           21,855$           21,855$            
31 44,584$           22,292$           22,292$            
32 45,476$           22,738$           22,738$            
33 46,385$           23,193$           23,193$            
34 47,313$           23,657$           23,657$            
35 48,259$           24,130$           24,130$            

442,163$            221,082$         221,082$         
36 49,225$           24,612$           24,612$            
37 50,209$           25,105$           25,105$            
38 51,213$           25,607$           25,607$            
39 52,237$           26,119$           26,119$            
40 53,282$           26,641$           26,641$            
41 54,348$           27,174$           27,174$            
42 55,435$           27,717$           27,717$            
43 56,544$           28,272$           28,272$            
44 57,674$           28,837$           28,837$            
45 58,828$           29,414$           29,414$            
46 60,004$           30,002$           30,002$            
47 61,205$           30,602$           30,602$            
48 62,429$           31,214$           31,214$            
49 63,677$           31,839$           31,839$            
50 64,951$           32,475$           32,475$            

1,293,424$      646,712$       646,712$       
TOTAL 2,081,805$   1,040,903$   1,040,903$    

PROPERTY TAX & INSURANCE

Contained in the lease is the requirement to pay the property owner the square 
footage share of assessed property tax assessments.  For calculation purposes, 
costs have been increased by 2% annually.  Insurance coverages are required 
naming the property owner as additional insured at a coverage level of $2,000,000.  
 Premium estimates have also been factored at a 2% increase annually.

287



 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

288



 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
7D 
 
11/21/2016 

 

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact  

Carol E. Giovanatto, City Manager 

Agenda Item Title 

 
Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action to Adopt Local Climate Action Measures as 
Referenced in the Climate Action 2020 Plan 

Summary 

In August 2016, staff brought forward the Climate Action 2020 Plan [CAP] representing a coordinated 
effort amongst the nine cities and the County of Sonoma to address efforts to reduce Green House Gas 
emissions. This Plan was the result of an extensive amount of work by staff, local and regional partners, 
business leaders and consultants. The outcome for Sonoma was the recommendation of 22 Climate 
Action Measures which, if focused on and integrated into a larger workplan, will bring Sonoma closer to 
meeting it’s Climate 2020 GHG reduction targets. At the same time that the CAP was being presented 
for adoption, litigation was filed by California River Watch against the County and the County Regional 
Climate Protection Agency [RCPA], challenging the EIR utilized by the RCPA in approving/preparing the 
Climate Action Plan.  Due to potential exposure to litigation through the City’s participation in the JPA 
with the County and the RCPA, the City Attorney advised that the approval of the CAP be held in 
abeyance until the lawsuit was concluded. 
 
The lack of an approved CAP or coordinated plan does not lessen the need for Sonoma to continue 
working towards addressing Climate Change measures and is in line with Council Goals [POLICY & 
LEADERSHIP: Expand focus on elements of the Climate 2020 Plan Targets]. These efforts to increase 
focus will need to be addressed in a collaborative approach through a combination of resources. Staff 
has been reviewing options of moving forward with implementation of the measures as defined in the 
CAP and a methodology to create a timeline and workplan to meet the City’s target goals along with 
other duties and priorities as set forth in Council Goals. To move the process forward and begin to make 
measurable progress on the City’s GHG target goals, staff is recommending the following: 
 

1) By resolution, Council adopt all 22 Climate Action Measures as detailed in the Climate Action 

2020 Plan 

2) Authorize staff to review options for College Intern and/or Community Volunteer to assist with 

updating current inventory data and designing implementation program 

3) Work with CSEC sub-committee on implementation and community outreach   

 

Recommended Council Action 

By resolution, adopt all 22 Climate Action Measures as detailed in the Climate Action 2020 Plan and 
authorize staff to move forward with implementation of measures including options for enlisting outside 
support staff. 

Alternative Actions 
289



Agenda Item Error! Reference source not found. 

 

 

Council discretion. 

Financial Impact 

Undetermined at this time. Additional costs for this program will be presented at a subsequent Council 
meeting for a requested budget modification. 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Attachments: 

Supplemental Report 
Resolution 
Climate Action Plan Measures 
Excerpt from Climate Action 2020 Plan for City of Sonoma 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Alignment with Council Goals:   

POLICY & LEADERSHIP:  Expand focus on elements of the Climate 2020 Plan Targets; lead by 
example with the Sonoma community 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Compliance with Climate 2020 Action Plan Target Goals: 

Adoption of the 22 CAP Measures will be the initial step towards full compliance with Climate 2020 
Goals. 

cc: 

 

 

290



SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT 
 

Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action to Adopt Local Climate Action Measures as 
Referenced in the Climate Action 2020 Plan 

 
For the Meeting of November 21, 2016 

 
 
In August 2016, staff brought forward the Climate Action 2020 Plan [CAP] representing a 
coordinated effort amongst the nine cities and the County of Sonoma to address efforts to reduce 
Green House Gas emissions.  This Plan was the result of an extensive amount of work of staff, 
local and regional partners, business leaders and consultants.  The outcome for Sonoma was the 
recommendation of 22 Climate Action Measures which, if focused on and integrated into a larger 
work plan, will bring Sonoma closer to meeting it’s Climate 2020 GHG reduction targets.  At the 
same time that the CAP was being presented for adoption, litigation was filed by California River 
Watch against the County and the County Regional Climate Protection Agency [RCPA] , 
challenging the EIR utilized by the RCPA in approving/preparing the Climate Action Plan.  Due to 
potential exposure to litigation through the City’s participation in the JPA with the County and the 
RCPA, the City Attorney advised that the approval of the CAP be held in abeyance until the lawsuit 
was concluded. 
 
The lack of an approved CAP or coordinated plan does not lessen the need for Sonoma to 
continue working towards addressing Climate Change measures and is in line with Council Goals 
[POLICY & LEADERSHIP: Expand focus on elements of the Climate 2020 Plan Targets].  
These efforts to increase focus will need to be addressed in a collaborative approach through a 
combination of resources. Staff has been reviewing options of moving forward with 
implementation of the measures as defined in the CAP and a methodology to create a timeline 
and work plan to meet the City’s target goals along with other duties and priorities as set forth in 
Council Goals.  These options are discussed below: 
 
1. REGIONAL SUPPORT THROUGH REGIONAL CLIMATE PROTECTION AUTHORITY 

[RCPA] 
 

Staff outreached to RCPA to discuss possible options for assistance and/or grants which may 
be available since the City of Sonoma is not working alone to implement climate action 
measures. There are a number of regional partnerships in place that provide assistance and 
cost effective implementation to the City. 
 
First and foremost, the City will work with the RCPA to develop a CAP measure implementation 
work plan for 2017 that will leverage regional efforts led by the RCPA on behalf of the entire 
Staff Working Group (all ten local governments). The proposal outlined in Chapter 4 of the CAP 
explains how the RCPA will continue to provide coordination across all local jurisdictions, 
pursue grant funds for implementation, develop model policy and program tools, update GHG 
inventories, and monitor CAP implementation progress. Some of these efforts have stalled due 
to resource constraints, but the RCPA is working to secure funding to ensure these services can 
be offered to the city in 2017 and beyond. 
 
The RCPA also provides for the management and oversight of several grant funded programs 
underway at least through 2017. These programs can help accelerate GHG reduction measure 
implementation in Sonoma by providing technical assistance, rebates, financing, planning tools, 
and trainings to various audiences. Current RCPA programs include Energy Upgrade California 

291



incentives for retrofits, Home Energy Score residential energy performance benchmarking, the 
Bay Area Multifamily Building Enhancements Program, the BayREN Codes and Standards 
program, the BayREN Pay As You Save (PAYS) on bill repayment program, and the Shift 
Sonoma County low carbon transportation planning project. 
 
The collaboration between the city and the County’s Energy Independence Office brings 
important tools for building retrofits to property owners that want to implement water efficiency, 
energy efficiency, and renewable energy measures. These include the green business program, 
Sonoma County Energy Watch, Property Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) financing, and a Do It 
Yourself home retrofit kit program.  Sonoma Clean Power allows residents to easily sign up for 
clean local energy, and for a slight premium, to sign up for carbon free EverGreen power. The 
Drive EverGreen program, launched in October, provides steep discounts on Nissan Leaf and 
BMW i3 electric vehicles, plus incentives for residential chargers. 
 
In the near term, the City can work with these and other regional partners, as identified in the 
Regional Climate Action Plan, to promote existing tools and encourage greater participation by 
local businesses and residents. 
 
Once the city confirms priorities for new local actions, the RCPA will provide support to define 
specific implementation plans. An example of how the RCPA can support implementation 
illustrated in this table from the CAP: 

292



 
 
2.  ENLIST OUTSIDE STAFF ASSISTANCE 

With the City’s existing staffing levels, consideration is being given to enlisting the services of 

the Sonoma State college intern program. It is somewhat apparent in reviewing the measures 

and the calculation of credits currently attributed to Sonoma, that there is a potential that some 

of the City’s existing programs were overlooked or under-valued. These are areas that should 

be reviewed to assure that we have an accurate base level. By way of example, items such as 

inventory of solar installations, updating of energy codes and City vehicle inventory already exist 

or have been completed. 

Additionally, staff believes that consideration could be given to the use of a community volunteer 

to work with City departments to assist in educating our own staff in opportunities to increase 

our GHG reductions through operational changes or future budgeting of equipment. Climate 

change is a process of both action and education externally and internally. 

 

293



3.  COMMUNITY SERVICES & ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION [CSEC] 

The City ‘s Community Services and Environment Commission [CSEC] has established a sub-

committee to work on this project and would be utilized throughout the process as the steps are 

further refined. The adoption of the measures is key followed by a prioritization. Staff also views 

a local public education component as vital to the Climate Action Plan success and this is where 

the CSEC can play a major role on behalf of the City. 

 

NEXT STEPS 

Staff has outlined options available for Council consideration to begin the process to achieve 

further compliance with GHG targets. Staff is seeking Council discussion and direction to begin 

implementation of the CAP measures as an adjunct to staff’s existing work plan. To move the 

process forward and begin to make measurable progress on the City’s GHG target goals, staff 

is recommending the following: 

1) Council adopt all 22 Climate Action Measures as detailed in the Climate Action 2020 

Plan 

 

2) Authorize staff to review options for College Intern and/or Community Volunteer to assist 

with updating current inventory data and designing implementation program 

 

3) Work with CSEC sub-committee on implementation and community outreach   

 

 

294



295 

CITY OF SONOMA 
 

RESOLUTION #___-2016 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA ADOPTING CLIMATE 
ACTION 2020 MEASURES FOR THE CITY OF SONOMA AND MAKE FINDINGS THAT THEY 
ARE EXEMPT FROM ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PURSUANT TO SECTION 15308 of TITLE 

14 OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS 
 

Whereas, climate change is a serious threat to worldwide and strong action is needed to avoid 
serious damage to human wellbeing and natural systems, and   

Whereas, the implementation of Climate Action 2020 Measures developed for the City of Sonoma 
will result in the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and will thus result both in substantial 
environmental benefits, and 

Whereas, achieving the objectives of Climate Action 2020 measures for the City of Sonoma will 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions and will have numerous other collateral public benefits, such as 
reducing other unhealthful emissions, improving public health through alternative modes of 
transportation, and improving efficiency and reducing waste.   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT,  

1. Exemption from Environmental Review. The adoption and implementation of the climate 
protection measures developed for the City of Sonoma in Climate Action 2020 are 
categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to section 15308 of title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations, because these measures constitute actions taken by a 
regulatory agency, as authorized by state or local ordinance, to assure the maintenance, 
restoration, enhancement, or protection of the environment. 

2. Adoption of Climate Protection Measures. The City Council adopts the Climate Action 
2020 measures for the City of Sonoma, and the emissions reduction targets contained in 
Climate Action 2020. 

The foregoing Resolution was duly adopted this 21st day of November 2016, by the following vote: 
 

Ayes:    
Noes:    
Absent:   

 
 __________________________________  

       Laurie Gallian, Mayor 
 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________             
Rebekah Barr, MMC, City Clerk 



REGIONAL CLIMATE ACTION PLAN EXCERPT – CITY OF SONOMA 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

1 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

 

5.1 Sonoma 

This section presents the community greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions profile specific to 

Sonoma and the measures that the City of Sonoma will implement, with the support of the 

RCPA and other regional entities, as part of the regional approach to reducing GHG 

emissions. 

 Community Summary 

The City of Sonoma is home to three of the first ten California Historical Landmarks, along 

with a number of other historic sites. Located in the heart of one of the world’s premier wine 

producing regions, Sonoma is a working town with a rich cultural heritage. The adjacent 

scenic hills and agricultural valley provide a setting of unparalleled natural beauty. The San 

Francisco de Solano mission and other historic buildings that surround the central Plaza 

complement the area’s viticultural prominence and visual beauty to make Sonoma a 

distinctive and successful tourism destination. The City serves as the economic hub for the 

rural Sonoma Valley, which has a population of about 39,000. Sonoma has typical 

Mediterranean weather with hot, dry summers and cool, wet winters. The City is located in 

the southeast portion of the county, west of Napa and east of Petaluma. 

Demographics 

Sonoma spans 2.7 square miles and has largely residential, commercial, and agricultural 

land uses. The City had a population of 10,678 as of the 2010 census. In 2020 the 

population of Sonoma is expected to be 11,165, an increase of 5% over 2010. Employment 

in the area is expected to increase by 21%. Sonoma’s demographic composition in 2010 

was 87% White, 0.5% African American, 0.5% Native American, 3% Asian, 0.2% Pacific 

Islander, 7% from other races, and 2.5% from two or more races. Persons of Hispanic or 

Latino origin were 15%.  

As shown in Table 5.8-1, the City is expected to experience relatively slow growth in 

population, housing, and jobs in the future. 

Table 5.1-1. Sonoma Socioeconomic Data 

 
Actual Projected 

1990 2010 2015 2020 2040 2050 

Population 8,121 10,648 11,009 11,165 11,692 11,964 

Housing  3,866 5,060 5,123 5,196 5,441 5,568 

Employment 4,937 5,746 6,350 6,954 7,978 8,178 

Socioeconomic data were derived from the SCTA travel demand model and incorporate input from the City based on its internal 
planning forecasts. 

 

296



REGIONAL CLIMATE ACTION PLAN EXCERPT – CITY OF SONOMA 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

2 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

According to the 2010 Census, City of Sonoma housing is majority owner-occupied with 

59% of housing units owner-occupied and 41% rented.  

Energy and Water Use 

Compared to households in the county as a whole, Sonoma households use less electricity 

but more natural gas and water. They also use less electricity, natural gas, and water than 

households statewide.  

Table 5.1-2. Sonoma, County, and State 2010 Average Energy and Water Use (per 

household, per year) 

  Sonoma County State 

Electricity (kWh) 5,997 7,042 9,320 

Natural Gas (Therms) 483 413  512 

Water Use (Gallons) 84,136 75,810  107,869 

Sources:  

City Data: provided by PG&E (energy) and by the City of Sonoma Urban Water Management Plan.  

County Data: provided by PG&E (energy) and the cities or their Urban Water Management Plans (water). 

State Data: U.S. Energy Information Administration 2009, U.S. Geological Survey 2014, California Department of Finance 2015. 

kWh = kilowatt hours 

Transportation Commute Modes 

In the inventory year 2010, most Sonoma residents (71%) drove alone to work, and about 

9% carpooled. For many residents of Sonoma, alternative transportation options are not 

available for their commute trip. With the average trip to work for residents of Sonoma taking 

25.5 minutes, and limited bus service, riding a bus is not a viable option for many City 

residents (U.S. Census Bureau 2014).  

297



REGIONAL CLIMATE ACTION PLAN EXCERPT – CITY OF SONOMA 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

3 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

Figure 5.1-1. Modes to Work in Sonoma in 2010 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau 2014: American Community Survey 2006–2010  

 Sonoma’s Existing Actions to Reduce GHG Emissions 

Sonoma has already taken a number of steps to reduce energy use, promote renewable 

energy use, and other actions that have been helping to reduce GHG emissions. Sonoma 

has adopted the following ordinances and General Plan policies that would also help to 

reduce GHG emissions and will support the implementation of the formal GHG reduction 

measures in this CAP. 

 Building Energy 

 Residential Retrofits: Energy Upgrade California in Sonoma County – Whole House 

Upgrade Program. 

 Residential Appliance Upgrades: Programs through PG&E and other agencies. 

 Solar Installations at Residences: Energy Upgrade California in Sonoma County – 

Whole House Upgrade Program. 

 Solar Installations at businesses. 

 Standardized Permit Submittal for Residential PV Systems: In an effort to promote a 

consistent methodology of processing permits by all jurisdictions within the Redwood 

Empire Chapter of Code Officials, this standardized permit submittal has been 

developed for residential roof-mounted PV electrical systems of up to 5 kilowatts 

(kW).  

Drove alone
71%

Carpooled
9%

Public 
transportation

1%

Bus
0.4%

Bicycle
3%

Walked
5%

Other means
1%

Worked at home
10%

298



REGIONAL CLIMATE ACTION PLAN EXCERPT – CITY OF SONOMA 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

4 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

 Sonoma County Energy Independence Program (SCEIP): Enables residential and 

commercial property owners to access PACE financing for permanently installed 

energy or water improvements to their property. Under Energy Upgrade California, 

rebates are available for homeowners interested in doing energy retrofit 

improvements. 

 Sustainability Program – General Plan Implementation Measure: Chapter 3 – 

Measure 3.2.1 General Plan Goal: ER-3: Conserve natural resources to ensure their 

long-term sustainability. CAL Green Building Standards Code: Municipal Code 

Chapter 14.10.050. City adopts Tier 1 as mandatory for all new residential and non-

residential buildings. 

 General Plan Policy 6.2: Implement Sonoma’s Green Building Ordinance to ensure 

new development is energy and water efficient, and consider establishing additional 

incentives to achieve energy and water conservation efficiencies higher than those 

required by the Ordinance. Revise and/or revisit the ordinance as necessary to 

reflect the introduction of a State-wide green building code. 

 General Plan Policy 6.4: Promote the use of alternative energy sources such as solar 

energy, cogeneration, and non-fossil fuels. 

 The City offers a Business Improvement Matching Funds Loan Program for 

improvements to commercial buildings, including lighting retrofits, insulation and 

weatherization, energy management systems, HVAC system upgrades, water 

heating systems, irrigation efficiency systems, rainwater harvesting systems, low-

flow toilets, and similar types of improvements to the building or property that have 

been identified through a qualified energy and/or water efficiency survey. 

 Land Use and Transportation 

 Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan. 

 Mixed Use Development – General Plan Policy: Chapter 4 – Policy 3.2 General Plan 

Goal CE-3: Minimize vehicle trips while ensuring safe and convenient access to 

activity centers and maintaining Sonoma’s small-town character.  

 General Plan Policy 3.2: Encourage a mixture of uses and higher densities where 

appropriate to improve the viability of transit and pedestrian and bicycle travel. 

 Increased Transit Service – General Plan Policy 3.3. Promote transit use and 

improve transit services. 

 General Plan Goal 6.0: Promote environmental sustainability through support of 

existing and new development which minimizes reliance on natural resources. 

 General Plan Policy 6.1: Preserve open space, watersheds, environmental habitats 

and agricultural lands, while accommodating new growth in compact forms that de-

emphasizes the automobile.  

 General Plan Policy 6.5: Incorporate transportation alternatives such as walking, 

bicycling and, where possible, transit into the design of new development. 

 Idling Ordinance: Municipal Code 9.56.080 other limitations. A. Limitations on the 

Idling of Commercial Vehicles. When parked within 100 feet of a residential zoning 

299



REGIONAL CLIMATE ACTION PLAN EXCERPT – CITY OF SONOMA 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

5 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

district, a driver of a commercial vehicle shall not cause or allow an engine to idle for 

more than five consecutive minutes, except as necessary for the loading or 

unloading of cargo within a period not to exceed 30 minutes. 

 General Plan Goal CE-2: Establish Sonoma as a place where bicycling is safe and 

convenient. 

 General Plan Policy 2.1: Promote bicycling as efficient alternative to driving. 

 General Plan Policy 2.2: Extend the bike path system, with a focus on 

establishing safe routes to popular destinations. 

 General Plan Policy 2.3: Expand availability of sheltered bicycle parking. 

 General Plan Policy 2.5: Incorporate bicycle facilities and amenities in new 

development. 

 General Plan Goal CE-3: Minimize vehicle trips while ensuring safe and convenient 

access to activity centers and maintaining Sonoma’s small-town character. 

 General Plan Policy 3.2: Encourage a mixture of uses and higher densities where 

appropriate to improve the viability of transit and pedestrian and bicycle travel. 

 General Plan Policy 3.3: Promote transit use and improve transit services. 

 General Plan Policy 3.4: Encourage shared and “park once” parking 

arrangements that reduce vehicle use. 

 General Plan Goal CD-4: Encourage quality, variety, and innovation in new 

development. 

 General Plan Policy 4.4: Require pedestrian and bicycle access and amenities in 

all development.  

 Waste Minimization and Recycling 

 Increase Waste Diversion in Municipal Facilities: Recycling is required in all City 

offices. 

 Compost Your Veggies Program: All vegetative food waste can be added to yard 

debris bins.  

 Commercial Composting Program. Collects waste from local restaurants and 

kitchens and converts to high organic soil from local gardens, farms, and vineyards 

 Pharmaceutical Drop-off Program: In partnership with the Sonoma County Water 

Agency, the City and local pharmacies have instituted a program in which residents 

may return unused pharmaceutical products as a means of diverting them from the 

sanitation system. 

 Waste Reduction Goal: General Plan Goal ER-3: Conserve natural resources to 

ensure their long-term sustainability.  

 General Plan Policy 3.1: Increase the conservation-effectiveness and cost-

effectiveness of the solid waste source reduction program through expanded 

recycling and composting. 

300



REGIONAL CLIMATE ACTION PLAN EXCERPT – CITY OF SONOMA 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

6 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

 Polystyrene Food Packaging: Municipal Code Chapter 7.30. The purpose of this 

chapter is to decrease the use and presence of polystyrene products in order to 

promote the public health, reduce solid waste disposal and litter, protect air quality 

and the ozone layer, protect wildlife, livestock and the environment. The City council 

supports a ban on all uses of polystyrene not deemed absolutely critical. 

 Green Purchasing Policy: Municipal Code Chapter 3.04.060: In an effort to comply 

with the State of California Public Contract Code, the City recognizes the state 

guidelines referencing purchase of recycled products. 

 General Plan Goal ER-3: Conserve natural resources to ensure their long-term 

sustainability. 

 Water and Wastewater Efficiency 

 General Plan Policy 6.3: Promote the use of sustainable construction techniques and 

environmentally sensitive design for all housing, to include best practices in water 

conservation. Low-impact drainage, and greenhouse gas reduction. 

 General Plan Implementation Measure 3.2.2: Continue to implement the Xeriscape 

Ordinance and update it as necessary to achieve water conservation objections. 

 Water Conservation Strategy – General Plan Implementation Measure: Chapter 3 – 

Measure 2.4.1, General Plan Goal ER-2: Identify, preserve, and enhance important 

habitat areas and significant environmental resources. Prepare and implement a 

comprehensive strategy for water conservation and the protection of water quality, 

including quantified objectives, with the goal of producing a Water Element for the 

General Plan. 

 General Plan Policy 2.4: Protect Sonoma Valley watershed resources, including 

surface and ground water supplies and quality. 

 General Plan Policy 6.6: Ensure sufficient water resources to serve existing and 

future residents provided for under Sonoma’s 2020 General Plan: 1) take proactive 

steps to improve water conservation; 2) upgrade water supply infrastructure; 3) 

increase the local supply of water through new wells; 4) protect the quality and 

sustainability of groundwater resources; 5) investigate alternative water supply 

options. 

 Prior to the issuance of any building permit for new development, a water demand 

analysis, accompanied by a water conservation plan that targets CALGreen water 

standards, shall be submitted by the applicant and shall be subject to the review and 

approval of the City Engineer. 

 Water-Efficient Landscaping: Municipal Code Chapter 14.32: “This policy protects 

local water supplies through the implementation of a whole system approach to 

design, construction, installation and maintenance of the landscape resulting in 

water-conserving climate-appropriate landscapes, improved water quality and the 

minimization of natural resource inputs. 

 Water Shortage and Conservation Plan: Municipal Code Chapter 13.10: Regulations 

that enforce the conservation of water for the greatest public benefit with particular 

301



REGIONAL CLIMATE ACTION PLAN EXCERPT – CITY OF SONOMA 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

7 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

regard to public health, fire protection, and domestic use; to conserve water by 

reducing waste; and to achieve water use reductions in response to water shortages 

that occur from time to time. Includes voluntary measures and, when applicable by 

county council, mandatory measures. 

 Urban Water Management Plan: Resolution adopting the City of Sonoma 2010 

Urban Water Management Plan. 

 The City has issued one building permit for a greywater system and one commercial 

development (Sonoma Valley Oaks) installed a greywater system. 

 Sustainability Workshops: The Sonoma Community Center has offered a number of 

sustainability workshops related to greywater, rainwater harvesting, recycling, 

gardening with native plants, and water conservation. 

 The City’s Business Improvement Matching Funds Loan Program described above 

under “Building Energy” also supports water efficiency improvements on existing 

commercial buildings. 

 Agriculture, Urban Forestry, and Natural Areas 

 General Plan Goal CD-1: Contain urban land uses within a compact area that 

preserves surrounding open space and agricultural resources. 

 General Plan Policy 1.4: Coordinate planning efforts with the County to protect 

adjacent agricultural land and open space. 

 General Plan Goal ER-1: Acquire and protect important open space in and around 

Sonoma. 

 General Plan Policy 1.3: Support community programs that preserve and promote 

agriculture. 

 Urban Growth Boundary: An Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) is established at the 

location shown on this General Plan’s Land Use Plan map. The UGB is a line 

beyond which urban development will not be allowed, except for public parks, public 

schools, and uses consistent with the General Plan “Agriculture” land use 

designation as of February 25, 2000. 

 Tree Ordinance: Municipal Code Chapter 12.08: Regulations prohibiting 

unnecessary damage, removal, or destruction of trees. 

 Resource Conservation Strategy – General Plan Implementation Measure General 

Plan Goal ER-2: Conserve natural resources to ensure their long-term sustainability. 

General Plan Implementation Measure 3.3.1 Develop a sustainable resource 

conservation strategy for City facilities, services, and projects with quantifiable 

standards that serves as a model of green building and operation for the community. 

 Natural Resource Conservation – General Plan Policy: Chapter 3 – Policy 3.2 

General Plan Goal ER-3: Conserve natural resources to ensure their long-term 

sustainability. General Plan Policy 3.2: Encourage construction, building 

maintenance, landscaping, and transportation practices that promote energy and 

water conservation and reduce green-house gas emissions. 

302



REGIONAL CLIMATE ACTION PLAN EXCERPT – CITY OF SONOMA 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

8 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

 General Plan Goal 6.0: Promote environmental sustainability through support of 

existing and new development which minimizes reliance on natural resources.  

 General Plan Policy 3.2: Encourage construction, building maintenance, 

landscaping, and transportation practices that promote energy and water 

conservation and reduce green-house gas emissions. 

 General Plan Implementation Measure 3.2.1: Implement a sustainability program that 

includes quantified objectives, standards and incentives for green construction and 

assistance to local businesses and agricultural operations to institute green practices 

for construction and land, energy, and water conservation.  

 Greenhouse Gas Inventory and Forecast 

Figure 5.1-2. Sonoma 2010 Community GHG Inventory by Source 

 

Sonoma’s inventory is similar to other cities in the county and state. The majority of the GHG 

emissions are from transportation due to fossil fuel combustion in personal and light-duty 

vehicles. The next largest source is building energy, which includes emissions related to 

energy used to heat the homes and businesses in Sonoma. Residential uses account for 

most (53%) of the building energy emissions in Sonoma. Commercial uses account for 47% 

of building energy emissions. The other categories of emissions are much smaller in 

comparison to building energy and on-road transportation.  

In Sonoma, total GHG emissions generated by community activities in 2010 were 103,370 

MTCO2e, which is approximately 3% of countywide GHG emissions in the same year. This 

is a 7% increase from estimated 1990 emissions, which were 96,890 MTCO2e. Table 5.8-3 

Building Energy
36%

On-Road 
Transportation

54%

Off-Road 
Transportation 
and Equipment

1%

Solid Waste 
Generation

9%

Wastewater 
Treatment

0.1%

Water 
Conveyance

0.2% Fertilizer and 
Livestock

0.03%

303



REGIONAL CLIMATE ACTION PLAN EXCERPT – CITY OF SONOMA 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

9 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

shows the 1990 backcast, the 2010 inventory and business-as-usual (BAU) forecasts for 

2015, 2020, 2040 and 2050 for the City of Sonoma.

304



 

 

 
  C

lim
a
te

 A
c
ti
o

n
 2

0
2
0

 a
n
d
 B

e
y
o
n
d
  

S
o
n
o
m

a
 C

o
u
n
ty

 R
e
g
io

n
a
l 
C

lim
a
te

 A
c
ti
o

n
 P

la
n
 

1
0
 

J
u
ly

 2
0
1
6
 

C
it
y
 o

f 
S

o
n

o
m

a
 

 T
a

b
le

 5
.1

-3
. 

S
o

n
o

m
a

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 G

H
G

 B
a

c
k

c
a
s

t,
 I

n
v
e

n
to

ry
, 

F
o

re
c

a
s
ts

  

S
o

u
rc

e
 

1
9
9
0

 B
a
c

k
c
a

s
t 

2
0
1
0

 I
n

v
e
n

to
ry

 
2
0
1
5

 F
o

re
c

a
s
t 

2
0
2
0

 F
o

re
c

a
s
t 

2
0
4
0

 F
o

re
c

a
s
t 

2
0
5
0

 F
o

re
c

a
s
t 

B
u
ild

in
g
 E

n
e
rg

y
 

3
1
,7

5
0

 
3
3
%

 
3
7
,2

8
0

 
3
6
%

 
4
1
,3

5
0

 
3
5
%

 
4
3
,6

2
0

 
3
6
%

 
4
7
,9

6
0

 
3
6
%

 
4
9
,1

2
0

 
3
7
%

 

O
n

-r
o
a
d
 T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o
n

 
5
0
,8

5
0

 
5
2
%

 
5
5
,6

7
0

 
5
4
%

 
6
4
,5

0
0

 
5
5
%

 
6
5
,9

5
0

 
5
4
%

 
6
8
,8

7
0

 
5
2
%

 
6
6
,0

9
0

 
5
0
%

 

O
ff

-r
o
a
d
 T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n
t 

1
,1

2
0

 
1
%

 
1
,3

0
0

 
1
%

 
1
,6

0
0

 
1
%

 
1
,9

5
0

 
2
%

 
3
,7

2
0

 
3
%

 
3
,8

1
0

 
3
%

 

S
o
lid

 W
a
s
te

  
1
0
,1

1
0

 
1
0
%

 
8
,7

5
0

 
8
%

 
9
,4

9
0

 
8
%

 
1
0
,1

8
0

 
8
%

 
1
1
,4

1
0

 
9
%

 
1
1
,6

9
0

 
9
%

 

W
a
s
te

w
a
te

r 
T

re
a
tm

e
n
t 

9
0

 
0
%

 
1
2
0

 
0
.1

%
 

1
2
0

 
0
%

 
1
2
0

 
0
%

 
1
3
0

 
0
%

 
1
3
0

 
0
%

 

W
a
te

r 
C

o
n
v
e

y
a

n
c
e

 
2
,9

7
0

 
3
%

 
2
5
0

 
0
.2

%
 

3
3
0

 
0
%

 
3
4
0

 
0
%

 
3
8
0

 
0
%

 
3
9
0

 
0
%

 

T
o

ta
l 

9
6
,8

9
0

 
1
0
0

%
 

1
0
3
,3

7
0

 
1
0
0

%
 

1
1
7
,3

9
0

 
1
0
0

%
 

1
2
2
,1

7
0

 
1
0
0

%
 

1
3
2
,4

7
0

 
1
0
0

%
 

1
3
1
,2

4
0

 
1
0
0

%
 

P
e
r-

C
a
p

it
a
 E

m
is

s
io

n
s

 
1
1
.9

 
 

9
.7

 
 

1
0
.7

 
 

1
0
.9

 
 

1
1
.3

 
 

1
1
.0

 
 

 

 

 

305



 

 

 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

11 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

 Greenhouse Gas Reduction Goal and Measures 

The City of Sonoma joins the other Sonoma County communities to support the regional 

GHG emissions reduction target of 25% below 1990 countywide emissions by 2020 through 

adoption of 20 local GHG reduction measures. The City’s GHG emissions under 2020 BAU 

conditions (in absence of state, regional, and local reduction measures) would be 

approximately 122,170 MTCO2e. The City’s local GHG reduction measures, in combination 

with state and regional measures, would reduce the City’s GHG emissions in 2020 to 85,700 

MTCO2e, which would be a reduction of approximately 30% compared to 2020 BAU 

conditions. The City will achieve these reductions through reduction measures that are 

technologically feasible and cost-effective per AB 32 through a combination of state (63%), 

regional (33%), and local (4%) efforts. Per-capita reductions in Sonoma in 2020 would be 

3.3 MTCO2e per person. With the reduction measures in CA2020, per-capita emissions in 

Sonoma will be 7.7 MTCO2e per person, a 36% reduction in per capita emissions compared 

to 1990. 

Table 5.1-4. Sonoma 2020 GHG BAU Emissions, Reductions, and CAP Emissions 

Source 

2020 
BAU 

Forecas
t 

Reductions  2020 
CAP 

Emissio
ns 

% 
Reductio
n From 

BAU 
State 

County-
wide 

Local Total 

Building Energy  43,620   9,670   2,950   570   13,190   30,440  30% 

On-Road 
Transportation 

 65,950   
13,140  

 1,640   50   14,820   51,120  22% 

Off-Road 
Transportation and 
Equipment 

 1,950   170   -     20   190   1,760  10% 

Solid Waste   10,180   -     7,200   -     7,200   2,980  71% 

Water Conveyance  340   -     310   730   1,040   -   1 100% 

Wastewater Treatment  120   -     10   -     10   110  11% 

Total Emissions 
122,170 22,990 12,110 1,360 36,460 85,700 30% 

 63% 33% 4%    

Values may not sum due to rounding. 
1 The CAP reduction for the water conveyance sector is greater than 2020 BAU emissions because it contains emission 
reductions from multiple sectors. Water conveyance measures reduce improve efficiency, which reduces electricity use within the 
building energy sector. 

Figure 5.8-3 shows Sonoma’s 1990 and 2010 GHG emissions total, 2020 BAU emissions 

forecast total, and the total emissions remaining after implementation of the City’s reduction 

measures. The contribution of state, regional, and local reductions are overlaid on the 2020 

BAU emissions forecast total, representing the total emissions reductions achieved in 2020. 

Like the other communities, Sonoma benefits greatly from the work the state and regional 

entities are committed to implementing on climate action. See Chapter 4 for more 

information on state and regional actions. 

306



 

 

 
  C

lim
a
te

 A
c
ti
o

n
 2

0
2
0

 a
n
d
 B

e
y
o
n
d
  

S
o
n
o
m

a
 C

o
u
n
ty

 R
e
g
io

n
a
l 
C

lim
a
te

 A
c
ti
o

n
 P

la
n
 

1
2
 

J
u
ly

 2
0
1
6
 

C
it
y
 o

f 
S

o
n

o
m

a
 

 

F
ig

u
re

 5
.1

-3
. 
S

o
n

o
m

a
 1

9
9
0

, 
2

0
1

0
, 

a
n

d
 2

0
2

0
 G

H
G

 E
m

is
s
io

n
s

; 
2

0
2

0
 S

ta
te

 a
n

d
 L

o
c

a
l 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s
 

 

  

1
9

9
0

 E
m

is
si

o
n

s
9

6
,8

9
0

2
0

1
0

 E
m

is
si

o
n

s
1

0
3

,3
7

0

2
0

2
0

 C
A

P
 E

m
is

si
o

n
s

8
5

,7
1

0

St
at

e
 R

e
d

u
ct

io
n

s
2

2
,9

9
0

C
o

u
n

ty
w

id
e

 R
e

d
u

ct
io

n
s

1
2

,1
1

0

Lo
ca

l R
e

d
u

ct
io

n
s

1
,3

6
0

0

2
0

,0
0

0

4
0

,0
0

0

6
0

,0
0

0

8
0

,0
0

0

1
0

0
,0

0
0

1
2

0
,0

0
0

1
4

0
,0

0
0

1
9

9
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

2
0

 C
A

P

MTCO2e

To
ta

l G
H

G
 R

e
d

u
ct

io
n

s

2
0

2
0

 B
A

U
 

Em
is

si
o

n
s 

1
2

2
,1

7
0

307



 

 

 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

13 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

Greenhouse Gas Reduction Measures 

As shown in Table 5.8-5, the City of Sonoma will achieve its reduction goal through a 

combination of state, regional, and local measures. State reduction measures are 

implemented through state law, including some that require action by the City to comply with 

state mandates (e.g. Title 24 energy efficiency measures). State measure reductions total 

22,990 MTCO2e, which include the Pavley vehicle fuel efficiency standards, Title 24 building 

standards, the state’s low carbon fuel standard, and the RPS, which will reduce GHG 

emissions from Sonoma’s on-road and off-road transportation, and building energy use in 

2020.  

Regional measures will reduce emissions by 12,110 MTCO2e and will be implemented by 

regional entities, including the Regional Climate Protection Authority (RCPA), Sonoma 

County Water Agency (SCWA), County of Sonoma Energy Independence Office (ESD), 

Sonoma County Transportation Authority (SCTA), and Sonoma Clean Power (SCP).   

An additional reduction of 1,360 MTCO2e will be achieved through local measures. The 

locally adopted measures, although not as high-achieving of GHG reductions as the state 

and regional measures, are important because they represent the actions that local 

communities can take directly. The communities have local control over their infrastructure 

and policies and have selected the local measures that best suit the needs of their 

community.  

The three measures that will have the greatest impact in Sonoma are, in order of 

importance, Measure 11-L1 (Senate Bill SB X7-7 - Water Conservation Act of 2009), and 

Measure 11-L3 (Water Conservation for Existing Buildings), Measure 2-L2 (Solar in Existing 

Residential Buildings). These three measures, in addition to reducing GHG emissions, will 

save energy, improve air quality and public health in the region, and conserve water and 

other natural resources. As the county and state continue to experience a historic drought, 

water conservation will remain an especially important co-benefit. 

On the state level, the RPS and the 

Pavley measures have the greatest 

potential to reduce emissions in the City. 

Of the regional measures, the measures 

with the greatest impact are the 

Community Choice Aggregation (CCA) 

measure, the waste-to-energy measure, 

and the waste diversion measure. 

Table 5.8-5 presents the individual GHG 

reduction measures that Sonoma has 

selected for the CAP. 

  

City of Sonoma Electric Municipal Vehicle Fleet 

Along with the other communities in the county, 
the City of Sonoma joined the Sonoma County 
Local Government Electric Vehicle (EV) 
Partnership to collaborate as a region on the 
implementation of EVs and EV charging 
infrastructure.  Purchasing electric vehicles for 
the City’s municipal vehicle fleet, and 
constructing vehicle charging infrastructure will 
help the City reduce its municipal operations 
GHG emissions. 

 

308



 

 

 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

14 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

Table 5.1-5. Sonoma 2020 GHG Emissions Reductions by Measure 

State, Regional, and Local Measures  
2020 GHG 

Reductions Participation Rate 

State and Regional Measures    

Goal 1: Increase Building Energy Efficiency 2,173   

Measure 1-S1: Title 24 Standards for 
Commercial and Residential Buildings 

 741  N/A  

Measure 1-S2: Lighting Efficiency and Toxics 
Reduction Act (AB1109) 

 901  N/A  

Measure 1-S3: Industrial Boiler Efficiency  - N/A  

Measure 1-R1: Community Energy Efficiency 
Retrofits for Existing Buildings 

 39  N/A  

Measure 1-R2: Expand the Community Energy 
Efficiency Retrofits Program 

 493  N/A  

Goal 2: Increase Renewable Energy Use 10,446   

Measure 2-S1: Renewables Portfolio Standard  7,998  N/A  

Measure 2-S2: Solar Water Heaters  34  N/A  

Measure 2-R1: Community Choice Aggregation  2,415  N/A  

Goal 5: Encourage a Shift Toward Low-
Carbon Transportation Options 

1,207   

Measure 5-R1: Improve and Increase Transit 
Service 

 < 1 N/A  

Measure 5-R2: Supporting Transit Measures  NQ  N/A  

Measure 5-R3: Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit  NQ  N/A  

Measure 5-R4: Trip Reduction Ordinance  239  N/A  

Measure 5-R5: Supporting Measures for the 
Transportation Demand Management Program 

 NQ  N/A  

Measure 5-R6: Reduced Transit Passes  221  N/A  

Measure 5-R7: Alternative Travel Marketing & 
Optimize Online Service 

 177  N/A  

Measure 5-R8: Safe Routes to School  572  N/A  

Measure 5-R9: Car-sharing Program  NQ  N/A  

Measure 5-R10: Bike Sharing Program  NQ  N/A  

Goal 6: Increase Vehicle and Equipment Fuel 
Efficiency 

13,140  
 

Measure 6-S1: Pavley Emissions Standards for 
Passenger Vehicles and the Low Carbon Fuel 
Standard 

 12,097  N/A  

309



 

 

 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

15 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

State, Regional, and Local Measures  
2020 GHG 

Reductions Participation Rate 

Measure 6-S2: Advanced Clean Cars  288  N/A  

Measure 6-S3: Assembly Bill 32 Vehicle 
Efficiency Measures 

 755  N/A  

Goal 7: Encourage a Shift Toward Low-
Carbon Fuels in Vehicles and Equipment 

 604    

Measure 7-S1: Low Carbon Fuel Standard: Off-
Road 

 173  N/A  

Measure 7-R1: Shift Sonoma County (Electric 
Vehicles) 

 431  N/A  

Goal 9: Increase Solid Waste Diversion  3,012    

Measure 9-R1: Waste Diversion Goal  3,012  N/A  

Goal 10: Increase Capture and Use of 
Methane from Landfills 

4,190   

Measure 10-R1: Increase Landfill Methane 
Capture and Use for Energy  

 4,190  N/A  

Goal 11: Reduce Water Consumption 
 

  

Measure 11-R1: Countywide Water 
Conservation Support and Incentives 

 NQ  N/A  

Goal 13: Increase Water and Wastewater 
Infrastructure Efficiency 

 16    

Measure 13-R1: Infrastructure and Water Supply 
Improvement 

 2  N/A  

Measure 13-R2: Wastewater Treatment 
Equipment Efficiency* 

 14  N/A  

Goal 14: Increase Use of Renewable Energy 
in Water and Wastewater Systems 

 310    

Measure 14-R1: Sonoma County Water Agency 
Carbon Free Water by 2015 

 310  N/A  

Local Measures    

Goal 1: Increase Building Energy Efficiency 173   

Measure 1-L2: Outdoor Lighting  172  80
% 

of outdoor lighting to 
participate 

Measure 1-L3: Shade Tree Planting  1  50 trees planted 

Goal 2: Increase Renewable Energy Use 394   

Measure 2-L1: Solar in New Residential 
Development 

 2  8% of new houses to 
participate 

Measure 2-L2: Solar in Existing Residential 
Building 

 245  11% of existing homes with 
solar 

310



 

 

 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

16 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

State, Regional, and Local Measures  
2020 GHG 

Reductions Participation Rate 

Measure 2-L3: Solar in New Non-Residential 
Developments 

 7  2% of new non-residential 
development to 
participate 

Measure 2-L4: Solar in Existing Non-Residential 
Buildings 

 141  2% of existing non-
residential development 
with solar 

Goal 4: Reduce Travel Demand Through 
Focused Growth 

 18    

Measure 4-L1: Mixed-Use Development in City 
Centers and Along Transit Corridors 

 16  50% of growth to result in 
mixed use 

Measure 4-L2: Increase Transit Accessibility  2  15% of growth to be 25+ units 

Measure 4-L3: Supporting Land Use Measures  NQ  Yes  

Measure 4-L4: Affordable Housing Linked to 
Transit 

 1  20% of new development to 
be affordable 

Goal 5: Encourage a Shift Toward Low-
Carbon Transportation Options 

26   

Measure 5-L4: Supporting Bicycle/Pedestrian 
Measures 

 NQ  Yes  

Measure 5-L5: Traffic Calming  26  80% of trips affected 

Measure 5-L7: Supporting Parking Policy 
Measures 

 NQ  Yes  

Goal 7: Encourage a Shift Toward Low-
Carbon Fuels in Vehicles and Equipment 

 24    

Measure 7-L1: Electric Vehicle Charging Station 
Program 

 2  3 charging stations 
installed 

Measure 7-L2: Electrify Construction Equipment  22  5% of equipment 

Measure 7-L3: Reduce Fossil Fuel Use in 
Equipment through Efficiency or Fuel Switching 

 NQ  Yes  

Goal 8: Reduce Idling     

Measure 8-L1: Idling Ordinance  NQ  2 minutes below state law 

Goal 11: Reduce Water Consumption  729    

Measure 11-L1: Senate Bill SB X7-7 - Water 
Conservation Act of 2009* 

 436  10% Reduction in per capita 
water use 

Measure 11-L2: Water Conservation for New 
Construction* 

 16  50%/ 
50% 

% of new residential/ 

nonresidential 
development 

Measure 11-L3: Water Conservation for Existing 
Buildings* 

 278  25%/ 
10% 

% of new residential/ 

nonresidential 
development 

311



 

 

 
 

 

Climate Action 2020 and Beyond  
Sonoma County Regional Climate Action Plan 

17 
July 2016 

City of Sonoma 

 

State, Regional, and Local Measures  
2020 GHG 

Reductions Participation Rate 

Goal 12: Increase Recycled Water and 
Greywater Use 

 < 1    

Measure 12-L1: Greywater Use  < 1  2% greywater goal 

State Measure Reductions in Sonoma 22,990   

Regional Measure Reductions in Sonoma 12,110   

Local Measure Reductions in Sonoma 1,360   

Grand Total Emissions Reductions in 
Sonoma 

36,460   

*Measures reduce emissions from multiple sources (i.e. water and energy) 

NQ = not quantified 

 Municipal Greenhouse Gas Reduction Measures 

Like the other cities and the county, Sonoma has recognized the need to reduce GHG 

emissions from municipal operations. The City has an existing program for using alternative 

fuels for its municipal fleet. Although municipal GHG reduction measures are not part of this 

countywide plan, action by the cities and the County to reduce municipal emissions is still 

important. Sonoma and the other local communities will continue to pursue actions that 

reduce GHG emissions from municipal operations. Descriptions of potential municipal GHG 

reduction measures are provided in Appendix E as an informational resource. 

 

312



CLIMATE ACTION PLAN 2020 – CITY OF SONOMA 

 

The Final Draft CA 2020 includes an updated target to reduce GHGs in the City of Sonoma by 

36,460 metric tons by achieving the flowing participation goals for local measures (from CAP 

Table 5.8-5): 

 

City of Sonoma Local Measures    

Goal 1: Increase Building Energy Efficiency 173   

Measure 1-L2: Outdoor Lighting  172  80% of outdoor lighting to 
participate 

Measure 1-L3: Shade Tree Planting  1  50 trees planted 

Goal 2: Increase Renewable Energy Use 394   

Measure 2-L1: Solar in New Residential 
Development 

 2  8% of new houses to 
participate 

Measure 2-L2: Solar in Existing Residential Building  245  11% of existing homes with 
solar 

Measure 2-L3: Solar in New Non-Residential 
Developments 

 7  2% of new non-residential 
development to 
participate 

Measure 2-L4: Solar in Existing Non-Residential 
Buildings 

 141  2% of existing non-residential 
development with solar 

Goal 4: Reduce Travel Demand Through 
Focused Growth 

 18    

Measure 4-L1: Mixed-Use Development in City 
Centers and Along Transit Corridors 

 16  50% of growth to result in 
mixed use 

Measure 4-L2: Increase Transit Accessibility  2  15% of growth to be 25+ units 

Measure 4-L3: Supporting Land Use Measures  NQ  Yes  

Measure 4-L4: Affordable Housing Linked to Transit  1  20% of new development to be 
affordable 

Goal 5: Encourage a Shift Toward Low-Carbon 
Transportation Options 

26   

Measure 5-L4: Supporting Bicycle/Pedestrian 
Measures 

 NQ  Yes  

Measure 5-L5: Traffic Calming  26  80% of trips affected 

Measure 5-L7: Supporting Parking Policy Measures  NQ  Yes  

Goal 7: Encourage a Shift Toward Low-Carbon 
Fuels in Vehicles and Equipment 

 24    

Measure 7-L1: Electric Vehicle Charging Station 
Program 

 2  3 charging stations 
installed 

Measure 7-L2: Electrify Construction Equipment  22  5% of equipment 

Measure 7-L3: Reduce Fossil Fuel Use in 
Equipment through Efficiency or Fuel Switching 

 NQ  Yes  

Goal 8: Reduce Idling     

Measure 8-L1: Idling Ordinance  NQ  2 minutes below state law 

313



Goal 9: Increase Solid Waste Diversion    

Measure 9-L1: Create Construction and Demolition 
Reuse and Recycling Ordinance 

 <1  0%  

Goal 11: Reduce Water Consumption  729    

Measure 11-L1: Senate Bill SB X7-7 - Water 
Conservation Act of 2009* 

 436  10% Reduction in per capita 
water use 

Measure 11-L2: Water Conservation for New 
Construction* 

 16  50%/ 
50% 

% of new residential/ 
nonresidential 
development 

Measure 11-L3: Water Conservation for Existing 
Buildings* 

 278  25%/ 
10% 

% of new residential/ 
nonresidential 
development 

Goal 12: Increase Recycled Water and Greywater 
Use 

 < 1    

Measure 12-L1: Greywater Use  < 1  2% greywater goal 

State Measure Reductions in Sonoma 22,990   

Regional Measure Reductions in Sonoma 12,110   

Local Measure Reductions in Sonoma 1,360   

Grand Total Emissions Reductions in Sonoma 36,460   

 

 
 

314



 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 
Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
7E 
 
11/21/16 

 
Department 

Planning and Community Services  

Staff Contact  
David Goodison, Planning Director 

Agenda Item Title 
Discussion, consideration, and possible action on changes to the regulation of vacation rentals. 

Summary 
The City Council has determined that it wishes to review and update the City’s regulations 
concerning vacation rentals. (As a related matter, the Council recently adopted an interim 
moratorium ordinance on new applications for vacation rentals while changes to the regulations are 
discussed and implemented.) The attached Supplemental Report provides an overview of existing 
vacation rental regulations and identifies potential options for change. 

Recommended Council Action 
Provide direction to staff as to any changes the City Council wishes to make in the regulation of 
vacation rentals.  

Alternative Actions 
 Council discretion. 

Financial Impact 
N.A. 

Environmental Review Status 
   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  
Alignment with Council Goals 

The discussion of vacation rental regulations is responsive to the City Council’s Housing goal: “To 
analyze policy and programmatic tools suggested by the 2015 Housing Element update; implement 
strategies to facilitate creation of affordable rental and workforce housing; sustain or increase 
opportunities to continue the programs currently in place to maintain current affordable housing 
stock.” 

 Compliance with Climate Action 2020 Target Goals 
 N.A. 

 Attachments: 
1. Supplemental Report 
2. List of existing vacation rentals 

cc: Byron Jones 
  

 

315



SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT 
 

Discussion, consideration, and possible action on changes to the regulation of vacation rentals 
 

For the City Council Meeting of November 21, 2016 
 

 
Background 
 
As part of its ongoing discussion of housing issues, the City Council has requested a review and 
discussion of the City’s vacation rental regulations. In order to assure that any new applications 
for vacation rentals comply with any changes in the regulations that the City Council may choose 
to adopt, the Council has adopted an interim ordinance. During the period that the interim 
moratorium ordinance is in effect, no new application for a vacation rental may be approved. 
 
Under the Development Code, a vacation rental is defined as the rental or letting of up to two 
complete residential units, containing bedrooms, kitchens, and bathrooms, for a period of less than 
30 consecutive days. Unlike bed and breakfasts, an on-site manager is not required for vacation 
rentals. Operators are required to maintain a business license and pay transient occupancy taxes to 
the City. This definition does not allow for the AirBnB type of rental of a room or rooms within 
an occupied residence. At this time, there are 55 recognized, legal vacation rental units within city 
limits. Of these, 28 were designated as legal-non-conforming units in the 1999 ordinance or 
otherwise grandfathered-in, while another 27 have been approved since that time. The distribution 
of units by zoning district is as follows: 
 

R-L = Low Density Residential 10 
R-M = Medium Density Residential 22 
R-HS = Hillside Residential 1 
C = Commercial 14 
MX = Mixed Use 8 
 
Total: 55 

 
The attached spreadsheet provides additional information on these units. Note: this list does not 
include Bed and Breakfast Inns, which are separately defined with a requirement for an on-site 
manager.  
 
Past and Current Regulations 
 
For many years, the City did not address vacation rentals in its zoning regulations, but as a matter 
of practice they were treated as an allowed use in residential zoning districts, subject only to the 
issuance of a business license. However, in 1999, the City Council became concerned that an 
increasing number of vacation rentals were becoming established in residential neighborhoods 
throughout the city and were creating conflicts with long-term residences. In response, the City 
Council adopted Ordinance 1999-14, which established the following:  
 

• Vacation rentals were defined as a land use type. 

316



 2 

• Vacation rentals were allowed subject to conditional use permit in the Commercial zone 
and the Mixed Use zone, but prohibited in the Gateway Commercial zone. 

• Vacation rentals were prohibited in residential zones, except as an adaptive reuse of a 
historic structure, subject to use permit review. 

• A list of existing vacation rentals was recognized as “grand-fathered”, meaning that they 
may continue to operate as a legal non-conforming use. 

 
In 2003, the City Council adopted the Development Code, the comprehensive zoning regulations 
and guidelines that are currently used by the City. In general, the limitations on vacation rentals 
previously established by Ordinance 1999-14 were integrated into the Development Code. 
However, the Development Code also introduced specific standards for the adaptive reuse of 
historic structures, including eligibility criteria, allowable uses, and findings that the Planning 
Commission must make (in addition to those required for a Use Permit) in order to approve an 
adaptive reuse.  
 
In 2009, the City Council amended the vacation rental regulations once again, this time tightening 
the adaptive re-use allowance. Two key changes were made. First, in order to be eligible to apply, 
the property had to be listed or eligible for listing on the State Register of Historic Places. (To 
qualify for other types of adaptive reuse it is only necessary for a property to have local historic 
significance.) Second, in order for a property to be approved as an adaptive re-use, the Planning 
Commission must find that the use of the property as a vacation rental is necessary to:  
 
Restore and rehabilitate a historic structure and/or property, excluding second units, which is 
listed or eligible for listing on the State Register of Historic Places, that has fallen into such a 
level of disrepair that the economic benefits of adaptive reuse are necessary to stem further 
deterioration, correct deficient conditions, or avoid demolition as implemented in the conditions 
of project approval. 
 
This is a high bar and since 2009 only two applications for vacation rental conversion have been 
approved under the current adaptive re-use provisions. Most recently, in April 2016, the City 
Council amended the Adaptive Re-use provisions to prohibit the conversion of second units into 
vacation rentals.  
 
Currently, the main opportunities for vacation rental applications are on properties having a zoning 
of Mixed Use or Commercial, as they are treated as a regular Use Permit and are not subject to the 
special findings and restrictions that apply to applications for adaptive re-use. Over the past three 
years, the Planning Commission has approved nine Use Permit applications involving the 
conversion of commercial spaces to vacation rentals. In some instances, the application involved 
the conversion of a commercial tenant space. Another example is a small building on Broadway, 
originally built as a residence, that was converted to office use many years ago. Most recently, two 
tenant spaces within the Sonoma Court Shops development were approved for conversion to 
vacation rental use. These tenant spaces were unusual in that they already had use allowances for 
office, apartment, and live-work. 
 
Enforcement 
 
With the advent of AirBnB and similar on-line booking services, the City of Sonoma (and many 
other communities) began experiencing a proliferation of illegal short-term rentals. As a first step 

317



 3 

in addressing this problem, the City Council authorized the hiring of a consultant, MuniServices 
Financial, to review on-line services and identify potentially unauthorized vacation rentals and bed 
and breakfasts. This survey was effective in identifying many instances of potentially illegal 
vacation rentals or bed and breakfasts. However, the large number of potentially illegal vacation 
rentals identified through this process represented a significant increase in the code enforcement 
caseload, exceeding the ability of planning staff to effectively investigate, except for the most 
egregious examples. In order to improve the City’s code enforcement capabilities overall, the City 
Council in February of 2016 approved a proposal by the City Manager to establish a part-time 
code enforcement position managed through the City Prosecutors’ office. This additional staffing 
has already proven successful in identifying and abating illegal vacation rentals in a timely manner. 
 
Options for Changes in Regulations 
 
The City Council has a number of options to modify the Development Code to change the 
regulations concerning vacation rentals, including the following: 
 

• Change the permit requirement from a Use Permit to a zoning permit. Under the use permit 
process, once approved, a Use Permit runs with the land regardless of changes in ownership. 
In contrast, a zoning permit can be designed to expire upon a change in ownership. 
Currently, there is no provision in the Development Code for a zoning permit, so it would 
need to be established. 

• Within the Mixed Use zone and the Commercial zone, eliminate any allowance for 
converting a residential unit into a vacation rental. 

• Within the Commercial zone and/or the Mixed Use zone, eliminate any allowance for new 
vacation rentals. (Vacation rentals are a type of residential use and are typically associated 
with or limited to the use of a single-family residence.  

• Consider changes to the adaptive re-use provisions applicable to converting a historic 
residence to a vacation rental, perhaps by eliminating the finding of economic necessity, 
but adding requirements with regard to minimum lot size and distance from adjoining 
residential uses. 

• Require existing and future vacation rentals to post their business license number or TOT 
certification number in all on-line advertising as a means of simplifying enforcement. 

• Require an annual fee on vacation rentals to be used in monitoring compliance. 
• Eliminate vacation rentals as an allowed use altogether. 

 
Clearly, the current number of vacation rentals represents only a small fraction of the City’s 
housing stock. However, it is also the case that current opportunities for vacation rental 
conversions often involve units and tenant spaces that are or may be available for use as long-term 
rentals—a form of housing that is greatly needed in Sonoma—and from that perspective the 
Council may wish to impose further restrictions in this area. At the same time, the City Council 
has recently heard from several homeowners who have asked that consideration be given to 
establishing a new category of short-term rental, corresponding to the owner-occupied AirBnB 
model, that might encompass the following characteristics: 
 

• Limited to owner-occupied, single family residences. 
• Limited to a single-room. 
• Property owner to remain on-site. 

318



 4 

• Possible restrictions on the frequency of rentals. 
• Zoning permit rather than use permit. 

 
This concept was reviewed by the Planning Commission and the City Council in 2015. Ultimately, 
the Council decided that it did not to create such an allowance out of concern for potential impacts 
on neighboring residents and the potential to create a disincentive for home-owners to engage in 
the long-term rental of unused rooms (see the City Council minutes of April 6, 2016, attached). 
However, as the City Council is revisiting the regulation of vacation rentals generally, it may 
choose to revisit this option as part of its review. 
 
Next Steps 
 
Based on the feedback received from the City Council, staff will prepare a draft ordinance setting 
forth the specific changes to the Development Code necessary to implement the Council’s 
direction. Depending on the scope and complexity of the changes, the draft ordinance may be 
brought to the City Council for a preliminary review or referred directly to the Planning 
Commission. (Planning Commission review is required for any amendment to the Development 
Code.) Either way, if the City Council does direct changes to the Development Code, the extension 
of the interim moratorium on vacation rentals (to be separately considered by the City Council) 
will be necessary as otherwise the moratorium will expire before the amendments are in place.  
 
Recommendation 
 
Provide direction to staff as to any changes the City Council wishes to make in the regulation of 
vacation rentals. 

319



C
it

y
 o

f 
S

o
n

o
m

a
 -

 L
e
g

a
l 
V

a
c
a
ti

o
n

 R
e
n

ta
ls

 (
u

p
d

a
te

d
 9

/1
4
/1

6
)

O
p

e
ra

to
r/

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 N

a
m

e
A

P
N

S
it

e
 A

d
d

re
s
s

Z
o

n
in

g
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

U
n

it
s

A
p

p
ro

v
a
l 
D

a
te

T
y
p

e
 o

f 

A
p

p
ro

v
a
l

A
le

x
a
n
d
ra

's
 P

la
z
a
 S

u
it
e

0
1
8
-2

2
2
-0

2
3

4
4
0
 S

e
c
o
n
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 
E

a
s
t

R
-L

/H
1

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

C
a
s
a
 D

e
 C

a
rr

o
ll

0
1
8
-4

4
2
-0

1
9

9
6
5
 W

e
s
t 
S

p
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t

C
1

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

A
n
d
re

a
's

 H
id

d
e
n
 C

o
tt
a
g
e

0
1
8
-1

7
1
-0

0
9

1
3
8
 E

a
s
t 
S

p
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t

R
-M

/H
1

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

B
u
n
g
a
lo

w
s
 3

1
3

0
1
8
-1

6
2
-0

2
5

3
1
3
 F

ir
s
t 
S

tr
e
e
t 
E

a
s
t

R
-M

/H
5

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

C
a
s
a
 C

h
iq

u
it
a
 C

o
tt
a
g
e

0
1
8
-7

8
0
-0

0
1

1
9
6
 W

e
s
t 
S

p
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t

R
-M

/H
2

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

B
la

n
k
fo

rt
/M

a
rt

in
0
1
8
-3

5
2
-0

3
0

1
1
7
 F

ra
n
c
e
 S

tr
e
e
t

R
-L

/H
1

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

S
o
n
o
m

a
 F

a
rm

h
o
u
s
e
 T

o
w

n
0
1
8
-2

0
1
-0

0
3

4
4
6
 T

h
ir
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 
W

e
s
t

R
-L

/H
2

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

H
u
ff

0
1
8
-1

2
1
-0

2
1

2
8
9
 F

ir
s
t 
S

tr
e
e
t 
W

e
s
t

R
-M

/H
1

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

M
a
th

is
0
1
8
-1

2
1
-0

2
0

2
8
7
 F

ir
s
t 
S

tr
e
e
t 
W

e
s
t

R
-M

/H
1

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

C
e
c
ili

a
's

 A
d
o
b
e

0
1
8
-1

7
2
-0

0
3

3
7
8
 S

e
c
o
n
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 
E

a
s
t

R
-M

/H
1

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

C
o
rt

o
p
a
s
s
i

0
1
8
-1

9
1
-0

3
4

4
7
7
 W

e
s
t 
S

p
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t

R
-L

3
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

C
u
n
e
o
 C

o
tt
a
g
e

0
1
8
-2

3
1
-0

2
2

3
9
1
 E

a
s
t 
S

p
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t

R
-L

/H
1

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

S
u
s
a
n
's

 G
u
e
s
t 
C

o
tt
a
g
e

0
1
8
-2

0
2
-0

0
6

4
5
8
 S

e
c
o
n
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 
W

e
s
t

C
/H

2
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

C
o
o
p
e
ra

g
e
 I
n
n

0
1
8
-1

6
1
-0

1
7

3
0
1
 F

ir
s
t 
S

tr
e
e
t 
W

e
s
t

R
-M

/H
3

G
ra

n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

C
a
ro

lin
e
's

 C
o
tt
a
g
e

1
2
8
-1

7
2
-0

5
1

1
7
1
 N

e
w

c
o
m

b
 S

tr
e
e
t

R
-L

1
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d
G

ra
n
d
fa

th
e
re

d

B
e
rn

a
rd

0
1
8
-2

0
1
-0

0
8

2
7
0
 W

e
s
t 
N

a
p
a
 S

tr
e
e
t,
 U

n
it
 2

R
C

/H
1

4
/1

3
/2

0
0
0

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

C
o
tt
a
g
e
 S

o
n
o
m

a
0
1
8
-2

0
2
-0

0
2

4
2
4
 S

e
c
o
n
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 
W

e
s
t

R
-M

/H
1

7
/1

0
/2

0
0
3

A
d
a
p
ti
v
e
 R

e
u
s
e

B
u
n
g
a
lo

w
 S

o
n
o
m

a
0
1
8
-2

0
2
-0

2
6

1
5
7
 W

e
s
t 
S

p
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t

R
-M

/H
1

7
/1

0
/2

0
0
3

A
d
a
p
ti
v
e
 R

e
u
s
e

T
u
ls

i 
C

o
tt
a
g
e

0
1
8
-1

7
1
-0

3
0

3
0
4
 F

ir
s
t 
S

tr
e
e
t 
E

a
s
t

R
-M

/H
1

6
/9

/2
0
0
5

A
d
a
p
ti
v
e
 R

e
u
s
e

C
a
s
a
 S

e
b
a
s
ti
a
n
i

0
1
8
-1

4
1
-0

1
2

2
4
7
 F

o
u
rt

h
 S

tr
e
e
t 
E

a
s
t

R
-H

S
/H

1
9
/1

4
/2

0
0
6

A
d
a
p
ti
v
e
 R

e
u
s
e

In
n
 W

in
e
 C

o
u
n
tr

y
0
1
8
-3

5
2
-0

5
2

7
5
8
 B

ro
a
d
w

a
y

M
X

/H
1

1
/1

0
/2

0
0
8

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

A
u
b
e
rg

e
 S

o
n
o
m

a
0
1
8
-2

6
1
-0

2
3

1
5
1
 E

a
s
t 
N

a
p
a
 S

tr
e
e
t

R
-M

/H
2

5
/2

0
/2

0
0
8

A
d
a
p
ti
v
e
 R

e
u
s
e

M
a
ry

 J
e
a
n
's

 P
la

c
e

1
2
8
-0

8
3
-0

2
1

2
0
0
7
3
 B

ro
a
d
w

a
y

M
X

/H
1

1
2
/1

1
/2

0
0
8

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

S
o
n
o
m

a
 F

a
rm

h
o
u
s
e
 R

a
n
c
h

0
1
8
-2

0
1
-0

0
4

4
5
4
 T

h
ir
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 
W

e
s
t

C
/H

1
3
/1

0
/2

0
1
1

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

T
ill

e
m

-F
e
g
a
n

0
1
8
-4

1
2
-0

3
2

8
5
4
 B

ro
a
d
w

a
y

M
X

/H
1

1
2
/1

1
/2

0
1
1

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

J
o
n
e
s
-M

o
rr

is
o
n

1
2
8
-0

8
3
-0

0
9

2
0
0
7
9
 B

ro
a
d
w

a
y

M
X

/H
1

2
/1

4
/2

0
1
2

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

M
a
tt
 &

 J
a
n
 M

a
th

e
w

s
0
1
8
-2

0
1
-0

0
7

2
8
4
-2

9
4
 W

e
s
t 
N

a
p
a
 S

tr
e
e
t,
 U

n
it
s
 #

2
 a

n
d
 #

3
C

/H
2

4
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

S
o
n
o
m

a
 P

la
z
a
 1

8
8
9

0
1
8
-2

0
1
-0

3
9

4
6
4
 T

h
ir
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 
W

e
s
t

C
/H

1
4
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

M
a
ri
n
o

0
1
8
-4

1
1
-0

2
0

8
5
3
 B

ro
a
d
w

a
y

M
X

/H
1

4
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

O
'T

o
o
le

0
1
8
-2

2
1
-0

2
0

1
8
0
 E

a
s
t 
N

a
p
a
 S

tr
e
e
t

R
-M

/H
1

5
/9

/2
0
1
3

A
d
a
p
ti
v
e
 R

e
u
s
e

D
a
m

b
a
c
h
-A

rg
e
n
z
ia

n
o

0
1
8
-3

5
2
-0

4
0

7
8
0
 B

ro
a
d
w

a
y

M
X

/H
1

8
/8

/2
0
1
3

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

R
e
d
m

o
n
d

0
1
8
-2

1
2
-0

2
6

5
6
7
 F

ir
s
t 
S

tr
e
e
t 
E

a
s
t

C
/H

1
1
0
/1

0
/2

0
1
3

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

M
a
ri
n
o

0
1
8
-2

0
2
-0

1
0

1
5
8
 W

e
s
t 
N

a
p
a
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
/H

1
3
/1

3
/2

0
1
4

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

M
a
ri
n
o

0
1
8
-2

0
2
-0

0
9

1
6
4
 &

 1
7
2
 W

e
s
t 
N

a
p
a
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
/H

2
3
/1

3
/2

0
1
4

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

T
ill

e
m

-O
ls

e
n

0
1
8
-7

8
0
-0

0
6

1
6
2
-1

6
6
 W

e
s
t 
S

p
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t

R
-M

/H
2

1
1
/3

/2
0
1
4

A
d
a
p
ti
v
e
 R

e
u
s
e

M
a
rt

in
e
z
-M

o
n
ta

g
u
e

0
1
8
-2

5
1
-0

2
0
 

5
1
5
 F

ir
s
t 
S

tr
e
e
t 
W

e
s
t

C
/H

1
1
/8

/2
0
1
5

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

T
ill

e
m

-F
e
g
a
n

0
1
8
-4

1
2
-0

3
2

8
4
6
 B

ro
a
d
w

a
y

M
X

/H
1

4
/9

/2
0
1
5

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

8
3
5
 B

ro
a
d
w

a
y
 L

L
C

0
1
8
-4

1
1
-0

2
2
 

8
3
5
 B

ro
a
d
w

a
y

M
X

/H
1

9
/1

0
/2

0
1
5

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

R
e
d
m

o
n
d

0
1
8
-8

1
0
-0

3
0

1
1
 E

a
s
t 
N

a
p
a
 S

tr
e
e
t,
 U

n
it
 #

1
C

/H
1

6
/9

/2
0
1
6

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

R
e
d
m

o
n
d

0
1
8
-8

1
0
-0

4
2

5
3
3
 F

ir
s
t 
S

tr
e
e
t 
E

a
s
t

C
/H

1
6
/9

/2
0
1
6

U
s
e
 P

e
rm

it

T
o

ta
l:

5
5

Z
o
n
in

g
 D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
s
:

R
-L

 =
 L

o
w

 D
e
n
s
it
y
 R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l

9

R
-M

 =
 M

e
d
iu

m
 D

e
n
s
it
y
 R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l

2
2

R
-H

S
 =

 H
ill

s
id

e
 R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l

1

C
 =

 C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

1
5

M
X

 =
 M

ix
e
d
 U

s
e

8

/H
 =

 H
is

to
ri
c
 O

v
e
rl
a
y
 Z

o
n
e

5
0

320



321

rbarr
Typewritten Text

rbarr
Typewritten Text

rbarr
Typewritten Text

rbarr
Typewritten Text
7F



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



CATHY CAPRIOLA -- BIO 

Cathy Capriola has over 25 years of local government experience serving four different California cities 

as well as having been a consultant to numerous public agencies in the areas of organizational 

development, human resources and general management.  Most recently, Cathy served as the Interim 

City Manager of the City of Novato, population 53,000, from January 1 – October 24, 2016 leading the 

organization through a time of transition and driving projects related to the arrival of the Sonoma Marin 

Area Rail Transit (SMART), three-year labor agreements with employees, enhancements to the city’s 

public engagement and noticing, and investments in open space and Novato’s downtown.   

In her Assistant City Manager role in Novato, where she has served since 2009, Cathy was responsible 

for the City’s internal service departments including Human Resources, Risk Management, Information 

Technology, and Finance--which included oversight of the City’s $60 million budget.  In Novato, Cathy 

helped lead the City through the recession while developing a sustainable fiscal plan and also 

implemented efforts to protect city resources after the dissolution of redevelopment agencies 

throughout California.  She has also worked closely with the Chamber of Commerce and the Downtown 

Business Association to strengthen support of local businesses during her time in Novato. 

Prior to 2009, Cathy was the Administrative Services Director for the City of Citrus Heights, a community 
of 90,000 in the Sacramento region.  During her 10 years, she helped launch Citrus Heights as a newly 
incorporated city, implemented non-traditional compensation practices, and transitioned contract 
police services to a successful cost efficient in-house delivery model.  Cathy also supported the City’s 
neighborhood associations and created strong partnerships with other public agencies resulting in new 
community amenities such as after-school programs, playgrounds, a skateboard park, and facilities for a 
swimming pool.  Cathy also created and facilitated the “Citrus Heights Collaborative” a network of 
community representatives and organizations that focused on improving social and human services by 
leveraging each other’s competencies and collaborating with a focus on youth and seniors. 
 
Cathy also served four years as the Deputy City Manager and Economic Development Coordinator for 

the City of Davis where she focused on business attraction and retention.  Cathy also worked as a 

consultant with Shannon Associates and The Davis Company assisting local government clients in 

classification and compensation studies, management audits, and fire service consolidation studies.  

Cathy started her local government career as a Management Analyst with the City of Vacaville where 

she worked for two years including starting a code enforcement program and providing general 

management and human resources analysis. 

Cathy received her Master in Public and Private Management from Yale University and her 

undergraduate degree, a B.S. in Communication/Management from the University of California at Davis.  

She is also a graduate of the Coro Foundation in Public Affairs.  Cathy grew up in Willows, a small 

agricultural town in northern California. 

 

346



 

 

 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
7G 
 
11/21/2016 

 

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact  

Carol E. Giovanatto, City Manager 

Agenda Item Title 

Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action to Approve Change in Council Meeting Dates for the 
Months of December 2016 and January 2017 

Summary 

The City Council holds regular Council meetings on the first and third Monday’s of each month except 
when those dates fall on legal Holidays or on such occasion when business necessity calls for the 
meetings to be rescheduled.  In reviewing the calendared dates for the months of December 2016 and 
January 2017, there arises a need for rescheduling of meetings. Proposed changes are as follows: 

 

December 2016:  Reschedule and combine the two regularly scheduled meetings of December to 
December 12, 2016 in order to accommodate the Certification of Election. The Sonoma County 
Registrar of Voters has until December 6, 2016 to certify the election results to the State. Thus, staff 
anticipates that the Certification will be received following the posting of the December 5th agenda. The 
Certification of Election results in the seating of a new Councilmember and appointment of a new Mayor 
and Mayor Pro Tem. If the December 5 meeting was rescheduled to December 12th it would allow for the 
inclusion of the Certification of the Election and appointment of a new Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem, along 
with conducting regular business. Due to the resulting proximity to the December 19th Council meeting 
and the limited timeframe for preparation of a second agenda, the December 19th meeting would be 
cancelled. 

 

January 2017:  Cancel the first meeting of January 2017 due to lack of urgent business and 
reschedule the second meeting to January 23, 2017 in order to accommodate Council’s proposed 
attendance at the League of California Cities New Mayor & Council Members Academy in 
Sacramento. Typically, the first meeting in January (scheduled for January 4, 2017) is very light due to 
the holidays. Upon review of upcoming agenda items, it is unlikely that there will be regular Council 
business of urgency coming forward during the holiday schedule. The second Regular meeting of 
January (January 18) is scheduled on the second Wednesday due to the Martin Luther King holiday. 
This date conflicts with the League of California Cities (LOCC) New Mayor & Councilmembers Training 
in Sacramento, which some Councilmembers have expressed interest in attending. Rescheduling would 
allow for attendance at the LOCC academy. 

Recommended Council Action 

Council discretion. 

Alternative Actions 



Agenda Item Error! Reference source not found. 

 

 

 

Financial Impact 

N/A 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Attachments:  NONE 

 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Alignment with Council Goals:   

N/A 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Compliance with Climate 2020 Action Plan Target Goals: 

N/A 

cc: 

 

 



 

  

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact 

 Rebekah Barr, MMC 

 City Clerk/Executive Assistant to the City Manager 

Agenda Item Title 

Councilmembers’ Reports on Committee Activities. 

Summary 

Council members will report on activities, if any, of the various committees to which they are assigned. 

MAYOR  GALLIAN MPT AGRIMONTI CLM. COOK CLM. EDWARDS CLM.  HUNDLEY 

City Audit Committee LOCC North Bay 
Division Liaison 

ABAG Alternate ABAG Delegate Cittaslow Sonoma 
Valley Advisory 
Council, Alt. 

Marin/Sonoma 
Mosquito & Vector 
Control District 

North Bay Watershed 
Association 

City Audit Committee Cittaslow Sonoma 
Valley Advisory 
Council 

LOCC North Bay 
Division Liaison, 
Alternate 

Sonoma County 
Mayors &  Clm. Assoc. 
BOD 

Sonoma County 
Mayors &  Clm. Assoc. 
BOD, Alt. 

City Facilities 
Committee 

City Facilities 
Committee 

Sonoma Clean Power 
Alt. 

Sonoma County 
Trans. Authority & 
Regional Climate 
Protection Authority 

Sonoma County 
Trans. & Regional 
Climate Protection 
Authority, Alternate 

Oversight Board to the 
Dissolved CDA 

Oversight Board to the 
Dissolved CDA, Alt. 

Sonoma County M & C 
Assoc. Legislative 
Committee 

Sonoma Disaster 
Council 

Sonoma County 
Waste Management 
Agency 

Sonoma Clean Power 

 

Sonoma County 
Health Action & SV 
Health Roundtable 

S. V. Citizens Advisory 
Commission 

Sonoma Housing 
Corporation 

Sonoma Disaster 
Council, Alternate 

S.V. Economic Vitality 
Partnership, Alt. 

Sonoma County M & C 
Assoc. Legislative 
Committee, Alt. 

S.V. Economic Vitality 
Partnership 

S.V.C. Sanitation 
District BOD 

Sonoma Housing 
Corporation 

S. V. Library Advisory 
Committee 

Sonoma Valley 
Citizens Advisory 
Comm. Alt. 

S. V. Library Advisory 
Committee, Alternate 

S.V. Fire & Rescue 
Authority Oversight 
Committee 

S.V.C. Sanitation 
District BOD, Alt. 

   

VOM Water District Ad 
Hoc Committee 

S.V. Fire & Rescue 
Authority Oversight 
Committee 

   

Water Advisory 
Committee 

VOM Water District Ad 
Hoc Committee, 
Alternate 

   

 Water Advisory 
Committee, Alternate 

   

 

Recommended Council Action – Receive Reports  

Attachments:  None 

 

Agenda Item:          9 

Meeting Date:         11/21/2016 
City of Sonoma 
City Council 
Agenda Item Summary 


	Item 4B 2016 Classification Plan.pdf
	Copy of Salary Schedule 2016 Job Title Revisions.pdf
	Dec 2014


	Item 6A Extension of Moratorium.pdf
	Interim Moratorium Extension AIS
	Ordinance Extending Moratorium on Vacation Rentals 11-16-16 JW

	Item 7A CC Half Marathon Street Permit.pdf
	Destination Races 2017 Parking Plan Response2.pdf
	MEMORANDUM


	Item 7B Safe Parking.pdf
	Safe Parking AIS
	Safe Parking MOU 11-16-2016
	1_Safe Parking Report
	PC Safe Parking Report
	Safe Parking MOU R3
	SOS Submittal
	Neighbor Submittal

	Final Conditions
	Denise Letter
	Bohar Letter

	Item 7C Sebastiani Theater.pdf
	Lease Amortization.pdf
	Sheet1 (3)


	Item 7E Vacation Rental Review.pdf
	Vacation Rental Options AIS
	Vacation Rental SR R2
	List of Vacation Rentals




